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Fourth Session—Twenty-fourth Parliament
1960-61

Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons

INDIAN AFFAIRS

Joint Chairmen:—The Honourable Senator James ‘Gladstone

and

Mr. Lucien Grenier, M.P.

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS AND EVIDENCE

No. 1

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 1, 1961
TUESDAY, MARCH 14, 1961

WITNESSES:

From the Oka Band, Oka, Quebec
Mr. Emile Colas, Legal Counsel; Chief James Montour; Mr. Jeffrey
Gabriel. :

From the Department of Citizenship and Immigration
Honourable Ellen L. Fairclough, Minister of Citizenship and Immigration
and Superintendent General of Indian Affairs; Mr. L. L. Brown,
Special Assistant to the Director of Indian Affairs.

ROGER DUHAMEL, F.R.S.C.
QUEEN'S PRINTER AND CONTROLLER OF STATIONERY
OTTAWA, 1961
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MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE
FOR THE SENATE

Hon. James Gladstone, Joint Chairman, _Hon. F. E. Inman,

Hon. W. A. Boucher, Hon. J. J. MacDonald,

Hon. . D. A. Croll, Hon. L. Méthot,

Hon. V. Dupuis, Hon. S. J. Smith (Kamloops),
Hon. M. M. Fergusson, Hon. J. W. Stambaugh,

Hon. R. B. Horner, Hon. G. S. White—12

FOR THE HOUSE OF COMMONS

Mr. Lucien Grenier, Joint Chairman, Miss J. LaMarsh,

Mr. H. Badanai, Mr. R. Leduc,

Mr. G. W. Baldwin, Mr. J. J. Martel,

Mr. M. E. Barrington, Mr. H. C. McQuillan,
Mr. A. Cadieu, Mr. R. Muir (Cape Breton North
Mr. J. A. Charlton, and Victoria),

*Mr. G. C. Fairfield, Hon. J. W. Pickersgill,
Mr. D. R. Gundlock, Mr. A. E. Robinson,
Mr. M. A. Hardie, Mr. R. H. Small,
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M. Slack,
Clerk of the Committee.

*Mr. Fairfield was replaced by Mr. Fane after the morning sitting of
March 1.
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ORDERS OF REFERENCE

House oF COMMONS,
WEDNESDAY, January 18, 1961.

Resolved,—That a Joint Committee of the Senate and House of Commons
be appointed to continue the examination and consideration, begun by a Joint
Committee of the Senate and House of Commons, pursuant to a resolution of
the House on April 29, 1959, and continued by a Joint Committee of the Senate
and House of Commons, pursuant to a resolution on March 9, 1960, of the
Indian Act, Chapter 149, R.S.C. 1952, and amendments thereto, and to suggest
such amendmeénts as they may deem advisable, with authority to investigate and
report upon Indian administration in general and, in particular, on the social
and economic status of the Indians;

That twenty-four members of the House of Commons, to be designated at
a later date, act on behalf of the House as members of the said Committee,
and that Standing Order 67(1) of the House of Commons be suspended in
relation thereto; ;

That the records, exhibits and evidence received and taken by the Joint
Committees appointed at the last two sessions to examine and consider the
foregoing matters be made available to the said Committee and made part of
the records thereof;

That the said Committee have power to call for persons, papers and records
and examine witnesses under oath; to sit while the House is sitting, and to
report from time to time; and to print such papers and evidence from day to
day as may be ordered by the Committee and that Standing Order 66 be sus-
pended in relation thereto.

THURSDAY, February 2, 1961.

Ordered,—That the 24 Members of the House of Commons to act on behalf
of the House as members of the Joint Committee on Indian Affairs to be as
follows: Miss LaMarsh and Messrs. Badanai, Baldwin, Barrington, Cadieu,

' Charlton, Fairfield, Grenier, Gundlock, Hardie, Henderson, Howard, Korchin-

ski, Leduc, MacRae, Martel, Muir (Cape Breton North and Victoria), McQuil-
lan, Pickersgill, Robinson, Small, Stefanson, Thomas, and Wratten.
WEDNESDAY, February 15, 1961.
Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Horner (The Battlefords) be substituted
for that of Mr. MacRae on the Joint Committee on Indian Affairs.
WEDNESDAY, March 1, 1961.
Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Fane be substituted for that of Mr. Fair-
field on the Joint Committee on Indian Affairs.
THURSDAY, Ma'rch 2, 1961.

Ordered,—That 9 members of the Joint Committee on Indian Affairs con-
stitute a quorum, provided that both Houses are represented.
Attest.

LEON-J. RAYMOND,
Clerk of the House.

24741-1—13%



ORDERS OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate of Canada:

WEDNESDAY, January 25, 1961.

Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate resumed the adjourned
debate on the motion of the Honourable Senator Aseltine, seconded by the
Honourable Senator Macdonald, P.C.:

That the Senate do unite with the House of Commons in the appointment
of a Joint Committee of both Houses of Parliament to continue the examina-
tion and consideration, begun by a Joint Committee of the Senate and House
of Commons, pursuant to a resolution of the Senate on May 5, 1959, and
continued by a Joint Committee of the Senate and House of Commons, pursuant
to a resolution of the Senate on March 15, 1960, of the Indian Act, Chapter
149, R.S.C. 1952, and amendments thereto, and to suggest such amendments as
they may deem advisable, with authority to investigate and report upon
Indian administration in general and, in particular, on the social and economic
status of the Indians;

That the following Senators be appointed to act on behalf of the Senate
on the said Joint Committee, namely, the Honourable Senators Boucher, Croll,
Dupuis, Fergusson, Gladstone, Horner, Inman, MacDonald, Méthot, Smith
(Kamloops), Stambaugh and White;

That the records, exhibits and evidence received and taken by the Joint
Committee appointed at the last two sessions to examine and consider the
foregoing matters be made available to the said Committee and made part of
the records thereof;

That the said Committee have power to call for persons, papers and
records and examine witnesses under oath; to sit during sittings and adjourn-
ments of the Senate, and to report from time to time; and to print such papers
and evidence from day to day as may be ordered by the Committee; and

That a Message be sent to the House of Commons to inform that House
accordingly.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

WEDNESDAY, March 1, 1961.

The Joint Committee of the Senate and House of Commons on Indian
Affairs make their first Report, as follows:— ;

Your Committee recommend that 9 Members of the Committee constitute
a quorum, provided that both Houses are represented.

All which is respectfully submitted.
JAMES GLADSTONE,
Joint Chairman.

With leave of the Senate,
The Honourable Senator Gladstone moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator MacDonald, that the Report be now adopted.

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.
JOHN F. MacNEILL,
Clerk of the Senate.



REPORT TO THE SENATE

WEDNESDAY, March 1, 1961.

The Joint Committee of the Senate and House of Commons on Indian
Affairs make their first Report, as follows:—

Your Committee recommend that 9 Members of the Committee constitute
a quorum, provided that both Houses are represented.

All which is respectfully submitted.

JAMES GLADSTONE,
Joint Chairman.

REPORT TO THE HOUSE OF COMMONS

THURSDAY, March 2, 1961.

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on Indian
Affairs has the honour to present the following as its

FIrRsT REPORT

Your Committee recommends that 9 of its members constitute a quorum,
provided that both Houses are represented.

Respectfully submitted,

LUCIEN GRENIER,
Joint Chairman.






MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, March 1, 1961.
(1)

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on Indian
Affairs met for organization purposes at 10.15 a.m. this day. :

Present:

The Senate: Honourable Senators Fergusson, Gladstone, Horner, Inman,
MacDonald, Méthot, Smith (Kamloops), and Stambaugh. (8)

The House of Commons: Messrs. Baldwin, Barrington, Charlton, Gund-
lock, Henderson, Horner (The Battlefords), Howard, Korchinski, Muir (Cape
Breton North and Victoria), Robinson, Small, Stefanson, Thomas, and Wrat-
ten. (14)

On motion of Honourable Senator Horner, seconded by Honourable Senator
Méthot, the Honourable Senator Gladstone was appointed the Joint Chairman
representing the Senate.

On motion of Mr. Thomas, seconded by Mr. Stefanson, Mr. Lucien Grenier
was appointed the Joint Chairman representing the House of Commons.

On motion of Mr. Charlton, seconded by Mr. Robinson,
Resolved—That Mr. Baldwin be Vice-Chairman of the Committee.

The Honourable Senator Gladstone thanked the Committee for electing
him as Joint Chairman.

Mr. Baldwin thanked the committee for the honour conferred upon him.

The Orders of Reference were read by the Clerk of the Committee.

On motion of Mr. Howard, seconded by Mr. Muir (Cape Breton North and
Victoria),

Resolved—That the Committee recommend to both Houses of Parliament
that 9 of its members constitute a quorum provided that both Houses are
represented.

On motion of Mr. Thomas, seconded by Honourable Senator Horner,

Resolved—That the Committee print 1500 copies in English and 400 copies
in French of its Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence.

On motion of Honourable Senator Horner, seconded by Mr. Korchinski,

Resolved—That a Steering Committee, comprised of the Joint Chalrmen
and 5 members to be chosen by them, be appointed.

At 10.35 a.m., the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

TuEspAY, March 14, 1961.
(2)

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on Indian
Affairs met at 9.30 a.m. this day. The Joint Chairmen, Honourable Senator
James Gladstone and Mr. Lucien Grenier, presided.

7



8 JOINT COMMITTEE

Present:

The Senate: Honourable Senators Fergusson, Gladstone, Inman, MacDonald
and Stambaugh. (5)

The House of Commons: Messrs. Badanai, Baldwin, Cadieu, Charlton, Fane,
Grenier, Gundlock, Henderson, Howard, Korchinski, Ledue, McQuillan, Small,
Stefanson, Thomas, and Wratten. (16) 3

In attendance: From the Oka Band: Mr. Emile Colas, Legal Counsel; Chief
James Montour, Mr. Jeffrey Gabriel, Mr. Alex Montour, Mr. Jean Juneau, Mr.
Samuel Nicrolas and Mr. Mitchell Frank.

From the Department of Citizenship and Immigration: Honourable Ellen L.
Fairclough, Minister of Citizenship and Immigration and Superintendent General
of Indian Affairs; Mr. L. L. Brown, Special Assistant to the Director of Indian
Affairs Branch; and Mr. C. 1. Fairholm, Executive Assistant to the Director of
Indian Affairs Branch.

From the Department of National Health and Welfare: Dr. P. E. Moore,
Director, Indian and Northern Health Services.

Mr. Grenier thanked the Committee for the honour conferred on him by
electing him Joint Chairman of the Committee.

Mr. Grenier called on Mrs. Fairclough, and the Minister made a brief
statement in which she referred to a Summary of Submissions to the Joint
Committee on Indian Affairs 1959-60, prepared by the Indian Affairs Branch,
copies of which were distributed to the members of the Committee.

Mr. Grenier announced the composition of the Subcommittee on Agenda
and Procedure, comprising the following Senators and Members: Honourable
Senator James Gladstone, Honourable Senator Fergusson and Messrs. Grenier,
Baldwin, Charlton, Leduc and Howard.

The Clerk read the First Report of the Subcommittee on Agenda and Pro-
cedure as follows:

“Your Subcommittee recommends that representatives of the follow-
ing Indian groups be called to appear on the dates indicated below,
before the Joint Committee on Indian Affairs:

1. Oka Band (2 official delegates) to be heard on March 14.

2. Manitoba Indian Brotherhood (2 official delegates) to be heard

on March 23.

Your Subcommittee recommends that the Committee pay, on be-
half of the official delegates of the above-mentioned Indian groups, their
travel expenses, together with reasonable living expenses for the period
of time they are in Ottawa; (Such period not to exceed two days).

Your Subcommittee also recommends that representatives of the
following organizations be called to appear on the dates indicated below,
before the Joint Committee on Indian Affairs:

1. Presbyterian Church to be heard March 15.

2. Canadian Medical Association to be heard March 16.

3. Newfoundland Government to be heard March 21.

4. Canadian Welfare Council to be heard March 22.

5. Greater Winnipeg Welfare Council to be heard March 22.”

On motion of Mr. Howard, seconded by Honourable Senator Fergusson,

Resolved—That the First Report of the Subcommittee on Agenda and Pro-
cedure be now concurred in.



INDIAN AFFAIRS 9

Mr. Grenier stated that it was hoped to complete hearings of witnesses
shortly after the Easter Recess, after which Departmental officials would be
heard, followed by a review and examination of the Indian Act to enable a
final report to be presented this session.

Mr. Colas, Legal Counsel of Oka Indians, after introduciﬁg the delegation
from the Oka Band, read a comprehensive submission and was questioned there-
on, assisted by Chief James Montour and Mr. Jeffrey Gabriel.

Mr. Brown, Special Assistant to the Director of Indian Affairs, supplied
information to the Committee on various matters.

At 11.55 a.m. the Committee adjourned until 9.30 a.m. Wednesday, March
=15,-1961,

M. Slack,
Clerk of the Committee.






EVIDENCE

TUESDAY, March 14, 1961.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Now we have a quorum, and we
will start the meeting. Before coming to business I would like to thank you
for the honour you have conferred upon me by electing me as co-chairman
of this committee. I am sure it will be a pleasure to work with you and I am
sure, also, that with your good cooperation we will get our work done.

Before going any further I would like to mention that we have the honour
to have this morning the minister, who would like to say a few words concern-
ing the summary of submissions to the joint committee on Indian affairs.

Hon. ELLEN L. FamrcrLoucH (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration):
Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee, I am sorry that it is going
to be impossible for me to stay this morning, but I have a cabinet meeting
very shortly, and so I must leave. But I particularly wanted to refer to the
summary of submissions to the committee over the past two years, which has
been prepared by the Indian affairs branch, in English and in French. These
are available this morning for distribution to you at this, the start of your
deliberations for 1961. I hope they will be useful to you and probably save
you some time in delving for information through the many voluminous rec-
ords which have accumulated during the past two sessions.

I am sure you also hope that it will be possible this year to wind up the
work of this committee and submit a final report. The members of the committee
have had a great deal of experience over the past two years, and I am sure
you would all agree it has been a rewarding experience and extremely
interesting.

As the committee continues to meet, I propose to attend as often as I
can, because I want to hear as many of these submissions as possible, and
the discussions which take place on the submissions. So you can look forward
to seeing me frequently. I would like to be here at all times, but, of course,
that is impossible. However, my main reason for speaking to you this morning
is merely to draw attention to these documents which, Mr. Chairman, are now
available. The officials will be glad to distribute them to members, or you
can pick them up when you leave, whichever you wish.

If you will excuse me now, I must be on my way. Thank you very much
indeed, for all of your work on this committee. Congratulations, Mr. Chair-
man, on your appointment; and I suppose I should re-congratulate the Sena-
ator. This is the first time that a joint committee of both houses has been
privileged to have an Indian as one of its chairmen, and particularly one who
can give to the committee such valuable service as Senator Gladstone has given,
and continues to give.

I am sure your deliberations this year will be just as rewarding as they
have been in the past two years, and I should like to extend to all my very best
wishes in this valuable work you are doing.

The JoiINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The membership of the steering com-
mittee is composed as follows: Hon. Senators Gladstone and Fergusson, and
Messrs. Baldwin, Charlton, Ledue, Howard and myself.

I should like to ask the clerk to read the report of the sub-committee on
agenda and procedure.

11



12 JOINT COMMITTEE

The CLERK OF THE COMMITTEE: This is the first report of the sub-committee
on agenda and procedure:

Your subcommittee recommends that representatives of the following
Indian groups be called to appear on the dates indicated below, before the joint
committee on Indian affairs:

1. Oka Band (2 official delegates) to be heard on March 14.
2. Manitoba Indian Brotherhood (2 official delegates) to be heard on
March 23.

Your subcommittee recommends that the committee pay, on behalf of the

official delegates of the above-mentioned Indian groups, their travel expenses,
together with reasonable living expenses for the period of time they are in
Ottawa; (Such period not to exceed two days).

Your subcommittee also recommends that representatives of the following
organizations be called to appear on the dates indicated below, before the
joint committee on Indian affairs.

1. Presbyterian Church to be heard March 15.
Canadian Medical Association to be heard March 16.
Newfoundland and Government to be heard March 21.
Canadian Welfare Council to be heard March 22.
Greater Winnipeg Welfare Council to be heard March 22.

Mr. Howarp: I move the adoption of the report.

Senator FERGUSSON: I second the motion.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): As the minister said a few
minutes ago, we expect to complete the hearings of the committee shortly after
Easter recess and then we will proceed to hear the officials of the Indian affairs
branch, then Health and Welfare, followed by a review and examination of the
Indian Act. Then, finally, we expect that the committee will be ready by the
end of this session to make final recommendations for a final report to the
house.

This morning we have representatives of the Oka group, and I would like
to introduce Mr. Emile Colas, who is the attorney for the Oka group.

Senator FERGUSSON: Mr. Chairman, could you introduce Mr. Colas and tell
us why he is representing this group?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Mr. Colas is a lawyer representing
the Oka group.

Mr. EmILE Coras (Counsel for the Oka Group): I may say, in answer, it
would be unfair for the chairman to answer this question, because this is the
first time I have been here.

Senator FERGUSSON: Perhaps you could tell us.

Mr. Coras: I am a member of the Montreal bar. I was a graduate
engineer before being a lawyer. I am a former president of the junior bar of
the city of Montreal. Then I became a member of the bar council of Montreal,
and I have been looking after the interests of the Caughnawaga Indians since
the expropriation by the St. Lawrence seaway authority. I have also been
looking after the interests of the Oka Indians. My dealings with the Department
of Indian Affairs have been long. We have many of us here discussed many
matters between ourselves, which are still pending after five or six years.

I believe that I have been able to appreciate and at the same time
to enjoy the friendship of the Indians, and also understand to a certain
extent, or try to understand to a certain extent, their problems and aspira-
tions, and their desires.

(-\
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That is why it is a great honour for me to be here this morning, to
be able to speak on behalf of the Oka Indians. Does that answer your
question?

Senator FERGUssON: Thank you very much.

Mr. Coras: Hon. Chairman, hon. members of the Senate, hon. members
of the House of Commons, gentlemen: I believe I will start by reading the
brief which we have submitted in writing and which, to a certain extent,
represents some of the problems of the Oka Indians.

On behalf of the Indians at Oka, we have the honour to present the
following brief.

I might say, also, that this brief has been prepared in cooperation with
Dean Frank R. Scott, of the law faculty of McGill University. I say “Dean”
because he had the title “Dean” bestowed upon him only a few days ago,
so that it is a great pleasure for me to call him “Dean”. It is a long time since
this honour should have been bestowed upon him.

Dean Scott is a long way off at the moment; he is in Poland to visit
his son, who is a member of the Department of External Affairs.

The first settlement of Indians at Oka occurred in the 18th century as a
result of two grants of land to the Sulpicien Order on the lake of Two
Mountains in 1718 and 1735, it being the policy of the governors of New
France to remove the Indians as far as possible from the dangers and tempta-
tions that resulted from too close a proximity to the white man. The terms
of the grant required the Sulpiciens to care for the Indians who had previ-
ously been settled at Sault-au-Recollet. After the Cession difficulties arose
over the title to the lands, which resulted in the passing of an act by the
legislature of Lower Canada in 1841 (3 & 4 Vict. c. 30), by which the title
of the Seminary of St. Sulpice to the Seigniory of the lake of Two Moun-
tains was confirmed, subject to certain intents and purposes, among which
were ‘“‘the mission of the lake of Two Mountains, for the instruction and
spiritual care of the Algonquin and Iroquois Indians”. Even this statute left
the actual rights of the Indians in some doubt, and after a long and trouble-
some history or relationship between the Indians and the seminary, which
need not be detailed here, and during which a large number of Indians
were converted from the Roman Catholic to the Protestant faith, a case
was carried to the privy council in 1912 (Corinthe v. The Ecclesiastics of
the seminary of St. Sulpice). This case settled once for all the question
of ownership of the land, their Lordships holding that it vested in the
seminary and not in the Indians.

Unfortunately, this judgment left several important questions still un-
settled. For to the ownership of the soil was attached a duty—the duty to
care for the Indians. Though vaguely defined, it nevertheless existed. It was
recognized by the privy council in that part of its judgment which reads as
follows: “They desire, however, to guard themselves against being supposed
to express an opinion that there are no means of securing for the Indians
in the seigniory benefits which section 2 of the act shows they were in-
tended to have. If this were a case which the practice of the English
courts governed, their lordships might not improbably think that there was
a charitable trust which the attorney general, as representing the public,
could enforce, if not in terms, at all events cy pres by means of a scheme
if necessary, by invoking the assistance of the legislature. Whether an
analogous procedure exists in Quebec, and whether in that sense the matter
is one for the government of the dominion or of that of the province, are
questions which have not been, and could not have been, discussed in pro-
ceedings such as the present”.
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Obviously in their lordships’ opinion, some tangible rights existed which
by appropriate action the Indians might seek to enforce. Such action has never
yet been taken. As a result, the dissatisfaction of the Indians has continued. In
an endeavour to conclude the matter once and for all, the dominion govern-
ment in 1945 purchased from the seminary acres of land forming part of the
seigniory, leaving the rest to be dealt with by the seminary as it saw fit. It
seems to have been imagined by the vendor and purchaser at this time that all
claim by the Indians to access to and use of the unsold lands was extinguished,
and that henceforth they and their children were to be confined to a part only
of the whole tract over which they previously roamed at will. They saw hap-
pen that which has been the sad story of Indian reserves everywhere in Canada
—the continuous encroachment of the white man, armed with legal documents,
upon the pitifully small portions of the country upon which alone the Indians
were supposed to lay claim after the white men, both French and English, had
taken all the rest.

A most acute example of this encroachment has occurred recently. A por-
tion of the seigniory has for centuries been known as the ‘“common lands”, on
which by ancient use and habit the Indians have been accustomed to cut wood
and graze their cattle. Title to these lands passed from the seminary into pri-
vate hands, and much of it now vests in the municipality of Oka which intends
to use them for a golf course. Possibly doubtful of its right to deprive the
Indians of their former enjoyment, the municipality secured the passage of a
private bill through the Quebec legislature in December 1959 (8-9 Eliz. II Cap.
181) affirming its ownership. Now the axe is being laid to the roots of the
splendid trees in the area, roads long used by the Indians are being closed, and
bulldozers are completing the work of destruction. The income of Indians is
reduced and their freedom of movement restricted, in order that the white man
may have more opportunities for recreation. What was once reserved for Indian
use and profit is now reserved for golf.

Ladies and gentlemen, place yourselves in our position. Would you not
feel a sense of injustice in similar circumstances? Would you be satisfied by
being told that everything is quite legal? Is there not a moral law as well as
strict law? Is this truly fulfilling the intention of the original grant of the
seigniory of the lake of Two Mountains? We are not asking that nothing should
change in two and a half centuries. We are not blindly opposing the inevitable
adaptations to modern conditions that must take place. But why must these
changes benefit the white man more than the Indian?

The Indians at Oka are part of the six nations. We have a sense of our
identity with our brothers at Caughnawaga, at Grand river, and across the
American border. We have preserved our language, despite the lack of Indian
teachers in Indian schools. We wish to remain Indian, and have we not that
right? We want tribal ownership of land, not the individual ownership which
the white man favours. We have been issued certificates by the government
telling us that we have the right to “occupy and use” such and such a piece of
land. But where is the ownership of the whole land? If the answer is that the
crown owns, then this is something meaningless to us. Why cannot the tribe
own the land? You have other communities in Canada, like the Hutterites and
Mennonites, which own land in common. Why are these newcomers to Canada
preferred above us who were the original Canadians?

We want to feel secure at Oka, able to develop ourselves in our own way,
and able to see a territory large enough to absorb the natural growth of our
population. We are proud of our family life and our tribal life, and we want to
know that our children and our children’s children will still be able to live on
this land at Oka in peace with their neighbours and not constantly threatened
by laws and title deeds which reduce their territory.

()
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We Indians feel we have a rightful claim upon the government for com-
pensation for the loss of so much of the land formerly granted for our benefit.
We think that the government should sit down with us to work out a policy
for the future development of the Oka band. We have many Indians now doing
farming on a limited scale, which they cannot turn into a paying proposition
due to lack of capital, equipment and land. The crops they harvest are usually
kept to feed their families and they must often work elsewhere or claim unem-
ployment insurance. The jobs available to the Indians in the Oka area are few
in number and not well paid. We see no escape from conditions of near poverty
unless the government actively takes a hand in helping us to help ourselves.
Financial assistance to those wishing to go into business farming for themselves
would be beneficial. The problem of land ownership is of primary importance
for the Oka Indians. They have time and again tried to obtain an answer from
the Canadian government as to their position with respect to the land which
they now occupy but as yet they have been unable to obtain an answer.

The Oka lands were purchased by the Canadian government from the
Sulpice order in 1945 and after 16 years no solution has been reached.

During these 16 years the Oka Indians have tried to obtain an answer
to their problem, but without success.

In a letter dated May 27, 1958, the Minister of Citizenship and Immigra-
tion wrote the attorney for the Oka Indians:

These lands do not comprise an Indian reserve. For many years
they were under the control of the priests of St. Sulpice, but were
acquired by Canada to protect the interests of the Indian occupants.
The right to occupy the individual parcels became involved over the
years, and the Indian affairs branch has been attempting to straighten
these matters out. The work is nearing completion.

I wish to assure you that this was written on May 27, 1958.

Mr. WRATTEN: What was the date of that letter again, please?

Mr. Coras: It was May 27, 1958.

When it is finished a decision will be given as to the future status
of the lands. It is not desired to reach this decision at the present time.

It will be three years in May since this letter was written. You can
appreciate, hon. ladies and gentlemen, that if the work was nearing comple-
tion three years ago, the Oka Indians may still wait a long time before the
work is completed.

This is one of the many examples that could be brought to show the
reasons why the Indians became frustrated with the red tape, the lack of
cooperation, the incompetency of the Department of Indian Affairs.

The Oka Indians wish that the Oka lands be given the status of a reserve.
It has all the characteristics of it, with a resident agent of the Department,
but it has not the legal status that would enable the band to have a perpetual
use vested in it for their enjoyment and that of their children and descendants.
What future is there for the Oka Indian?

This is why the Oka Indians feel that the Department of Indian Affalrs
has failed in its duties and responsibilities towards them.

The Oka Indians, as well as the great majority of Indians across Canada,
feel that the Indian affairs branch has been created by the Dominion of
Canada not for the protection, help and succor of the Indian but for the
protection, help and succor of the Canadian against the Indian.

The history of the Indians since the creation of the Department of Indian
Affairs has been one of ever increasing encroachment on Indian rights and
privileges, a dilapidation of its reserve lands.

It would be interesting to know the area occupied by the Oka Indians
in 1867 and the area presently occupied by them in 1960. The same could
apply to the Caughnawaga Indians, and to many other reserves across Canada.
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Far from opposing such encroachments made under the false pretense
of progress, especially by the creation of golf courses as in Oka and Caugh-
nawaga, the Indian affairs branch has encouraged and helped some without
thinking in terms of the Indian future and Indian interests. The last in line
is the one brought by the hon. member from Bonavista. But the Oka Indians
believe that this policy is not a peculiar one to the government, but that it
has been the line of thought of the branch since its creation.

When our brethren from Caughnawaga were expropriated by the St.
Lawrence seaway authority, the lawyer for the Indian affairs branch who
at this time was paid with funds earmarked for the protection of Indians,
and who normally should have been looking after the interests of the Indians,
did so well to “legalize” the expropriation that, once it was completed, he
was rewarded for his services by being appointed an officer for the St.
Lawrence seaway authority.

Is that the role of the Department? It should work only for the benefit
of the Indians. They cannot help themselves without the help of the depart-
ment; and yet whenever there is a problem of importance the Indians are
told to look after it themselves, to seek legal advice at their own expense
and to do whatever they will. But once again the Oka Indian asks: What
is the purpose of the Indian affairs branch?

The Oka Indians have come to consider the Indian affairs branch as the
refuge of colonels, and all kinds of people who had to have a job somewhere,
but who could not fit in anywhere. So they were appointed to the Indian
affairs branch. They have no preparation for the job, no interest in the work
and, above all, they have a marked dislike for Indians and Indian demands.
Of course there are exceptions to the general rule. We do not want to put in
this category all members of the Indian affairs branch.

The Oka Indians believe that it is about time the whole problem of
Indian affairs in Canada should be reconsidered in the light of the 20th
century. Canada has been encouraging the birth of new nations and the
explosion of strong nationalistic movements.

The Indians of Canada have taken cognizance of their identity, originality,
fundamental characteristics and history. They now want to share responsi-
bilities in Canada. They have realized that it is time for them to obtain
official recognition in their own country and that they be entitled to seek
redress for the numerous injustices their forefathers had suffered in the
past, and are still suffering today.

The time has gone when they could be parked in reserves like cattle,
left to themselves, without help, with no possibility to have their point of
view heard and understood, and with their lack of education and knowledge
of the white man’s numerous legal tricks.

A reserve must become a meeting place where the children of the same
family gather, and therefore it must be designed for the benefit of the band
as a whole, and not only for the few.

Housing facilities should be of the same quality as that of the surrounding
Canadian communities. In fact, it should be better, because the Indians should
receive the help of the best urbanists who can design the reserve facilities in
terms of Indian traditions. The Indian arts and crafts should be developed
the same way as the Eskimo arts and crafts have been developed in recent
years. Whatever the facilities, they should be created right on the reserve.
Small industries could be incorporated, and Indian souvenirs could be manu-
factured by Indians and not stamped “Made in Japan”.

Indians should be given greater opportunity for self-government. For
that purpose they should be encouraged to make their own decisions, and
to look after their execution under the guidance and leadership of Canadian
experts.

PRPRTCT R SE pr  —
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It is rather surprising to note that Canada is contributing to the Colombo
plan many experts, agricultural equipment, et cetera, when, in fact, it should
have had, for a long time past, an Indian plan to provide the same advantages
to its under-developed citizens towards whom it has, if not a greater, at
least an equal responsibility.

It seems that it is since the second world war that Canada decided it had
a mission around the world, but that mission should first have been started
right here is Canada. The whole fault, hon. ladies and gentlemen, among the
Oka Indians would appear to be that the Indian affairs branch has failed to
fulfil its responsibilities. It has never stated its aims; it has only taken Cana-
dians against Indians when it should have taken Indians against the Canadians.
For these -reasons the Oka Indians request the abolishment of the Indian
affairs branch as it exists today, and asks for the creation of a new department
called the Indian Department, which should serve as the spokesman of the
Indians of Canada with the Canadian government.

It should have experts in education, social welfare, health, urbaniza-
tion, economics, trades, arts and crafts who can work for the Indians just as
Canada lends experts to the under-developed countries to train the Indians
in those fields where they can later take over.

Indians are as intelligent as any other peoples. The only trouble is
that they do not have the opportunity to be educated. They want a modern,
up-to-date system of education. The new Indian department must at least
play the role that should have been played by the Indian affairs branch. It
should help the Indians every time they need help. They must not have to go
outside to get legal assistance, economic assistance, expert assistance.

Along with this department must be created an Indian commission which
should be a quasi-judicial body which would hear all cases opposing the
Canadian government by the Indians. The Indians have been told time and
time again to use the Canadian courts. First of all, this is another way on
the part of the Indian affairs branch of escaping its responsibilities. Secondly,
the Indians cannot afford to pay legal costs that would have to be in-
curred; and in that respect the Canadian government has even refused to
pay fees and legal accounts that have been approved by band councils,
this being another way of discouraging Indians from using legal counsel
outside; and they are told to do so by the Indian affairs branch who should
in fact supply them with this legal help.

The Indians have, in my experience, lost confidence in the Canadian
courts, and that is the general feeling all across Canada. The Oka Indians
want a commission that would be composed of an equal number of Indians
freely elected by the Indians, with an equal number of Canadians appointed
by the Canadian government. The chairman of this commission would be
appointed by the parties, and in the event of failure or impossibility to do
so by the Canadian government among the members of the judiciary. The
Indians would therefore feel that they could present their case without
any restraint through complex legal proceduré which is unfamiliar to: the
Indian mind, and which they distrust wholeheartedly. The commission could
further, wherever there would be difficulties arising, solve the difficulties
whenever the Indians are deprived of their rights.

At the present time this is, as I say, the opening remarks by the Oka
Indians. We will be glad to answer any questions that may be placed to
us, if in fact we have the answers.

Thank you very much, ladies and gentlemen.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Before we go to questions, per-
haps I should ask Mr. Colas to introduce the representatives of the Oka
band which are here this - morning.

24741-1—2



18

the Indian affairs branch. It was not up to the Indians. Why should they pay
the cost of getting legal advice and information because they have not the
money? This is the government’s problem. The department has its own
lawyers, its own legal advisers, and they should be doing this work which

Mr
Mr

Chief MonNTOUR: I am Chief James Montour.

Mr

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Any questions the committee :
would like to ask? \ ; ‘
Mr. BaLpwiIN: Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask two or three questions

along the lines of this brief. I want to make sure the witness understands

that when I am asking the questions, I am not attempting to place any
lessening of the responsibility of the federal government; but an ex-
amination of your brief would show that litigation went to the Privy Council

by virtue of the provincial legislation referred to as an act passed in 1841.

That was what prompted the original case which went to the Privy Council,

and the Privy Council recognized that there might be a responsibility of

either or both of the provincial or federal governments—because they say

that in their judgment.

Mr

Mr. BaLpwin: Also, am I not correct in assuming that the last en-
croachment of which the Indians complained was as a result of the legis-
lation passed in 1959 when the seminary went to the legislature to secure
passage of a private bill?

Mr. Covras: In 1959 it was the municipality of Oka which purchased
this, and, of course, they not having a clear title, carried it to the Quebec
legislature to have it corrected. In fact, at the time it was Premier Sauve,
who was a member for the riding of the lake of Two Mountains.

Mr. BaLpwiN: One question I wanted to ask in that regard: Has any
attempt been made to secure any form of redress from the provincial
legislature?

Mr. Coras: In this connection I may say that we have asked the federal
government to disallow the bill passed by the provincial legislature. We
have had a long correspondence with the Indian affairs branch in that
respect. They told us, as usual, “Well, we see no reason to do so, but if
you have any legal ground, you can tell us”. We wrote on June 1, 1960,
to the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration in connection with that, giving
them the whole legal reasoning that would enable the federal gavernment
to disallow the bill. At the time we were told: “Well, it is no longer the
Department of Indian Affairs; it is the Department of Justice”, and a few
days before the Deputy Minister of Justice left the staff, we had a one-
page answer in which he said: “Well, we do not believe that actually it is
the role of the Justice Department to disallow this particular bill”.

So

JOINT COMMITTEE

. CoLas: Yes, sir. Would you give your names to the committee?
. GaBriEL: I am Jeffrey Gabriel.

. JUNEAU: I am Jean Juneau.

. NicHOLAS: Sam Nicholas.

. FraNk: I am Mitchell Frank.

. MonToUR: I am Alec Montour. 0

. Coras: That is right.

this shows you again that all this work should have been done by @

the Oka Indians were asking to have information upon. Now, there is an
uncertainty as to the validity of this particular bill, and as to the wvalidity
of the title vested in the municipality of Oka.
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Mr. BaLpwinN: Now, my question is in reference to page two of your
brief, where the Privy Council says:

Whether an analogous procedure exists in Quebec, and whether
in that sense the matter is one for the Government of the Dominion
or that of the Province, are questions which have not been, and could
not have been, discussed . . .

'What I want to know is, has anyone on behalf of the Oka Indians, or has
the Indian affairs branch been requested to take this matter up with the pro-
vincial government to see if they are prepared to make restitution?

Mr. Coras: Yes, they have been requested many times, and nothing
has ever been done. Up until now the question remains unanswered because
the seignory of the Lake of Two Mountains was given to the Sulpicien order
for one definite purpose—for the protection, education and moral support
‘of the Indians. This is an obligation which is attached to the lands, and this
is an obligation which the Indian affairs branch should either ask the Sulpicien
order to fulfil, or that it should fulfil itself, if they really want to be living
up to the statutes that are still in existence.

But nothing has been done in that connection, and that is the great tragedy.
That is why the Indians feel frustrated and why they will remain frustrated.
At the present time the Indians are living on lands of which they do not
know the status. The Government of Canada purchased these lands in' 1945;
and as I said previously, the Canadian government has never been able to
give an answer as to what will be the future of these lands. Yet the Indians
have been residents of these pieces of land since the eighteenth century. They
have enjoyed that. You have treaties, and you have the royal proclamations
of the Kings of England. You have the terms of the capitulation of Montreal,
which granted safeguarding rights to Indians. Yet, these are considered as
just scraps of paper.

The Indians have not rights like the white man. They simply look at those
sections, and they know, for example, that the lands which were called the
common lands used for the benefit of the whole tribe—they know their grand-
fathers and their great-grandfathers had their cattle-raising rights and looked
after them, and went on hunts in that area; but now they have been divested
of that privilege.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Further to one question asked by
Mr. Baldwin: You have referred to a letter which was sent to the depart-
ment in 1960. You mentioned a legal point which would allow the federal
government to disallow that.

Mr. CoraAs: This is no longer possible, sir, because the one-year period
has lapsed, and we did tell them at the time: “You must be careful, it must
be done within a year, because that is the law”. We gave them all the reasons,
becaul;e I will tell you this had been carefully thought out by Dean Scott and
myself.

We are not joking when we write to the Canadian government; and the
opinions we give, I think, are just as valid and valuable as the opinions that
are given by the legal advisers of the Indian affairs branch or the Depart-
ment of Justice. I think, rather than say no all the time, they should tell us
so-and-so, and see if they can help the Indians. But in the five or six years
Dean Scott and myself have been dealing with the Indian affairs branch, every
time we have suggested something, every time it has been turned down.
That is the reason why we feel very definitely there is a lack of interest, a
lack of feeling, a lack of cooperation; and that is why the Indians feel frus-
trated. This is really unfortunate.

Now, speaking as a Canadian, for the first time we must give the Indians

the cooperation they want, enjoy good relationships with the Indians, and
24741-1—23%
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we must regain their confidence. They have lost confidence in the Canadian
government; they have lost confidence in the Canadian courts; they have lost
confidence in being Indians. There are historical grounds to support the posi-
tion they have taken, and that is the reason we must make a strong effort
to put a new spirit into our thinking on Indian problems. We must be able
to develop understanding and cooperation, and that can only be done through
a fair dialogue between the two parties. We must give them a chance to look
after their own affairs; but in order to be able to do so, they must be pre-
pared, and they are not prepared.

Now, gentlemen, that is the unfortunate thing. Their system of educa-
tion is out-of-date. It is on a denominational basis many a time. I am not
going to discuss the wvalidity of denominational education. I am a Roman
Catholic myself, but I believe, on Indian reserves the system is bad; it could
be made better, and the Indians could be entitled to go to primary schools
and to go to secondary schools. If we cannot develop a secondary school on
a reserve, we must have arrangements with the surrounding municipalities,
whenever possible, to take them into white men’s schools. But in order to
to do so we must be sure that they will not be subjected to sarcasm, to be
called “you little savages”, like they have been called so often; to be degraded;
to be lowered as they have been so many times, and that is the unfortunate
thing. It is just as bad to call them savages as it is to call a coloured man a
“nigger”. This they resent deeply. If kids go to school and they are called
savages, and are looked down upon, and looked upon with disfavour by the
Canadian people, they come back home and they start to cry and say: “I
don’t want to be an Indian any more.”

We should make them feel proud that they are Indians. They have a
tradition and history in this country greater than those of the various Euro-
pean countries which have sent experts and immigrants over to this country.

The JoiINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I would not like to restrict you in
your remarks, but I think we are getting away from the brief, which mainly
concerns the land question.

Mr. SmarL: Did not the situation probably stem from this, that this
trouble happened originally between the Caughnawaga Indians on, I think,
the St. Regis and Long Sault, back in 1689, where they had to take this
matter to his majesty the French king, and that Fontainebleau ruled that the
Sulpicien fathers had to establish title on the land in Montreal before the first
of the next year, and they were not able to do that. Then, in 1735 the religious
order was told that they must establish registration for this land and people
be put on the land, and that the ruling would be in their favour this time.

Mr. Coras: Yes.

Mr. SmALL: Is there not a conflict here between the French law and the
English law, where the matter of common lands comes into view, which is
different; in other words, they did not have what they call the Napoleonic code,
but this was done under the Napoleonic code, and it would be the Roman
law?

Mr. Coras: The Napoleonic code was not in existence at the time of the
cession. At the time it was the old French law which was, I think, the Cutu
de Paris applying in Canada, which was a codified system of law which was
the consolidation of customs laws and written Roman law.

Mr. SmaLL: They did not recognize what we call the common law here?

Mr. Coras: In this particular instance the problem is not the same there,
if you will allow me, because at the present time, you see, the seignory of
the Lake of Two Mountains was commissioned by the king of France to the
Sulpicien order. The reason why they passed the act in 1841 was due to the
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great difficulty that the Sulpicien order and the Indians had to get along
together. The Indians became so frustrated with the Sulpicien order that they
converted to Protestants, to a great extent, and the Sulpicien order then
decided: “Well, you are not a Roman Catholic, we do not have to support you
any more; we do not have to look after your moral and educational problems
any more.” And with due respect, sir, to the honourable gentlemen, I will
say that is not correct. It was not a question of the religion; it was a question
of the responsibility on the part of the Sulpicien order; and the Sulpicien
order would still be obliged, I believe, to look after the moral and educational
support of the Indians.

Mr. SmALL: Does it not stem from the time that they had to move ‘them
from their property at that time, and the order gave them some lands that
were swampy and not arable; and that is what brought the question to his
majesty the French king, and they had to give them lands that were better?

Mr. Coras: They moved from the Sault au Recollet, which, as you know
is on the Island of Montreal, and they were all in close proximity to large
communities at the time. You see, the whole problem of the French system of
reserves was really in fact for the conversion of the Indians. They wanted to
bring them to the true faith, and that was behind the idea of the granting of
reserves. They said to the Sulpicien order, just as they did to the Jesuit order
in the Caughnawaga case—it was the Jesuit order in the case of the Caughna-
wagas—in the case of the Oka Indians, it was the Sulpicien order, and they
said: “Well, we are going to move your reserve from Sault au Recollet, and
we will give you a whole seignory to compensate you for this move.” And
that is where they established them, in the Lake of Two Mountains. This is to
a certain extent the historical background of the Oka reserve.

Mr. SmAaLL: Is that where the question of law came in, on the transfer
whether the religious order had control or not? This seems to establish that
it has not.

Mr. Coras: They had to pass this bill of 1841 which actually was then a
British law, and has been incorporated into the statute as it now exists.

Mr. SmALL: They could only be governed by the terms of the capitulation
of Montreal. Was it Montgomery or Gage who said it?—who said what the
grant was to the Indians, and that they would be governed by them?

Mr. Coras: That is correct; and the law of 1841, as I said previously,
simply completed, if you want, or simply stated what were the obligations of
the Sulpicien order.

Mr. HowarD: As I gather, the purchase by the dominion government in
1945 was, in effect, that this purchased area would be a reserve. Is this the
theory behind it? Was that what the thinking was at that time?

Mr. Coras: That was the thought that the Indians had when the govern-
ment told them that they would purchase the land in order to avoid any
further difficulty with the Sulpicien order. That was what the Indians thought
it was, the granting of a reserve. Now, it seems that the Canadian government
tends to abolish as much as possible the reserves in Canada, and for that
reason they have been told that in the case of the Oka Indians they do not
intend to create a reserve, because they say the policy of the Canadian govern-
ment is to eliminate reserves, and in this particular case they do not want to
create another reserve. That is why the Indians at Oka are here today, and
that is why they are asking you that this question be settled with the Oka
Indians, who are the first interested. They want a reserve there.

Mr. Howagrp: Mr. Chairman, Mr. Colas mentioned that someone in the
Canadian government said that it is not now the intention to establish this
1945 purchase as a reserve.
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Mr. Coras: Correct.
Mr. Howarp: Could you substantiate this by documents?

Mr. Coras: The only thing is, I have not got the documents in front of
me, but I would be glad to supply you with these documents.

Mr. Howarp: It may be interesting.

Mr. Coras: Well, Mr. Chairman, I will send it to your secretary, Mr.
Slack.

Senator StamBAUGH: I was wondering what was the size of this area, and
the population that you are asking to be made into a reserve?

Mr. GaBrIEL: There are at least a hundred different lands on the Oka
reserve. The population is about 700, approximately—Indians.

Senator STamBAUGH: And the area?

Mr. GaBrieL: The original area was 3% leagues in length, and 3 leagues in
depth.

Mr. Coras: But now?

Mr. GaBrieL: We do not know now how much the boundaries are, since
1945. We have no idea what the boundaries are.

Mr. Coras: Would you be able to express in terms of English measure-
ments what a league is?

Mr. GABRIEL: A league is supposed to be about nine miles.

Mr. Coras: Nine miles to a league? i

Mr. GABRIEL: Yes.

Mr. Coras: And the original land of the Oka reserve was, you said, 3%
leagues in length, and 3 leagues in depth?

Senator StamBavUGH: That includes what was taken out for the golf links?

Mr. CoLas: That includes that, yes.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I would like to ask Mr. Colas if
there is an elected council of the Oka band?

Mr. Coras: Yes, there is an elected council of the-Oka Indians which is
elected only by a small portion of the Oka Indians, because most of the Oka
Indians—and in this I can be corrected by my friends in the rear—do not rec-
ognize the Indian Act.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Would you tell the committee, then,
if you represent the elected council of the Oka Indians?

Mr. Coras: I represent both, because I have been told by Chief Montour,
as well as Mr. Gabriel and others, that they would like me to speak for both
of them.

Is that correct, Chief Montour?

Chief JAMES MONTOUR: Yes.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Is the representative, the elected
representative of the council of Oka Indians here?

Mr. Coras: Chief-Montour is the elected chief, is that correct, Chief Mon-
tour?

Chief MonTOUR: No, hereditary chief.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Will you tell us the name of the
elected chief?

Mr. SmaLL: They do not elect one.
Chief MonTOUR: The elected chief over in Oka?
The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes.
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Chief MoNTOUR: The name you want?

The JoiINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes.

Mr. GABRIEL: James Gaspe is supposed to be the elected one.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): In the Oka group, how many recog-
nize the Indian Act and how many do not?

Mr. Coras: How many recognize the Indian Act in Oka?

Mr. GABRIEL: Eleven people out of 700.

Mr. CoLAs: So they elect themselves?

Mr. GABRIEL: They elect themselves amongst themselves.

Mr. CoLas: And how many are in the council of the elected eleven?

Mr. GABRIEL: All of the eleven.

Mr. CoLas: All of the eleven are on the council?

Mr. GABRIEL: Yes.

Mr. WRATTEN: Mr. Chairman, are the hereditary chiefs the same as on the
Six Nations, who claim that they are the rulers of the Six Nations?

Mr. Coras: They are part of the Six Nations. They are Mohawks. They
are the brethren of the Caughnawaga people, who are also Mohawks.

Mr. SmMALL: A branch of it?

Mr. CorLAs: Yes, a branch.

Mr. THOMAS: Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask the counsel for the In-
dians, do these Indians claim that they are Canadian citizens, or do they
repudiate Canadian citizenship.

Mr. CoLas: They do not claim that they are Canadian citizens. I am sorry—
I have to correct that: they claim that they are the only Canadian citizens,

the original, they are the true ones, and that all the white people are the
usurpers.

Mr. THOMAS: I notice in the brief the word “Canadians” is used in such a

way as to indicate that possibly these people did not consider themselves
Canadians.

Mr. CorLas: That is correct. You are perfectly right. They say that they
do not belong to the Canadian nation because they are second-class citizens
and they do not want to rank as second-class citizens. They want to be able to
be on the same footing as any other Canadian in Canada. The tribes, from time
to time, discuss whether or not they want to be Canadians. At the present
time they feel they are frustrated in respect of all the rights and privileges of
Canadian citizens. Therefore they cannot and will not accept this citizenship
until they will be able to rank at par with the other Canadian citizens.

Mr. THOMAS: In order to have it clear on the record, these people do not
recognize that Canadian law applies to them.

Mr. Coras: That is correct.

Mr. THOMAS: Therefore, they do not recognize any subservience to the
Indian Act.

Mr. CoLas: Correct.

Mr. THoMAS: For the benefit of the record, could you explain what posi-
tion these people do take in respect of the question of nationality.

Mr. Coras: They consider they are North American citizens and that their
brethren to the south of the border are just as well their brethren as those
who live across Canada. For that reason they do feel that the tribal customs, tri-
bal laws and tribal traditions should lead them in their day-to-day activities.

Mr. THOMAS: So they claim no allegiance to provincial law, federal law,
or, across the boundary, the law of the United States.
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Mr. Coras: That is correct. They claim that actually these laws are forced
upon them. They have great respect for the Queen of England who is the Queen
of Canada, and believe she is their protector.

Mr. THOMAS: Do these people claim that the protection of the Queen
also extends to their brethren who live on the south side of the international
boundary?

Mr. Coras: That is correct. I will qualify that answer. All the Indians
who live on what was known as the Canadian territory in 1763 are Indians
who have been taken under the care and help of the British ecrown. In that
connection there is the proclamation of 1763 which clearly states that the
king of England will support and see that the Indian subjects be protected.
They want this to be the law today in Canada. They say the Canadian crown
in 1867 took over the responsibility of the British crown and that these
responsibilities should be discharged faithfully. That is why whenever there
is an encroachment you will see at various times a petition made to the
British monarch because they still believe that is their only hope of getting
justice.

Mr. THOMAS: Mr. Chairman, in view of this attitude, could counsel ex-
plain how the Indians hope to achieve justice from the courts of Canada, the
courts of the United States or any other court?

Mr. CoLas: That is why I told you previously, as bluntly as I could that
the Indians have lost confidence and faith in the Canadian courts, as well as
in the Canadian government officials and the Canadian people. I am speaking
of what the Indians think. That is the reason why they ask for an Indian
commission that will be formed more or less on an equal basis of Indians
and Canadians, for the purpose of hearing their difficulties and trying to ren-
der decisions whenever there are problems between the Canadian government,
as such, and the Indians.

Mr. THOMAS: Has this group of Oka Indians ever tried to present their
case beyond the courts of Canada?

Mr. CoLas: No.

Mr. THoMmAS: For instance to the United Nations?

Mr. CoLas: No, they did not. The Oka Indians are very peaceful citizens.
They are a group deserving of a lot of understanding and protection. They
are very poor. I think the Oka Indians are much poorer than the Caughna-
wagas, for example. They are a little far away from industrial centers and
whenever they want to work they have to move away. Unemployment at the
present time is almost general. Yet, I have the example of a young boy who
took a trade as a jeweller. He came from Oka. He was encouraged by Mr.
Juneau to become a jeweller. Mr. Juneau is present here today. This boy has
worked with the best jeweller in Montreal and is a success.

This is an example of what could be done. I will not use the word “inte-
gration”, because the word “integration”, when pronounced in the face of the
Indians at the present time simply means assimilation. That is understand-
able, because they understand that assimilation would be the destruction of
their culture and history. This young boy is very proud of being an Indian,
and in his jewellery designs will take the Indian traditions and will be able
to adapt them to the twentieth century. It is along this line that the prob-
lems of the Indians should be considered.

Mr. THoMAS: I wonder if counsel could give us some information as to
how widespread is this attitude or concept of nationality among the Indians
of Canada? Is it confined to the Oka Indians alone, or can the witness give
us some idea as to how widespread it is?
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Mr. Coras: I would say, for example, that not only is it widespread
among the Okas, but with the Caughnawagas it is even stronger to the extent
that+at the present time—I tell you honestly it has been quite a while since
I saw them, perhaps six months, but the last time I saw them they were
going 'to the United Nations to have their case heard there. They have the
protection of a North American association of some sort. I have been on the
legal, not on the emotional side of it. That is what I call the emotional side.
That is the unfortunate situation into which we have forced the Indians.

Mr. THOoMAS: Does it extend beyond the so-called Six Nations confederacy?
Mr. CoLas: Yes.

Mr. SMALL: Do you hold the same contempt for the United States govern-
ment that you do for the Canadian government?

Mr. Coras: Even worse, because the United States has treated the Indians
worse than the Canadian government. At least they have had the courage to
establish an Indian commission to repair the damage to a certain extent.

Mr. SMALL: Have they done more for the Indians than the Canadian gov-
ernment?

Mr. Coras: At the present time they definitely have done more. They have
an Indian commission. They have paid them $31 million, in one case, where
they were deprived of their lands. They were given back their lands in another
instance. These were lands taken over by the Sante Fe Railway Company in
one of those, what we call, shady deals.

Mr. WRATTEN: Do these Oka Indians accept the old age pension, the child-
ren’s allowance and so on?

Mr. GABRIEL: Some of them do; very few of them.

Mr. WRATTEN: You gave an example of an Indian who went off the reserve
and trained as a jeweller. Why do the rest of them not do this?

Mr. CorAs: They are not encouraged by the Indian affairs branch. This
boy had to come to Montreal and be supported financially. He was lucky enough
to know someone who encouraged him.

Mr. WRATTEN: Did the government encourage you to be a lawyer?
Mr. Coras: No. I am not an Indian, I am a white man.

Mr. WRATTEN: Does the Indian not have the same opportunity? In the area
where I live, and there are Indians there, half the people want to come in to
town to learn a trade, and it is their privilege.

Mr. CorAs: The present chief of the Caughnawagas wanted to study, after
his primary schooling. He applied for a bursary to carry on his studies and was
refused. Of course, he is about forty-five now. The thinking in the department
has changed now to a certain extent. Once this man had tears in his eyes, as
he told me he only wanted to get further education in order to help his people
more. When I see these things I feel that since 1867 we have not had a policy
that is far reaching and which helps these people to help themselves. They
want to take responsibilities.

Mr. WRATTEN: That has been the problem throughout the country. I
could not go to high-school after age 16 because I did not have the money.

Mr. Coras: You must remember that the Indians were placed on the
reserves as wards of the crown. A ward is considered as a minor. In the civil
code a married woman, a minor, and an imbecile are all in the same boat
and are considered as incapable. Being incapable they could not do anything
by themselves and they had to be taught and had to be helped.

Mr. WRATTEN: I do not go for that.

Mr. CoLas: I am sorry you do not, but that is the situation.
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Mr. WRATTEN: You do not mean they are incapable. There are just as
smart Indians as anyone.

Mr. Coras: I share your view, but I am telling you that legally theya are
incapable. That is the reason why I believe the Indian affairs branch should
have acted as a guardian and have looked after their interests until they
reached their majority and were no longer incapable. That is why the Oka
Indians say the Indian affairs branch has not fulfilled its obligation. It should
have acted as a trustee, a guardian, a person legally vested with responsibility
to look after the moral, educational and economic interests of its children.
It did not do this.

Mr. WRATTEN: So far as you are concerned the Indian affairs branch is
no good at all?

Mr. CorAs: That is so.

Mr. WRATTEN: I asked that question just so that it would be on the
record.

Mr. Coras: I thought I was clear.

Mr. SmaLL: What you say may have some merit, but that condition did
not always exist. Not very long ago the Indian himself did not want to be
educated because he thought he was going to lose his tradition. It is just
lately he has come to the point where he wants to be educated.

Mr. Coras: Until he was exposed to the outside world. But, you know,
Indians have contributed to our defence. They have given their best men to
our armies. Many of them have died for our country.

They certainly did their share for Canada over a long period of time.

Mr. SMALL: They always have done it.

Mr. Coras: Yes, both under the French and English regimes.

Mr. HowarDp: Mr. Chairman, I do not think this line of discussion is
conducive to what we really are attempting to do. However, I would say
that those who argue from the point of view which Mr. Wratten, and perhaps
others, have taken, that the Indian has the same economic opportunity, started
from the same basis and so on, are entirely wrong. The Indian has not had
this equality of opportunity, and never has had it. I do not wish to proceed
further along this line of discussion. We may as well do it in the house
at some later time. However, I wanted to ask one or two questions.

What is the relationship between the so-called common lands and the
area that the Dominion government purchased in 19457

Mr. Coras: The common lands do not consist of any of the lands pur-
chased by the Canadian government in 1945.

Mr. HowaRrDp: Were the common lands part of the original two grants
which the privy council has held to be in the hands of the Sulpicien order?

Mr. Coras: Yes.

Mr. Howarp: Is the golf course on the common lands?

Mr. Coras: Yes. -

Mr. Howarp: I understood you to say that the privy council decision,
in effect, said that the ownership of the common lands rested in the Sulpicien
order.

Mr. Coras: Yes. However, they said that if we considered the case under
English procedure it would be considered a charitable trust, and being so it
must be used only for the purposes for which it is given. That is the question
which never has been answered. It is a question in respect of which Fhe
Canadian government never has asked its attorney general to obtain a decision
from the courts.

Mr. WRATTEN: Do these people know what land belongs to them?
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Mr. Coras: Well, they live on the piece of land on which they were
living in 1945.

Mr. WRATTEN: How do they separate one neighbour’s property from
another?

Mr. CorLas: Through tradition. I believe they put a fence up. You have
a ticket of location. Is that right, Mr. Gabriel?

Mr. GaBrieL: No. There is a large fence around the Gabriel lands—
around the one group of Gabriels. We have only one title to the land.

Mr. SmaLL: Is this not a case of jurisdiction between the dominion and
provincial authorities?

Mr. Coras: No; it is clearly federal jurisdiction. As long as there are
Indians living on the reserve, that land belongs to the federal crown, and
the perpetual use of that land is in the hands of the tribe. But, the minute the
last Indian leaves the reserve it reverts into the hands of the provincial
crown. The status of the land is attached to the Indian but, the minute he
leaves, the federal jurisdiction disappears.

Mr. WRATTEN: Are there any people on this common land?

Mr. Coras: No. As the name implies, common lands were used by the
tribe to raise their cattle, a place to go hunting, and as a play area. They
would picnic and enjoy themselves there. In other words, it was a playground
for the whole tribe.

Mr. WRATTEN: Has there has been any dispossession of their lands lately?

Mr. Coras: Yes. I believe it has been taken by the municipality of Oka
which, in turn, has rented it to a private club for the purpose of creating
a golf course.

Mr. WRATTEN: I am talking about lands upon which the Indians are living.

Mr. Coras: No, because it belongs to the federal crown.

Mr. THOMAS: Mr. Chairman, I am not too sure of the geography of this
location. I understand from the evidence that the property involved is about
three leagues by three and a half leagues in size, and that a league is about
nine miles. That would make this property thirty miles long and thirty miles
wide, which is quite a large area of property. Could I ask two or three questions
about that?

Is all this property located in Canada?

‘Mr. Coras: Oh, yes.

Mr. THomAs: How far would this property be located from the city of
Montreal?

Mr. CorLAs: How many miles would it be from Montreal, Mr. Gabriel?

Mr. GABRIEL: About twenty miles.

Mr. THOMAS: Would the land be of great commercial value for subdi-
viding? ;
Mr. Coras: Well, all of it is used by the municipality of Oka. It has been
completely taken over by private interests. Do not believe that this reserve

is now thirty miles long and thirty miles wide; there is only a very small
portion of that which remains.

Mr. THOMAS: Do the Indians receive any income from it?

Mr. Coras: No, none whatsoever. It has been sold right out by the Sul-

picien order to private interests, and it does not bring any income to the
Indian.

Mr. WRATTEN: How much land do they have now?
Mr. Coras: I do not know. The government has not told us.
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Chief MoNTOUR: There is just enough for a house, or whatever we have.
There is an Indian here, then maybe three or four Frenchmen, then another
Indian. However, that was all known originally as a reservation.

Mr. THOMAS: Is it the contention of counsel on behalf of the Indians that
this original tract of land, thirty by thirty, should be restored to the Indians?

Mr. Coras: No. We never have had that in mind. First of all, what we
had in mind was a proper compensation, either from the Sulpicien order, for
not having fulfilled its obligations of educational support and so forth to the
Indians, or from the federal government, in lieu of the Sulpicien order. Also,
the creation of a reserve on the lands that were purchased by the Canadian
government in 1945. Furthermore, if you would allow me to say so, the pro-
vincial government even would be interested in discussing with the Indians
the possibility of freezing the land which was given to the municipality of Oka
by the bill of 1959. They asked me to go and see that member of parliament
who was elected in June of 1960, to find out if there was a possibility of an
agreement in having a new bill passed in the provincial legislature, which
would have the effect of freezing this land so that no pieces of it would be
sold to individuals and, therefore, would be used only for the common en-
joyment of the white people of the municipality of Oka, as well as the Indians.
I believe that this still would be possible, if it was properly presented.

Do you realize that the Indians do not have any money to pay for legal
counsel? They had to raise $50 to pay my travelling expenses here today.
They collected an amount over the weekend sufficient to pay my way here,
and to pay for my hotel bills. I am not paid for presenting their case. I was
asked in December to go and see the deputy minister of municipal affairs in
Quebec, but I could not go because the Indians could not afford to pay my
expenses. How, that is the very unfortunate situation, and that is why I say
the Indian affairs branch should do this work for them. They should not have
to come and ask me to do this work. They have their own people, and they
pay them the year round. I certainly am not looking for a job; Dean Scott
certainly is not looking for a job. However, they need help and we feel that
we should offer our assistance.

. Mr. BapaNar: I would like to ask Mr. Colas if educational facilities are
available in the municipality of Oka. Have they high school facilities there?

Mr. Coras: There is only a French high school there.

Mr. Bapanar: Well, you have a high school.

Mr. Coras: Yes, a French high school. Our Indians speak only English.

Mr. BADANAT: Have any of the pupils advanced to higher education?

Mr. GABRIEL: A couple have advanced to high school.

Mr. BApanNar: But not university?

Mr. GaBRIEL: No.

Mr. BADANAI: Are you aware of the fact that there are scholarships for
Indian students who wish to continue higher education?

Mr. GABRIEL: No.

Mr. Bapanal: Well, there are.

Mr. SMALL: Mr. Chairman, I think we are becoming sidetracked. I have
always understood that if any land was taken away from the Indian. they
had to supply other land in its place. And, if there was any diminishing of
the land, it was done with the consent of the Indians themselves.

Mr. Coras: That is correct.

Mr. SmALL: I think this is the subject-matter we should be on. I feel
that the matter of their education is a problem which can be taken up .at a
later time.
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Mr. Coras: That is correct.

Mr. WRATTEN: A gentleman at the back said that there was an Indian
piece of property, then French properties, and then another Indian piece of
land. How does the Canadian government account for that situation?

Mr. Coras: That question never has been answered for us. We have
asked time and time again, and have been told that a decision would be
reached shortly, as you will notice from the letter in 1958 which I read to
you. We have no answer to that problem, and that is why the Indians are
frustrated.

Mr. FANE: Mr. Chairman, there are a number of things I would like to
say. First of all, I would like to say that I, personally, am cognizant of the
fact that the Indians in Canada have been short-changed throughout. They
are being confined to reserves and are experiencing great difficulties. However,
there is one matter which I would like to mention at this time. How do we
know what we are talking about when we do not know the area of the
land in question? We were given the original area, but nobody can tell us
how much there is now. How much of it is common area and how much is
still retained by the order of St. Sulpice? If Mr. Colas cannot tell us, perhaps
an official from the Indian affairs branch could do so.

Mr. L. L. BRowN (Special Assistant, Indian Affairs Branch): We have
an approximate figure of what they received in grants from the king of France,
and we have an accurate figure of what the government acquired in 1945 in
connection with the purchase from the Sulpicien order.

Mr. FANE: How much?

Mr. BRownN: About 1,556 acres of what we call “outside ‘the town” land,
and then there were an additional 51 or 52 lots which are right in the town,

just the same as if they were on Bank street or Sparks street, just ordinary
lots, of 50 by 100, or about that size.

Senator STAMBAUGH: Did you say 1,500 acres were purchased?

Mr. BRownN: Fifteen hundred and fifty six was the figure I gave.

Mr. FANE: How large is this common area?

Mr. BRowN: I have no idea. It was not purchased in 1945,

Mr. FANE: Surely somebody can find out how large that common area
is that is disputed, because I am sure that a golf course does not take more
than half a section at the most. It should not take more than a quarter sec-
tion. Out west 160 acres is usually sufficient for a golf course, but some of
them can stretch a bit if they get the land cheap enough, and 160 acres or
even 320 acres would not take too much away. But it does seem that if that
were owned by the government and it was supposed to be set aside for a
reservation, the settlement by people other than Indians, on what was sup-
posed to be a reservation, does seem very wrong.

I cannot understand the attitude of the Indians in this part of the coun-
try thinking they are not Canadians, because they are the original Canadians.
They should be very proud of the fact that they are the original Canadians,
and the fact that they have perhaps in the past not had all the privileges
available to other people in Canada should not deter them now. Because if
they want to become Canadians they should work at becoming Canadians
and not be happy in retaining the doubtful privilege of still being wards of
the government.

I am sure the government at the present time is very, very anxious to
help the Indians, wherever they are in Canada, to take their proper place
in the economy of the country. I would like, Mr. Chairman, to have someone
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tell us before our next meeting the actual areas at present involved. How
can we know what we are doing if we do not know what we are talking
about?

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): We can try to get that.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: Just to follow that up, there was some remark made
by a gentleman in the corner, who said there was a settlement or a house
in which an Indian is living, and then there is a row of people who are
French, and then another Indian living further down. Do these people who
are French—or anybody else who may be living there—have title to their
property?

Mr. Coras: We are not too sure. There must be a lot of squatters there.
This question has never been clarified.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: These people would just come in and put up a property
on the land to which they have no title?

Mr. Coras: Yes, that has happened.

Mr. SmaLL: They would have to have it registered.

Mr. Coras: Well, they are small houses.

Mr. SmaLL: Well, they would either have to have 1t in fee simple or fee
entailed, one or the other.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: There would have to be some sort of description of these
lands, would there not?

Mr. CoLas: Well, many people do not have this concept of description
of land. When they wanted to pitch their house there, they did so, and the
same thing applies on the Caughnawaga. You have many white people come
there and build shacks. If there were some Urban regulation or something
like that, then it would be possible to avoid the use of what we might call
shacks.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: I imagine that if the people settled there are French,
they pay some sort of taxes?

Mr. CoLas: No.

Mr. CHARLTON: As long as there is no misunderstanding; I think some
statements have been made which perhaps created an impression across the
country that the educational system, for instance, is not any good on the
Indian reserves.

As far as the land is concerned, I think probably if Mr. Gabriel was
correct when he said originally there were 34 by 3 leagues, which would
mean there are about 30 square miles, the difference between that and 1,556
acres now procured by the dominion government, also including some of these
lots which apparently have been squatted on by French people who have
built houses—that is a matter which I think the courts would have to decide.
But to come back to the educational system, I think it would be only fair
if the departmental officials here, Mr. Brown, for instance, could say what
comprises the educational system on the reserves and off the reserves now.
I was interested to know that most of the members of the band there speak
English; and you say there are only French schools.

Mr. Coras: There is a French high school.

Mr. CHARLTON: I wonder if the department could clarify this for us.

Mr. BRowN: Mr. Chairman, I am not familiar with the whole history of
education at Oka, but I will say that the Roman Catholic children in Oka
attend the Oka Roman Catholic municipal joint school. The Protestant Indian
children at Oka attend the Oka Indian day school.

Mr. CHARLTON: That is on the reservation?
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Mr. BRown: Yes, it is in the town, actually—for grade 1 and 2, and after
that they go to the St. Eustache Protestant joint school for their higher
education.

Mr. CHARLTON: Is there only French being taught in those schools?
Mr. BROwN: I cannot answer that.
Mr. ALEX MoNTOUR: Both English and French.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Now, we have heard the point of
view of Mr. Colas on those matters—

Mr. CHARLTON: Just further to that, Mr. Chairman, is education available
to all the children on the Oka reservation including the district?

Mr. BrownN: Yes, education is available to the Indians at Oka, the same
as it is to Indians in any other reserve in Canada, on the same basis.

Mr. CuaArLTON: I might say that in the case of our own Six Nations
reservation I think no one would argue that the educational facilities there
are not as good as or better than the district surrounding it.

Mr. Coras: You are in Brantford and we are in a part of Quebec.

Mr. CHARLTON: I realize you are not speaking about Indians across Can-
ada, but just for the Oka band.

Mr. Coras: No, just the Oka band.

Mr. CHARLTON: That is all I wished, to see that no misunderstanding
existed.

Mr. Coras: No, I made it clear we are speaking only for the Oka Indians,
and Mr. Gabriel just gave me a letter which was written from Ottawa,
December 10, 1941, and signed by the Hon. T. A. Crerar. He wishes me to
read a part of that letter, which is a very long one, dealing with the lands of
the Okas. At page 3 he said this: ;

I am informed that the seigniory was originally divided into
twelve parishes and that eleven of them were alienated by the seminary
many years ago and that the twelfth, in which Oka is situated, is the
only one where any property has been left. I am further informed
that in recent years the seminary made further sales of the property,
a good portion of which had, up to that time, been considered common
lands of the Indians and which was used by them for pasturing their
cattle and horses, and as wood lots. You are aware, that the Indians
strenuously opposed the latter sale and it is needless to say that
they will more strongly oppose any action that may be taken now or in
the future to disturb their rights of residence to the remaining unsold
lands; that is, to those areas which you now suggest should be purchased
by the government for them.

Under all the circumstances, therefore, as minister of the depart-
ment having control and management of the lands and property of the
Indians, and being the guardian of their rights, I cannot, in view of
the facts as outlined above, entertain any proposal to purchase for
the Indians, lands the legal title to which is in the name of the seminary,
but which are subject to the rights and obligations mentioned. On
the other hand, it is my duty to notify you as trustees of the seminary
that the government expects the obligations placed upon the seminary
by the statute of 1841, and as generally defined by the Quebec courts,
to be carried out.

It is to be hoped that in these difficult times it may be possible to
reach an amicable settlement which would be satisfactory to the Indians.
Failing this, I see no alternative but to commence proceedings in the
exchequer court under the provisions of section 39 of the Indian Act
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or take such other action as may be deemed advisable. I do feel, how-
ever, that the matter is one to be settled by mediation and that you,
as trustees for the order, will feel disposed to recognize and carry out
the obligations of the seminary to the Indians.

As I understand the provincial government is directly interested
in the properties of the seminary, I am forwarding a copy of this letter
to the attorney general of the province.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Would you tell the committee whom
this letter was addressed to?

Senator STAMBAUGH: Again, he is talking about a reservation. My under-
standing was that there was no reservation there.

Mr. Coras: That is correct.

Senator STAMBAUGH: Then there is no reservation.

Mr. Coras: Unless I am wrong.

Senator STAMBAUGH: Representatives of the department are here at the
moment, so, on behalf of the Oka Indians, that is not a reservation.

Mr. BRownN: That is correct.

Mr. Coras: It is not a reservation, and that is why the Indians want to
have this question—and I repeat for the nth time—clarified once and for all,
so that they know what their future is on these lands.

Senator StaMBAUGH: Then what you term the common lands is legally
the property of this Sulpicien order?

Mr. Coras: Correct—for the benefit and enjoyment of the Indians. It has
to be qualified. It is all property on which there is some obligation attached
to it.

Senator STAMBAUGH: Then these other citizens, the French that are situated
there, have bought their property, or leased it from this order?

Mr. Coras: That is correct.

Senator STAMBAUGH: Then these people have a right to be there?

Mr. SmaLL: I think when he was talking before, he said the Sulpicien
order were charged with the spiritual welfare of the Indians, and they were
given the property under that basis.

Mr. Coras: That is right.

Mr. SmaLL: They did not control the property because the Indians were
on it, and I can see that this is where the question comes in, of the right.

Mr. Coras: And you see also, in 1941 the Hon. Mr. Crerar knew that the
government could do something, too, to force the Sulpicien order to help the
Indians; and now finally in 1945 they purchased the land. What the govern-
ment thought at the time, I don’t know. Maybe they thought they were
discharging their responsibility to the Indians, and that it was not the re-
sponsibility of the Sulpicien order. But we maintain and we respectfully
submit that the responsibility of the Sulpicien order is still existing, and that
it should be enforced at the request of the attorney-general for the benefit
of the Oka Indians. I think our position is very clear.

Mr. CHARLTON: It would appear that there is no set rule in the case of
who owns this land, because the Sulpicien order has sold, according to Mr.
Crerar’s letter, what originally amounted to 12 lots.

Mr. Coras: No, 12 parishes.

Mr. CHARLTON: Eleven of which were progressively sold off.

Mr. CoLas: That is right.

Mr. CHARLTON: I wonder if the department officials could give us any
idea of what was paid for this remaining 1556 acres, and what were the




INDIAN AFFAIRS 33

circumstances of the purchase, and how much was paid for this by the
government at that time in 1945 when it was purchased.

Mr. SMALL: And how was it transferred?

Mr. CHARLTON: From whom was it transferred to the Crown?

Mr. BRowN: To answer the last question first, it was transferred from
the Sulpicien order to the Government of Canada. The terms of the sale were
the sum of $1, and an obligation on the part of the federal government to
assume arrears of taxes which were owing by the Sulpiciens at that date.
I think there were land and school taxes only, and, of course, the figure I
have which I will not say -is entirely accurate, amounted to $5,657 at that
time; so that was the consideration—$1, plus that arrears of taxes.

Mr. CHARLTON: The taxes had not been paid on this property?

Mr. BRownN: No, the Sulpiciens were in arrears on taxes.

Mr. CHARLTON: Have you any idea whether taxes were paid on the other
eleven lots?

Mr. Brown: I think it is eleven parishes, and I think these were sold
long before this date. This goes back to the mid-1880’s, or earlier.

Mr. CHARLTON: By whom were they purchased, do you know?

Mr. BRown: No—individuals.

Mr. Coras: Individual Canadians.

Mr. CHARLTON: They now hold a deed to this property?

Mr. BROwWN: Yes.

Mr. CoLas: Yes.

Mr. BRowN: It may not have been made entirely clear to all the members
present that a great many of these Indian properties outside the town proper
are, as Mr. Colas said, situated in such a way that, as you go along the
highway, there will be one or two farms of non-Indians, and then a couple
of Indian farms, and then a couple of more non-Indian farms. They are not
together until you get up into the backwoods, where there are more Indians
together in one area. Their properties are contiguous. But they are scattered
around and throughout the area of perhaps a couple of miles outside of
the town.

In some areas there is a block of perhaps ten or twelve Indian families,
and a gap between the next group. They are pretty well interspersed.

Mr. CHARLTON: This is not a block of contiguous lands, this 1556 acres?

Mr. BrowN: No, far from it.

Mr. CHARLTON: And for the reason that it could be purchased from these
people who were there?

Mr. BRownN: All the federal government purchased was the lands of the
Indians which was occupied by the Indians in 1945.

Mr. THoMAs: Did they purchase all the land that was occupied in 1945?

Mr. BRownN: Yes. 4

Mr. THOMAS: These lands all occupied by the Oka Indians were
purchased?

Mr. BRownN: Were supposed to be purchased. I think there have been
arguments that there were some occupied lands that were not purchased.
There was attached to the deed a long list of lands that the Indians were
purportedly occupying.

Mr. THOMAS: Could this be administered as an Indian reserve?

Mr. BROwN: It could be. The fact that they are not all contiguous does
not prevent it being a reserve.

Mr. THOMAS: Is it being administered as a reserve?
24741-1—3
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Mr. THOMAS: Owned by?

Mr. BrRownN: The federal government.

Mr. THoMmAs: Under the crown, in the name of the federal government?

Mr. BRownN: Yes. '

Mr. THOoMAS: Is it subject to the land regulations or ownership regula-
tions of the provincial government?

Mr. Brown: No, it would not be subject to the provincial law. It is
federal property.

Mr. TuomMas: Then there should be no complications there, as far as
property rights are concerned?

Mr. BrRownN: No, I do not think so.

Mr. SmaLL: You said a moment ago about the Sulpicien order paying
taxes. How would a religious body, using the land for that purpose, come
to be paying taxes?

Mr. Brown: I am afraid I cannot answer that question. I believe they
were in some difficulties and that was mentioned in the letter that Mr. Colas
read, that the provincial government was interested. I think I did hear the
story years ago.

Mr. CoLas: At the time the Sulpicien order was on the verge of bankruptey
through bad management of their property, and the provincial government had
to take over the property of the Sulpiciens and administer it until they were
able to put them back on their feet financially. So that is the explanation why
they had some difficulty; and-they were so much in arrears in many things, that
actually any amount of money at the time was gladly appreciated.

Mr. FANE: Do 700 people live on 2} square miles, 1,556 acres?

Mr. Coras: Yes.

Mr. FANE: They certainly did get gypped, did they not?

Mr. Coras: Yes, I fully agree with you.

Mr. CuarvuTON: I should like to ask Mr. Brown one more question. Do not
the Indian people living on- these lots of what is supposedly referred to as
crown land or reserve, not have location tickets to these lands?

Mr. BRown: No, there have never been any location tickets.

Mr. CuARLTON: Or certificates of possession?

Mr. BRowN: Since the government purchased this land in 1945, the branch
has been endeavouring to go through this area, survey all the land, establish
that each Indian was entitled to be recognized as the person entitled to live on
it, and prepare a proper listing and plan. This has been done almost com-
pletely, with the exception of one small area, I believe, and they have been
issued a sort of document as this job was completed, which I have a copy of
here. It is just a letter, really. It is not a location ticket within the Indian Act.
It starts out by saying:

“You are hereby advised that you have been recorded on the depart-
mental record as having the right to occupy and use the area of lot
so-and-so, Oka...” 3

Mr. CHARLTON: What if one of these chaps wanted to sell this property?

Mr. BRowN: He could transfer his interest with the department’s consent.

Mr. CHARLTON: Transfer and not get any money at all?

Mr. BRownN: If he has improvements on the land he would be entitled to
receive money for them.

Mr. BRowN: No, it is under the legal status of crown land at the present
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Mr. CHARLTON: The same as on a reservation?

Mr. BRown: Yes, exactly the same.

Mr. CHARLTON: But it cannot be sold to a white man?

Mr. BrRownN: No.

Mr. CHARLTON: So this is coming under reserve regulations, then?

Mr. BRowN: It could be sold, presumably, with the consent of the federal
government.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Now, if the committee feels that the
line of questioning has been fully covered, Mr. Colas has another point to
bring before the committee. 1

Mr. CoLAs: On the point of health and welfare there is a problem I would
like to bring before the committee.

On this question of health and welfare, as I said a moment ago, the Indians
must live on the reservation to be entitled to be paid their medical expenses.
But many Indians sometimes have to go outside the reservation, or what we
call a reservation, which is not a reservation, to go and earn a living.

Senator STaAMBAUGH: What you call a reserve is this 1,500 acres?

Mr. CorAs: Yes, correct; and yet they should be entitled to receive health
and welfare benefits. I have a case of one young gentleman who was in Mont-
real and he got an acute appendicitis attack. He called the Indian affairs rep-
resentative and he said: “I have to be placed in the hospital immediately. Will
you allow me to go to the hospital?”’ The Indian affairs agent said, “Yes.” He
goes to the hospital, his bill is paid by the federal government, and then a few
months after they ask repayment by the hospital of the expenses, because they
say they have found out later on that the Indian was not living on the reserve
at the time and that therefore he must be responsible for the payment of the
medical expenses.

All of these frustrating attitudes on the part of the government do create
tensions among the Indians, and those things should be avoided as much as
possible. That is the reason it should be clarified to the benefit of the Indians,
that once they have paid, they should not be asked for repayment of their
expenses, especially where they are told by the Indian affairs representative
to go into the hospital, and afterwards they renege on their word, and they
do not pay the bills. This is a situation which your committee should go into
also, because it has been mentioned in 1959, before the committee, by the
British Columbia Indians, and I still raise it at this time because this question
also should be looked after.

Mr. CHARLTON: Mr. Chairman, I think Mr. Colas said that the Indian
superintendent had told him it would be paid?

Mr. CorAs: Told him to go into the hospital and that it would be correct
according to Indian regulations.

Mr. CHARLTON: An Indian that was not living on the reservation?

Mr. Coras: Well, he has his house on the reservation, but he was living
in Montreal. It is another Gabriel—Raymond Gabriel. I think that is unfair,
when he was told that his expenses would be paid; and once they realized he
was outside the reservation, they asked the Royal Victorian hospital to pay
back the money to them, and the Royal Victorian hospital said: “What is this?
The government is asking to be paid back when they have already paid us.”
And then, again, he had to have a lawyer, and he had to ask the lawyer, and

you will see the amount of correspondence just to settle that question—red tape,
red tape, red tape.

Mr. THOMAS: Could the man be considered to be a resident of Montreal?
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Mr. CoLas: Well, he was registered with the Indian affairs branch as being
an Indian, and he is a Gabriel, and he has a house there. He goes to Oka, but
he earns his living in Montreal because he cannot earn a living in Oka. How
could you do farming or anything like that on these small pleces of land?
How could you earn your living there? It is impossible.

You will now have the pleasure of hearing Chief James Montour.

Chief JAMES MONTOUR: I have an interpreter. I am going to use my own
language. I heard some speaking that I did not qu1te understand, so I thought
I could do the same.

Mr. Coras: Would you come around here and speak loudly, because the
reporter must take down all your words.

Chief JAMES MONTOUR (Through interpreter Alec Montour): I am very
happy to be present at this committee and have the pleasure of being heard.
On the question about the land and what Mr. Colas has just been pointing
to, we want to have a settlement made to our advantage.

This goes back to the same problem about the lands that the Indians
were occupying, or are occupying now. They are very small now, and that is
a proclamation made by the two Kingdoms, the French and English, that
was stated in the proclamation of 1763 should be recognized and not as it
is now, on these lands. Farms that we own now, we cannot make a living
on. Since then, no one, not even the children, have been happy or contented
in the Oka reservation. We have, of course, asked the Indian affairs branch
for assistance, but they have never given any. What we are really anxious
about is to have the original boundary lines laid down again. As was stated,
these are three leagues by three and a half leagues. We ask that the reserva-
tion be returned to the size it was and that a final settlement be made. If
that is done everyone will be happy in the future. In regard to the new
industries that are springing up in Oka, which are related to the mines, we
ask that these be stopped until everything is settled and our demands met.
I still say it is a reservation, even though Mr. Brown does not.

After that is settled the chiefs of the Indians will meet with the representa-
tives of those who are at the head of these industries to decide on the best
settlement that can be made. Members of the committee should not be
surprised that I ask this because it must be remembered that the Indians were
the owners of this land before the white man came.

This land was surveyed by the representative of the King of France
and it was laid down that the land was for the use of the Indians. Later,
representatives of the Queen of England laid down. almost the same boundary
lines and stated that the land was to be owned by the Indians forever, and
not just for a while. A treaty or document was drawn up covering this piece
of land and, in the proclamation of 1763, there was an agreement for the pro-
tection of this land as a reserve for the Indians.

If the Indians decide they have no further use for the land they will go
to the present Queen, that is, the Queen of England, to deal with her, but
they have never come to that decision and they never will. We hold this
piece of land as our own home. When our great grandfathers came to that
piece of land they said they would never move from it and that it was going
to be their permanent home. We are still in occupation of it and we ask that
the Indian affairs branch produce whatever documents they have dealing with
this land so that everything may be settled, once and for all. We are not ask-
ing for more than we actually own or possess. We are living on a small piece
of land and it is being subdivided amongst the children as they grow up so
that none have enough to live on.

Mr. CoLas: That is true.
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Chief MoNTOUR (Interpretation): We believe all this land should come
back to the ownership of the Oka band. If that is done we shall all be happy
and will have something to which our children and our children’s children
can look forward.

Returning to the subject of the mines, we would like that whatever is
taken from those mines, the metal or whatever it is, would be sold to the
advantage of the Indians instead of to that of other enterprises. That is all
I have to say, and if anyone wishes to ask me any questions I shall be happy
to answer them.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): You can assure Mr. Montour the
committee was very happy to hear his remarks and those of his representa-
tive, and the committee will give them all due consideration.

Mr. Coras: Hon. Chairmen, ladies and gentlemen, on behalf of the Oka
Indians I wish to thank you very much for the very kind reception you have
given us. With your assistance we believe much can be done for the Indians.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Before adjourning I should like
to give the list of appearances for tomorrow, March 15, and for March 16.
We shall be meeting in room 176 (F) to hear representatives of the Presby-
terian church and we shall meet in the same room on March 16 to hear the
Canadian Medical Association.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, March 15, 1961.
(3)

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on Indian
Affairs met at 9.30 a.m. this day. The Joint Chairmen, Honourable Senator
James Gladstone and Mr. Lucien Grenier, presided.

Present:

The Senate: Honourable Senators Fergusson, Gladstone, Inman, Mac-
Donald, Smith (Kamloops), Stambaugh. (6)

The House of Commons: Messrs. Badanai, Baldwin, Barrington, Cadieu,
Charlton, Fane, Grenier, Henderson, Korchinski, Leduc, Martel, McQuillan,
Small, Stefanson, Thomas, Wratten. (16)

In attendance: From the Presbyterian Church in Canada, General Board
of Missions: Rev. J. A. Munro, M.C., D.D., Secretary for National Missions.
From the Department of Citizenship and Immigration: Mr. H. M. Jones,
Director of Indian Affairs; Mr. R. F. Davey, Chief of Education Division, and
Mr. C. I. Fairholm, Executive Asistant to the Director of Indian Affairs. From
the Department of National Health and Welfare: Dr. P. E. Moore, Director,
Indian and Northern Health Services.

Mr. Grenier advised that since the brief of the Presbyterian Church in
Canada was printed in the records of the Committee on June 1, 1960, as an
appendix, the Committee would hear a summary from Rev. Munro and would
consider the recommendations listed in the brief.

Rev. Munro made a brief statement and referred to the work of the
Presbyterian Church in connection with Indian welfare and was questioned
thereon.

The Committee considered the recommendations of the above-mentioned
brief individually with Rev. Munro supplying information on various points.

Mr. Jones, Director of the Indian Affairs Branch, also supplied information
on a number of related matters.

At 10.55 a.m. the Committee adjourned until 9.30 a.m. Thursday March
16, 1961.

M. Slack,
Clerk of the Committee.
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EVIDENCE
WEDNESDAY, March 15, 1961.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Good morning, ladies and gentle-
men. We have a quorum and can now start the meeting. Today we have with
us Reverend Dr. Munro, representing the Presbyterian church in Canada.
On June 1 of last year the brief of the Presbyterian church of Canada was
printed in the record and members of the committee have copies of it. The last
three pages of the brief contain some recommendations made by the Presby-
terian church to the committee. These recommendations start on page 15, and
I do not think it would serve any useful purpose to have the brief reprinted
in the record or read again.

Dr. Munro is attending this morning to answer any questions members
of the committee would like to ask but, before doing so, he would like to
make a brief summary of the brief and present the views of the Presbyterian
church.

Reverend J. A. Munro, M.C., D.D. (Secretary for Home Missions of the
General Board of Missions of the Presbyterian Church of Canada): Mr.
Chairman and members of the committee, the Presbyterian church in Canada,
in common with the other churches in this nation, is of course, much concerned
about the Indian situation across the country. Our church, being one of the
early churches at work in Canada, has had a long history of relationship with
these people and, through the years, has been concerned in ministering to the
whole man, that is, to the Indian people not only in the things which are
generally thought of as belonging to the preserve of the church but also to
the total well-being of these people.

Those of you who know the history of Canada, and I am sure most of you
do, remember such names as Robertson and Nesbitt, men who crossed the
plains and founded what are now great cities in this country, and who were
concerned early about the Indian people. Our brief suggests this background
of history with the Indian people primarily, of course, in the area of religion,
but also very much in the area of education, health services and welfare. These
are all things that have concerned our church as it ministered to these people
through the years.

I may say that when this brief was completed last year, certain things we
were recommending at that time were apparently in a state of transition.
Some of our recommendations have been acted upon and, having read a great
many of the briefs presented to this committee, one is conscious of the fact
that probably all the points have been covered by other briefs. But we are
concerned about the Indian people, and particularly about the understandmg
of the non-Indian community in Canada.

One other area gives us major concern and that is the one occupied by
the part-Indian. In our governmental system and in our handling of Indian
affairs we have made and marked definite lines, defining the Indian and the
part-Indian. Those who are Indian are the concern of the government, while
those who are part-Indian have been, more or less, outside the pale. We feel
this is part of the Indian problem and we know that our handling of Indian
affairs, primarily for the protection of the Indian and his economic well-being,

somehow did not work out, and now we have a system of reserves across the
- nation, which sets these people apart.
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For the non-Indian community to understand what happened to the Indians
through the years, one has to be in the mood to accept the Indian folk in all
departments of life, and one must also have an understanding of those who
are part-Indian, who are citizens of this nation, and who are just as much
the responsibility of government and community as is the full-blooded Indian.
Indeed, the part-Indians have many problems, probably more difficult in
some ways than the full-blooded Indians, and our brief deals with some of
these things.

As the Joint Chairman has stated, the brief has been printed and there is
no necessity to read the whole of it. But, if there are any questions, I shall
be glad to answer them. Before doing so, however, I should like to point out
one other thing about the brief, and that is our hope that leadership, real
leadership, will be developed among the Indian folk. Anyone who meets the
well-to-do Indian, the successful Indian in the life of our nation, can ap-
preciate just what contribution these folk can make to our nation, but we
feel that because of the difference in languages—the Indians do not understand
themselves when they are speaking to Indians from other areas, and they have
had no intercommunication in a real sense—it has been difficult to develop
over-all leadership. ;

Those who are successful in the professions, in commerce and the life
of the country, have done a great deal to try to encourage the growth of
leadership, and we are hoping that, through the agency of the federal govern-
‘ment, area conferences can be arranged by the Indians themselves at com-
munity, provincial and federal levels, at which Indians can meet together using
a common language, probably English or French, and we hope that these
conferences or organizations will develop and give the leadership which is
so often lacking amongst the Indian communities.

Very often people who are most vocal are not the soundest or most
balanced leaders in a community and, in order to bring the Indians along to
the stage at which they will be accepted as_full citizens of the nation, it is
most essential that leadership be trained and developed.

I may say that when we speak of native peoples we are conscious of the
difference in Africa between the Congo and Nigeria, in which countries two
different ways of handling the people were taken. Leadership training has
meant a very great deal to the stability and acceptance of the people of Nigeria
and we feel this is one area in Canada, where the whole nation can be in-
volved in developing leadership amongst this important part of our population.

Turning to the recommendations, I may say that when these were read
by John Melling, of the Indian-Eskimos association, he said: ‘“you are just
throwing out the whole Indian Act”. This was not our purpose at all though,
perhaps, it might be a good thing. The recommendations, I might add, have
been based on the experience of people working in the areas concerned.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Would members of the committee
like to ask questions on the brief before dealing with the recommendations?

Mr. Taomas: May I ask Dr. Munro what are those problems connected
with part Indians? He raised that matter and I should like to hear what the
specific problems are.

Dr. Munro: In areas where there have been large Indian settlements there
are sizable communities of part Indians. Sometimes these are mixed through
the population and sometimes they are in communities by themselves, in such
places as Winnipeg, Kenora, Prince Albert—places where there have been real
settlements of Indians, places where there has been a mixture of the races.
I am talking about occasions when an Indian man marries a non-Indian, or an
Indian woman marries a non-Indian. For years throughout the history of our .
nation these people have been looked upon as a little less than first-class
citizens. Sometimes they have settled in slums, very often in the cities and,
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over the years, they have found difficulty in becoming accepted by the com-
munities in which they live, because of their mixed race and because of
difficulties in maintenance. Prior to their marriages they have been looked
after in a parental way by the government but now they are no one’s concern.

Mr. THoMAS: Might I ask, Mr. Chairman, does the doctor know of any
specific instances where the Indian affairs branch has failed to take care of
these people, within their responsibility?

Dr. Munro: Well, Mr. Chairman, the thing is that the Indian affairs branch,
through the years, did not have this as a responsibility. This was not their
responsibility and so it would not be a failure on the part of the Indian affairs
branch. It was a failure on the part of government and the people to recognize
that here was a situation which needed attention, and our hope is that the
government will take cognizance of this situation in areas where it exists.
I am sure all of us are familiar with areas adjacent to towns—mining towns
in Manitoba and places like Prince Albert, and such communities as that,
where the Indians have actually lived in slum conditions, and no one has been
concerned. The municipalities had to give relief, of course, and there are those
especially the Indian women who have married outside, who have given up
their rights on the reserve by marrying non-Indians, and where their children
suffer because of lack of acceptance on the reserves. They have no rights
there any more. In the community there has been a race prejudice against
these people. I think this covers almost every department of their living.

Mr. THoMAS: Would the doctor not agree, Mr. Chairman, that this is part
of a problem that goes far beyond the scope of Indian affairs alone? It is a
general problem, and possibly not the particular responsibility of this committee.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): In other words, doctor, your view
is that there is a lack of provision in the Indian act concerning reserve Indians?

Dr. Munro: Yes, our feeling is that while there is no responsibility here
spelled out, that the Indian act and the government of Canada and the
people of Canada should be concerned. We are dealing now with Indians.
There are, of course, other mixed races in Canada. They have their own
problems. We are thinking now of this area of Indians and Indian admix-
ture, and we feel that because of the whole background that we have
allowed to creep up and develop in Canada, these people are in an inferior
position to start with. We feel that the community and the government
should take every measure to give help and guidance.

Mr. THomAsS: Is this matter dealt with in the recommendations we are
going to consider now, Mr. Chairman?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes, the recommendation on page 16,
the last one, recommendation 15.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: Could I ask the witness a question here, Mr. Chairman?
Is it your opinion, then, that it should be the duty of government, and perhaps
society as we have it, that they should take on this responsibility for these
mixed groups or mixed marriages that you may have, and try to improve
their standard of life, I mean in a special way rather than just in the normal
course that we follow?

Dr. Munro: Yes, because these people are what they are somewhat be-
cause of the history of Canada and of our handling of Indians. We have
worked amongst many people, Chinese, for instance; and there are mixed
marriages and problems. But it was not the history of Canada that contributed
particularly to that, as in the case of the Indians and non-Indians. That
breed community, as it is called, is largely the result of the feeling against
them. The difficulties they face are different, I take it, than for instance the
mixture of Chinese and non-Chinese. We have contributed as a nation to that
cloud that is over them.
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Mr. KorcHINSKI: Would you not also say—I am going to illustrate by
an example here. I went through my reserve and found a situation where
dwellings have been constructed, fairly modern—perhaps a year or two old—
and yet they would not live in these dwellings; they would live in a tent
adjacent to these dwellings. Do you not think they have perhaps as much .
responsibility, and at the same time their attitude has to change a bit also?
Perhaps our responsibility should be to make them feel confident of them-
selves to a greater degree. Would you have anything to contribute in that
connection, as to what our role should be in this case?

Dr. Munro: Chiefly in the matter of dealing with welfare amongst the
children. I know this reaches down into municipal responsibility, and we
are not trying to be unreasonable about that, but we feel that because of the
fact that these people are what they are chiefly through the background of
Indian handling, that there should be special consideration for them. And
again, we would put emphasis on leadership training and welfare, not in a
paternalistic manner, because we think this is an Indian problem. There
has been too much paternalism. There should be the development of self-
achievement with people who can counsel and be with them. I do not think
anyone thinks it would be enough simply to give hand-outs to make these
people more self-responsible. Our whole mission problem throughout the world
is away from any form of paternalism which has at times burdened missions
as such. But these people do need guidance, and they need counselling. When
you speak of people who have houses to live in and who prefer a tent, then
you begin to see the Indian psychology. It is very difficult.

I have had these people in my home and have read a great deal and
studied Indians a good deal, and it has been amazing to learn what the different
values and judgments are. It is all part of their background. If we hope to
have these people enjoy the rights of full citizenship, then we must see that
they are given counsel and the help of particular people who know them,
to guide them and help them develop themselves. I do not think we are
pleading for any kind of paternalism.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Well, we have jumped to the last
recommendation in the brief. I believe we should start with the first one
on page 15.

Senator FERGUsSsON: May I ask Dr. Munro if he would say a little more
on these area conferences. I think they appear to be a wonderful idea, but
are they practical? Is there enough interest between the groups in an area
or region that they would come together, or would it be worth while for
them to come together like that?

Dr. Munro: I believe some of the associations and agencies have had
a good deal of success in this sort of thing. It is not long ago since the
welfare group in Winnipeg met and brought together Indians and non-
Indians. A large share of responsibility in that conference was taken by the
Indians themselves. The churches have done a good deal of this. We, in our
church, have scattered peoples—Crees, Saulteaux, and Chippewas—and these,
of course, speak different languages and have a somewhat different history
and background and are at different stages of development. For instance,
in June we are again bringing large numbers of these peoples together, where
they use the English language, where they have the responsibility of naming
the subjects they would like to discuss and sitting down and looking at their
situation and how they could better themselves. We have found that out
of these conferences have come pretty good leaders.

As I said before, many of the leaders who are most vocal amongst the
Indians are not always capable of giving them the solid leadership, which
is necessary. We feel that the government, on a larger scale, can encourage
this. Anything that is wrapped up in an artifical manner is not going to be
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' successful, but there are major problems that Indians, I think, could take
under advisement. I am sure these would eventually develop into worthwhile
conferences. It would give an opportunity for that interchange which they do
not now have. The Indians in the Kenora area know much less about the
Indians in Prince Albert than we know about the Americans. It is a different
world.

Senator FERGUssON: Would there be a basic sympathy between different
groups because they are Indians?

Dr. Munro: Well, amongst most of them I think there would be. There
are those jealousies.

Senator FERGUSSON: Among white people, too.
Dr. Munro: I was just thinking of that.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Well, can we start on the recom-
mendations then? Any questions on the recommendations starting on page 15?

Senator FERGUSSON: I wondered about No. (4) in recommendation 1, the
right to employ people to receive their full—

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): We will start with (1). Is there
any question on (1), the right to land ownership by individuals?

Mr. FaNneE: Well, Mr: Chairman, I would like to ask how in the world
you are going to have a reserve if you are going to have land ownership
within the reserve? The government would not be able to control it. They
would be able to sell their land to anybody they wished. If they had title
to the land, you would have people who were not Indians buying land and
owning the reserve. Pretty soon there would be no reserve, which probably
would be a good thing for the people concerned, for they would get out and
take their proper place in their own country. But how in the world could you
work that within a reserve—individual ownership?

Dr. Munro: Of course the very statement here does strikes at the present
reserve system. We have been confronted by people who have grown up on
reserves, who have left the reserves, have worked, and worked successfully.
They would like, for instance, to come back and spend their last years in
that area. They have given up all right to it. We foresee this, of course, as
gradually doing away with reserves as such, and we think that would be good.
An Indian cannot now go back to the reserve—

Mr. FANE: Once he has taken enfranchisement, you mean?
Dr. Mungro: Yes.

Mr. FANE: We had an example yesterday about these people who used
to own an area embracing an area more or less 900 square miles; they are
down to 24 square miles. That seems to be defeating the aims of looking after
them. Of course it would be the means of preventing the paternahsm you
spoke of.

Dr. Mungro: This land business—I am sure we are all conscious of this
from the newspapers—is a pretty complex one, the sale of Indian lands; but
we feel the Indians must somehow come to the place where they know what
it is to purchase land, be responsible owners, and be treated as citizens and
not as somebody different.

Mr. FANE: And the difficulty is, within the reserves, I do not see how
at this time they could have the right to individual ownership with title there.

Dr. Munro: As I said, these things that we recommend are matters for
programming over a period of years. We are thinking not only of the present.

Senator FERGUSSON: You mean the ownership of this land would mean
that they would be able to sell to non-Indians, or would it be limited?
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Dr. Munro: Ultimately we would see them as just members of the munic-
ipality who would live as anyone else, and would treat their property as
anyone else would. I do not think the Indians want this, particularly.

Mr. WRATTEN: The people who were here yesterday wanted a reserve
established.

Dr. Munro: Yes, we understand that.

Mr. WRATTEN: That is the thought that I took from their remarks.

Senator FERGUSSON: Oh yes, that is right.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any other questions on
recommendation (1)?

Mr. KorcHINSKI: Yes, I have a question—the right to police their own
people—is that in order here?

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): We are on item (2).

Dr. Munro: If we go on to (2), the right of enfranchisement without the
loss of property rights on the reserve—this can be dealt with in passing here.
In respect of the right of the Indians, so long as there are reserves, I would
say that many of the Indians who have gone out and taken enfranchisement feel
that they would like to have a relationship with their environment. This is a
very peculiar thing, because none of the rest of us have lived on reserves. But
this, to them, is the baronial home, and they like to go back. We feel that they
should have some right to do that. Having accepted responsibility as citizens
and exercised their vote, we feel if they are going to have reserves, they
should not be deprived of anything because they have taken responsibility as
citizens.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): No. (3).

Mr. McQUILLAN: What about the right to buy property and sell it as a
member of the band? Is he restricted from that privilege? :

Dr. Mungro: Yes, the Indian who buys land outside, along with anything else
he does outside, if he retains his rights on the reserve, these things then pass
under the care of the department. His wages, land, et cetera, off reserves is
administered under the department.

Mr. WRATTEN: I think you must be mistaken there. Surely, if an Indian
walked off the reserve and got a job, the department would not step in and
—we have some representatives of the department here. I would like to hear
from them on this.

Mr. H. M. JonEs (Director of Indian Affairs): Mr. Chairman, if I understood
Dr. Munro correctly, it is his understanding that an Indian’s rights off the
reserve are restricted, and the department would look after his land or his
income. He would not have complete rights off the reserve. If that is Dr.
Munro’s feeling it is not correct. Once an Indian leaves the reserve, he can
buy land, have full ownership of it and sell it. As far as I know, he is a free agent.

Mr. CHARLTON: The band membership would not exclude him from buying
land off reserve?

Mr. JonEs: No.

Mr. FANE: And buying property off the reserve would not exclude him
from being a band member?

Mr. JoNES: Absolutely not.

Dr. Munro: Is it not right that, so long as he is a band member on the
reserve, his business there is in consultation with the agent in the district;
and even the land that he might hold possession of off the reserve, and income
from it, would be under supervision of the agent?

Mr. JoNEs: No, he is a free agent, once he leaves the reserve.
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Senator SmITH: And by accumulating outside property, he does not sur-
render his rights on the reserve?

Dr. Munro: No, he does not surrender them but he is still under the
supervision of the agent.

Mr. CHARLTON: I have a question regarding (3) and (4), which really go
together. I cannot understand Dr. Munro’s feeling that if a band member, goes
off the reserve and purchases his property, his earnings off the property outside
the reserve would have anything to do with the department whatever, even
though he still retains land on the reservation. That probably would come
under departmental jurisdiction—the portion on the reservation, but not that
portion off the reservation, as I understand it. And I cannot understand (4),
the right of employed people to receive their full income and manage it. I think
they have that now, off the reserve.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): How about myself? I have not
lost any of my rights on my reserve by buying property away from the
reserve, and all the business I have with my equality off the reserve comes
under a different category from my business on the reserve. I have to go to
the Indian office and do my business in connection with what I have on the
reserve; but with what I have off the reserve, I do not have to go to anybody,
except that when I am in a town I have to deal with some people.

Mr. WRATTEN: In plain words, being off the reserve you are just the same
as any other man?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Yes, but it does not inter-
fere with anything I have on the reserve.

Dr. MuNRo: If this is in error, it should be withdrawn; but this particular
phrase was the result of dealing with the Indians themselves. Their report was
that salary, or wages they earned off the reserve came under the purview of
the local agent and was in some measure, at least, controlled by the agent.
Now, if this is not factual, we are wrong.

Mr. THOMAS: Mr. Chairman, could we just check with Col. Jones? Would
it be a fair statement to say that an Indian now has full rights, or the full
rights of any Canadian citizen, plus special rights in relation to his status as
an Indian? Is that correct—his full rights as a Canadian citizen, plus special
privileges as an Indian?

Mr. JoNEs: Generally speaking, Mr. Chairman, that is a correct state-
ment. There may have to be some reservation—not Indian reservation, but
general reservation—in some provinces where the right to consume or have
liquor is involved. But there is nothing in the Indian Act to prevent that.
With that possible lack of right, provincially, in one or two areas, those are
about the only one or two bars to complete citizenship off the reserves.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): No. (5). Any questions on No. (5)?

Mr. KorcHINSKI: I would just like to ask, in what way are they hampered
by developing their communities at present?

; Dr. Munro: For one thing, in respect of the reserves, they have certainly
rights and privileges within the community if those communities are so de-
veloped that they can progress. What has happened, of course, is that a lot
of the reserves through the years were very poor. Roads, power and that sort
of thing were not furnished. In our own mission field we have had to bring
the power in to the reserves, pay for it to be brought in for our own church
purposes, and then it was distributed later to the Indian folk.

Now, while they have a right, there are not the amenities. There is
not the kind of climate that allows them to develop. We would hope that
those things would be provided in any areas where, of course, these functions
are possible—that is, the power and what-not, and the assistance of people
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especially trained to help them develop in their own community. This is
especially so in the matter of commerce, in their development of their
own money-earning prowess. They have, of course, had to change a great
deal through the years, because of the lack of game and lack of ability
sometimes to farm. They are left or have been left to their own devices very
largely, and they have not developed. We are hoping they will not only have
the right but will be encouraged by the amenities of the community to
develop.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: In other words, Dr. Munro, they do have the right
now, but perhaps they do not have the means. Is that what you intend to
say here?

Dr. Munro: That is more properly so, I suppose. There is nothing to
prevent them from developing if the means are there.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: Well, they have the right now.
Senator FERGUsSON: They need something to encourage them.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: Well, everyone has their economic difficulties as a
rule. :
! Mr. McQuiLLAN: I would like to ask the witness, does he subscribe to
the belief that it is in the interests of the nation to develop several ethnic
communities in the sense that you are speaking of here?

Dr. Munro: Well, the key word there, of course, is to develop their own
communities as communities of Canadian people within the nation. Yes, we
do feel that there is a great deal—and part of our belief deals with this—
a great deal of Indian lore which is important and has a place in our nation,
just as we feel that in Canada the Irish society, the Scotch- society, these
people—Hungarians and the rest, I think—contribute to our culture and our
way of life. Indians also have a contribution to make. This does not put
them in a separate group any more than it does the Scottish, but they should
be encouraged to develop those things which are part of their tradition—
but as Canadian citizens.

Mr. McQUILLAN: You were using the word “community” in the broader,
national sense, not people living in one area?

Dr. Munro: Yes, as Canadian people within the nation. I think that is
what we mean.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): No. (6).

Mr. CHARLTON: I would like to ask Dr. Munro if, by this number, (6), you
mean to break away from the reserve concept, or to retain the reserve as part
of the larger municipality?

Dr. MuNro: Well, this would be done, I should think, in a matter of stages;
but the hope is that ultimately the reserve will disappear as such and will be
part of the municipality, and that the Indians will be part of that municipality
in the regular way. That is, it does envisage the abandonment of the reserve
as such.

Mr. CHARLTON: This may be a legal question: Do you think it is not
possible to have a reserve as part of the municipality, and still retain their
rights as a reserve within that larger municipality?

Dr. MunNro: I do not know that the rights provide for that. I think this
would have to be done in stages. I am not sure what legal right a reserve has
as such, to go into a municipality and be governed by municipal government;
but this is what we hope will happen eventually.

Mr. CHARLTON: Well, they would still be governing themselves as a part
of their larger municipality, and have representation in the larger municipality
governing them?
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Dr. Munro: That is right.

Mr. CHARLTON: They would not be governed by the larger municipality.

Dr. MuNro: They would be part of the municipal government.

Mr. CHARLTON: But governing themselves within that municipality.

Dr. Munro: That is right.

Mr. LEpuc: As of right now, I have an Indian reserve and it is within the
boundaries of the town. The town of Maniwaki has been detached from an
Indian reserve, but the boundaries of the town of Maniwaki include the same
boundaries as the old reserve, about 10 square miles. So far as administration
is concerned, the town has nothing to do with the part that is administered by
the Indian affairs branch. They have nothing to do on the reserve, but
municipally they are the same boundaries. The boundaries of the town of
Maniwaki include all the Indian reserve. There are a few white people who
own some portion of land on the reserve and have got to pay municipal and
school taxes. :

Mr. WRATTEN: Do they pay their just share for the magistrates courts, the
county courts, and all the rest of it, on the Indian reserve?

Mr. LEpuc: What is that?

Mr. WRATTEN: I asked if the Indian reserves that you are talking about pay
for their share of magistrates, the county, and the supreme courts, and all the
rest of it?

Mr. LEpuc: No, they pay nothing.

Dr. MuNRo: Our hope is that they become an area of responsibility just
as the people in any other municipality, for government and for taxes.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: Did you say taxes?
Dr. MunRro: Yes.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: How would you suggest that these municipalities would
come into this organization? I know at present that some of the municipalities
are rather hesitant about it. First of all, they say we do not get any tax from
them, so why should we build any roads? And furthermore, if we do so, there
are not any votes in there. ;

What sort of arrangement could you foresee whereby some financial
connection, or even voting privileges could be tied in with the municipality,
so that you could make this offer to them?

Dr. Mungro: It would seem to me that through the years you would have to
develop them as places where the Indians were willing to have their land
subdivided. It is a part of the municipality where they would take rights and
responsibilities to support magistrate’s courts, roads, and everything else. But
ultimately these things should disappear and they would become part of the
municipal scheme of things. This is a long range view of the thing, I admit.
léut g: ultimately means that these people will become as other citizens in

anada. |

Mr. BaLbwiN: In other words, you mean that in due course you envisage
political integration at the minor level of municipal government?

Dr. Munro: That is right.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Recommendation number seven?

Mr. KorcHinskI: The right to police with their own people is an important
thing. I have had several unfortunate instances, after the liquor right was
granted to the Indians so that they could frequent beer parlors and so on.
As a result, there was an increase in the number of Indians who were in-
toxicated, and, unfortunately, there were several murders.
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The town council of the town where these occurrences took place were
quite concerned over it, although they had a constable who patrolled the
streets. This constable was a little leery as to whether or not he should
continue as a constable. First of all, he was alone, and unarmed.

They reached the point where they considered that perhaps they should
remove their constable. In discussing this with them, I really advised against
it, because I felt that it might produce more trouble than good.

The point is that they felt that perhaps by taking the Indian from the
reserve and training him to be a policeman, there might be some merit in it. But
are you aware of any instance where they have tried it, and what the result
was?

Dr.~hunNro: I do not know of any single instance where there are Indian
policemen. The Indians themselves could cover that whole Indian community
somehow; but over against a police force there is a sort of community effort,
very often, to circumvent the law.

I mean that if someone is in trouble, he is hidden, and that sort of thing;
and if children are out of school who should be in school, they are helped
by their neighbours to remain out of school. So I think that until the Indian
people develop a sense of keeping law and order, we are going to continue with
this.

Now, it is quite true that if suddenly you introduced an Indian policeman
in a place where liquor is legally offered for sale in the community, he would
have trouble. But the experience on this continent and throughout the world
is that if people are going to be responsible for law, then they are going to
take some responsibility about the enforcement of the law.

Large cities which have negro populations usually have negro police. I
think it is the experience of history, that if you are going to have a real
responsibility and obedience to the law, then you must commit the respon-
sibility for keeping that law into the hand of the people themselves.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: Do you feel that the Indians, themselves, would be
receptive to such an idea? I ask this because I have seen occasions where the
Indian has taken the initiative, and has gone out and farmed and really made
a success of it. But as a result of that success, other Indians have tended to
ostracize him, to leave him alone, and not to have anything to do with him.
In other words, they would make it so miserable for him that he would wonder
whether he had done the right thing or not.

I wonder if there would not be a similar attitude in the case of policemen,
where they would say: “this man is going to tell the R.C.M.P. about us, and
about what is going on in the reserve, and that sort of thing.”

Dr. MuNro: Well, education would be a slow process. But I am quite
sure there would be a somewhat different background in the matter of policing
than there is in respect to economic success. One of the most difficult things
for us to understand is this idea of success with respect to an Indian.

The Indian still thinks of his income as game that should be shared by
the community. Therefore, if a man goes off by himself and is successful,
and if he is not sharing, then he is not fulfilling the general pattern.

On the other hand, in the matter of policing, and such responsibilities, I
think it would be different. I think this would be good, and I am sure there
are many young Indian men who would do this well. There are a lot of these
people who would take it seriously and it would build up some responsibility
among them to be for law and order instead of against it.

Mr. BALDWIN: On recommendation number (8)—the right to proper legal
counsel of their own choice—would Dr. Munro define this a little more
precisely? Does he mean that this should apply to civil and criminal matters,
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or does he recommend that it should only apply to those cases in which there

is a large issue, in which a band, or a particular group in a band of Indians,
requires legal help?

Dr. MUNRO: This was meant to deal more with personal civil cases. Ap-
parently it is the experience of an Indian that if he is arrested, charged and
sentenced, the sentence is lighter than it would be for a non-Indian. Something
is always given to him, but many Indians on various reservations have often
said: “we did not have a good legal representative; we did not have someone
to represent us”.

We hope that the legal profession will give very serious consideration to
this recommendation, with a view to building up within the Indians a sense,
not of privilege, but of responsibility. We feel the Indian should be punished
just the same as anyone else, and that if he is not guilty he should be released.
He will only get that right if he is properly represented by a good legal
counsel, and the experience of our people is that he has never had that.

Mr. BALDWIN: The witness referred to civil cases but his statement was
largely in reference to matters of a criminal nature, where an Indian is charged
before a magistrate or any other tribunal.

Dr. Munro: I was thinking more of the extreme criminal.

Mr. BALDWIN: Has it not been your experience that most provinces have
what are called legal aid societies, to which- an Indian might have recourse
if he could establish a case of sufficient merit to justify assistance?

Dr. Munro: These are provided for in all provinces, but the Indian who
is arrested on the streets of a town is usually dealt with without this kind
of counsel being provided, either because of his own ignorance or because what
he is charged with is a small matter. Cases of real hardship have been reported
to us in which Indians have been arrested and given sentences.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Is that not more of a problem in
the rural communities where legal aid societies do not operate?

Dr. Munro: I suppose that may be true. I have not been in any of the
cases in Toronto, but in outlying districts it is true.

Mr. BALDWIN: The witness has referred to minor offences but, in my
experience, if the offence is one of consequence the Indian department retains
counsel.

Dr. Munro: That is right.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any further questions?

Dr. Munro: Our next recommendation, page 6, paragraph 2 reads:

We recommend that section 108 of the Indian Act be revised so
that Indian women who marry non-Indians, and their offspring, the
children of unwed parents of Indian-non-Indian relationship, and the
enfranchised Indian will not suffer legal separation from the reserve.

This section of the act has given rise to a great deal of hardship and we
feel that these people, where in some cases there has been intermarriage and
in others there has, perhaps, been no marriage, should not suffer separation
from the reserve.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions?

Mr. THOMAS: Is that not left largely to the Indian bands themselves to
determine at the present time?

Dr. Mungro: I believe this is true. Having talked with the people in Brant-
ford I understand that the band can determine such a case but, even where a

man has been successful and has economically bettered himself through
separation from the band, this sort of thing brings with it a band prejudice

~ against individuals. We have knowledge of cases where women with children
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have returned to their band and the children have no rights to school; and
the women have no rights because the band say: “nothing doing, you went
away and that is that”.

Mr. SmaALL: In your last remarks you were referring to the enfranchised
Indian suffering legal separation from a reserve, but you will find that has
been wiped out by legislation just passed.

Dr. Munro: I am afraid I know that, but I must repeat that these recom-
mendations were made a long time before this.

Mr. CHARLTON: This matter has been fully discussed and one suggestion
was made that we retain the money given to these people from the band
funds when they leave a reservation. It was suggested that this money should
be retained for a certain period of years in order to allow the individuals
concerned to make up their minds as to whether they liked the outside or
whether they would come back to the reserve. That was discussed at quite
some length last year. Would you suggest that?

Dr. Muxro: I remember that in the discussions leading to these recom-
mendations this is one which was put forward at that time. It should be
achieved. Whether it is by leaving that equity in the band funds or otherwise,
we feel the wife and children should not be disinherited.

Mr. THomAs: Might I ask Colonel Jones or his officials if the recent legis-
lation has changed the whole picture. I am referring to the legislation which
makes the so-called enfranchisement so far as the vote is concerned universal
among Indians. Is it still possible for an Indian to take his share of the band
funds and go through this so-called enfranchisement process. Is what is de-
scribed here as enfranchisement, outmoded, due to_recent changes in the Indian
legislation. .

Mr. JonEs: If an Indian voluntarily applies for enfranchisement now he
takes his per capita share of the band fund with him.

Mr. THOMAS: That cuts him off.

Mr. JoNES: He is no longer an Indian registered under the Indian Act.

Mr. THomMmAs: Therefore he is separated from the band.

Mr. Jones: That is right.

Mr. THoMAS: And all his dependants therefore would be separated from
the band.

Mr. JonEs: That is right.

Mr. McQuiLLaN: This matter of the Indian woman who marries a non-
Indian is as laid down in the act now?

Dr. Munro: Yes.

Mr. McQuiLLAN: Children of an Indian woman unless fathered by an
Indian are not considered as Indians under the Indian Act.

Dr. Munro: This was right when this was written.

Mr. McQuiLLAN: It has not been amended.

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): It is still the same.

Senator FERGUSSON: Subsection 2 of section 108 of the act reads: “On the
report of the minister that an Indian woman married a person who is not an
Indian, the governor in council may by order declare that the woman is
enfranchised. . .”. It does not say she automatiecally is.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The word is “may”.

Senator FERGUssON: Yes. Does that always follow? Do they make such an
order?

Dr. Munro: I believe it is a practice.

Mr. JonEs: Yes.
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Senator FErRGUssoN: Does the governor in council always make such an
order?

Mr. JonNEs: Yes.
Senator FERGUSSON: It says “may”.
Mr. JoNEs: It comes around to “shall”. It is part of the procedure.

On recommendation No. 3.
We recommend the increased eo-operation between the federal and
provincial governments with respect to the following:

(a) The education of the non-Indian in school in a course which would
provide an understanding and acceptance of Indian and other ethnic
groups.

(b) A probationary period arranged for the Indian who has left the
reserve, at the end of which he may choose to return to the reserve

: without loss of rights and privileges.

(c) The arrangement of conferences between federal and provincial
agencies which are involved in or which are concerned with the
well-being of the Indian.

Dr. MuNro: Here we are asking for increased cooperation. There has
been a good deal of cooperation. This is a growing thing between the federal
and provincial governments in the matter of education of the non-Indian in
school in providing an understanding and acceptance of the Indian and other
ethnic groups. We feel this is very important. I may say that during the past
year this has been coming to fruition in two areas with which we are con-
cerned. Chiefly in the Kenora area an excellent thing is being done along
this line. We are hoping there would be an increased interest, not only where
there is an Indian population but generally through our schools. We would
hope that the federal government somehow could get the provincial depart-
ments of education to plan some course with regard to ethnic peoples, and
in this instance of course we are considering Indians.

Canada is a country of immigrants; we all are immigrants. We have had
two million and we have these 200,000 Indians. It seems to me there should
be something in the curricula which would make people who are born here
conscious of the rights of these peoples and particularly, in ‘this instance,
with the Indian people. In tribute to the department, the municipality and
the provincial government in Ontario I must say that in Kenora we have
an Indian residential school where non-Indians are attending the classrooms
while the Indian children are at school in the neighbouring public school. This
is providing a good climate for understanding in a very difficult district. This
is the sort of thing that is envisaged in this recommendation. However, what
we have in mind is broader than that, so that in all schools there would be
taught a compassionate understanding of all races, particularly in this instance
the Indians.

On recommendation No. 4.

We recommend that the Indian affairs branch confer regularly with
such agencies as the Indian Eskimo association of Canada in order
that research, education of the public, policies, and programs, could be
shared between the government and the voluntary agencies in Canada.

Dr. Munro: This is what was suggested a while ago. It is very important
that we have an overall activity in this area.

On recommendation No. 5. ‘
We recommend that area, regional, and perhaps later, national

conferences of Indians be encouraged by the Indian affairs branch; such

conferences should be planned, arranged and conducted by Indians.
24743-7—2



54 JOINT COMMITTEE W

Dr. Munro: I think we have already discussed this.

On recommendation No. 6.

We recommend that the Indian affairs branch should seek the co-
operation of municipalities, boards of education, and other bodies con-
cerned with public administration, to invite representative Indians to
their meetings.

Dr. Munro: This really is leadership training.

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Chairman, I come from an area where naturally we
have lots of Indians. At one time I was chairman of the school board. They
do not ask Indians into the school board. The school board runs the school.
We have Indians coming there, and some of the schools are predominantly
Indian, like Kelly and Moberley lake. The school board has functioned with
good success. In my constituency at a school handled by the Roman Catholic
people there are 450 Indian children. It is very successful. There are white
children there who go to the school. I think integration is the finest thing that
has happened to the Indian. I know it is right. In the Peace River country we
have had many instances of boys with Indian blood marrying the girls in the
district. They get along fine. I can bring to mind about five cases just recently.
They not only married the best girls in the district, but real good girls. This
is an uplift to the community. I think in this we are on our way out.

Dr. Munro: Chiefly, this is aimed at making the Indians knowledgeable
about how school boards are operated.

On recommendation No. ‘7.
We recommend that the present regional offices and officers should
be given enlarged responsibility in dealing directly with the problems
of the Indians.

Dr. Mungro: In respect of this recommendation we hope that the Indians
will be involved in the planning. We hope and think this will lead the Indians
to want their own better standards.

On recommendation No. 8.

We recommend

(a) that a program for better conditions on the reserves should be
planned in conference with the Indians themselves and with planners
who are aware of Indian culture and background; the Indians
should be encouraged to enter into a study.of the development of
their reserves.

(b) that staff be appointed at the provincial level rather than at the
federal level.

Dr. Munro: I believe this has been covered.

On recommendation No. 9.

We recommend that liquor legislation conform to the prevailing
regulations of the area in which the reserve is located and that there
be uniformity of action taken when there are breaches of the liquor
laws resulting in non-support of families and other suffering.

Mr. HENDERSON: Again I am at odds with the Canadian government and
anybody else. I do not think the Indian was ready for liquor. I am going by
what we see every day and what happens in the communities. Last year the
Reverend Kelley was here; I argued with him about it.

I have lived with the Indians all my life and I am seventy years old. The
Indian was not ready for liquor. I will never change my mind. Look in the
jails on Saturday night: who is there? “Mr. Indian”. I have had Indians work
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for me on the farm. They also work on the oil wells. They will work only for
four or five days, then they go to town and get drunk. They just cannot handle
liquor.

Mr. Bapanar: I disagree with that.  This is a matter of education. I think
the Indian has every right to have liquor in his home if he so desires. I do
not see how we possibly could discriminate against them by denying them
the use of liquor, if it is their wish. I do say, however, that there is room for
more education among the older people as well as the young people.

Mr. HENDERSON: I do not think they were ready for liquor.

Mr. Fang: Suppose I was to start drinking liquor; I am not ready for it
any more than the Indians. They should have their privileges the same as
everybody else.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I believe the purpose of the recom-
mendation is that there be uniformity of action taken when there are breaches
of the liquor laws.

Mr. McQuiLLAN: I think one of the great considerations in dealing with
the Indian population is that we treat it as a national problem. It is really a
regional and district problem. I do not think you can lay down a rule which
would apply to one Indian in one part of the country and have the same rule
apply, for instance, to an Indian living in the Queen Charlotte islands. We,
ourselves, do not live under that sort of a system, and I do not think the
Indians should.

Dr. Munro: The intent here is that the law prevailing in the area should
apply. I remember when prohibition was done away with there were a good
many of my own race—the Scottish—who did not know how to handle it and
we had many of them in jail on Saturday night.

Mr. SmALL: Is it not a fact that the Indian is going to get it anyway,
whether you like it or not. You might as well let him have it, because if you
do not he will buy the swamp whisky or “red eye”, as they call it. It is no
wonder he goes wild with it.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: As I pointed out earlier, the Indian was permitted to
frequent the beer parlour but was not permitted to take it on to the reserve.
As a result he did not take it on the reserve, but when he got back to the
reserve he was quite inebriated. As a result of his intoxication there have been
many difficulties. Somewhere there is a problem which has to be resolved.

Dr. Munro: Yes. Of course, with the Indian there is a difference. He is
not really punished if he leaves his family to suffer while he goes out and
blows all the money he has. When that happens some agency comes in, looks
after the family and clothes it.

We feel that over the years the Indians will have to stand on their own
feet the same as anybody else if they are to be first class citizens.

Mr. Barpwin: Have you ever thought of making representations to the
provincial governments that they impose fines for breaches of the liquor act,
or that there be a reasonably long period in which an Indian might pay rather
than go to jail for default.

Dr. Munro: I believe this is the practice in some localities. I believe repay-
ment terms are given.

On recommendation No. 10.

We recommend that a much larger staff of nurses and teachers of
hygiene or counsellors in health and welfare be provided for work on
reserves. This staff should have continued opportunity to serve the
people, especially on those reserves which are known to be below the
average of good health and living conditions.
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Dr. Munro: We feel that this recommendation is important. I believe the
department of health has difficulty in getting sufficient staff. This is where a
great deal of welfare education can be done. We would hope it would be
possible to increase the staff. X

Our churches, and I suppose all the other churches, have donated nursing
staff to this work. They work very closely with the government agencies. In
fact recently our nurses have said they think they would be better off work-
ing with the provincial government or with the department of health. The
staff is stretched pretty far in this area of service. These people get right into
the homes and are able to do a great deal in education.

On recommendations No. 11 and No. 12.

Recommendation No. 11

We recommend a continuation of residential schools or hostels for
children who cannot well be served by local day schools, whether on or
off reserves.

Recommendation No. 12.

We recommend that the practice of removing pupils far from their
home community for the purpose of primary or secondary education be
discontinued as far as it is practical. '

Mr. BALDWIN: Does Dr. Munro think the problem he envisages under
recommendations 11 and 12 might be particularly applicable in cases where
there are Indians who recently have been nomadic and are not willing or
able to make the adjustment to a major center of civilization.

Dr. Mu~Nro: That is true. We think of the Kenora area where they are a
nomadic people. Over a large part of the year the children would be left almost
in their wild state if they were not in the residential schools. The picking of
wild rice, the hunting and the fishing, takes the people far afield. Also, there
is a large area of the population where the children are without parents, either
because of death or illegitimacy. For these children the residential school is
essential. Certainly in respect of the nomadic people this is important.

Mr. Barpwin: I take it you advocate the continuance of the residential
school practice in those areas at least. Would you say that this would be par-
ticularly so if there are white students in the community so that there would
be the situation of the white and Indian pupils going to school together.

Dr. Munro: Yes. Our thought on education is that the more intermixing
we get, the better. The aim of our people in this work is the public school
idea of all the people in the community attending. We do see the necessity,
however, of having these hostels, at least where the children will be cared
for and will be in the proximity of the school.

Mr. THoMAS: Is Dr. Munro reasonably well statisfied with the educational
facilities now being provided by the Indian affairs branch?

Dr. Munro: In the past ten years this has developed tremendously. Not
only are we satisfied, we are thrilled. This always has to be modified if you
take particular cases of need. Generally speaking I think the progress made
in the last few years has been tremendous. We think the thing which has
happened at Kenora is exciting. The local municipality has accepted these
Indians into its public school and lets its own youngsters go to the residential
school.

Senator FERGUSSON: Would Dr. Munro tell us in which provinces his
church is active? Would you be speaking for all provinces in which there are
Indians?

Dr. Munro: No. Our experience is in Saskatchewan, Manitoba and north-
western Ontario.
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Senator FERGUSSON: Are those the only provinces in which your church is?

Dr. MUNRO: This is our church. Mind you, I lived in Prince Albert and
worked in northern Canada, so I know the Indians.

Mr. FANE: You are speaking of the Presbyterian church?
Dr. MUNRO: Yes.
Mr. FANE: That does not embrace the United Church.

Dr. Munro: We do not include the United church. We love them and
work with them, but they are not part of the Presbyterian church.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions on recom-
mendation No. 13?

On recommendation No. 14.

We recommend that for Indian students at university or other
advanced educational institutions, counsellors should be available at
times of depression or uncertainty. These counsellors might be Indians,
but certainly people with a thorough knowledge of Indians.

Dr. MunNRro: I feel this is one of our important recommendations. We have
had a good many students go on to university and to other advanced training.
The common experience has been that at a certain time these students become
upset and disturbed. In those cases they do not do well. They have done
well and have sufficient 1.Q., but at the university they are completely on
their own. This applies to youngsters from our residential schools who have
had a great deal of paternalism throughout the years. The school has looked
after them. If they are in trouble they hike to the schools. The paternalism.
is very marked. When they go to university and are on their own many of
them have trouble when they must use some initiative in things which are
not of their experience.

This is something which is very difficult for us to understand. I remember
two boys who were at our home. You go to the table at breakfast and say
“who is for more coffee?” There is no answer. ‘“Paul, will you have coffee?”
He answers ‘‘yes, please”. “Joe, will you have coffee?”’ He replies “yes, please”.
They would not use initiative in that or anything else. They were accustomed
to being asked. If you asked them to wash the car, they would say “sure”.
On the other hand, if you did not ask they would sit and watch through the
window while you washed the car.

In university they need counselling and need someone to whom they can
turn in the period when they are confused, and have not learned to study in
a systematic way. I believe there are some forty-five scholarships provided
by the department and only about seventeen taken up. At the same time the
churches and other agencies are saying we must provide scholarships for the
Indians. Those that are available are not taken up. I feel part of this is due

to the fact that in this area there needs to be much more counselling and
more concern. ;

I do not think a large staff is required. The number of students at each
university is not large. I believe somebody should be designated to give
counselling to these students. Although they have the intelligence they do not
have the practical training.

Mr. CHARLTON: In certain university cities it may be possible to designate
people who may or may not be enfranchised to counsel these students and
to whom these students could go and have a talk.

Dr. MuNRrO: Yes. In Toronto we have a number of men who are excellent
in this type of work with Indians; but they would need to have it drawn to
their attention.
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Mr. CHaArLTON: If they were made known to the student they could get
together and it might help to correct this problem.

Dr. MunRro: Yes.
The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I think recommendation No. 15 has
been covered.
Dr. Munro: Yes.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Thank you very much Dr. Munro
for your views and contribution to the work of this committee.

Dr. MuNro: Mr. Chairman, I would like to express my appreciation for

the opportunity to appear before this committee. Thank you for your courtesy.
The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier):

Tomorrow we will meet in this
same room to hear the Canadian medical association.
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troduced Dr. Arthur Peart who read the brief of the Canadian Medical Associa-
tion.

The Vice-Chairman introduced Dr. Hurtig, President of the Ottawa Aca-
demy of Medicine.

Honourable Waldo Monteith made a statement and referred to the gradual
improvement and development of Indian health services.

Dr. Cameron and Dr. Moore were called and Dr. Moore commented on
various sections of the brief presented by the Canadian Medical Association.

The Committee considered the above-mentioned brief page by page and
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21, 1961.

M. Slack,
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The VIcE-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Baldwin): The meeting will come to order. I
see we have a quorum. I regret the delay, ladies and gentlemen, but while
my heart was here my body was required down at the broadcasting committee,
which had been sitting for some time. I use that as an excuse, at any rate.

Today I understand we are to hear from the Canadian medical association.
While I mention that, might I welcome here the Hon. Mr. Monteith, Minister
of National Health and Welfare, who is here to observe and will be able to
stay here for a short time. He is accompanied by his deputy minister, Dr.
G. D. W. Cameron, who is also here on behalf of the department.

I am now going to call on Dr. Murray S. Douglas, the chairman of the
executive committee and general council, Canadian medical association, who
will introduce those who are with him, and then there will be a brief and
some comments by one of the association officials.

Mr. CHARLTON: Mr. Chairman, before we proceed I should like to express
the regrets of my minister, the Hon. Ellen Fairclough, that she cannot be
here because of illness.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Baldwin): Thank you, we will make a note of
that.

Dr. Douglas, would you like to come up to the front? It is always better
to face the enemy, doctor.

Dr. MURRAY S. DoucLAs (Chairman of the executive committee and the
general council, Canadian Medical Association):

I would not be facing you, sir.

Mr. Chairman, ladies and gentlemen, it is very pleasant for us to be
here, and particularly so in that this is a rather important matter. We feel
concerned in seeing that all our citizens are classified as first-class.

It is pleasant for me to introduce to you Dr. Arthur Peart, our deputy
general secretary, who has accompanied me and who will read the brief to
you.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Baldwin): Thank you, Dr. Douglas.

Dr. ArRTHUR F. W. PeaART (Deputy general secretary, Canadian Medical
Association): Mr. Chairman, the hon. Minister, and hon. members of the
Senate and House of Commons I will read the brief which you have in front
of you.

This is the submission by the Canadian medical association to the joint
committee of the Senate and House of Commons on Indian affairs.

The specific interest of the Canadian medical association in the welfare of
our Indian population relates, not unnaturally, to matters of health. We observe
in the Indian Act 1952 that reference is made to health only in chapter 72
(Regulations) where the governor in council is empowered to make regulations.

These are the three items under that chapter:

(f) To prevent, mitigate and control the spread of diseases on reserves,

whether or not the diseases are infectious or communicable.

(9) To provide medical treatment and health services for Indians.

(h) To provide for compulsory hospitalization and treatment for infectious

diseases among Indians.
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We have not been able to obtain the actual orders-in-council or other
instruments issued under these sections but we assume these to be the basic
legislative authorities under which the Indian and northern health service
operates.

The functioning of the Indian and northern health service represents an
area of activity where government responsibility and the private practice of
medicine impinge upon each other and where the boundaries are not clearly
defined. We understand that the obligation of the Government of Canada to
provide health services is stated in archaic language in a number of treaties
negotiated in the 18th and 19th centuries and that this obligation is difficult to
interpret in terms of current conditions. Be that as it may, there is a widespread
public belief which is shared by Indians and Eskimos that health services are
in fact a federal responsibility and the public expenditures in this field lend
substance to this view.

We desire to seek clarification of certain of the issue, to solicit a clear
statement of government policy and to point out certain difficulties encountered
by the medical profession in providing health services.

Let it be stated at the outset that the Canadian medical association is
aware of the substantial progress which has been made in improving the health
of our native populations. The Indian is no longer a member of a vanishing
race and the benefits of modern health services have been amply demonstrated
in the improved status which he now enjoys. Particularly praise-worthy is the
effort to control pulmonary tuberculosis and the gains which have been made
in this area serve as a model in the management of a stubborn infection. Canada’s
doctors and hospitals share the pride of the administrators of the Indian and
northern health service in all that has been accomplished.

The concept of the Indian health services as ‘“‘primarily a public health
service directed towards the improvement of the health of the Indian com-
munities” has been stated in the preamble to the schedule of medical fees
published in 1954 by the Department of National Health and Welfare. This
concept is immediately modified by equivocal statements referring to curative
services provided by private practitioners utilizing the department tariff which
is predicated on indigency and to Indian patients who are “normally responsible
for their medical accounts”.

To illustrate the situation as it actually exists, we quote from a letter of
a Canadian doctor who has had over twenty years’ experience in dealing
with Indian patients and whose devotion to their welfare is unquestioned.

It is repeatedly stressed in the ILH.S. directives to physicians that
normally the Indian is to be treated as a self-responsible private patient,
and that he should be expected to pay all or at least part of the bill
himself. I can truthfully say that I have yet to meet an Indian who is
even faintly aware of this. It appears that this policy, as outlined in the
fee schedule, is revealed only to the doctor. I have had no indication
that any of the local I.H.S. nurses or Indian Agency officials have had
any instructions regarding these policies. There is a firmly-rooted belief
that a Treaty Indian is entitled to free hospital and medical care, and
any attempt on our part to convince them otherwise is met with great
indignation and ill-feeling, not only from the Indian but from the local
LH.S. nurses and officials to whom he takes his complaint.

The first difficulty, then, Mr. Chairman relates to the identification of
Indians whose medical care is a responsibility of the federal government and
to distinguish them from those who accept personal responsibility.

In many instances, contractual arrangements exist for the provision of
medical care to such patients by a doctor practising in the area of a reserve.
When Indian patients chance to consult another doctor, does their entitlement
to services at the public expense lapse?
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It would appear that medical services to Indians may be furnished by
four categories of doctors—

1.

Full-time medical officers of Indian health services. We recognize that
in certain locations this arrangement is the only one possible. We are
concerned, however, that conditions of employment be such as to attract
and retain well qualified doctors. In certain instances difficulties have
arisen by reason of the fact that physicians so employed are not re-
gistered by the provincial medical licensing authority concerned and
it is recommended that this basic legal qualification be required as a
condition of employment.

Private practitioners located in the area of a reserve who have contracted
with Indian health services to provide preventive and curative services
to entitled Indians who resides on the reserve. Such doctors are referred
to variously by Indian health services as part-time medical officers or
designated physicians. An arrangement of this sort may be the most
satisfactory solution in many situations provided that the terms of the
contract are realistic and that renumeration is related to the amount
of work actually performed. It is our understanding that many such
contracts set an arbitrary maximum of monthly payment to the con-
tracting doctor and we can quote examples where such remuneration
is one-third or less of the fees earned at the indigent rates quoted in
the Indian health services schedule of fees. Conditions such as this
produce dissatisfaction and resentment and in the long run impair
the interest of even those dedicated to the welfare of Indians. We
are, with some reluctance, prepared to accept that contractual ar-
rangements may be necessary as a substitute for affording Indian pa-
tients freedom of choice in selecting their medical attendance but it
is our view that the objective of integrating the Indian into the com-
munity would be furthered by working towards this freedom. In the
meantime a review of the existing contracts appears to be indicated.

Private practitioners who have no contractual arrangement with Indian
health services but who are nevertheless consulted by Indian patients
who have a firm belief that they are entitled to care at the public
expense. It is here that the identification of such entitled Indians is
most difficult and until entitlement is more clearly stated, and accepted
by the Indian patient, misunderstanding will persist.

The final category of physician is the specialist who attends Indian
patients in hospital or who sees such patients in his office. Referral
by doctors in any of the preceding categories is the common procedure
and the specialist accepts such patients in good faith and performs an
essential service. In this situation also the financial responsibility is
anything but clear and such accounts as are recognized by I.H.S. are
paid at a fraction of the going rates.

We note with approval that in agreements negotiated with the provinces
for universally available hospital insurance, it is required that Indians be en-
rolled on the same terms as other residents of the province concerned. It is
our view that this will serve to overcome many of the difficulties previously
encountered by hospitals in relation to Indians admitted as patients and will
do much to eliminate the impression that Indians are entitled only to second class

care.

In those provinces where a premium system is operative it was our hope
that the necessity of coming to a definite conclusion on those classes of Indians
whose premiums are a federal responsibility would provide a test which would
apply to entitlement to medical care. We learn, however, that in such prov-
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inces the premiums are paid by the federal authority on behalf of all Indians
and that subsequent efforts at recovery of premium are made among those
Indians who are deemed to be self-supporting.

We have presented certain unsatisfactory features of the functioning of
the Indian and northern health service as we see them from the viewpoint
of the physician in private practice. Much of the difficulty arises from in-
ability to distinguish between Indians who are “wards of the government”
and those who are responsible for their own health care. It is hoped that this
submission will evoke a clear statement of policy which will permit the ready
identification of the two classes.

In support of the need for a ready means of 1dent1fymg Indians who are
entitled to medical care at the public expense, the following extract is quoted
from the preamble to the 1954 schedule of medical fees applicable to Indian
and northern health service and which is still operative.

“This schedule is a reasonable contribution towards the care of those
who would not be able to obtain treatment and should be regarded as a tariff
for indigent patients.” The medical profession is quite accustomed to con-
tribute its services gratuitously or at reduced rates to the needy and is pre-
pared to do so in the case of indigent Indians. The application of this schedule,
however, to Indian patients who are in other respects self-supporting is
unrealistic since the schedule itself is much lower than that used by any
other department of government.

We are advised that three basic considerations govern eligibility for
health services: the Indian must be listed on a band register at an Indian
agency, he must be living on a reserve or in an Indian community, or his
absence from such residence must not have exceeded twelve months. In-
stances coming to our attention suggest that these conditions are frequently
set aside. Municipal authorities and other officials appear to be firm in their
belief that the federal government is entirely responsible for the health care
of Indians and responsibility is promptly transferred even in cases which do
not meet the criteria of eligibility.

We urge that the criteria of indigency among Indians be much more
clearly defined than at present, that the criteria be accepted and applied
by all concerned with the care and welfare of Indians, and that the Indian
patients be advised of their entitlement. It would appear to follow that Indian
patients not classified as indigent would be responsible for their own health
care.

Our experience suggests that the administration of Indian affairs in their
entirety would be facilitated if a single department of government were re-
sponsible through a single minister. The current dichotomy between the
responsibilities of the Department of Citizenship and Immigration and those
of the Department of National Health and Welfare appears to contribute
to misunderstanding and difficulty. It is inevitable that differences in phil-
osophy will emerge where control is divided and that a clear expression of
government policy may be handicapped.

Many of the matters here outlined have been discussed with the ministers
concerned and with the officials of the Indian and northern health service.
Since the outcome of these conversations has been inconclusive, we welcome
the study which this joint committee is undertaking and we hope that the
outcome may serve to clarify many of the issues in the interests of continued
improvement in the health of our Indian population.

The ViceE-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Baldwin): Thank you very much. May I repair
an omission I made earlier and say that Dr. Peart is deputy general secre-
tary of the Canadian medical association. Also, before we proceed with the
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question period I would like to introduce Dr. Hurtig, who is the president
of the academy of medicine in Ottawa. Dr. Hurtig came in during the read-
ing of the brief. Would you stand up, doctor?

Ladies and gentlemen, as the brief is not broken down into parts, may
I suggest that we proceed page by page and, to make for a more orderly
discussion, I would ask that when one line of questioning is introduced it
be developed until the subject is exhausted.

I am sure that during the course of the questioning the minister and the
members of his staff who are here would be glad to co-operate in connection
with any matters which may arise.

Hon. J. W. MonNTEITH (Minister of National Health and Welfare): Mr.
Chairman, may I ask permission to say a few words to the committee at this
time. My remarks will be very brief. However, as I have a cabinet meeting in
a few minutes and must leave, I would ask permission to speak at this time.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Baldwin): I wish you would, sir.

Mr. MoNTEITH: I would like to say that I am very pleased to have before
me a copy of the brief of the Canadian medical association. I think that in the
over-all picture it must be remembered that about 1946 the amount of money
spent through my department on Indian and northern health services amounted
to $2% million. Today, 15 years later, it is running about ten times that amount.
I think that it should be borne in mind that there has been a gradual improve-
ment and development of this service.

At this time I would like to introduce Dr. Moore, who is the director of
our Indian and northern health services. He and Dr. Cameron will be in a posi-
tion to answer any detailed questions and discuss other matters as the meeting
progresses.

May I point out that our approach to this whole matter is that no Indian
shall go without the necessary health services. This is one of our prime requi-
sites.

Mr. Chairman, if I may, I would also like to take some exception to the
second last paragraph in the brief. When I say that I would like to take some
exception, I simply want to say that we are not convinced that this method
would be in their best interests. In other words, we feel the Department of
National Health and Welfare is well equipped to look after the health services
of all those, not only in the Indian and northern health services, but all federal
health responsibilities except National Defence and D.V.A., who are accepted
as a government responsibility.

May I point out one further thing. As far as the schedule of fees is con-
cerned, there has been a recommendation made for the consideration of treasury
board. I will not enlarge on that at the moment, because it has not been
finalized, and I do not think I am at liberty to say exactly what it is. However,
I think it will be an improvement along the lines which the Canadian medical
association have requested. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. If I may
be excused now, I have this other meeting to attend.

The ViceE-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Baldwin): Yes, indeed. Thank you very much.
I am sure the committee would wish me to express their thanks to the minister
for being with us and making this statement this morning. Also, we welcome
his officials to our committee. Dr. Moore has been before us on different occa-
sions previously and has proved to be of great assistance to us.

May we proceed now with our examination of the brief. We will commence
at page 1 and I would ask that we proceed on the basis as suggested, that when
one line of questioning has been introduced we develop it to its completion.

Are there any questions concerning any aspect of the brief, commencing at
page 1?
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It may be the committee’s wish that while we are examining this we might
hear from Dr. Cameron, if he has any comments he wishes to make on the
brief as presented. His comments might provide a basis for discussion later.
Would you be prepared to do that, Dr. Cameron?

Dr. G. D. W. CaMERON (Deputy Minister, Department of National Health
and Welfare): Mr. Chairman, I do not think there is anything I could say at
this time that would help matters. If you would agree, I would like to have
Dr. Moore make a general comment in respect of the first page, explain the
attitude of the department and, as it were, present the other side to you. May
I make that suggestion?

The VicE-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Baldwin): That is fine. After Dr. Moore has
spoken to us we then could direct any questions we have either to Dr. Moore
or Dr. Peart, as the case may be.

Dr. P. E. Moore (Director, Indian and Northern Health Services, Depart-
ment of National Health and Welfare): Mr. Chairman, members of the Senate
and the House of Commons, I will attempt to comment on the first page of
this brief, and then try to answer any questions that come to the minds of
either members of the committee or representatives of the Canadian medical
association.

The first point upon which I might comment is in paragraph 1. There are
no orders in council covering this service, except the one that provides for
compulsory treatment for infectious diseases. That was put in primarily to
make it compulsory to take infectious cases of T.B. from the homes and put
them under isolation.

In connection with the second paragraph, there is no statutory obligation
whatever on behalf of the federal government to supply medical services to
Indians. Of the treaties that are mentioned there is only one, and the only
mention in that treaty is of a medical chest. We have had this carefully
examined by the Department of Justice. We have no intention of evading
medical care of Indians, as parliament decides on that issue when they pass our
estimates. They supply us with the funds to care for the Indians. However,
a statutory obligation would open the door to many types of practices, and
I do not mean practices by the medical profession. It would be impossible
to have budgetary control. In other words, if there was a statutory obligation,
an Indian could walk into the city of Toronto, or Ottawa, go to the best
specialists, run up any kind of a bill in any hospital or receive any type of
medical care, and it would be just absolutely beyond our budgetary control.
The judgment that was given at the time, which is often quoted as the
Mistawassis judgment, referred only to the payment from band funds for
certain drugs purchased with band funds without the consent of the band.

There are other cases which have come up in recent years which more
clearly define this. One example is the case of where an Indian was in an
accident; there was a great deal of insurance involved and the judge ruled that
the insurance was payable back to the department which had been expending
money on his behalf.

This service is primarily a public health service directed toward prevention
of disease and the health of the Indian community. We feel that preventive
medicine is our very most important role and, on the other side, we are trying
to teach the Indians some self reliance.

We never have pressed for payment of medical accounts, and we practically
take it per se that the amount of money that would be collected from an
Indian on a reserve, if we attempted to collect from him, would not justify the
time and effort involved. Therefore, in practically all cases, we accept the
Indian who has his resident qualifications and is a registered member of
an Indian band. In administration, it is difficult to know where to draw the
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line in connection with what services to give. We supply all prosthetic ap-
pliances, hearing aids, glasses, all kinds of expensive dental care and treatment,
and there has to be some discretion used and some control kept on it. For
instance, we feel that the value placed on anything that is given to most
people is exactly what they pay for it. If they get it for nothing, they count
it as worth about that. In the cases of dentures and the supply of glasses, we
attempt to get a contribution towards it. It may be only $2 on something that
is going to cost us $50, but if he (the Indian) has had to make that effort, we
feel that he values what he receives more than if he gets it as an absolute
handout.

In relation to the identification of Indians whose medical care is accepted
as the responsibility of the federal government, except in cases of emergency
in which anyone is looked after, we do not feel responsible for the payment
of medical bills incurred, unless we refer the patient to a specific doctor. A
request was made that we should issue, to every Indian, a card that will
entitle him to medical attention. I think the hon. members can conceive where
that would leave our budgetary control, and I would unhesitatingly predict
that we would need closer to $50 million instead of the $25 million to pay
the bills at the end of the year.

The minister did make reference to an item that is before treasury board
now. I think I can assure the members of the C.M.A. that there will be a very
marked improvement in the amounts of moneys that are paid. The basis of
all this dissatisfaction that has been expressed is on account of our low
schedule of fees. We are quite aware of this, and we have made representations
to have them increased.

On this question of what is referred to as limited accounts, we are steadily
revising any such limits. We find those necessary, because it takes some policing,
both with the Indian and with the medical profession. I have seen accounts
come in where we knew there was one sick member of the family and five
members of the family accompanied them. We then had six separate accounts
for one visit, where only one was necessary. That may not be a general practice,
but we must have some protection on the budget under which we have to
work. This is set on a per capita basis for the number of Indians concerned
and an average of what the doctor would earn on a schedule for fees for
that group. Then we usually pay extra for major surgery and encourage pre-
natal and postnatal examinations. We pay extra for those over any limited
accounts system.

I would repeat, under item 3 on page 4, that private practitioners who
have no contractual arrangements with our health services, that is, if they
treat an Indian who is not referred to them, then they treat him as a private
patient, unless he is an emergency. We are obliged to designate physicians
who are paid by the crown for this work, and we are paying that one man.
If an Indian goes to another man who is not an appointed physician, and if
that doctor takes the Indian as a private patient, all is well and good. He is
entitled to go to whatever doctor he chooses. But if we are going to pay,
we have the privilege to say who shall attend them. This is reasonable. I know
one reserve where three-quarters of the Indians in that reserve have their
own private physicians and do not use the departmental physician.

In No. 4, if an Indian is referred to a specialist by any of our people, we
will pay. Under the new arrangements, which I think will be in effect in the
very near future, I think the payment to the specialists will be more acceptable
than it has been in the past.

The CHAIRMAN: Excuse me, doctor; I think originally we intended to
proceed to a certain area brought up by the association. Now, in the light
of your helpful comments, we might have questions directed to you.
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Mr. McQuiLLAN: I think I am correct in saying that in those provinces
where there is a provincial sales tax, the Indians are subject to this sales tax
on the purchase of goods, the same as anyone else, whether they live on or off
the reserve. In British Columbia that sales tax is provided primarily under
what was originally called the S.S. & M.A. act—social services and medical
assistance act. That is why the sales tax was provided. They do not get any
benefits under the provincial health services as a result of paying those taxes.
Is that so?

Dr. Moore: Yes, they do, Mr. McQuillan. They are all insured under the
British Columbia hospital insurance service. Every Indian in British Columbia
is covered. There is co-insurance. We guarantee the hospital. If we can collect
it from the Indians able to pay, we do so.

We have made requests of people who are in receipt of social assistance,
to have Indians treated the same as whites, and it is still under negotiation.
So far we have not been successful. /

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions from any member of the
committee which will deal with any matters referred to on page 1 of the
brief?

Mr. MaArTEL: I would like to put a question to Dr. Moore. If I understood
your remarks, Dr. Moore, it would appear that the northern health services
are making efforts to have the Indians realize that they are responsible in
some way for their medical care. You stated that when they pay part of this
care, you feel they appreciate the service more. In that way, you are trying
to educate the Indians along that line. I am wondering, when we are talking
about medical insurance plans in Canada, the way I see it, it will do exactly
the contrary for Canadians. I mean, we would be taking responsibilities away
from the individual, while we are now trying to teach our Indians to take
more responsibility to look after their own affairs as much as possible. Right
now, the hospital insurance plan is in force -across Canada and is available to
the Indians. Is the department of northern health services looking after the
medical bills, apart from the different insurance schemes across Canada?

Dr. Moore: Mr. Chairman, in answer to that, I will answer the latter
part first. The Indians in every province are covered by the insurance plan.
Where a premium system is in effect, we guarantee the premiums to the
province. The Indian who is employed pays his own bills as does his co-worker.
If he is unemployed and resident on a reserve, we pay the premiums where
they are in effect. We also guarantee hospital co-insurance where that is in
effect, and we do make some effort to collect co-insurance in all these areas.
We consider it more of an educational matter, than a matter of trying to be
the bill collector.

On the other point (medical care), whatever plan is adopted in any prov-
ince, we will endeavour to see the Indian brought under exactly the same
regime as is instituted for the rest of the population of the province. That is
the stated policy of the minister on this point.

Mr. McQuiLLan: Mr. Chairman, would it be in order to ask questions on
fees now?

Senator SmatH: Mr. Chairman, before leaving this matter, Dr. Moore has
explained that the department do not press for payment, for instance, for the
co-insurance part of the hospital bill, or for payment of items respecting
dental service or glasses, but that they are carrying on an educational work;
is there any kind of pattern here? What is expected from the Indian on a
percentage basis? I would think that if it is practical and possible to arrange,
in connection with glasses, hearing aids and such things as that, it would be
desirable to have them pay a definite portion—it might be only 10 per cent
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or $2 or something of that kind. Is there some kind of a pattern? Otherwise,
if it is just a hit and miss program, I would guess that you recover very
little, probably not enough to pay even the cost of correspondence, in trying
to educate them to take care of a portion, if they can. Would it be practical
or possible to put it on a percentage basis that they would be expected to pay?

Dr. Moorg: Mr. Chairman, actually, in the public accounts report, you will
see a very substantial sum recorded where Indians have paid for glasses that
were supplied by the department. We have excellent arrangements with whole-
sale optical companies for the purchase of glasses. We get the Indians the very
best price. Before dentures, glasses, and such articles are supplied an Indian,
someone must have raised on his behalf an application for special treatment.
On that application is recorded the fact that the Indian is expected to pay
what he can or what they think they can collect from him. If an Indian is an
indigent or a school child, or without means at all, we would meet the whole
cost. In some of these forms, it is noted that the Indian should pay the full
cost of these glasses, and we recover the full cost from him. In other cases,
we recommend that he donate $2, $3 or $5. It depends on the circumstances
that the person, dealing with that Indian, judges him to be in. Many Indians
offer to pay the cost. An Indian will come to us because, instead of paying $30
or $40 for a pair of glasses, he will get a good pair of glasses that are correct
for his vision for $8 or $10.

Mr. McQUILLAN: Can I get in on that?

Dr. Moogre: I should not give away my trade secrets.

Mr. McQUILLAN: On this question of fees; I have heard that complaints
in the medical profession have been in areas where there is a very large per-
centage of the population that is Indian, and if there is one doctor practising
in that area in which 50 per cent of the population is Indian and 50 per cent
non-Indian, he finds that perhaps 55 per cent of his time is devoted to the
Indian, but perhaps 25 per cent or less of his income is coming from them.
Now, these doctors say: what am I to do, am I to make an unusually high
charge against the non-Indian in the area because they happen to be living
in an area where there are quite a number of Indians? I understand from your
remarks and the minister’s remarks, that there is something new coming up
in the way of fees, which is the biggest complaint I have had from medical
men.

Dr. Moore: Mr. Chairman, we have recently dealt with three or four
cases, in the Province of British Columbia, it so happens, where this condition
did exist, and we have reached a satisfactory agreement with the doctors
concerned. I think they had a legitimate complaint. We have now made
financial arrangements with them which they have accepted and are satisfied.
I must admit that we have been very harsh in our payment of medical
accounts. We have gone through an era where we had to do it to carry on the
rest of our program, and our major program was to stamp out tuberculosis.
We have been ruthless, I will have to admit, in making the dollar go as far
as we could possibly make it go.

Mr. McQuirLAaN: I am glad to hear the policy is changing, because it
seems to me it has worked a hardship among the medical practitioners in
those areas with a high proportion or fair proportion of Indian population.
Not only has it worked a hardship on the medical practitioners, but the non-
Indian population in the area has had a hardship worked on them, too.

. Dr. HURTIG: Mr. Chairman, I would just like to make a couple of ex-
planatory remarks on the area of activity where government responsibility
and private practice of medicine impinge upon each other. We realize that
there is a problem in administration. We also realize that there is an increase
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now in the amount of education that the average Indian is getting. He is
beginning to feel that he should have the same rights and privileges as other
people, and he says perhaps he should have free choice of doctor, just as other
people have. Anywhere the Indian is not satisfied with the free medical
service that he is getting, for any of ten thousand different reasons, he goes
elsewhere or may even go to a large university centre looking for medical
care.

Now, if this is done with the goodwill of the local Indian doctor, the de-
partment usually handles it. If it is done without the goodwill of the local
Indian doctor—and unfortunately, sometimes the local doctor is wrong—then
' the department does not take cognizance of the bill. :

I have two very good examples of this, one case dealing with a cancer
in an Indian from Maniwaki. On the other hand we also do have Indians now,
and Eskimos, who are either travelling on their own, or being forced to travel
by the government. They are being brought to Ottawa for training purposes,
or other places for training purposes; and although they have learned many
of the other things about their privileges as citizens, as far as the privilege
of ever paying a doctor is concerned, this they have never learned.

Mr. SMALL: There are a lot of white people who have not, either.

The ViceE-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Baldwin): Thank you, doctor. It has been very
helpful. Are there any other questions which we might say initiate from
page one? Can we now see if there is anything on page two? Is there any-
thing there which would invite comment?

Senator SmiTH: On page two, down towards the bottom, there are some
numbered paragraphs. Under No. 1 there is mention of provincial medical
licensing authorities. This paragraph would indicate that the medical service
might have in their employ a doctor who, surely, to be in the service must
be licensed by a federal authority, or be acceptable in Canada. Do the pro-
vincial medical licensing authorities vary in their regulations so that such
a doctor may be suitable to practise for the department in one province, but
not in another?

Dr. PeEarT: I do not think there is too much variation, Mr. Chairman, as
regards licensing authorities. Our understanding is—and Dr. Moore can
check this—that in the past some doctors have been employed by the gov-
ernment who have not had their licence to practise in any province. Only
yesterday I checked with the licensing authority in Ontario, and understand
that the Ontario licensing authority will accept any doctor for a temporary
licence if he has a temporary or permanent licence in any other province.
This temporary licence applies for a one-year period. The only point we are
making in this first paragraph is that we think all doctors employed by the
Indian health service should have a licence issued by a licensing authority.

Dr. Moore: Mr. Chairman, for employment on a full-time basis with this
department it is a prerequisite that a doctor must have a licence to practise
in a province in Canada. I may say that in the past, in view of the great
shortage of doctors, we did employ a number, usually displaced persons from
overseas, whom we never put out on their own. We used them in hospitals,
where they worked under supervision. We have assisted some thirty or forty
of these men until such time as they could get an enabling certificate so they
could write their provincial examinations.

Licensing is a provincial matter. One man in our employ who, in five
years, has been assigned to duty in four different provinces, happened to
be licensed in two provinces. He did work in two provinces, although he
was not licensed in those provinces. Also, we employ a number of doctors
from the British Isles and Ireland, all of whom are on the British medical
registry and have reciprocity with all but three provinces. They are eligible
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for registration and licensing except in Quebec, British Columbia, and Ontario.
In those provinces they would have to write the dominion council examina-
tion. Some of these doctors are highly qualified men but have been away
from university for a number of years. They would find it extremely difficult
to write a full set of examinations. They would have to take six months off
and study for it. So we feel if a man is licensed in a province, then he is
eligible for employment in our behalf; and as long as he does not do private
practice and accept a fee for practising, we have a ruling from the Depart-
ment of Justice that he can be quite legally employed.

Senator SmiTH: Is that quite acceptable to the medical profession?

Dr. PearT: I think this point is resolving itself. My information is that
the Ontario college which licenses doctors in Ontario will give a temporary
licence to a doctor in the position Dr. Moore mentioned, a doctor who is a
specialist and cannot write his medical council test, but is confining his prac-
tice to a special field. I think this is resolving itself. The only reason for ex-
aminations of this kind, Mr. Chairman, is to ensure that the licensing authori-
ties do give some evaluation of the doctor’s training. The purpose of licensing
authorities, as you know, is to check the qualifications of doctors to ensure
that they have had a proper medical education, and that the standard of
treatment is going to be good. So I think this point is resolving itself, and
that the Indian health service now only take a doctor who has a temporary
or permanent license to practise. '

Senator SmMITH: In one province.

Dr. PEART: In any one province; and that the licensing authority has
checked the qualifications of the doctor, and is satisfied he is all right.
The VicE-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Baldwin): Are there any other questions aris-

ing from the matters on page two? If not, on page three has anybody any
questions, any member of the committee?

Mr. McQUILLAN: Do any of the witnesses have any suggestions in view
of the testimony that Dr. Moore has given here, to solve this problem of
identification?

Dr. PearT: Mr. Chairman, in view of the fact that Mr. McQuillan has
raised this point, I wonder if I could introduce a few examples I have received
from doctors. First of all, I would like to make a comment or two about the
admission that Dr. Moore made earlier. We are very pleased that the depart-
ment is instituting the provincial fee schedule instead of the indigent one they
had before. I am sure this will be a much more satisfactory method of re-
munerating doctors. It is the one which most government departments now
use, so it will be following the general practice.

I also appreciate Dr. Moore’s comment about his department being unduly
harsh on the payment of doctors in the past. This is an admission I did not
think we were going to get out of him, but it is quite reassuring.

I take exception to this one point which Dr. Moore made, that Indians are
entitled to go to any doctor they see fit, at their own expense. The Indians do
not know this, and this is the one point we wish to make.

Dr. MooRre: I cannot agree with that. They may say they do not.

The ViceE-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Baldwin): Let Dr. Peart finish.

Dr. PeEART: That is the reason I would like to give some examples from
doctors in Canada. We have had a pile of correspondence from doctors who
practice with Indians. This correspondence has been accumulated over the
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last several years. I want to read a few comments made by some of them, which
I think will illustrate some of the points we want to make. This is one doctor
who says:

From my own experience in looking after Indians, I might add that
doctors admitting Indians to hospital must complete an admission form
stating that the Indian is a treaty Indian, and is indigent. The doctor
is, of course, completely unqualified to certify to either of the above
statements.

And then he goes on:

One other case of particular irritation is the matter of prescribing
glasses for Indians. A physician who carries out the refraction for a
minimum fee is expected to supply the Indian with glasses at cost. The
Indian department will only provide the cheapest of glasses which are
frequently in need of repair, and the physician supplying them is ex-
pected to service these glasses on which he has made no profit, free
of charge.

Dr. Moore has said that Indians can buy glasses cheaply. That probably
applies in areas where there is a full-time Indian doctor who is doing a lot
of this sort of thing. But the question here in the instances I give refers to
the part-time Indian doctor who services a number of Indians, who has to
give the same service in his practice as someone else who may have a much
greater volume of these services.

I would like to go on and give further examples of this sort of thing.
This is in connection with the fees, and refers to a contract doctor who gives
an example of a maternity confinement for which the fee is $25, which he
thinks is rather low. He says:

When I submit a monthly account totalling anywhere up to $1500
at reduced rates I feel that it represents a great deal of work, but when
all my accounts are further reduced by the Treasury to a monthly
maximum of $375 for complete medical, surgical and obstetrical care,
I feel I have just cause for complaint.

As an example I could cite an incident that occurred in my clinic
two days ago. While trivial in itself, it serves to illustrate my point. An
Indian and his wife were both given treatment requiring the application
of tensor bandages, which I supplied at a cost to myself of $4.50. Since
no one reimburses me for this and as he had just recently told me
that he earns an average of $100 a week contracting for a lumber com-
pany, I felt justified in asking him to pay for these bandages. I did not
ask him to pay for the treatment. But he became extremely angry, he
insisted on his “rights” as a treaty Indian and said that either I could
remove the bandages and take them back, or ‘“send the bill to the
government”. If I were to take the trouble to do the latter it would, of
course, be considered as part of my maximum allowance of . $375.
Naturally, the Indians finally walked out with my bandages, fuming
about the “injustice” and perhaps even questioning my honesty.

He goes on to say that on some of the very few occasions that he has
charged Indians they have gone straight to the Indian health services nurse,
to complain and have been advised to “go right back and get your money re-
funded as they have no right to charge you”. In other words, here we have an
example of a government employee sabotaging the aims and policies of their
own department perhaps unwittingly. "

I have a number of other examples, Mr. Chairman, which give illustra-
tions of doctors who are on a contract basis, where the fees are minimal. I do
not think I will go into too many of these, except to say that there is apparently
wide variation in the monthly quotas paid to the doctors. It is my impression that
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some doctors feel satisfied with this basis of payment. It would seem that it is
the older doctors who have been accustomed to this system of payment for long
periods. It is the junior doctors, who are in areas adjacent to Indian reserva-
tions, who seem to be the ones who complain about this method of payment.

Then this particular doctor gives examples of some doctors who receive
$125 a month, and two or three instances where doctors are doing $1,000
worth of work and receiving only $187.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Baldwin): Dr. Moore wants a chance to comment
on that, but possibly before he does so, are there any questions?

Mr. SmMALL: Just on one of these examples: you said an Indian came in
and admitted he was getting $100 a week.

Dr. PearT: Yes.

Mr. SmALL: Was he living on the reservation?

Dr. PeaRT: I believe so.

Mr. SmALL: Or was he living outside?

Dr. PEART: I think he was a treaty Indian, sir; I do not know, but this
was an example where an Indian was getting paid and he did not accept any
responsibility for paying anything at all.

Mr. SMALL: Of course, if he was getting $100 a week, regularly employed,
or just for a couple of weeks, it might have some bearing on it. Senator Smith
has pointed out that he could pay some percentage, depending on what he
earned, and whether he was working steadily or not.

Dr. PeEArT: I think the only point we want to make in this brief is that
the Indians do not appear to know, or do not accept the fact that they are to
pay anything. Perhaps the factor of human frailty arises, but maybe there is a
need to educate the Indians.

Mr. SmaALL: This fellow if he gets paid $100, is not being paid that if
he does not do anything. He must have some intelligence, and would be in
possession of some kind of information on that.

Dr. PEART: We have another letter about the same thing. This is in Alberta,
where Indians have oil and gas from oil property. Even so they do not want to
assume responsibility for paying their accounts.

Mr. THOMAS: Mr. Chairman, may I ask the witness, has he any idea, or
have they formed any idea of what percentage of the Indians at the present
time across Canada would be in a position to take care of their own medical
expenses, or could rightly be expected to?

Dr. PEART: We have not, sir.

Dr. DoucGLAs: Dr. Moore may have some ideas on this point.

Dr. MooORe: Mr. Chairman, this matter was the subject of a conference
about a year and a half ago between the two ministers involved and the two
directors (Indian Affairs Branch and Indian Health Services). While we firmly
believe in this policy of making the Indian pay where he can, we were asked
at that time—and we have since carried out this policy—to try to educate the
Indians to accept some responsibilities.

The Indian believes, and is most vociferous in his belief, that it is a
federal responsibility to give him full medical care—glasses, dentures, hear-
ing aids et cetera. He thinks he is entitled to them all. We are consistently
telling him he is not so entitled. We have made a lot of progress in this matter
of supplying these things that were not essential but still necessary for his
health, and in getting him to contribute to them. That is one phase of the
education.

To answer the specific question, I would say that across Canada in the
more remote bands, it is not worth while making an attempt to get them to
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contribute, because they have not got it. But certainly in places like Caugh-
nawaga, and those oil reserves in the West, practically the whole band can
carry their own medical cost. On some reserves they are carrying a fair
amount of it. We have got the Sarnia group under hospital insurance and
physicians and surgeons coverage, and they are contributing a good share of
the cost of that. We are endeavouring to do this with other bands.

In other words, let us say that in the settled parts of the country easily
50 per cent of the Indians could meet their own hospital premiums, take out
some form of medical insurance and pay for it. Some of them are under
medical schemes on payroll deduction. Not infrequently we find that they have
been in hospital, run up surgical bills, .got the cheque from their insurance,
kept the cheque, and had us pay the bill. It is very difficult, from an administra-
tive point of view, to bill this man who is making $100 a week and refuses
to pay. If the doctor had billed for things supplied, we would have paid it.
If he had taken the trouble to write us that letter instead -of you, he would
have been paid for his bandages. Similarly, the man who complains about
supplying glasses—we do not ask doctors to supply glasses. We ask them
not to. We ask them to give us a prescription. He knows the fee he is going
to receive for an examination or a refraction. We do not ask him to supply
glasses. We ask him to supply only a prescription. We get the glasses and
supply them. In that way we have a chance to collect something from the
Indian and, thereby, reduce the cost. We do not ask him to pay for the
examination, but ask that he pay something toward the cost of the glasses.

Mr. SmALL: As soon as one Indian is getting something “buckshee” you are
not going to be able to stop others from attempting to do so. The fellow
who has money feels that he has the same right as the other fellow, and you
cannot blame him for taking that attitude. Of course, that is a matter for us
to solve, and it will have to be worked out on a percentage or some other
basis later on. It is like second rate citizens who are treated differently.
Naturally, there will be some, who have the money to pay, who will say that
they want to be treated the same way and should not pay. But, in talking
about P.S.I. and Blue Cross, I am not talking about the Indian but about the
individual who subscribes to those plans. There is a price schedule on those
contracts. They have the right to go to their doctor of choice and, when they
come out of the hospital and receive the bill, there is no relationship whatever
to the prices as set out on the schedule and the bill he receives. Before the
government took it over, the schedule set out a fee of $10 for the operating
room and $10 for the anaesthetist; but when you received the bill it was
$20 in each case. Of course, you do not question it. However, my point is
that some cannot afford to pay it and, if they do, they find themselves
financially crippled after they come out. I merely mention these things as the
matter of fee schedules is mentioned in the brief. When a man goes into
hospital to have an operation he does not call for tenders. Although he wants
the best man to perform his operation he is not always successful in obtain-
ing him. The doctor’s rate for the operation is set in accordance with his
experience and ability, and he expects to be paid what he is worth.

Mr. THoMAs: Mr. Chairman, if I may, I would like to ask Dr. Moore a
question. As a foundation for the question, I might say that the medical associa-
tion has brought to light a very important point. I gathered from Dr. Moore’s
remarks that there was no question about looking after those Indian bands
in the backwoods, because they are all right. Again, we will take a band, like
the one he mentioned in Sarnia, where there is no question about the ability
of the band to pay. They are all right. However, I know the Caradoc reserve
in my constituency, and some of them go over to Detroit and earn high wages.
However, most of them are not subject to this high wage rate, and there is a
constant conflict between those who should pay or help to pay their own way
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and those who cannot rightly be expected to help pay their own way. This is
my question. Would it be possible to put this matter of eligibility on a band
basis rather than on an individual basis, so that all members of a band or a
reserve would be treated alike, it then following that the fellow who has the
initiative to get out and improve his position does not have to feel he is being
discriminated against when he secures medical care. I think that if it could
be put on a band basis in some way it might be of assistance in solving some

of these problems. i

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Have you any comment Dr. Moore?

Dr. Moore: Mr. Chairman, before Mr. Thomas brought this matter up, I
was intending to say that the only place where we have any success is where
we can deal with a band as a whole. May I say that we have been reluctant
to use, let us say, compulsion or drastic measures to force a band that just
simply will not pay. I mentioned a band in Alberta who had a large number
of producing oil wells; they receive a very large monthly dividend cheque for
every man, woman and child in the band, and they refuse to pay. There is a
hospital on that reserve, a full-time doctor and two public health nurses. Even
when some of their members are employed away from the reserve and fall ill,
the band will not accept those charges, and we have to pay. If we were given
some instructions on this point it would be of assistance to us. To date it has
been only an educational approach in trying to persuade them to pay. However,
if we were in the position that we could say: pay or you will be without
medical services, we might be able to force their hand. However, where you
have to go and persuade them to pay from their own funds something they
know that other bands are getting free, it creates difficulties. The Caradoc band
have practically no band funds and, in that case, where is the money coming
from to cover these things?

Mr. THoMAS: I know it is a source of endless dispute in that area.

Dr. MooRre: When we can, we keep a full-time medical officer there. It
has been a difficult post to fill because they are a hard bunch with which to
deal. Also, we keep two public health nurses there, and we have an excellent
relationship with the Victoria hospital in London.

" Dr. PEART: I very much like the suggestion made by Mr. Thomas about the
setting up of a system whereby Indians can pay something to their own health
services. I think it is a very good principle, and it is introducing them to
citizenship in this country, which is our main objective.

If I may, I would like to raise one other point. Although Dr. Moore may
have answered this in part, there are a number of examples among the
doctors of Canada who are on contract and who have not been paid sufficiently.
I would like to read you one letter here, which will exemplify my point:

My partner and I inherited a poor working agreement between
the department and the doctors formerly having this practice. For the
past one and a half years we have attempted to negotiate with the
department to bring the payment for Indian care at least in line with
S.A.M.S. payments, and preferably in line with the B.C. division fee
schedule. In this regard we have been singularly unsuccessful. At pres-
ent we are theoretically being paid according to a fee schedule set
by the department of Indian and northern health services. However, a
maximum limit is placed on our earnings, this limit being $437.50 per
month. In this area we have approximately 1,100 Indians under our
care, and we very frequently find that the monthly value of our services
per month runs to $1,500, as calculated on the B.C. division fee schedule.

I have quoted just one example, but there are more than a few very highly
dedicated doctors in Canada—perhaps you could call them missionaries—who
have given their whole lives with little remuneration in return,
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We have another letter here from a doctor in northern Manitoba, who says
he has been paid $60 a month for the past 45 years. He has not complained and,
in fact, he has used some of his earnings to buy medicine for Indians. However,
his main problem is a pension. He has not been able to save enough money to
provide for his future. He would be willing to get along on the same amount of
$60 a month which he and his wife receive, but he wants a pension.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions on page 37

Mr. FANE: Mr. Chairman, would this be a proper place to ask about any
arrangements which have been made for the Indians on reserve who have only
a public health nurse in attendance. They do not have professional medical at-
tention, with the exception of the public health nurse, who is there from nine
to five. After five o’clock they do not have anyone. And, if someone becomes
sick during the night there is no one to look after them. They do not have
transportation on the reserve. In making my remarks, I am thinking particu-
larly of the Saddle Lake reserve.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: In connection with your question, Mr. Fane, ulti-
mately the departmental officials will be back with us to deal with these vari-
ous matters. If this is a matter which would involve the Canadian medical
association, that would be different. However, I think Dr. Moore and his staff
will be back here to go over the details of matters such as those which you
have raised.

Mr. FaNE: I can wait until another meeting, because those people have
waited a long time already.

Mr. SMALL: Mr. Chairman, there is one point I would like to raise. It is
in connection with number 4 on page 3, which reads as follows:

The final category of physician is a specialist who attends Indian
patients in hospital or who sees such patients in his office. Referral by
doctors in any of the preceding categories is the common procedure
and the specialist accepts such patients in good faith and performs an
essential service.

How are his fees taken care of in so far as the department is concerned?

Mr. McQuiLLAN: For Mr. Small’s benefit, Mr. Chairman, I think that
already has been discussed. It was pretty well covered.

The Vice-CHAmMAN: Thank you.

Dr. Moorg: To reply briefly again, I might say that they are paid, but at
the old schedule rate. The doctors were not satisfied and I think that the new
schedule which will be coming into effect will go a long way toward meeting
the point mentioned there.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions in connection with page 4?

Dr. PearT: There is one point, Mr. Chairman, which I would like to men-
tion, and it has to do with the second last paragraph. I think Mr. Monteith
must have misunderstood this paragraph. The only point we want to make
here is that because of the lack of understanding on the part of the Indian
for his entitlement to services, we feel it might be more useful to have the
whole administration for health and welfare put under one department, so
that the same policy will be provided by one. This point has been mentioned
several times this morning., The Indian does not seem to know what he is
entitled to, because you seem to have one group of officials telling him one
thing and another group something else. If the same policy could prevail where
the Indian was made self-sufficient, as far as possible, it would be very benefi-
cial, and that is the only point we wanted to make here, sir.

Dr. Moore: May I comment on that?
The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Proceed.
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Dr. Moore: In the first place, I cannot agree that most Indians do not
know, because they do. They do not want to accept it and they use various
types of arguments to get out of it.

I spoke very forcefully once before when I appeared before this com-
mittee, when I said that I deemed it a necessity that all the health services
be under the department of health. We supply health services to several gov-
ernment departments, such as the Department of Transport, Department of
Northern Affairs, the Department of Citizenship and Immigration, the North-
west Territories and the Yukon. I am speaking now of my own service, and I
think Colonel Jones will vouch for the fact that our relationship is every bit
as good as if we were a branch within the same department. We have inter-
departmental meetings right across the country. We keep together and we
find no difficulty whatsoever administering under the two departments.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN (Mr. Buldwin): If there are no further questions on
this last page of the brief, before we adjourn may I, on behalf of the committee,
express our gratitude to the officers of the association who appeared before us,
Dr. Douglas and Dr. Peart and also, of course, to Dr. Hurtig of the academy
of medicine, Ottawa. We appreciate their coming here and I am sure what they
have said has been of great interest to members of the committee.

Before we adjourn may I call the attention of the committee to the fact
that the next meeting will take place on Tuesday, March 21, in room 356(S),
at which representations will be made by the Newfoundland government.

Dr. PearT: It has been a great pleasure to be here and we deeply appre-
ciate the opportunity of appearing before the hon. members of the committee.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

TuespAy, March 21, 1961.
(5)

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons:-on Indian
Affairs met at 9.30 a.m. this day. The Joint Chairmen Honourable Senator
James Gladstone and Mr. Lucien Grenier, presided.

Present:

The Senate: Honourable Senators Fergusson, Gladstone, Inman, MacDonald,
Smith (Kamloops), Stambaugh—(6).

The House of Commons: Miss LaMarsh, and Messrs. Badanai, Baldwin,
Charlton, Fane, Grenier, Henderson, Howard, Korchinski, Leduc, McQuillan,
Robinson—(12).

In attendance: From the Province of Newfoundland: Mr. Walter G. Rock-
wood, Director of Northern Labrador Affairs. From the Department of Citizen-
ship and Immigration: Mr. H. M. Jones, Director of Indian Affairs Branch, and
Mr. C. I. Fairholm, Executive Assistant to the Director. From the Department
of National Health and Welfare: Dr. P. E. Moore, Director of Indian and
Northern Health Services.

Mr. Korchinski requested that a correction be made in No. 2 of the Com-
mittee’s Proceedings. (See inside of cover page).

Mr. Walter Rockwood was called and after making an introductory state-
ment, read a brief on the Indians of Labrador referring to administration,
economic conditions and social factors, and was questioned thereon.

Mr. Jones, Director of the Indian Affairs Branch, also supplied information
on various related matters.

‘At 10.30 a.m., the Committee adjourned until 9.30 a.m. Wednesday, March
22, 1961.

M. Slack,
Clerk of the Committee.
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EVIDENCE

TuEsDAY, March 21, 1961.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The meeting is convened.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: Mr. Chairman, I have a correction to make in the minutes
of the meeting on Wednesday, March 15, on page 50, the sixth line, I am
reported to have said:

They reached the point where they considered that perhaps they
should remove their constable.
I said that—
—perhaps they should arm their constable.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): We have with us this morning Mr.
Walter G. Rockwood, director of northern Labrador affairs of the province
of Newfoundland. Mr. Rockwood has already produced his brief. I will ask
him to read it to the members of the committee.

Mr. WALTER Rockwoob, (Director of Northern Labrador Affairs, Province
of Newfoundland): Ladies and gentlemen, before I go on to the brief, I would
like to say that you should not expect anything great. The division of northern
Labrador affairs is a branch of the provincial department of public welfare
which handles certain special problems among the Indians and the Eskimos.
We do not have any responsibility for health, education, law enforcement and
conservation; I mean game laws. Our work is concerned, as I said before, with
special problems. We operate stores and radio-telephones. We try to keep the
fisheries and other local industries going, and our men handle welfare services.

I think I should add here that we have no professional people on our
staff. We are only men with practical experience. Most of our men have had
a number of years experience in the field, but we are not men with professional
qualifications.

I might say here that this brief was prepared in December, 1959. Since
then the Indians have probably increased to 370, or about 370.

I think that I will now go on to reading the brief. There are approximately
360 Indians living in two groups in Labrador at the present time. The largest
group, regarded as Montagnais, numbering 262 persons, live at North West
river. A smaller group of approximately 100 Naskaupees live at Davis Inlet
some 160 Miles farther north. Both groups belong to the Algonkian family
of eastern North America. In general the Montagnais occupy the well wooded
country draining into the Gulf of St. Lawrence and the Atlantic as far north
as lake Melville. The Naskaupees keep to the more sparsely wooded country
farther north but seldom if ever go beyond the tree line.

Until comparatively recent times there was a great deal of contact between
the Davis Inlet band and other bands in the Ungava district, and in fact the
parents of some of the present day Davis Inlet people migrated from the
Chimo district. Likewise, from time to time members of the Seven Islands and
other groups along the north shore of the Gulf of St. Lawrence have joined
the North West river band. Some families have moved from Davis Inlet to
North West river in recent years, but in most cases one or more members of
these families have had tuberculosis and were more interested in being near
the hospital and medical facilities than in amalgamating with the North West
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river group. Both the North West river and Davis inlet groups consist of
smaller, more or less well defined groups or bands, as can be seen when
they break up for departure to their traditional hunting grounds. There is
no evidence, if the Davis Inlet and North West river groups as presently con-
stituted are taken respectively as representing the Naskaupee and Montagnais,
that the former are inferior.

| The Labrador Indians have had contact with Roman Catholic missionaries
from very early times, and all with the possible exception of a few who
migrated from the Chimo district are Roman Catholics. V. Tanner, who visited
Labrador in 1937 and 1939 wrote, “I have no knowledge that a single Indian of
Newfoundland-Labrador has been given an opportunity to learn to read, write
and count.” A better day for the Indians dawned with the coming of the Oblate
Fathers to Davis Inlet around 1949. Priests of this order are now stationed
at both Davis Inlet and North West river, and they, in addition to .their mis-
sionary duties, have conducted classes for the children of both stations for
several years. A school, the first for Indians in Labrador, was completed at
North West river in January or February 1959, and opened in September of
this year—that is not to say that is the first school among the Indians. It is
the first building built for that purpose. As I said earlier in this paragraph,
the Oblate fathers have been holding classes for Indian children since they
went to Labrador in 1948 or 1949.

It has been said that the foundation of any social evolution truly democratic
in character is public education. If this is true, the process has only begun with
the Labrador Indians within the last decade.

None of the adult Indians can read or write English, and few if any
speak it. This alone, if for no other reason, was enough to prevent them from
sharing in the prosperity which the construction of Goose airport brought to
the settlers and a good many of the Eskimos. The position has changed little
or not at all in the past fifteen or twenty years. The future, it is hoped, is
brighter for the growing generation, but for the adults, without a command
of Ensglish or French, and possessing only the skills of hunters and trappers, it
is difficult to see how they can successfully compete for opportunities on an
air base or in a mining operation. The most that can be hoped is that they
can be absorbed in the unskilled labour market.

There is no longer any reason to expect that the Labrador Indians are
destined to disappear as did the Beothucks in Newfoundland. The number
visiting the trading stations in Hamilton Inlet and Davis Inlet around 1895
was approximately 355 or slightly less than the population at present. Accord-
ing to the 1935 census the number had fallen to 273, but because of improved
medical and other services, especially during the past decade, they have made
a remarkable recovery and now number more than 360 persons.

Administration

The administration of welfare services for all the people living north of
Cape Harrison, including the Davis Inlet Indians, has been carried out since
1951 by a division of the department of public welfare, known as the division
of northern Labrador affairs. It was not, however, until September 1958 that
the work of the division was extended to include the North West river Indians,
and an office set up at North West river for this purpose. All welfare beneﬁts
are available to the Indians, as well as the Eskimos, on the same basis as to
all other residents of the province.

The division of northern Labrador affairs operates a store at Davis Inlet
for the benefit of the Indians, similar to those operated in several other
communities in northern Labrador, but does not operate a store at North West
river where there is a Hudson’s Bay Company post. A radio-telephone for
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communication with other settlements, and with the international Grenfell
association hospital at North West river is also maintained at Davis Inlet. It
is proposed to install similar facilities at North West river in the near future.
This has been done.

Newfoundland is the only province in Canada providing such services for
the Indians and Eskimos. Elsewhere the work is done by two departments of
the federal government; for the Indians by the Indian affairs branch of the
Department of Citizenship and Immigration, and for the Eskimos by the Depart-
ment of Northern Affairs and National Resources. The federal government
has, however, provided financial assistance in the amount of $200,000.00 for
capital expenditure projects such as schools, hospital and Indian and Eskimo
housing. Reference will be made later in this paper to the federal government’s
contribution in meeting the cost of the health services.

Broadly speaking, the problems of the Indians, like those of the Eskimos,
. stem from economic causes, and are therefore to some degree similar. How-
ever, in spite of any similarities which may exist, it should be recognized
that the cultural and psychological differences between the two races will
require, even if they are to be dealt with by one administrative unit, specializa-
tion within that unit.

Health services for the Indians and Eskimos in Labrador are provided
through the facilities of the international Grenfell association in cooperation
with the Newfoundland department of health and the federal Department
of National Health and Welfare. The full cost of a ten year program which
began in 1954 is being borne by the federal government. An air ambulance,
based at North West river, is operated in conjunction with the hospital
services. Police services are provided by the Royal Canadian Mounted Police.
Wild life conservation services are administered by the provincial department
of mines and resources.

Economic Conditions

In this respect the plight of the Indians could hardly be worse. For reasons
already given the prosperity which came to other groups as the result of
employment at Goose Bay passed over the heads of the Indians, and the
position has changed little or none at all since then. The North West river
group of Indians have apparently neglected the one field, that of fur-trapping,
left open to them. For several generations, as the white and half-breed trap-
pers increased in numbers the best hunting and trapping grounds along the
river valleys were taken over and the Indians left with a choice of retreating
to the remote barrens of the interior and starvation, or remaining on the
coast to live on the white man’s charity. During the last twenty-five or thirty
years they have for the most part followed the latter course—so much so
that when the white trappers deserted the trapping grounds for other em-
ployment the Indians failed to take advantage of this change in their fortunes.
Efforts are now being made by the division of northern Labrador affairs to
induce them to exploit the wild life resources again, but it is too early to
say with what success. All that can be said is that practically all the able-
bodied men, and in most cases their families with them, are on the trapping
grounds again this season.

The North West river area produces the greatest quantity of the most
valuable furs such as mink, otter and beaver in all of Labrador. The Davis
inlet area on the contrary produces practically nothing but foxes which have
so declined in value in recent years as to be worth practically nothing. To
this extent, therefore, the Davis inlet group may be excused for neglecting
to trap. On the other hand, efforts to introduce the latter to cod fishing were
not very successful.
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Another very important reason why it is desirable for the Indians to
spend at least a part of their time on the hunting grounds is to obtain the
fresh foods so necessary to their well being and not otherwise available to
them. With this in mind the Division has undertaken to transfer food supplies
by aircraft to inland points to minimise the danger of hunger and possible
starvation to families wishing to exploit more fully the game and fur resources.
The Indians cannot be blamed for their reluctance to expose themselves and
their families to such risks when it is remembered that in the winter of
1893-94 a band of Naskaupees failed to find deer at Indian House lake and
half their number died of starvation.

The decline in the value of fox furs has for all practical purposes elim-
inated the only important source of cash income during the fall and winter
months not only for the Davis Inlet Indians but for the Eskimos as well.
The problems of the latter have been partially solved by increased emphasis
on the cod and char fisheries and other incidental employment by which the
majority support themselves in summer and qualify for unemployment insur-
ance during the off-season. As previously stated, efforts to get the Davis Inlet
Indians to exploit the codfishery during the period 1942-55 were not very
successful. The average annual catch was around fifteen quintals a man as
compared with fifty or sixty quintals for an Eskimo fisherman, but the Indians
themselves may not be altogether to blame for this poor showing, and it is
hoped to try another method, that of purchasing the fish fresh from the knife,
in the near future. Under this method they will be relieved of all respon-
sibility for curing, and will be paid on a daily or weekly basis for the quantity
of fish delivered. It will also mean that if an Indian departs suddenly for
the hunting grounds his catch will not be left for someone else to cure.

It would appear that until such time as the Indian is ready for regular
employment, and regular employment is ready for him, that the best ap-
proach to his problem is to make the most of local industries such as
fishing, fur-trapping and hunting, as is being done by the Eskimos. As already
suggested the Davis Inlet Indians should be able to participate in the cod-
fishery, but this opportunity does not exist for the North West river Indians,
at least not in the North West river area. There is, however, a possibility
that a small inland fishery can be developed there, and this matter is now
under investigation. Reference has already been made to the opportunities
for fur-trapping in the North West river district. The question is not only
one of resources, but whether or not after years-of lethargy sufficient en-
thusiasm to exploit them can be infused into the people concerned.

Another long-term prospect is the development of a beaver management
program such as that being carried out with remarkable success in the province
of Quebec. Needless to say this will require the cooperation of the provincial
department of mines and resources and participation by the Indian affairs
branch of the Department of Citizenship and Immigration.

Except in a few isolated cases the North West river Indians cannot
obtain permanent or even seasonal employment at Goose airport. Their
only earnings are from casual labour provided by the North West river com-
munity, involving such things as handling freight, cutting logs or a little road
work. The total cash earnings of the fifty or more families cencerned prob-
ably did not amount to $3,000 during the current year.

Consideration has been given to the matter of starting a sawmill for
the benefit of the Indians at North West river, but a great many details
will have to be worked out before this can be done. First of all must come
acceptance of the principle that such a venture must be wholly a rehabili-
tation project, and operated if necessary at a loss. Most difficult would be
the problem of securing the services of a competent operator who would be
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willing to supervise the Indian workmen. There is an abundance of suitable
timber in the area, but the rights are held by large companies or corporations.

What has been said regarding an operator willing to supervise Indian
labour in a sawmill operation applies equally to the matter of their employ-
ment at Goose airport or under similar conditions elsewhere. If such a person
were available to supervise and practically guarantee their work, contractors
and other employers may be persuaded to employ some of the Indians. But
individuals possessing all the necessary qualities, if they exist at all, are
extremely rare. In this approach, however, seems to be the only hope for em-
ployment of the adult Indians at the present time.

Social Factors

The following statement may be found on page 691 of Acta Geographica
published in 1944, by V. Tanner, a Finnish scientist who visited Labrador in
1937 and 1939—“As far as I know few positive measures have been taken to
assist the Northern Naskaupee in assuming modern civilization.” What was
true concerning the Naskaupee was also true of the Montagnais and very
largely remained so until the coming of the Oblate Fathers. As previously
stated, most if not all the Labrador Indians are Roman Catholics. Education
of the children did not begin until the coming of the Oblates. The adults
have had no formal education, and can speak neither English or French.
They have had no vocational training and know only the skills of the hunter
and trapper, and even the latter are in danger of being forgotten.

The health services at present are good, and this combined with better
spiritual leadership and improved welfare services has led to a remarkable
recovery in point of numbers in both groups. The 1945 census gives 272 as the
number of Indians in Labrador. In 1953 there were 174 in the North West
River group alone; at the present time there are 262, but 30 or 35 of this
number have come from Davis Inlet in recent years.

A housing program was begun under the supervision of the division of
Northern Labrador affairs at North West River in the summer of 1957. To date,
twelve units of about 22 x 24 x 8 feet each, have been built at a cost of approxi-
mately $2,000 per unit. Several more families occupy shacks put together from
scraps of plywood and other salvaged materials, while the remainder of the
North West River group and all the Davis Inlet group live in tents all the year
around. The federal government contributed two-thirds of the cost of 25 simi-
lar houses built for Eskimos in 1956, but to date no assistance has been re-
ceived toward Indian housing although it is still hoped that this will be done.

Indians, unless they are disabled or prevented from doing so by other
circumstances beyond their control, are required to contribute framing and
other materials obtainable locally as well as labour, while the government, for
its part, provides the remainder of the materials and supervision. Under this
plan only the Indians who are willing to help themselves can get the houses,
and it is heped, furthermore, that a sense of ownership and pride in their sur-
roundings will be developed. A plot of land 80 x 100 feet is provided with
each house so that there will be room for a small garden. More rapid mate-
rial progress could undoubtedly be made if the government were to provide
all the materials plus the labour so that nothing would be left for the Indian
but to occupy the house when it is completed, but this, while enabling the white
man to point with pride at what he can do for the Indian, would prove noth-
ing about what the latter can do for himself, and may not therefore be best
for the Indian, who after all is the person most concerned, in the long run.

At first glance it may seem inconsistent to build an Indian village at
North West River while advocating a return to the hunting and trapping
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grounds. This question is quite involved. In the first place, if the Indians are
to be civilized and integrated they will need a permanent place of abode.
Secondly, churches, schools, hospital and other facilities are already at North
West River. Undoubtedly many of the Indians of both the North West River
and Davis Inlet groups will continue a nomadic existence for a great many
years to come, but their children must attend school, and for this reason board-
ing school facilities should be provided at North West River with the least pos-
sible delay. The school year could be adjusted so that the children could take
part in the autumn hunt with their parents.

It is claimed, probably with some justification, that the children as well
as the adults show signs of malnutrition if they remain too long at North West
River. The relief rations and other welfare benefits on which to all intents and
purposes they subsist month after month cannot provide a proper diet and must
be supplemented by fresh meat and fish. Even if these were available in quan-
tity at the store the Indians could not afford to buy them and must therefore
obtain them by hunting and fishing. Obviously these opportunities are better
farther afield than near a settled community such as North West River.

The question of supplementing their food supplies from the game resources
raises the very important subject of conservation. Deer meat has always been
the most important item in diet of the Labrador Indians while on the hunting
grounds, but recently the authorities have found it necessary to introduce
measures to conserve the dwindling herds. The regulations now prohibit the
hunting of moose and caribou south of a line following the Hamilton river
and lake Melville, but licences to take caribou may be granted free of cost to
persons who are not permanently employed and who have resided in Labrador
not less than five years north of the line mentioned.

That is not too clear, I think. I believe that what it does mean is that south
of the Hamilton river and lake Melville, at the time this was written, no killing
of caribou was permitted, but they could kill under licence north of that line.

Furthermore, the Minister is empowered to exempt Indians and Eskimos
living in Labrador from any or all of the provisions of these Regulations. In
a community such as North West River were Indians and white settlers—also
natives of Labrador—are living side by side it will be difficult to allow the
Indians more freedom than the others who also need the meat, and regard
themselves as being equally entitled to it. While deer is by far the most
important source of meat, especially for the Indians while inland, there are
other resources such as ptarmigan and other small game, sea birds, seals and
plenty of fish of both the salt and fresh water varieties, all of which can be
shared by the Indians, Eskimos and settlers alike.

Except for a family or two of settlers in nearby Sungo Bay, the Davis Inlet
Indians have no neighbours closer than the Hopedale Eskimos and settlers
forty miles to the south, and are not obliged therefore to concern themselves
very much about their relations with other groups. At North West River,
although the Indians live on the opposite side of the river they come into
contact daily with the main community of several hundred settlers and
Eskimos. For one thing they must share the same store, that is the Hudson’s
Bay Company post, and it may be added, spend a great deal of their time in
it. They share the same hospital and medical service, and must compete with
the others for the local game fish as well as the fuel—firewood—supplies. On
the whole the relations between the Indians and the settlers are good, although
the latter, understandably so, are critical regarding what they consider the
government’s openhandedness towards the Indians. For example, the cost of
relief, clothing and hardware for families going inland, and the housing pro-
gram during the period of August to December inclusive of this year—that was
1959—was approximately $23,500.00 for the 260 Indians, while in the same
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period not a cent was spent by the government on these items for double the
number of settlers. Probably the settlers would like to see the Indians depart
for more remote hunting grounds at certain seasons of the year to leave the
game of the immediate area to them. Tanner, see page 604, gathered the im-
pression that the local- inhabitants regarded the Indians as unreliable and
dishonest, and doomed to eternal pauperism because of their laziness. The
root of the matter, of course, goes much deeper, and some of the more intelli-
gent settlers must realize that the increased pressure on the game and fur
resources of the interior by the coastal people during the early part of the
present century was the greatest single factor in reducing the Indians to their
present state of dependence.

The Labrador Indians, like the Eskimos, were enfranchised about ten years
ago. In fact they gained the right to vote in provincial elections at the same
time as the English-speaking people because it was not until 1949 that Labrador
elected is first representative to the house of assembly at St. John’s. Indians
and Eskimos are not permitted to purchase alcoholic liquor, and it is an offence
for any person to give or sell it to them. They do make home-brew, and it
has been found necessary to limit the sale of ingredients from time to time.
The Labrador Indians have never been confined to reservations, and there are
no legal restrictions in respect to the hunting and trapping grounds they may
occupy.

Summary

The need to find ways and means of relieving the economic distress is most
urgent. Cash earnings for an Indian family under existing conditions average -
less than $100.00 a year, so that for the most part they subsist on welfare
benefits of one kind or another supplemented by game and fish. The prospects
for full-time or even seasonal employment for the men are not bright, and
it would appear that for the immediate future they should be encouraged and
assisted to make the best possible use of the game, fur, fish, and timber re-
sources as is being done by the Eskimos and settlers. The development of an
inland fishery for the North West River Indians, as well as a beaver manage-
ment program will require active co-operation by the appropriate departments
of both the federal and provincial governments. The question of suitable
personnel for the carrying out of this program is a most serious one.

The health services are reasonably adequate, but needless to say progress
is being hindered by adverse economic and other factors. Very largely through
the efforts of the Oblates a beginning has finally been made in the education
of the children, but the adults, lacking the ability to speak or write English
or French, are not ready for absorption in the labour market. Some progress
has been made with a housing program by the division of northern Labrador
affairs of the department of public welfare.

The Indian, unlike the Eskimo, has never shown much desire to imitate
the white man, and is likely to retain his group identity for a long time to
come. Some individuals may fit completely into the white man’s society, but
for the most part the Indians will probably be happier if a way can be found
for them to achieve a measure of economic sufficiency while preserving some of
the freedom of the traditional Indian way of life. A planned fur-trapping in-
dustry based on a beaver management program as is being done in Quebec
would seem to be an excellent means of achieving this end. Fortunately, among
the native Labrador groups, namely Indians, Eskimos and settlers, there is
very little racial conflict so that, unless the balance is upset by an influx
of other groups in the process of industrialization, the setting for ‘peaceful
integration, although this will be a long, slow process, already exists.
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Mr. BaLpwin: I was not here at the beginning, and this matter may have
been brought up already and, if so, no one need bother to answer. I wonder
if anyone could tell me if there was any provision in the agreement between
Canada and Newfoundland in confederation regarding the question of Indians,
and responsibility for them.

Mr. Rockwoop: I do not know what went on at that time but as far as
I can learn the position of the Indians and the Eskimos in Newfoundland at
the time of confederation was that they were citizens, that there was no
legal distinction between Indians and Eskimos and myself at that time—
and there was none after we went into confederation. I think there was no
agreement.

Mr. BaLpwiN: Nothing in the agreement? What I am really driving at
was whether there was anything contained in the terms of the agreement
which would cast any particular onus on the federal government. Was any-
thing like that contained in the terms of the agreement?

Mr. Rockwoob: Not to my knowledge.
Senator STAMBAUGH: Could we ask Mr. Jones?
Mr. JoNES: The terms of the union are silent as to the Indians.

Senator STAMBAUGH: In regard to this planned fur trapping industry that
you speak about, what kind of plan do you visualize? What does it do?

Mr. Rockwoobp: As far as I know, in Quebec—and I believe in other
provinces—I do not know too much about this—but as far as I know there
is a ‘program planned between the department of Indian affairs—it may be
some other department—and some of the provinces, whereby they develop
the beaver industry. They repopulate areas. Perhaps they close the season
for a while until the beaver population reaches the point where they can be
trapped. The whole thing brings about quite an improvement in the economic
position of the Indian. I think that is so with the Indians in Quebec. I have
never personally investigated it, but as far as I know that is the case.

Senator STAMBAUGH: Is it a combination of both?

Mr. Rockwoon: I think it is a combination of both in Quebec. Someone
may know more about that than I do.

Mr. Lepuc: In Quebec we have a closed season and I can say that now
beaver is very, very numerous. It is that numerous that just about 15 miles
from Ottawa there are hundreds of thousands of beaver that have to be killed
every year. The beaver is becoming a cause of damage to the forest, because
along the Gatineau now the creeks and lakes are being dammed by the beaver
and they are causing damage. I believe there are not enough hunters right
now to kill the surplus of beaver One of the reasons is that the price for
beaver now is not high enough to make many trappers want to go out and
kill them. The beaver are increasing in a very abnormal way, in fact they
are causing damage and the province has to pay some men to go out and
kill them. I do not know if that position obtains all over the country, but in
this particular section the beaver is too plentiful.

Senator StamBAUGH: I wonder if one could possibly allow the Indians to

trap, and not the white trappers. Would there be some consideration of that
sort?

Mr. Lepuc: The Indians are allowed to trap, I think, in unlimited amounts.
There used to be a limit, but not now.

Mr. Rockwoop: A point that should be remembered is that, apart from
the commercial value of furs, beaver meat is a very valuable consideration
to the Indians. Is that not so? The meat of the beaver is of very great advantage
to the Indians.
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Mr. McQuiLLAN: It is not very tasty.

Mr. BApANAI: In your summation here you state that the relations between
the Indians and the settlers are good, although the latter, understandably
so, are critical regarding what they consider the government’s openhandedness
towards the Indians. What you mean by that seems to be on the one hand
that they are not dealt with justly, and on the other hand, they seem to be
treated with some kind of preference to the other groups. Now, can you
explain the reason for this position, in brief?

Mr. Rockwoob: It is a little difficult to explain. I was thinking of the North
West river group of settlers, who are a very independent group of people. They
do not need much government assistance. The reason they do not is because
they built themselves up on the fur resources, which perhaps the Indians should
have had a share of. Now the position is that they are fairly prosperous, and
the Indians are not prosperous. The Indians are confused and have been con-
fused, I think, and they do not know what to do. I think you have to spend
money to get the Indians started. We have to spend much more than we have
spent to get the Indians going in the right direction. Once they get started they
will go on, but it will require a certain amount of money. These people at
North West river do not think that. They think that because they have
succeeded themselves, the Indians should be able to do likewise. I do not think
they took into consideration the different background.

Mr. Bapanal: What I am rather amazed about in this brief is the statement
that the Indians in Labrador have been neglected, and it reveals a shocking
state of affairs there, although they are small in numbers. Surely our Depart-
ment of Citizenship and Immigration are conscious of that situation. I feel
that means they will not be treating the Indian the same as Indians elsewhere,
and if not, they should. Where does the blame lie for this neglect? After all,
the Newfoundlanders have been in confederation now for eleven years.

Mr. JoNES: I did not follow all that Mr. Badanai said, but I got the gist of
it. The Indian affairs branch has no responsibility for the Indian in
Newfoundland.

Mr. CHARLTON: On the other hand, I see they have donated $200,000
towards helping them.

Mr. Rockwoob: This $200,000 was for the Indians and the Eskimos.

Mr. CHARLTON: Yes, yes, of course, for capital expenditure such as schools,
hospitals and housing.

Senator FERGUSSON: On page 9, the brief says:

The federal government contributed two-thirds of the cost of 25
similar houses built for Eskimos in 1956, but to date no assistance has
been received toward Indian housing—

Could you say if any request has been made to the central government
for assistance in Indian housing?

Mr. RockwooDp: Yes. As the brief shows, twelve units have been built,
seven in 1958 and five in 1959. The cost of the 1958 houses was just around
$10,500.

Senator FERGUSsON: Were these for Indians or Eskimos?

Mr. Rockwoobn: A claim was sent, to the best of my knowledge and belief,
to the department concerned, and to date we have not received any assistance
on Indian housing.

Senator FERGUSSON: What do you mean by ‘“the department concerned”?
Mr. Rockwoop: The federal department concerned.
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Senator FERGUSSON: But Colonel Jones says the Department of Citizenship
and Immigration has no responsibility.

Mr. Rockwoop: That was part of the $200,000 deal. It may be that that
$200,000 was fully spent or it may not have been fully spent. I do not think
it was, but the claim was not paid.

Senator INMAN: I am interested to know if Newfoundland was responsible
for the Indians in Labrador, before they came into confederation.

Mr. RockwooD: Yes.

Senator INMAN: When it came in, would they not automatically become
citizens of Canada?.

Mr. CHARLTON: And a federal respon51b1hty

~ Mr. Rockwoob: I think the distinction was made, in that the Indians of
Labrador were considered to be Newfoundlanders and not Indians. We wanted
to consider them as Newfoundlanders and not specially because they were
Indians.

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Is this the reason that there is no
mention of the Indians in the agreement?

Mr. Rockwoon: I think so. I would think that the legal status did not
arise. They were already citizens of the province. They became citizens of
Canada, just as all the other people of Newfoundland did, regardless of their
origin.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Can you tell us if they want to
remain so?

Mr. Rockwoob: I do not know, I could not answer that as to whether
they would prefer to have Indian status and share as the rest of the Indians
in Canada, or whether they would prefer to remain citizens.

Senator MacDoNALD: Mr. Chairman, I am late in coming, but I would
like to read the first three or four lines of the brief. In the summary at the
end of the brief, we read:

The need to find ways and means of relieving the economic dis-
tress is most urgent. Cash earnings for an Indian family under existing
conditions average less than $100 a year.

How do they come to make that $100? Is it by trapping?

Mr. Rockwoobp: I was thinking of casual earnings, such as perhaps
handling freight, a little roadwork and odd jobs around the community. That
did not include their earnings from fur trapping. I would say that perhaps
$250 is a pretty accurate guess. This would be the total income apart from
welfare.

Senator MAacDonNALD: What do you suggest should be their total income
so that they could lead a decent life?

Mr. Rockwoobn: Including their earnings and welfare benefits at the
moment they are getting around $1100 or $1200 a year. T would say they
should be getting that; that is, $1,000 a year would give them a decent standard
of living.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any more questions?

Senator SmitH: What was mentioned was the attitude of the people in
this settlement. What is their occupation? Are they engaged in trading?

Mr. Rockwoop: At one time they were trappers, but after Goose Bay
started, they practically gave up trapping and were employed on the base.
They are people who are working for wages at Goose Bay and they have
other jobs. The mining companies have employed some of them during the
summer. Those are jobs that the Indians cannot get, because of language
difficulties.
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Mr. CHARLTON: I understand that trap lines were taken away from the
Indians by white settlers and it was difficult for the Indians to get into the
custom of trapping again.

Mr. Rockwoobp: They were practically dr1ven away from the best trap-
ping grounds, which were taken away by the white settlers as they in-
creased in numbers. The Indians just fell back. Now they have not been

- able to reclaim what they lost.

Mr. CHARLTON: After having received welfare payments from the federal
government they are restless to go back.

Mr. Rockwoob: That is the great danger—overdoing welfare. 1 think
that something must be done to get them working.

Mr. CHARLTON: I wonder if Colonel Jones could give us some idea of
how well the dominion-provincial scheme has worked out for the Indians
in the trapping industry, that is in developing the number of fur animals
in the area and having the Indians take it over for their livelihood in the
northern districts. Could you give us an idea of how it is working out?

Mr. JonNES: It has worked out very successfully, Dr. Charlton. Unfor-
tunately, whatever they were doing, the price of beavers is dropping and
that makes a big difference in the figures. As Mr. Rockwood stated the set-
up in Quebec is excellent, where the Quebec government has set aside fur
preserves. They were closed to everybody and were opened exclusively to the
Indians. A restoration program was started, and the members of the com-
mittee will possibly recall the Abitibi group who were here, mentioning
the tallyman wages which were being paid to give them something to eat
while they were not allowed to trap the beavers.

After the preserves came into production through restocking and strict
control, the Indians were doing all the policing themselves. That is the
keynote of the scheme. Then the government and the trappers set a quota,
one or one-and-a-half beaver per lodge. I do not know how they arrive at
one-and-a-half beaver, and never have been able to understand that, but
they set the quota and that will sustain the yield year after year. The Quebec
preserves have taken millions of dollars value of beaver alone. In other
parts of Canada, where we have the joint federal-provincial fur agreements,
they are satisfactory.

Mr. CHARLTON: Would it not be logical, if there is an excess of beavers
in several districts, to catch the beavers live and transport them to some of
these districts in Labrador, and restore them, without having the interval of
looking after the Indians while the number of animals was being increased?
Would it not be possible, Colonel Jones, to catch them live and transport them
to Labrador?

Mr. JonEs: That is the way they do it by restocking the area.

Mr. CHARLTON: I would suggest that would be one way of helping these
people. They could get back into the trapping industry.

Mr. Rockwoop: It is only a matter for the federal department concerned
and the provincial department concerned to get their heads together.

Mr. CHARLTON: And to have it retained for the Indian people. The white
settler should be prevented from taking it away from the Indian agajn.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Mr. Rockwood, have you the feeling
that the federal government should take more responsibility on Indian affairs?

Mr. Rockwoob: That is a very difficult question for me to answer, Mr.
Chairman. I think I should answer it this way. The province of Newfound-
land has been absorbed in a lot of problems, and to them this is just a small
problem. I might as well be frank and say that I do think that we should
receive assistance for the Indians and the Eskimos on a per capita basis, on the
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same basis as elsewhere in Canada. The fact that we are administering the
Indians and Eskimos should not make any difference. They are, technically
speaking, citizens, and that does not really change the picture at all. The
problems are the same. That'is what I feel.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): What was the reason for not men-
tioning the Indians in the agreement?

Mr. Rockwoob: For the same reason, that at that time there were so
many other problems that I doubt very much if the Indians received very
much attention. I would say that it was one of the things that was not brought
up at the time. As I said before, I was not at those meetings.

Mr. CHARLTON: I would suggest the reason is that they have never been
actually considered as anything else but citizens of Newfoundland. That is
why. They have not been considered as Indians or Eskimos, but just citizens
of Newfoundland. That may be the reason why they did not want them to be
segregated. Is that not so?

Mr. Rockwoobn: I do not know whether they did this consciously or not.
They thought of the Indians and Eskimos as a group, just as we have people
who are of French extraction in Newfoundland. There may be people of other
groups. We thought of them as another group, but we did not think that they
should be regulated by legislation. I think the answer to that is that there
was no legislation for Indians and Eskimos as such in Newfoundland prior to
confederation. The Newfoundland government, down through the years, had
never thought it was necessary to have special legislation. There were no
reservations. It is just a question today of whether it is worth legislating or
whether we should go ahead as we are. They are treated as a special group
in welfare matters, just as any other group that needs assistance is treated.
They are given special treatment, just as any other group.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Do the Indians in Newfound-
land get the same schooling? Is there compulsory education for every student?
Do the Indians have the same opportunities for education as the other citizens
in Newfoundland?

Mr. Rockwoop: There, again, there is no legal distinction. The law
requires children to go to school, and that applies to the Indians as well as
to anyone else; but facilities are not available for Indians. Actually, under
the law, a child is not compelled to go to school under certain circumstances—
for instance, if he lives a certain distance away from school. The parents,
in that case, cannot be prosecuted for not sending the child to school. The
same thing would apply to the Indians if the facilities were not there, because
distances are too great from their homes to the schools, and the parents in
that case would not be prosecuted. As I said in my brief, the first schools
for the Indians did not begin until the Oblates went to Labrador in 1948.
So education among the Indians is very backward. To say they have the
same opportunities in reality is not so, although legally there is no distinction.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any other questions from
the committee?

We thank you very much, Mr. Rockwood. Tomorrow we will hear the
Canadian welfare council and the greater Winnipeg welfare council.

Senator FErGUssoN: Will we have copies of the brief before we come in?
The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes, tomorrow.
Senator FErGuUssoN: Will they be distributed before the meeting?

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): We will try to have them distributed.
They bring them in when they come here in the morning, just before the
meeting.

Senator FERGUSSON: We used to get them a day or two ahead.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, March 22, 1961.
: (6)

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on Indian
Affairs met at 9.30 a.m. this day. The Joint Chairmen Honourable Senator
James Gladstone and Mr. Lucien Grenier, presided.

Present:

The Senate: Honourable Senators Dupuis, Fergusson, Gladstone, Inman,
MacDonald, Smith (Kamloops), Stambaugh. (7)

The House of Commons: Miss LaMarsh and Messrs. Baldwin, Cadieu,
Charlton, Fane, Grenier, Henderson, Horner (The Battlefords), Korchinski,
Leduc, Martel, McQuillan, Robinson, Small, Wratten. (15)

In attendance: From the Canadian Welfare Council: Miss Phyllis Burns,
Director of Welfare Services. From the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia:
Mr. Guy R. Williams, President; and Rev. Peter R. Kelly, D.D., Chairman of
Legislative Committee. From the Department of Citizenship and Immigration:
Mr. H. M. Jones, Director of Indian Affairs, and Mr. C. I. Fairholm, Executive
Assistant to the Director. From the Department of National Health and Welfare:
Dr. P. E. Moore, Director of Indian and Northern Health Services.

Miss Phyllis Burns read a comprehensive\ submission of the Canadian
Welfare Council and was questioned thereon.

The questioning being concluded, Miss Burns was permitted to retire.

Rev. Peter Kelly and Mr. Guy Williams were called and Rev. Kelly,
after being introduced by Mr. Williams, read a brief on “The Medical Services
to the Indians of British Columbia”, and was questioned thereon.

Dr. Moore was called and clarified several points relating to medical
treatment of Indians.

Mr. Williams also made a statement referring to medical services.

At 11.30 a.m., the Committee adjourned until 9.30 a.m. Thursday, March
23, 1961.

M. Slack,
Clerk of the Committee
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EVIDENCE

WEDNESDAY, March 22, 1961.

The JoiINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Good morning, ladies and gentle~
men. We have a quorum and can now start our meeting. Today we shall hear
from the Canadian welfare council first and then from Mr. Guy William,
president of the native brotherhood of British Columbia, and Reverend Peter
R. Kelly, D.D., chairman of the legislative committee of the native brother-
hood of British Columbia. The greater Winnipeg council will attend tomorrow,
instead of this morning, as announced yesterday.

We shall now proceed to hear the Canadian welfare council, represented
by Miss Phyllis Burns, director of welfare services for the Canadian welfare
council. I understand all members of the committee have received copies of
the brief, and I shall now ask Miss Burns to read it.

Miss PHyLLIS BURNS (Director of Welfare Services, Canadian Welfare
Council): Mr. Chairman, I should first like to present the regrets of our
council president, Mr. Carter, who is not able to be here this morning.

The Canadian welfare council is most appreciative of the opportunity
provided by the joint parliamentary committee on Indian affairs to present
views of the welfare field on some of the aspects of Indian affairs to which
your committee is giving attention.

As some members of the committee will know, the Canadian welfare
council is a voluntary association of public and private agencies and of citizen
groups and individuals interested in policies and programs affecting individual
well being and social welfare in Canada. Its aim is to ensure for all people
in Canada, social security measures and social services that are adequate in
extent, of high quality and soundly administered. These objectives apply as
much to the needs of Canadians of Indian descent as to those of any others.

The Canadian welfare council does not have a division or committee which
gives snecial attention to the needs of our native people, and this presenta-
tion does not represent formally approved views of the council. The sub-
mission has been prepared by council staff and is based mainly on the views
of a substantial group of member agencies with whom we have consulted.
These members include government departments and voluntary social agencies
giving direct welfare services to Indian people on or off reserves. They also
include citizen groups who are working with persons of Indian descent and
other Canadians toward the integration of Indian people into the main stream
of Canadian life.

Althourch it has not ‘been directly involved in service to Indian com-
munities, the council has not been inactive in connection with Indian affairs.
In 1947, we collaborated with the Canadian association of social workers to
present a brief to the previous special joint committee of the senate and
House of Commons, which studied the Indian Act. Subsequently, we urged
upon the then responsible federal department the appointment of social workers
to the staff of the Indian affairs branch. In the years since such appointments
were made, the council has worked closely with these workers and the Welfare
services branch as a whole. On request, advice and assistance has been given
by appropriate sections of the council concerning various welfare policies of
the Indian affairs branch when they were under study.
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The council has represented the welfare field among the preliminary
groups which are now organized in the Indian-Eskimo association of Canada.
The active service of a council nominee on the board and the executive
committee of the association is one indication of our concern about the native
peoples of Canada and our conviction that their well being and integration
can be assisted by the joint efforts of government, voluntary agencies and
the native peoples themselves.

We are well aware of the developments that have taken place since
1947, designed to improve the lot of Canadians of Indian descent. Examples
of such developments under government auspices are: (1) the extension
of family allowances, old age security and old age assistance to people of
Indian background on the same basis as they are available to other Canadians;
(2) modifications in the education program which have led to some Indian
schools becoming available t6 non-Indian children and to the use of regional
high schools and like institutions by Indian children where these are more
appropriate to their needs, with the result that almost twenty-five percent
of Indian children are now being educated in integrated schools; (3) efforts
to improve the housing of Indians on reserves through the sharing of costs
between the Indian affairs branch and the Indians themselves; (4) the use
of the revolving loan fund; (5) pilot projects first undertaken in Alberta
and more recently in Manitoba for the rehabilitation of selected Indians who
have undergone periods of hospitalization, together with the use of Schedule
R and provincial rehabilitation services on behalf of Indians; and (6) a
recently developed placement program to help Indian young people find urban
employment. The revision of the public assistance policy of the Indian
affairs branch to provide cash assistance in accordance with the practice
and standards accepted in municipal and provincial public welfare depart-
ments elsewhere in Canada is still another step toward ensuring that Indian
people receive equality of treatment with their compatriots.

Probably the most positive developments in this latter connection have
occurred in Ontario. By agreements between the federal and provincial gov-
ernments and the children’s aid societies, child welfare services are now
being provided to Indian families and children on reserves in the same way
they are provided to non-Indian families throughout the province. More
recently in Ontario, the definition of a municipaltiy has been extended for
purposes of the Public Assistance Act so that it may now include Indian
bands if they so desire. Many bands have taken advantage of this provision
and, as a consequence, are administering public assistance to their members
who may require such help. Fifty per cent of the cost of this program is
being met through the Department of National Health and Welfare and
thirty percent by the province of Ontario. The local portion and the ad-
ministrative costs are being paid from band funds.

Further, when Indians move from reserves into other Canadian com-
munities, there is a growing practice by the municipal authorities across the
country to treat them as any other newcomer and to provide whatever social
assistance may be required on the basis of need without regard to their
Indian status. In many respects, British Columbia has given the leadership
ip this development where for may years Indians have been given equal
rights off the reserves without any formal agreement whatsoever.

Among private citizens, too, there is a very evident and growing desire
to a§51st' Indian people moving from reserves to become part of the com-
mgmty In which they settle. In many such cities and towns, leadership in
this rna.tter cgmgs from the church-related organizations; and in some places
(of which Winnipeg is an example) these services have been formalized in
firmly rooted community services such as the Indian-Métis friendship centre.
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Agencies of this kind can help Indians to become familiar with their new
home and to make use of the variety of services that urban communities
provide to ease the stresses and strains of day to day living.

While such developments represent progress in a very real sense, many
Canadians, including people in welfare agencies, are nevertheless aware of
shortcomings and inequities which continue to exist as between non-Indian
and Indian Canadians. For example:

1. It needs to be made quite clear that as a nation our objective
in the administration of Indian affairs should be to ensure that people
of Indian descent have equality of opportunity and responsibility with
all other peoples in Canada. Indians should enjoy their share of edu-
cation, employment security and social and cultural development, and
should assume responsibility for self support so far as this is possible.

As the council stated recently in its submission to the special
committee of the senate on manpower and employment:

The nation’s people are its most valuable asset.

The full value of this asset can only be realized if two con-
ditions are met. First, through appropriate opportunities for edu-
cation, training and employment, every individual should be able
develop and use his or her physical and mental capacities to the
full.

Second, within the limits imposed by family circumstances,
every individual has the obligation to be self-supporting and to
this end should accept a continuing responsibility to improve his
or her education and skills.

Many Indians are included among those Canadians who need the
help of economic development and specialized health, welfare and
education services if they are to achieve their full potential as Cana-
dians. In many instances, it is Indians who stand in greatest need of
improved services to achieve this objective.

2. Indians must have the opportunity, as far as possible, to choose
whether they will remain on a reserve or move into other Canadian com-
munities. Such a choice cannot of course be entirely free. For instance,
the increased Indian population means that many reserves are losing
whatever ability they may have had in the past to support their popu-
lations adequately; in order to maintain themselves, some Indians are
or will be forced to leave the reserve. ;

3. Indians are caught in the anomalous position, as compared with
other Canadians, of enjoying certain special privileges and at the
same time labouring under certain disadvantages. Some examples
of what appear to me as disadvantages are:

(a) Since Indians do not have title to lands regardless of how long
they have lived on them, they do not have the same property rights
as other Canadians. This, in turn, has affected the possibility of
Indians establishing themselves successfully in business, and has
limited their ability to borrow money, etc.

(b) If an Indian girl marries a non-Indian, she loses her Indian status
and with it her right to inherit her father’s property or his house.

(c) The sections of the Indian Act concerning “trespass” may interfere
with the right of Indians who have lost their Indian status through
marriage or through relinquishment of treaty rights, to return
to the reserve to visit relatives or friends. If such provisions were
enforced, they would have the effect of breaking down family ties
so highly regarded by Indians and non-Indians in Canada. Recent
changes in the Indian Act to make it possible for health and finan-
cial assistance services to be provided to non-Indians living on
reserves is an encouraging move to correct this situation.



98 JOINT COMMITTEE

(d) The responsibility vested in the Indian Affairs Branch for the
provision of certain services provided by municipalities in non-
Indian communities, coupled with the uneven distribution of wealth
among band councils, means that many band councils have neither
the opportunities nor the resources to function as responsible elected
bodies and that it is very difficult to develop any sense of civic
pride or public responsibility within them.

(e) Provisions in the Indian Act for Indian registration and control of
residents on reserves have tended to create a static society on the
reserves which does not make for a healthy economic or social
situation.

A. Development of the reserves and their people

If Indians are to have an effective choice between remaining on the
reserve or moving away from it, it is essential that certain action be under-
taken. For example:

(a) A comprehensive long-term program is required to fully develop
the natural and human resources on the reserves, to increase the
productivity of the reserves and to raise the standards of living.
This should be a program of community development in its best
sense that will make maximum use of the human resources and
the resources of the reserve itself.

(b) Positive steps must be taken to encourage greater initiative and re-
sponsibility about their own affairs among the Indian people.

(c) Educational levels must be raised and incentives provided to en-
courage young Indians to continue at school so that, whether they
stay on the reserve or move away, they will be prepared to play
an effective role as members of the labour force and to make their
contribution to the national life in accordance with their capacities.

For many years, primary responsibility for the Indian and his affairs has
been vested in the Indian affairs branch. Despite the undoubted benevolence
apd good intentions of the government and its officials, the effect has been a
kind of paternalism toward the Indians that has produced a high degree of
dependence and of apathy among them about their future. These unfortunate
rgsults have been recognized in the branch and elsewhere for a considerable
time, and some highly commendable efforts have been instituted to counteract
them. However, we believe that what is required now is the adoption, as a mat-
ter of public policy, of a quite different approach so that initiative and responsi-
bility for the management of their own affairs can be returned to the Indians
themselves as quickly as possible.

We realize that attitudes and conditions developed over many years can-
not be changed in a day. However, we are convinced that an intensive, care-
fully planned and well supported program of self-help and community develop-
ment will produce the desired results, provided that the Indian people them-
selves are fully involved in the planning and execution of the program.

Projects of this kind already undertaken elsewhere have demonstrated
that people do respond with enthusiasm to such a program.

The objectives of the program we are suggesting would be:

1. To assist the Indians to assess the resources on their reserves
and draw up plans, as necessary, for the development of these resources.
2% '2.. To provide opportunities for Indians to take personal and group
;mtlatlye and responsibility for working out ways and means of achiev-
ing objectives which they set for themselves, but with access to such
skilled advice and counselling as they may require.
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3. Through such efforts, to provide Indians with the experience of
taking responsibility, learning to work with one another and with other
Canadians to find solutions to their own problems, in order that they
may, among other benefits, gain a sense of personal worth and self-
confidence.

To implement such a program would require:

(i) The addition of staff, who are specialists in community development,
to the Indian affairs branch either as senior officers of the Indian
agencies or at some comparable level, with different types of func-
tions from those now existing. These officers would be charged
exclusively with responsibility to help the Indian communities de-

- cide what resources they have that can be developed and how best
to proceed. They would also help the Indians to secure such technical
resources as are required. Some of these specialist staff are already
available in the branch and in other departments of government, but
additional technical help may also be required.

(ii) As an integral part of any such program, considerable attention
must be given to adult education adapted to meet the particular
needs of the Indian people and to help them acquire specific skills
they must have to make the program they decide upon effective.

(iii) Obviously additional budget allocations would be required to imple-
ment such a program. However, where band funds are available,
there could be sharing of the costs of such a program between the
Indian affairs branch and band councils.

(iv) The desirability of establishing committees advisory to the Indian
affairs branch should be given careful study. Such committees,
which might begin in the first instance at the agency or provincial
level, would provide opportunities for the exchange of ideas and
the sharing of information between branch officials, Indians, and
representatives of provincial governments and voluntary agencies,
all of whom are concerned with aspects of Indian affairs. Such com-
mittees would demonstrate the desire of other groups to help the
Indians find solutions to their problems and would provide the
Indian committee members with experience of a democratic institu-
tion in action.

Plans should be made to increase the educational attainments of young
Indians still at school. In spite of the established policy of the department of
Indian affairs to provide advanced education for Indian young people wishing
to take advantage of such opportunities, there are genuine obstacles in the way
of many children receiving more than the minimum of education and training.
For example:

(a) Low family standards of living and limited education of many
parents may produce economic and social pressure from the family
to leave school early.

(b) While Indian children are required to remain at school until they
are 16, for a variety of reasons many of them leave at that age with-
out having completed elementary grades.

(c) Uncertainties about job opportunities, even with further education,
may constitute a psychological barrier.

We would therefore recommend:

(1) That efforts be made to ensure that Indian children are encour-
aged to remain at school until they have secured a basic general educa-
tion as preparation for whatever vocational training their interests and
abilities warrant.



100 JOINT COMMITTEE

(2) Indian children should be encouraged even more than at present
to take advantage of opportunities for vocational training and other types
of advanced education. They should have access to appropriate vocational
guidance resources to assist them in making a proper choice of occupation.

In this connection, we should note the shortage of vocational guidance
resources for all Canadian young people. Recommendations made by the council
on March 16 to the special committee of the Senate on manpower and employ-
ment, if implemented, would be of great assistance to Indian young people.
The appropriate recommendations are:

Recommendation 12: Through fuller use of the technical training
and assistance act and other legislation, Canada’s investment in vocational
guidance and vocational training should be greatly increased, the facilities
and personnel should be expanded and improved and more people should
be encouraged and enabled to enroll in training programs.

Recommendation 13: Combined training-employment programs,
apprentice schools and similar techniques which are employed in some
other countries should be tried out in Canada, in order to meet the needs
of young people of school age who are unable to benefit fully from
exclusively formal schooling and of adult workers who can still benefit
from improvement in their basic education, vocational training or
occupational skills.

Recommendation 14: There should be an immediate and intensive
study, followed by appropriate action, concerning the interrelated edu-
cational training and employment needs and problems of youth.

B. Indians in non-Indian communities

Whatever can be done to raise the standards of living on reserves and to
make them more productive, there will continue to be a steady migration of
Indians from reserves to other Canadian communities. The Indian affairs
branch has estimated that approximately 40,000 Indians are already living off
reserves.

Based on the experience of migrant Indians and the communities to which
they go, we believe that a great deal more can be done than is being attempted
at present to make the transition from reserve to urban Canadian community
more successful. We would recommend that:

1. As far as possible, Indians who are considering such a move
§hould hgve access to counselling about their plans and be provided with
information necessary to help them make a wise choice of location, job,
fmd so on. Such a service could be provided through the agency super-
intendent, a social worker, or some other person skilled in counselling
and familiar with the conditions which the Indian and his family will
meet in a non-Indian community.

2. ’1“he preparation should begin in the educational system by giving
the Ind}an as much understanding as possible of his non-Indian
compatriots, experience in situations he is likely to meet in dealing with
them, and some understanding of their culture and attitudes, particularly
as it differs from that of the Indian. Such background, if it supplements
h{S knowledge of his own people and his pride in his own race, its
history and culture, and if he has the basic education and training in
accordance with his capacities to enable him to secure and hold a job
wogld be of immeasurable assistance to him in moving away from his’
native surroundings. This preparation is valuable to the Indian regardless
of what decision he makes since even on the reserve he should know and
understand the white man and his ways.
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3. In the white community, the Indian should find a positive attitude
towards him; for example, he should not face discrimination in his search
for suitable housing.

In this connection, the council is happy to support a recommendation
already made to this committee by a number of groups: that greater
efforts should be made in the educational program of Canada’s provinces
and through the various media for adult and informal education to give
the non-Indian Canadian a more accurate picture of the Indian and his
culture and greater understanding of the history and background of
this section of our native population. A very important contribution can
can be made here by the citizenship branch of the Department of Citizen-
ship and Immigration where attention is already being given to the place
of Indians in Canadian life.

4. The Indian should have opportunity for employment at a fair
wage in accordance with his capacities.

While at the present time, special help may be given to Indians
by the Indian affairs branch in seeking employment, this group is one
the council had in mind when it made the following statement concerning
needed improvement in the national employment service in its sub-
mission to the special committee of the Senate on manpower and em-
ployment:

If NES is to act as an instrument of manpower policies, it must
be free to direct its staff and resources as required to groups for
whom there is a particular demand or who need specialized help.
Such a mandate does not, of course, pre-empt the field for the
national employment service. On the other hand, to the extent that
NES has appropriate terms of reference, qualified staff and adequate
resources, there should be less need for other employment services,
public or private.

5. Indians coming into urban areas should have certain resources
available to assist with their integration. They should have access to
counselling, financial assistance and other supportive services they may
require. Preferably these should be provided by organizations in the
new community, even if such services depend upon reimbursement of
certain costs by the Indian affairs branch for an initial period.

Lack of residence in the community makes the Indian, like other Canadians,
ineligible for local assistance particularly in some areas. Because of the uneven-
ness of community organization across Canada, it cannot be assumed that the
Indian will find the services he needs already existing in the community. Where
appropriate facilities are lacking, the Indian affairs branch should do whatever
is possible to encourage and stimulate the development of such services.

The council believes that separate services for Indians, or any other group,
are generally undesirable and expensive and should usually be established only
as a temporary or emergency service. However, the special needs of such a
group may require the development of a service that may subsequently become
a community-wide program from which others may also benefit. In fact, the
needs of Indians may bring about identification of a gap in service which
requires the establishment of a new service for all residents.

Accordingly, we recommend that the Indian affairs branch continue to
negotiate with the provinces and with municipal authorities and voluntary
agencies, particularly those adjacent to Indian reserves, for the provision of
necessary community services to help Indians integrate in local communities.
Such negotiations should include some financial contribution from the branch
where this is required.
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C. Child welfare problems :
There is a growing trend to meet, through local or provincial services, the
child welfare needs the Indian family cannot handle without help. However,
there is also real concern about the adequacy of available resources. Many of
our member agencies report that their staff should have and are seeking more
understanding of Indians as parents and of their patterns of family living.

The confidence of the Indian family in a social worker from a child welfare
agency as “a helping person” takes much time and patience to establish. This
is partly explained as a traditional attitude toward the white man, partly by
the fact that Indians have not always been party to the decision that such
services should be provided, and partly because the Indian is aware and fearful
of the differences in the two ways of life and what these may mean to his
family. However, on many reserves, these services are warmly welcomed and
their helpfulness has been amply demonstrated. 3

A second problem confronting the child welfare program on the reserves
is the shortage of foster homes for Indian children who need them. In many
instances, homes are being used on reserves with excellent success, and Indian
affairs officials, the clergy and others are helpful in finding such homes. A
sufficient number will probably not be available for children of Indian descent
(with or without treaty status) until more adequate housing and improved
standards of living on the reserve make it possible for Indian families to under-
take more fully the responsibilities of boarding needy children.

A third difficulty concerns the adoption of Indian children, and of children
by Indians whether they are treaty, non-treaty or white children. The Indian
Act at present denies to adopted children rights the natural children enjoy. For
instance, in order to have the same rights as a natural born child, a child
adopted by an Indian must have his name added to the band list, although the
procedure for doing so violates the confidentiality essential to good adoption
practice and which is incorporated in all provincial adoption legislation. Ac-
co'rdingly, we recommend that necessary changes be made in the Indian Act
with reference to the adoption of children to ensure that it is consistent with
provincial adoption legislation by providing for:

(a) protection of the identity of the child being adopted, and
(b) acceptance of the adopted child as “for all purposes” the child of the
adoptive parents as if born to them in lawful wedlock.

Fourth, some of our member agencies are concerned about the use of resi-
dential schools. While circumstances may vary from reserve to reserve, we
believe that there are two areas requiring study and clarification: : ,

1. Under ordinary circumstances, admission of a child to a residential
school should not affect parental guardianship of that child.

: 2. The function of the residential school should be education for the
child for whom other facilities are not accessible or the child whose
parent_s cannot care f.or him. It would be most unfair to the staff and to
the child 1_f a res'ldentlal school were used to care for children who present
prob_lems in their own homes or to their communities. Such children need
special help which should be available to them, but care of this kind
cannot be expected in the setting which the residential school provides.

IV. CONCLUSION

: To ensure the full implementation of the objectives which the council and

its members have for the welfare of Indians, and to implement our specific

recommendations and suggestions, the key recommendation that council wishes
to emphasize is:

_That the staff of the Indian affairs branch be strengthened in order

to discharge more effectively some of its present and anticipated functions.



INDIAN AFFAIRS 103

We believe that additional resources should include:

(a) The appointment of a substantial number of persons with com-
munity development skills who would be given the necessary re-
sources and responsibility to work with Indians toward raising the
standard of life on the reserves or to help plan for the movement
of people where this seems the best solution.

(b) Additional qualified social workers to assist with the counselling of
individuals and families considering moving off reserves, and to
work with Indians or community-wide agencies in the solution
of such family problems as marital difficulties, delinquency and
illegitimacy.

Depending upon the population to be served, it may be desirable to aim at
appointing one social worker per Indian agency. A further objective is, of
course, to have as many of these workers as possible of Indian descent, although
because of the training required, this cannot be regarded as an immediate goal.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Have members of the committee any
questions to put to Miss Burns?

Mr. McQuirLAaN: I would like to ask the lady this, in view of her state-
ment on page 3 that probably the most positive development in this con-
nection has occurred in Ontario—referring to welfare. Does she think that
perhaps the Indian welfare should be as rapidly as possible transferred to
the provinces, even though the federal government may have to make
contributions to the provinces—that it should be kept to provincial level.

I am thinking on this line, that across Canada we have ten provinces each
with different laws, different regulations governing the people, different
standards of education, welfare and all the rest of it. Would it not be a step
forward to endeavour to have the provincial authorities assume complete
responsibility for the welfare of the Indians within their provinces?

Miss Burns: I would say, in reply to that, that this is consistent with our
opinion that as far as possible the Indian people should have access to the
same services as other Canadians; and since other Canadians receive service
directly, I think this is the objective for Indians. I would say however that
because of the unevenness of service, this might mean that in some .instances
Indians might temporarily not be quite so well provided for in some respects
as they are now, under the Indian affairs branch. I think the answer here is
the improvement of provincial and local welfare services rather than keeping
Indians separate.

Mr. McQuiLLAN: Are you suggesting that for some provinces the non-

Indian population has not got welfare benefits that are equal to Indians in some
other provinces?

Miss BurNns: There is great unevenness in the welfare services across
Canada. There is inability to provide them—financial inability and lack of
readiness in some instances. In the Department of Citizenship and Immigra-
tion Indians are dealt with as Indians regardless of where they live, and this
does make a difference; we do not have the same situation in provincial
‘welfare services, except in certain programs.

Mr. McQuILLAN: To me that seems to be one of the problems. The Indian

is a citizen of Canada but not necessarily a citizen of the province in which
he lives.

Senator Dupuis: Take the case of Caughnawaga near Montreal, as far as
this question of children is concerned. Does the lady know anything about this
province of Quebec, or about Caughnawaga?
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Miss Burns: I do not have any recent information about the situation in
Caughnawaga. I would say, however, that in the province of Quebec there is
not the same provincial child welfare structure as exists in Ontario, and there
is more local responsibility; so I would think that the situation would be
somewhat different from that in some of the other provinces.

Senator FERGUSSON: On page 8, Mill Burns suggested that programs have
been undertaken of self help and community development and that these
might produce the desired results, provided the Indian people themselves are
fully involved in the planning and execution of the program. In the next
paragraph she says that projects of this kind already undertaken elsewhere
have demonstrated that people do respond with enthusiasm to such a program.
Will she tell us where? ¢ e

Miss BurnNs: We are thinking mainly of the programs of community
development that have been undertaken in other countries, such as India,
Pakistan and some countries of South America, where there has been tre-
mendous involvement of the people in local communities themselves, with
help from international sources in those cases, to develop a reasonable standard
of living and of industry, and that sort of thing.

Senator FERGUSSON: These have been successful?

Miss BURNS: Quite.

Senator STAMBAUGH: On page 6, are you recommending that Indians
should have title to the land on the reservations? I believe that Indians now
may own land off the reservation. Is that not correct?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): No.

Miss BurNS: Mr. Chairman, I do not think that I, personally, or the coun-
cil are competent to discuss the whole matter of the reserve system. I do
think however that the fact of the situation, as it is, does mean that Indians
have different property rights, and that makes them different from other
Canadians.

Senator STAMBAUGH: Have they not got the same property rights, if they
are off the reservation?

Mr. RoBinsoN: With franchisé?

Miss ‘BurNs: But if this is what they want to do, then they must decide
to get off the reservation?

i The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Off the reserve they have the same
rights as other Canadians.

Miss Burns: But the reserves are home to very many Indians. "

Senator STAMBAUGH: I think you can see that if they got title to the
land on the reservation they could sell it the same as anybody else. If they
had the title, they could sell the land to non-Indians and move off. You

;vogid hardly want them to do that, or hardly advocate that they should
o it.

Senator FERGUSSON: I do not think the witness has to be asked that.
Shg may say why she thinks Indians have different problems. She is not
saying how we should change the law but she thinks we might think up
some way to overcome the problems. That is our job.

The {IOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The witness has already mentioned
that she is not well aware of the reserve system.

Miss Burns: This is outside our area of competence.

- Miss ‘LAMA.RSH:. May I inquire regarding Indians being placed in a posi-
tion of discrimination. I wish to inquire of the witness whether she knows

of any par‘tlc'ul'.i\r cases where an Indian has met discrimination. Is it wide-
spread or is it in particular cases?
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Miss BurNns: I am not aware just how widespread one would say it is.
Almost without exception, the agencies with whom we have been in touch,
who work with Indians in local communities, do refer to the problems that
Indians have in finding suitable housing in areas where they would like to
live and at rates which they can afford to pay—because of certain precon-
ceived notions people have about Indians. Therefore, if a person is recognized
as an Indian he may have more difficulty than some other people in getting
located. I think this is not an uncommon problem in most Canadian com-
munities.

Miss LAMARsH: Most provinces have legislation which prevents such
discrimination. Have there been reported any prosecutions in that respect
in regard to Indians?

Miss Burns: I do not know of any. The problem with this kind of legis-
lation, certainly where it does exist, is that it is not easy ever to establish
that you do not get the accommodation you want because you are Indian
or for whatever other reason you are being excluded. This has been the ex-
perience among Indians, that they have in fact had such problems.

Miss LaMarsH: Has the witness, through her agencies, any experience of
any allegation that, in the communities into which Indians move, there has
been shown any feeling of discrimination against those new Indians? In
other words, do the non-Indians accept Indians who come from reserves into
the general community, or is there any friction, is there any difficulty with
the children or the adults?

Miss Burns: I think it would be very difficult to generalize. It would
seem to me that, like any other newcomers in a community—Ilet us say immi-
grants, Indians, anyone that is different—they are not very acceptable to
some people in the community and they are accepted on a completely equal
basis by others.

The experience of people in local communities who have worked with
Indians is that they have not found it easy to be fully accepted in ordinary
community life. Some organizations have been working very hard on this
problem. For example the Y.W.C.A. is one of the organizations that has en-
couraged the Indian young people to come to clubs. In some instances in
certain branches, I understand they have begun with groups for Indian girls
and then introduced them into other groups where they become integrated
so that it becomes an integrated group. This is part of the process that goes on.

There is a real problem for those communities close to reserves, where
a large number of Indians are coming in looking for work. This poses some-
what of a threat to the people who are finding it difficult to get jobs them-

selves. This is the kind of thing which results in discrimination and the
isolation of Indians.

Miss LAMARSH: How about the attitude of non-Indian children to the
Indian child at school, is there discrimination there?

Miss BUrNs: Children do not discriminate in general at all. A child is
a child.

Mr. McQuirLan: Is that not the answer to the question, that children
having gone to school together, a lot of this discrimination will disappear. I
know that there are communities, I am not going to name any, where there
is a large percentage of Indian population living on adjoining reserves, where
there has been a lot of discrimination. Probably there was a lot of local dis-
crimination because the children were going to separate schools. Now that
~ they are going to integrated schools, it will disappear.

Miss Burns: If some counselling can be made available to Indians who
want to take advantage of it on the reserves, they might be helped to move



106 JOINT COMMITTEE

into communities where they would be able to find jobs and where they
would be likely to be more generally accepted than in some of these com-
Junities that are close by and that are easy to go to; so that you would not
have the kind of problem that the member has referred to, or you would
have it to a lesser extent. ‘

Mr. Capieu: Do you not think there has been a vast improvement in
the integration of schools in the past four to five years? I know that where
I come from, not too long ago when the department of Indian affairs made
application to the school board to accept Indian children it was vigourously
turned down; but today it is received with a much different attitude. We now
have school buses running from the Indian reservation right into the various
towns. I think this has improved greatly in the past few years.

Miss Burns: If I may comment on that, I think we, and the constituency
that the council represents, would agree with this. We feel this is a trend
which provides opportunities now for moving ahead in the whole matter of
Indian affairs, that did not exist in terms of support from the Canadian public
in earlier periods. The climate is much more ripe for this kind of thing now
than it was a few years ago.

Mr. RoBinNsoN: May I say that that should be increased to the greatest
extent, and I agree with it.

Senator Dupuis: I would not like to question the lady who is represent-
ing the Canadian Welfare Council but as she represents an independent body
between the Canadian department for Indian affairs and the Indians, I would
like to know from her what would be the effect of the Indian asking for com-
plete emancipation and going into the community and joining the ordinary
citizen of the country. Would that be feasible or advisable?

Miss Burns: I think I can answer this only in terms of what I believe
happens to people if they are suddenly cast into a situation of which they
have no experience. It seems to me that if this committee were contemplating
any such kind of recommendation, it would have to be taken into account
that unless people have preparation to take full responsibility and have ability
to earn their own living, and can manage their own affairs, this could be very
disastrous to the individual. If this is an ultimate objective towards which a
program is directed, then the time will come when this would be what you
will want to do; but I have to say this that if this should happen tomorrow—

Miss LAMARsH: Suppose this were completed over a 20 to 25 year period
with the ultimate view of having complete integration known to the Indians
and to the general public, could the witness say whether this would work?
This is actually a couple of generations of people growing in within the sys-
tem of more integration and more independence—something that would say
that the Indian affairs branch would be gone in 50 years.

Miss Burns: I would think this would certainly work, because we know
very well that in individual cases this has worked exceedingly well. Under
the same kind of circumstances, I am sure it could work for the group. Inte-
gration always assumes, however, that it is a two-way street, that it is not
a question of merely the Indian’s attitude. Our objective is not that Indian
people should become like us but that we should all become a little different,

so that the integration process not only requires an organized plan directed to
Indians but also to non-Indian Canadians.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Do you think that now the Indian

generally would accept this complete emancipation which Senator Dupuis was
talking about?

Mr. McQuIiLLAN: Is not the word emancipation the wrong word there,
because the word emancipation would indicate that they are not free now,

g
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whereas in fact the Indian has all the rights, federally, of any other Canadian
citizen, plus a few more. The word emancipation might be misconstrued and
I would just want to direct your attention to it.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I think what was meant was getting
off the reservation.

Senator Dupuils: I have in mind the attitude of Africans towards the South
African government. The South African government is blamed for not putting
the native Africans on the same level as whites, and I wonder if there is any
resemblance or comparison between the attitude of the Indians in Canada
towards white people. Does the Canadian government accept the Indian on the
terms suggested by the Commonwealth of Nations?

Mr. MARTEL: We never threw them out.

Mr. CHARLTON: I do not think the two situations can be related because
here, as has been pointed out, the Indian people have every right and privilege
and, in addition, have rights and privileges to which other Canadians are not
entitled. Therefore the situation cannot be considered similar to apartheid in
South Africa.

Senator Duruis: I do not wish to start a contest of views. I am ready to
admit the Indians have certain privileges but the Indian himself has no liberty,
no freedom and no right to associate with the ordinary people of Canada.

Mr. McQuiLLAN: I take violent exception to that.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I think it should be understood, as
was pointed out before this committee some days ago, that any Indian who
wants to go anywhere in Canada has all the rights of a Canadian citizen.

Senator Dupuis: Individually, but not as a whole.
Mr. CHARLTON: As a whole, if they so wish.

Mr. SMALL: Having sat on this committee for a couple of years I think
those who have received briefs will find there is a picture involved that does
not lend itself to the complete integration which you are talking about because,
all through the evidence, the Indian wants to be himself. He wants to maintain
his own tongue and his own culture. He does not want to be integrated with
the rest of the population but he does want to be accepted so that he can
mix with them. :

Miss LAMARSH: It seems that over-paternalism has caused the Indian to
become too dependent on the state and one of the problems of this committee
is to find ways of making him more dependent on himself. Surely our func-
tion is to assist the Indians to cross the bridge to a point where they will be
able, economically and educationally, to decide what they want to do? They
are somewhat in the same situation as were married women before the start
of this century. Under the law administered by a paternalistic state they were,
in fact, under-privileged people, though this was done in the name of protecting
them.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any other questions mem-
bers would like to ask Miss Burns?

Mr. CHARLTON: I wonder would the witness agree with me it is most
desirable that Indian children should receive both their primary and secondary
education in an environment and an area close to their own homes, close to
where their parents reside?

Miss BURNS: Yes, Mr. Chairman, I would say so.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Then, if there are no further ques-
tions, thank you very much for attending, Miss Burns. I believe you have
made a very effective contribution to the work of the committee.

We shall now proceed to hear Mr. Guy Williams.

24849-2—2
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Mr. McQUILLAN: Will we be able to complete our hearing of these rep-
resentatives this morning? : 2 ;

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): They have a very short brief. Now,
ladies and gentlemen, I shall ask Mr. Williams, president of the native brother-
hood of British Columbia, to introduce Reverend Peter R. Kelly.

Mr. Guy R. WiLLiams (President of the Native Brotherhood of British
Columbia): Mr. Chairman and honourable members, I wish to thank your
committee for giving us the privilege of appearing before you on matters
which are of great concern to our organization and to the native Indians of
British Columbia. My colleague, Dr. Kelly, has been working on behalf of
the native people in British Columbia for upwards of 50 years. He is one of
the staunchest men we have in British Columbia and is fully acquainted with
the problems of the Indians. He was the chairman of the allied tribes of
British Columbia and worked on their behalf for upwards of 40 years. I now
take great pleasure in introducing Dr. Kelly, the chairman of our legislative
committee.

Reverend Doctor R. KELLY (Chairman of the Legislative Committee,

Native Brotherhood of British Columbia): Mr. Chairman, Senator Gladstone,

ladies and gentlemen of the joint committee of the Senate and House of
Commons on Indian affairs, during the past few years there has been a grow-
ing impatience in our organization with the medical services rendered to the
Indians of British Columbia, but I would imagine the heads of the departments
concerned would not say they had singled out British Columbia for the type
of treatment given there. These medical services apply to Nova Scotia as
well as to British Columbia. They apply across the continent, but during
recent years, following the growth of discontent, we began to look into the
matter a little more closely and what we have stated in our short brief gives
the reasons for our appearance here today. I should now like to read our
submission to the committee.

When British Columbia entered confederation, certain definite commit-
ments were contracted by the dominion government and the province of British
Columbia. By the thirteenth article of the terms of union, it is provided that:

(1) “The charge of the Indians shall be assumed by the dominion
government.”

I might say that sentence is taken out of the official statement and there
should be a comma after “Indians”, because when that section was intréduced
there was reference to the management of lands for the Indians.

Our brief continues:

that (2) “A policy as liberal as that hitherto pursued by the British

Columbia government shall be continued by the dominion government after
the union.”

These are the official words and I may. say that I have taken them out of
the first volume of the report of the royal commission on Indian lands, which
operated between 1912 to 1916. I think you have the report of that com-
mission in your library. I have the first volume but, since it is such a huge
one, I did not want to pack it around with me this morning. However, if
members demand to see it, I shall produce the book and read from it:

“The terms of union were sanctioned by the imperial government, and
were given force and effect by an order of Her Majesty in council under the
British North America Act, and thereby became as much a part of the act
as if they had been embodied in it.”

We claim that when the dominion government, under the terms of union,
contracted to carry on the expanding welfare of B.C. Indians, as expressed
by the. words of the trust, “The charge of the Indians shall be assumed by the
dominion government”, it was a broad, all comprehensive commitment to save
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the people who were sinking in the quicksands of the dregs of civilization in
the form of various diseases. The Indians had no defence or immunity against
the epidemics of smallpox, infectious illnesses and venereal diseases. The in-
troduction of intoxicating drink brought on excessive debauchery. Tuberculosis
brought untimely death to innumerable B.C. Indians, young and old. Stories
are told of soldiers in combat, captured and had their hands tied behind their
backs and shot. The Indians of British Columbia in the early part of the last
century were as defenceless against disease as were the soldiers with their hands
tied behind their backs.

In 1871, the dominion government assumed the charge of the Indians of
British Columbia,; and in many respects, have coped with the situation passably
well. For many years there was no systematic programme in treating tuber-
cular patients. When one was stricken with the terrible disease, it was only a
matter of time before the end came. The patient was usually in a crowded home,
with young children around the patient’s bed. There was no proper disposal of
the sputum. As a result, young children became infected and many died in
their early ages.

It was after the second world war that a serious programme in combatting
the disease was inaugurated. Sanitoriums were established in Sardis, B.C.,
Nanaimo, B.C. and Miller Bay at Prince Rupert. The results have been almost
miraculous. The death rate has been brought down to the almost vanishing
point. It does not mean that the disease is vanquished entirely, but it means that,
where proper treatment is brought to bear on the patient, chance of recovery
is almost certain. The Indians of British Columbia are humbly grateful for
the tremendous victory of medical science over this disease.

There are, however, many other diseases and sicknesses to battle every
day. Infant mortality is high. Other diseases get a firm hold on patients through
neglect. The neglect comes through the patient not being in a financial position
to pay doctors’ fees. In certain areas, medical service is good. But in most areas,
it is indefinite. Some Indian patients are treated by doctors without question,
while others are told they have to be personally responsible for their own
doctors bills. I have many receipts with me to prove where Indian patients pay
their own expenses.

The claims of the native brotherhood on behalf of the British Columbia
Indians are:

(1) Under the thirteenth article of the terms of union, we are
entitled to free medical services in all aspects.

We take that stand broadly and strongly as a contract that was entered
into by the dominion government and the province of British Columbia.

(2) All Indians who are receiving old age pensions must have free
medical services as well as dental care and spectacles.

This matter has been brought to us time and time again, and therefore we
put that in.

(3) The twelve-months period penalty which prohibits an Indian
member of a band from receiving any medical service must be abolished
when he is away from his own reserve.

(4) If the words “the charge of the Indians shall be assumed by
the dominion government” are ambiguous, we must respectfully request
that the Supreme Court of Canada be requested to give a decision
on it.

Mr. Chairman, ladies and gentlemen, that is in short our brief, and we are
prepared to follow it up with explanations and to answer questions as you see
fit to ask us.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions from the
committee?
24849-2—2}
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Mr. McQuiLLAN: Dr. Kelly, you say that all Indians are entitled to free
medical services. As the Indians are moved out from their traditional environ-
ment to the world of industry, in many cases they are covered by the M.S.A.
program. I have had a great many Indians working for companies with which
I have been connected, and they all come under M.S.A. Do you not think that
they should pay part of the cost of that M.S.A. program? Do you not think that
those Indians, who are earning from $400 to $700 or $800 a month, should pay
their own medical services?

Dr. KeELLY: Let us get this clear. I would like to make our position as clear
as I can. You are asking about some Indians who are being treated under this
M.S.A. system to which they pay their dues. That is quite true. Some are doing
that. But the Indians of British Columbia are not, as yet, properly placed in
society, as I hope they will be. Their work is seasonal. As you know yourself,
Mr. McQuillan, sometimes fishing is good, and when it is good every fisherman
is wealthy for the time being. It goes to his head and he becomes not only
affluent in substance but also in his mind, and he acts accordingly. He finds
that, shortly after the new year, his pockets are empty but that the things he
needed he has bought for his household use, and he has done what he has
longed to do. However, his bank account is at zero and all his money is gone.
Possibly at this time he realizes that a member of his family needs medical
attention. Now, it is that point with which we are dealing. I know it will be
said that medical services are being rendered freely and liberally to the Indians
of British Columbia, as they are elsewhere. That has been the history of medical
service. It has been a very fine history. I think I can say that there is many an
Indian who is living today who would have passed on but for the service
which has been rendered to our people. During the past few years this service
has become a little insistent. More and more there has been a sort of closure,
saying that the federal government or the dominion government through the
national health and welfare department and the Indian medical health services
are not responsible. Now, we have been told that.

We met with Dr. W. S. Barclay who is the regional medical superintendent
of health services in Vancouver, Pacific coast region. He told us this. He not
only told us but he read from an instruction he had received from headquarters
right here in Ottawa, saying that it was a misconception, that Indians are
entitled to free medical services. It was a misconception. I happened to be the
spokesman and I said to him: “Dr. Barclay, would you be good enough to
supply us with that authority that you have read just now?” He hesitated and
he said: “No, I am not going to, but I am going to write to Ottawa and ask that
proper information be given to you.” :

That was on the 26th January last. That information did not come. It never
came. Up to the time I left my home that information did not come.

However, some time later we heard from Dr. Barclay and he said: “It
would be better for you to write to the minister, the honourable J. Waldo
Monteith who is minister of National Health and Welfare Services; write to
him and see if you can get up-to-date information on the matter—because as
we have said there seems to be a certain feeling of uncertainly about the whole
situation.”

I wrote to Mr. Monteith and in time I received a reply, a very fine letter.
I could read that letter but'I do not know whether I should or not. I do not
think it is that type of letter, but I think I can give you what is in it. It was
not marked private or confidential but I feel when I receive a letter from a
minister that I do not want to broadcast it too widely.

In that letter the same thing was stated. The minister started out by
saying that the Indian is no more entitled to free medical services than any
other Canadian, but the central government has followed the practice and the
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procedure of seeing that no Indian who was in need would be deprived of
that. All the way, the paragraphs were of that tone—“we are not responsible
but we have been doing it, we have been doing it.” That was the substance
of that letter—that “we are not going to change it”.

Dr. Moore, the director of Indian health services, is here and I would
venture to say that Dr. Moore is more the author of the letters that have come
to us, the instructions that have come to the different agencies, than any other
man in Canada.

Mr. BALpwin: Before we leave this subject, as I read this brief it suggests .
that the Indians are entitled to these medical services on two grounds, (a)
that it is just and proper and equitable that they should have them and (b)
as suggested in the first paragraph, that there is the legal obligation. I would
like to ask Dr. Kelly about that. He says in his brief that (1) the charge of
the Indians shall be assumed by the Dominion government and (2) the policy
shall be as liberal as that hitherto pursued by the British Columbia govern-
ment. In my opinion that seems to raise the whole question of what the Indian
has by law. I am not talking of what he should have, of what it is just that
he should have, but what he is entitled to by law. He refers to a policy as
liberal as that hitherto pursued by the British Columbia government. Does
Dr. Kelly know what type of policy was pursued by the British Columbia
government prior to the terms of union which he can say is not equivalent to
the type of service now being provided?

Dr. KeLLy: Mr. Chairman, may I make this confession to you. My hearing
is not as good as it might be. It is all right when I am reading or talking, or
when someone in front of me is speaking at this table, but it is very difficult
to hear others who are more distant.

Mr. BaLpwin: I shall come up and show it to you, Dr. Kelly. I am referring
to the sections laid out in the first paragraph and I have pointed out that, in
my opinion, you ask for the medical services on two grounds; the-first being
that it is just, proper and equitable that you should have those services, and
the second being that you say there is a legal obligation on the government to
provide them. The basis for your suggestion that there is a legal obligation is
contained in the first paragraph, is it not? You are suggesting that you are
entitled to a policy as liberal as that pursued by the British Columbia govern-
ment before the thirteenth article was written into the terms of union. Have
you any knowledge of the type of policy pursued by the British Columbia
government in respect to medical services for Indians, before the terms of
union came into effect?

Dr. KeLLy: In answer to that I can only say that there was not any
definite program of medical services. The British Columbia government under
the colonial system, before confederation, gave assistance to the Indians under
pressure. For instance, when there was a tremendous epidemic of smallpox—
and this happened not once but several times—the British Columbia govern-
ment provided facilities to combat it. There were no hospitals to which patients
could be brought, but they set apart large buildings in which patients were
treated, and that was the only definite, systematic care which was given. The
patients were housed but I must say that the care given to them was not like
the care which is given to patients nowadays.

I read that sentence because it sounds good—*“a policy as liberal as that
hitherto pursued by the British Columbia government shall be continued by
the dominion government after the union”. That was the idea at that time
and any Indian who needed medical assistance was cared for, though the
assistance, by its nature, was very sketchy and limited. Most Indian patients
who took ill were simply left alone in a house. Sometimes, if a doctor were
available, he examined them but, in most cases, they were left to themselves
and in that way they died. I do not know if that answers your question.
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.~ Mr: BALpwin: That is quite satisfactory. X !

_ Mr. SMaALL: The conditions which you speak about as being in force at
that time, were they not part of the general system of handling smallpox cases?
In those days they had no serum to provide a preventive cure and so they
isolated everyone affected in special houses in order to keep other people from
catching the disease. Were they not treated just the same as any other citizen
of Canada?

Dr. KeLLy: Yes, I would say that. Treatment was not up-to-date. I should
add that when I am talking about this I am thinking particularly about smallpox.

Mr. SMALL: About smallpox particularly?

Dr. KeLLy: But it also applied to Indians when they suffered from other
diseases as well. This is just a guess, but I would say in those days at least 75
per cent of the patients died, who might have been cured. That happened
because of the lack of medical care.

Mr. McQuiLLAN: What years are you speaking of?

Dr. KeLLy: Around the 70’s and following shortly after the 70’s. Even
after the union, when British Columbia went into confederation, conditions
were very much the same in 1871. The Indians were neglected people.

Now, let us be frank about it. To assume charge of the Indians sounds
very generous and it has proven to be generous in practice during the last
25 years, but not much earlier than that. As I say, a school service was in-
troduced by the different churches, but not by the government. The government
did not contribute anything to the education of the Indians in the early days.
A system of education was introduced by the different demoninations, the
Roman Catholic church and the Protestant denominations and then, in time,
the Indian affairs branch saw the need for enlarging that program and carrying
it out as it should be carried out. They began to subsidize the church schools
and later assumed responsibility for them. Right now the schools are up-to-
date, and I am happy to say that. We have teachers who are trained and are
on an equal standing with teachers in public schools.

: I might add that in many places where we have no Indian schools, through
agreements reached with the provincial governments and with various munici-
palities, Indian children are now attending the regular day schools in the
provinces. Wherever possible that is being done and the Indian affairs branch,
through its educational department, is paying per capita costs, not only for
the teaching of the Indian children but also for capital expenditures in the
way of building new schools. We are very grateful for that and we see a
great future in it. ’

Turning to the matter of segregation, in earlier days an Indian reservation
was a segregated place and the people who lived on it were discriminated
against. Now, however, for the first time we are reaching a stage at which
the Indians are being treated as ordinary people. Their children are going
to the schools and are forming friendships with other children who do not
say to them: “you are an Indian and you have no business to be here”. They
play together, they have forgotten their backgrounds and we believe that
when these children grow up they will face a brighter future. At the moment
what we are principally concerned with is the medical care of our people.

The Joint CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any other questions on
the legal obligation of the federal government to assume responsibility for
medical services?

Senator Dupuis: I should like to ask Dr. Kelly if he has ever applied to
the department of Indian affairs for help in so far as health services are con-

cerned. Did he apply, and what was the answer he received from that depart-
ment? '
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. Dr. KELLy: Not recently, because the health services are under the Depart-
ment of National Health and Welfare. We went to Dr. Barclay, who is the
regional director, and if there is any man who is qualified to give the informa-
tion, he is the man. I think I have given you the substance of what he said to
us, and the outcome of that.

Senator Dupuis: It meant that you were refused help?

Dr. KeLLy: It is my conception that the Indian is entitled to free medical
service. It was not only said, but it was read.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr7r. Grenier): Of course, you are talking about the
Indians living off the reserves.

Dr. KeLLy: No, living on the reserves, as well as those who are off the
reserves.

Miss LAMARSH: Are you asking for medical services for Indians whether on
the reserve or off?

Dr. KeLLy: Yes, we take the ground that under the thirteenth article of
the terms of union, the dominion government has committed itself to that, and
we are asking that to be implemented in a better way than it has been during
the past few years. The program has become a little narrower, that is, in so far
as giving the Indian free medical service is concerned.

Miss LAMARSH: You are talking about British Columbia Indians? Suppos-
ing you have a British Columbia Indian who is working in Ottawa, do you mean
then that he is to have free medical services just because he came from British
Columbia originally?

Dr. KELLY: There are systems under which an Indian who works off the
reserve for any company—

Miss LaAMARSH: I mean out of British Columbia.
Mr. SMALL: From one province to another.

Mr. McQUILLAN: If Senator Gladstone came from British Columbia, do you
think he would be entitled to free medical service in Ottawa?

Dr. KeLry: It all depends on how insistent he is.

Mr. CHARLTON: Do you know of cases of Indians on reservations who have
been refused medical assistance because of the fact that they could not afford to
pay?

Dr. KeLLy: I do not think I can deny that in its entirety. I believe the
medical profession is bound to care for any patient who applies for assistance,
and the Indians are treated in the same way. The program of the National
Health and Welfare services, so far as the Indians are concerned, has been
heading this way. The Indian pays for his medical services.

Senator Dupuils: If he has no money, who will pay for it?

Dr. KeLLy: I have the bills sent down to me, and the doctors have been
saying: you have paid so much on your bill and there is still $65, $75 or $100
owing. They said: you are responsible for this. The doctors are collecting this
sum from the Indians, not from the National Health and Welfare services. The
Indian is the one who has to pay the bill.

Senator Dupuls: And the Department of National Health and Welfare
refuses to pay?

Dr. KeLLy: I suppose that in many instances the poor doctor will have to
do without the money.

Mr. CHARLTON: The oath of Hippocrates.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Do you know of any cases where
the persons who have contacted the department here in Ottawa to have those
bills paid, were refused?
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Dr. KeLLy: I cannot say that, because they deal with the regional super-
intendents or directors who are appointed for that purpose to deal with those
men. I do not think that they have appealed directly to the headquarters
here in Ottawa.

Mr. CuarLTON: I think probably Dr. Moore, who is here, could clarify
some of these misunderstandings if he could make a statement now.

Dr. P. E. Moore (Director, Indian and Northern Health Services, Depart-
ment of Health and Welfare): Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, I
would like to preface my statement by saying that there is no one in Canada
for whom I have more respect than the Reverend Dr. Kelly, who has been
an outstanding leader amongst his people during the thirty years ago, that
I have been associated with this work.

The point at issue here could be summed up in this way: I think the
committee is going to call the department as a whole to discuss the policy.
I think at that time the minister could attend and the policy, as laid down,
to aid the service to administer could be clarified. The policy that we follow
is that Indians, resident on reserves, have access to medical treatment that
we provide through systems of appointing doctors. Where there is a large
enough area or a big enough group of Indians, we try to put a full-time
salaried medical officer there. In those instances we never seem to run into
disputes or trouble. Other doctors are employed in various ways, and as you
recall the brief presented by the Canadian medical association you will know
that there has been a dispute between the fees that we pay and the provincial
level of tariff. We have stated to the medical profession that we were under-
writing from public funds'the care of people who otherwise would not get
medical attention. No bill is refused for an Indian resident on a reserve at
our schedule of fees. The doctors have maintained the privilege, or the right,
to bill for the difference between, for instance, the British Columbia medical
a;sociation schedule of fees and the amounts that we pay. This is where these
bll_ls, that Dr. Kelly has referred to, come in. The medical profession has main-
tained that they have a right to bill. I have not heard of a case where an
Indian was actually compelled to pay. There was a case in the west coast
of British Columbia where a certain firm of doctors undertook to take some
In'dlans to court to pay the difference. The case never did go to court; it was
withdrawn because they had accepted these cases and had received payment
from the Department of National Health and Welfare for those cases. I think
they withdrew their case on legal advice.

While I am on the witness stand, I would like to make one or two brief
comments, Mr. Chairman. The last paragraph on page 1 is partially true; in
fact, infant mortality is high.

It is one of our major problems. We are endeavouring to take every
possible step to meet that grim picture. Medical care alone cannot do it. In
many, many instances the infant mortality is caused primarily by neglect
of the parents, very poor homes and housing conditions. I am not saying
that the parents willingly neglect the children but these things are happen-
ing that would never happen in a good home.

We feel that we have as adequate public health nursing services on
reserves across Canada as there are in any part of the rural population of
Canada. In fact we think we have better. We are stressing more and more
health education. In the case of every Indian child admitted to hospital, or
every Indian child that dies now, we send out a questionnaire to see w}’lere
the neglect may lie in the case of that child and what circumstances have
lead to its illness or death. We are trying to compile all the information and
try'ing to take all the steps we can to overcome these problems. In regard
to item 2 on page 2, which states that all Indians who are receiving old age
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pensions must have free medical services as well as dental care and spectacles,
we are disputing this right across Canada with provincial authorities. In
return for health grants, the department feels that there should be no dis-
crimination against Indians, and that the provincial services should be equally
applied to the Indian in lieu of the health grants the provinces are getting.
We are getting some agreement and I think there is going to be some settle-
ment made on this matter. For this reason we have been reluctant to fully
accept this. I do not want the committee to think that these people have been
denied these services. If they needed the services they have received them.
However, as I explained once before, if some of these things are supplied some
small payment is asked for. It is not always received.

Senator Dupuis: I would like to take the occasion of Dr. Moore being here
to ask this. He stated that they are trying to have an agreement with provincial
governments as far as these cases are concerned as mentioned in paragraph 2.
As a matter of fact, I would like to ask Dr. Moore if he hopes that any provin-
cial government will find themselves obliged to grant these privileges, because
Indians pay no taxes at all. They are paying no provincial taxes, so how can
the Indians find themselves entitled to this? They do not pay taxes as we do,
except outside the reservation. I am talking about Indians.

Mr. McQuiLLAN: They pay sales tax.
Mr. CHARLTON: They pay sales tax, and other taxes, except land tax.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Maybe we should not go on here to
this point, because other departments will be here later on.

Mr. CHARLTON: May I ask Dr. Kelly one question?

Dr. KerLy: Pardon me. I would like to ask Dr. Moore a question. Does
the national health and welfare services who are responsible for the care of
Indians recognize that under the terms of union that were referred to, their
responsibility is to see that the health services rendered to the Indians of
British Columbia be rendered to them freely?

Dr. Moore: Mr. Chairman, we have had a ruling from the Department of
Justice on this and I can file it with the committee. It clearly states that there
is no legal responsibility on behalf of the federal government to provide any
medical or hospital services whatever to the Indians of Canada. I have been
advised many times not to use the term “legal obligation” and I am only
quoting from this document.

The JoimnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): But in fact they are getting those
medical services.

Dr. Moore: Yes; but the only responsibility, as we have been told, is the
sum voted annually by parliament to be used for this purpose. We have to
confine ourselves to the amount in that vote.

Dr. KeLLY: Then there is no definite responsibility.

Dr. Moore: That is the ruling of the Department of Justice.

Dr. KeLLy: The Department of Justice gave you an opinion but not any
court ruling on the matter.

Mr. Chairman, as we have said, if the words “the charge of the Indians
shall be assumed by the dominion government” are ambiguous, we must
respectfully request that the Supreme Court of Canada be requested to give
a decision on it. If it does not mean anything, let us have the meaning exactly.

Mr. WiLLiams: Mr. Chairman, I would like to interject here and make a
comment in respect of the statement of Dr. Moore. I do not recall his exact
words, but the gist of what he said was that the nursing service in areas where
there are Indians is as good as, or better than, any. I definitely disagree. In
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the Nass river area there are four villages with a population of better than
one thousand with a single nurse to cover the entire river. The communities
are a considerable distance apart. In that part of British Columbia there are
no good roads, and in some instances she has to travel by open boat. Over
and above that she has to go to Terrace and Kitimat by driving over loggmg
roads for over eighty miles. I do not think that is as good a service as that
given where nurses are working for people other than Indians.

At Port Simpson there is a field nurse. Port Simpson is one of our largest
villages in British Columbia. It has upwards of one thousand persons. The
field nurse has a rule, made by herself or otherwise, that patients go to her
and that a mother must bring a very ill baby to the dispensary. She never
goes out,—never. There was an instance there not too long ago where a mother
brought her baby, as was demanded by the .field nurse. Fortunately, the
R.C.M.P. boat was tied up at the dock and one of the doctors for that area was
aboard. The nurse called the doctor up after the baby was brought in. The baby
was brought to Prince Rupert, a matter of eighteen miles, on a boat which
does not travel as fast as a car. The baby did not live. Therefore, I base my
disagreement with Dr. Moore just on those two instances; but there are many
instances.

Dr. Moore also said that an Indian is never refused, or words to that
effect. We will take the hospital at Bella Coola where the doctor in charge
of maternity cases charges the Indian $50. Provided the doctor feels that
the husband in question can pay the sum of $50, that is the charge. He may
charge another person only $25 for the same type of case. After a certain
number of days has elapsed the superintendent calls him in and tells him he
owes $50 which he has not paid and that he will have to work until he has
earned the $50. It is the same with the other person who may have been
charged $25.

Mr. Chairman, our organization is very much concerned and worried
about the lack of uniformity in medical treatment. As an example, I will
take you to the very settled area of Miller Bay and mention the experience
of Richard Morgan, a chief councillor of the Kitwaniga band. He was a fisher-
man. He was informed by radio-phone, which most of the fishermen have
on their boats, that he had a very ill child. He rushed in and took her to
Miller Bay. I understand that the men in charge there were medical students.
I must say that I am not sure that these were internes but, according to
the information I received, they were. He was given pills or tablets and told
to take the baby home and keep it warm. They knew that the baby was
very, very ill. Fortunately, Richard Morgan is a little more happily situated
than many fishermen. He is quite a successful fisherman, and he rushed in
his car from the Miller Bay hospital to the General hospital in Prince Rupert.
There he and his wife begged for assistance. He said he went down on his
hands and knees and begged the nurse in charge to get a doctor for him.
After twenty minutes of this, he did not accomplish anything. He said he
then went to a private doctor, one who takes care of Indian patients in the
city of Prince Rupert. He was advised by this doctor that as he had been
at Miller Bay and the General Hospital, there was nothing he could do for
him. Then the doctor heard the young infant groaning with its suffering. At
this point he did not examine the baby, but said to rush her to the hospital.
Fortunately, the baby lived. ]

The conditions which I have related are those with which we have to
contend. There is a definite lack of uniformity and, in many cases, some
doctors are not too favourably disposed towards Indian patients.
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I learned from Chief Modeste, in the Duncan area, that he was told that
aspirin was supposed to cure all the ills of the Indians. This creates a great
problem. It is a matter of life and death. These are matters that this com-
mittee must explore to its fullest extent and make recommendations to the
government which would be favourable to our Indians.

Although we form only about 1 per cent of the population of Canada,
we are the original citizens of Canada. We are coming to the point now
where we are definitely part of the economic structure of this country.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Thank you, Mr., Williams.

Tomorrow we will hear from the Manitoba Indian Brotherhood, and then
the Greater Winnipeg Welfare Council. The briefs have been forwarded to the
members of the committee, and if possible I would ask the members to bring
them tomorrow.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

THURSDAY, March 23, 1961
(7

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on Indian
Affairs met at 9.30 a.m. The Joint Chairman, Mr. Lucien Grenier, presided.

Present:
The Senate: Honourable Senators Dupuis, Fergusson, Inman, MacDonald
Smith (Kamloops), Stambaugh.—(6)

The House of Commons: Miss LaMarsh, and Messrs. Baldwin, Cadieu,
Charlton, Fane, Grenier, Henderson, Howard, Korchinski, Leduc, Martel,
Thomas, Wratten.—(13) :

In attendance: From the Manitoba Indian Brotherhood: Chief A. J. Cook,
President; and Chief Albert E. Thompson, Secretary. From the Department of
Citizenship and Immigration: Mr. H. M. Jones, Director of Indian Affairs, and
Mr. C. 1. Fairholm, Executive Assistant to the Director. From the Department
of National Health and Welfare: Dr. P. E. Moore, Director of Indian and
Northern Health Services.

Chiefs Cook and Thompson were called, and Chief Cook, after making an
introductory statement regarding treaty rights and the Indian Act, read the
brief of the Manitoba Indian Brotherhood.

The Committee considered the above-mentioned brief paragraph by para-
graph and Chiefs Cook and Thompson supplied additional information and were
questioned thereon.

Dr. Moore and Mr. Jones also supplied information on various related
matters.

At 11.35 a.m., the Committee adjourned until 3.30 p.m. this day.

AFTERNOON SITTING
(8)

The Committee resumed at 3.30 p.m., the Joint Chairman, Mr. Lucien
Grenier, presiding. :

Present: -
The Senate: Honourable Senators Fergusson, Inman, MacDonald.—(3)

The House of Commons: Miss LaMarsh, and Messrs. Baldwin, Charlton,
Fane, Grenier, Korchinski, Martel, McQuillan, Robinson, Small, Thomas.—(11)

In attendance: Same as at morning sitting with the exception of Dr. Moore
and with the addition of Rev. Father André Renaud, O.M.I,, on behalf of the
Greater Winnipeg Welfare Council, Indian and Metis Committee.

Agreed: That the brief of the Greater Winnipeg Welfare Council Indian
and Metis Committee be taken as read and included in this day’s evidence.
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!

Rev. Father Renaud, on behalf of the Greater Winnipeg Welfare Council,
summarized the above-mentioned brief dealing with community development
and education of Indians, and was questioned thereon.

The questioning being concluded, Rev. Father Renaud was permitted to
retire.

Chief Cook, of the Manitoba Indian Brotherhood, was recalled, and he made
a statement dealing with education on Indian Reserves and also made a refer-
ence to trap nets. !

At 5.25 p.m., the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

M. Slack,
Clerk of the Committee
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EVIDENCE

THURSDAY, March 23, 1961.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.
We have a quorum and we will start the meeting.

This morning we have, first, the Manitoba Indian Brotherhood represented
by Chief Cook, who is president, and Chief Albert E. Thompson, Who is secre-
tary. We will call Chief Cook and Chief Thompson. The Manitoba Indian
Brotherhood has a very short brief, and I will ask Chief Cook to read it to the
members of the committee first.

CHIEF ALFRED COOK (President of the Manitoba Indian Brotherhood) Mzr.
Chairman, distinguished and honourable ladies and gentlemen. I am very
pleased to be here, and I consider it a great opportunity to bring greetings on
behalf of myself, my colleague, Chief Thompson, and all the treaty Indians of
Manitoba.

I have a few matters which I would like to discuss before I go to this brief.
They regard our treaty promises and rights, and also the Indian Act which
I would like to bring up at this meeting. Another thing on which I would like
to speak is employment and relief. Those are the three things which I would
like to bring before this committee.

First of all I should like to speak of our treaty rights. We have three
treaties here. However, reading these Indian treaties, I see that everything
that is supposed to be in them is not in them. There are a lot of things omitted
which should be in these treaties. I should like to get a copy of the original
treaty which was signed by the Indians themselves. I know for a fact that they
did not know what they were signing, and I do not think they ever signed
this treaty.

However, there is another matter which I would like to speak of. You have
heard Indians get up and speak. I have heard them many times at conferences
and meetings they have had. They talk about the promises that were made
to exists as long as the river flows and the sun shines. I see that these Indian
treaties and promises have been broken since then. I have in mind No. 1 and
No. 2 treaties. They are practically the same. This is just a memorandum, a
parchment, but these are the promises that the Indians are always talking
about, and I will read them to you.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Will you tell the committee what
you are reading from?

CHIEF CoOK: I will be reading from treaty No. 5 between Her Majesty
the Queen and the Saulteaux and Swampy Cree tribes at Beren’s river. I will
just read part of it.

Senator STAMBAUGH: Is there a date?

CHIEF CoOOK: Yes, the date is twentieth day of September in the year
1875. T would like to read this most important point which I would like
discussed. I will not read the whole thing because it would take me too long.

On page 6 the third paragraph reads:

And further, that Her Majesty’s commissioners shall, as soon as
possible after the execution of this treaty, cause to be taken an accurate
census of all the Indians inhabiting the tract above described, distribut-
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_ing them in families, and shall in every year ensuing the. date thereof,
at some period in each year to be duly notified to thg Ix}dlans, and at a =
place or places to be appointed for that purpose within the territory
ceded, pay to each Indian person the sum of five dollars per head .
yearly. ' >

It is further agreed between Her Majesty and the said Indians that
the sum of five hundred dollars per annum shall be yearly and every
year expended by Her Majesty in the purchase of ammunition, and
twine for nets, for the use of the said Indians, in manner following, that
is to say: in the reasonable discretion as regards the distribution thereof
among the Indians inhabiting the several reserves or otherwise included
therein of Her Majesty’s Indian agent having the supervision of this
treaty. -

It is further agreed between Her Majesty and the said Indians that
the following articles shall be supplied to any band of the said Indians
who are now cultivating the soil, or who shall hereafter commence to
cultivate the land, that is to say: Two hoes for every family actually
cultivating; also one spade per family as foresaid; one plough for every
ten families as aforesaid; five harrows for every twenty families as afore-
said; one scythe for every family as aforesaid, and also one axe;—and
also one cross-cut saw, one hand-saw, one pit-saw, the necessary files,
one grindstone, and one auger for each band; and also for each chief,
for the use of his band, one chest of ordinary carpenter’s tools; also
for each band enough of wheat, barley, potatoes and oats to plant the
land actually broken up for cultivation by such band; also for each
band one yoke of oxen, one bull and four cows—all the aforesaid
articles to be given once for all for the encouragement of the practice
of agriculture among the Indians.

What I want to say is that you have heard of Indians saying: that is what
they mean by their promises. How many of these Indians today get these
articles? I myself have been trying, for the last six years, to get a set of tools,
and I cannot get them. I want them for the reserve.

Also in the brief here we have Indians asking for cattle to be given to them.
If they got these cattle, no doubt they would not ask for it. It was promised
in our treaty. These are the things that have been promised to us, and we are
not receiving them. That is why the Indians are always grumbling, as some
people say. I think we are entitled to what we were promised, and that is
the reason we do a lot of talking.

Another thing; some people say: you Indians are better off than the white
people. I cannot see that. We Indians have to pay the same tax as the white
man. We pay for all the taxable goods; anything that is taxable, we pay for.
Royalties are taken out of what we produce—we pay for that. An Indian off a
reserve making a livelihood has to pay income tax, he has to pay hospitalization.
What advantage do we have over the white man today? We are under two
different governments, we have to abide by two different laws—the federal
and provincial—and half the time we do not know where we are. One tells us
this, the other tells us another thing. So where are we? That is the thing that
I would like to bring up to this committee regarding these matters.

The point on cattle which I mentioned appears here in this brief, and the
matter of tools; those are two things I wish to speak about. We get the nets,
but the tools I have not seen since I have been chief. I have been on the
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Bloodvein reserve now almost 37 years. We have received one yoke of oxen
and two teams of horses in 37 years. Other bands bring up the same complaint.
This is the thing that I want to talk about to the government, and I hope they
will look into these promises, because they expect us to abide by our treaty
promises and we expect the same from them.

So much for that. I will now go into the question of the Indian Act. I do
not know where it was originated. This is what I call a law book; that is what
we are supposed to do and what we are not supposed to do. I will read two
of these sections, sections 32 and 33 on page 12 of the Indian Act:

Sale or barter of produce

32. (1) A transaction of any kind whereby a band or a member
thereof purports to sell, barter, exchange, give or otherwise dispose of
cattle or other animals, grain or hay, whether wild or cultivated, or
root crops or plants or their products from a reserve in Manitoba,
Saskatchewan or Alberta, to a person other than a member of that band,
is void unless the superintendent approves the transaction in writing.

(2) The minister may at any time by order exempt a band and the -
members thereof or any member thereof from the operation of this
section, and may revoke any such order.

33. Every person who enters into a transaction that is void under
subsection (1) of section 32 is guilty of an offence.

Now where does that put us? We cannot sell. You have heard of Indians
who have no cattle today. Why? Why should they raise cattle when they cannot
sell them when they want to? They will get more use from their cattle by eating
them. I have heard of a case in Winnipeg where a white man bought a heifer

_from an Indian. I do not know how much the heifer cost, but it was reported

to the superintendent. This man had bought the heifer and was fined $70, and
had to return it to its owner. Do we get a fair deal in these matters? What
encouragement do we get? Supposing I have to go 30 or 40 miles to see the
superintendent before I can sell the cattle, and in the meantime my family
is starving, and the superintendent says, no, I cannot sell the cattle, where am
I? This winter I spoke to one Indian and he said that he must have a different
act to mine because he can sell his cattle without a permit. I agreed with him
that he had a different act because in my act it says I cannot do so.

This is the most important point I want to say it again because you, ladies
and gentlemen, will know what laws we are under. I think we have our treaty,
and that should be sufficient without the Indian Act. Everything is written in
our Indian treaty, the promises and the agreements were signed, so we do not
need an Indian Act.

Another thing I want to say is that this Indian Act was formed without
my knowledge. First thing we know, we get a new law. When it is written
that this concerns Indian affairs I consider that those are my affairs, yet they
change this act whenever they please without my knowledge. I think we
Indians should be notified whether certain articles in this act should be
accepted or rejected. I am against articles which appear in here. I say that
we do not need this act as long as we have our treaty, rights and promises.
We will abide by our treaties if they also abide by their promises.

There is another thing we want to bring up, we Indians, and there are
130,000 of us in Canada. Why does the government not give us. the privilege
of voting our own member into parliament, the same as any other nationality?
Then we would not have to make these trips here every so often, talking our
heads off and perhaps getting nowhere. It would mean that we would have
a man here and that we could call upon him to talk for our rights. There
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are many Indians who would be well able to sit in the House of Commons
with the white man to talk for our rights. We need only one man. Our
treaty rights are the only things he would have to look into if he were in
the House of Commons. I think it would be reasonable that the government
should give us this privilege to vote our own man in to talk for us. That is one
thing I would like to see done. :

I do not know what the other Indians want in the other provinces.
The government would not pay my expenses to go to see what they want
in the other provinces. There should be an opportunity for all the leaders—
and I am one of them—to meet and discuss matters. It may be that they
are talking about different things from mine, and I do not know anything
about it. I do not see why the government should not pay our expenses
to do that. The government is paying for tuberculosis patients coming into this
country. Why cannot they look after their own people, if they can pay for
those patients? The government says that these things which are in the Indian
Act are there for the protection of the Indians. Very well, I take it that is
for my protection.

I received letters from Indians up north, from chiefs, stating that they
received a very small price for their furs. We are getting absolutely nothing
and the groceries that we buy are at an enormous price, and by the time we
have the food paid for the amount left is worthless. If the government is
looking after us for our benefit, I would not be here asking that these mat-
ters should be investigated. I made reports myself on my own reservation
and nothing was done about it. If the government would do this, we would
know that they are doing something for us.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): In regard to the matters which you

are talking about, are they mentioned in your brief? Is this section 32
mentioned? 8

Chief Cook: Yes, I think it is, but there are other matters of which I
wish to speak.

The JointT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I think it is on page 3. In order

to proceed in a more orderly manner, do you not think you should read the
brief to the committee first?

Chief Cook: There is another thing I want to talk about.

The Joint CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I do not want to restrict-you in
any way.

Chief Cook: It will be in here, anyway.

Thg .JO'INT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): You are talking about section 32,
and this is in your brief on page 3. Would you rather read the brief first and

the gt?er matters that are not included in the brief can be brought up after-
wards?

Chief Cook: Very well. This is the brief that was made out in Winnipeg
on Decgmber 8, 1959, when 32 delegates were present from various reserves
in Manitoba. The brief reads as follows:

' Many children attending day schools in the reserves are not supplied

with proper food by their parents due to unemployment. For this purpose we i
request that noon-day meals be made available to them. We recommend that
meals be made available to the school pupils, as above, and that the cost be
borne by the federal government.
. Many of the children attending school are in need of clothing, particularly
in the winter months, not merely for warmth, but to maintain a feeling of
self—respec_t. All this is due to parents being unemployed. We recommend that
such clothing be provided and paid for by the federal government.
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Suitable homes are needed by many of our aged people. The pension given
them does not warrant them enough income to buy homes, and some help
should be given them. We recommend that the federal government take what-
ever steps are necessary to provide homes for the aged.

With the rapid increase of the Indian population in Canada, the areas
of land in reserves no longer provide sufficient employment for our people.
We recommend that action be taken by the government to find work for our
people at general wage rates according to line of work they can handle.

The central and southern Manitoba Indians do a great deal of grain

- farming, and those in central Manitoba, mixed farming. We recommend that

they get enough assistance from the Government to buy seed grain where seed
warrant them, and to those in mixed farming enough breeding stock so that
they can increase livestock more rapidly. The Northern Indians should get
help buying more nets and trapping equipment, as this is the only source of
livelihood they are depending on.

All the chiefs and councillors in the reserves do a great deal of extra work
in their official duties which prevent them from earning full pay for them-
selves, thus leaving them no extra money for their livelihood. We, therefore,
recommend that adequate monthly payments be provided for them in order
that they can fulfill their duties.

The cost of living has risen steadily since the last war, and our veterans
with a small allowance are facing hardship due to the high cost of living,
and their cases should be investigated and their allowance increased.

We have almost in every reserve a few working for the Department of
Indian Affairs in offices, hospitals, schools, etc. When employed we presume
they are paying for unemployment insurance. When laid off work we request
that they be paid the insurance benefits.

The chief of Norway House, reports that inadequate relief is given to
his members, and requests that the full scale of relief be given them. The
doctor at Norway House denies patients admittance to hospital, and in some
cases they die the next day at their respective homes. He requests an immediate
investigation of such cases.

Pensions should be given to treaty Indians when reaching their 60th
birthday because an Indian is not strong enough to work a full day after
reaching that age due to his hardship at his younger days.

All chiefs and council should be given a preference in R. C. M. Police
courts to speak for their people when in trial as it is their duty to do so.

When any of the band council negotiate or requisition from their band
funds for cattle, machinery, etc., we presume that the federal welfare should
assist in paying the cost at the same rate as the band council is requesting
in their requisition.

In some reserves chief and council do not get their official uniform,
we urgently request that uniforms be issued every three years. We also recom-
mend that chief and council be kept in his capacity as chief or councillor for
a three or four year term instead of the present two year system.

The word “surrender” in the revised act should be out of order, the Indians
of Canada never fought the government before a treaty was made with them,
they made treaty with the crown with good will, therefore the word “sur-
render” should not be used.

In some reserves cheques are issued instead of cash at annuity payments.
We recommend that cash be paid from hereon.

We have one very important matter to bring to your attention and that
is the Sioux Indians in Canada. Those people are Indians and human beings
the same as we are and were loyal at the British crown at both 1st and 2nd
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Great Wars, also at Korea. They fought for a human cause and should be giVern‘ )
consideration due them. We strongly recommend that treaty moneys be paid :

to them annually.

The Shoal River Indian Band request that a saw mill be given them, in

this way they would be able to manufacture most of their building material.

Disabled Indians should be given the same assistance as those receiving
old age security, regardless of age. This matter should be investigated.

We request that transportation be granted to all Indians going to hospitals
and they should be given the same fare when discharged from the institutions
in which they were treated.

Section 94 should be brought to discussion and explained more clearly so
that we can all understand its meaning, as worded in the revised act.

We are informed of a party at Sandy Bay reserve who was given a home
and lived there for a certain time. He later failed to pay for hydro used at his
home due to his being unemployed and was evicted. This case sounds unjust
and should be investigated.

With reference to section 12, we would recommend that Subsection (1)
(a) apply to all children born effective from the coming into force of the
new revised Act of 1951.

With regard to section 32 (1). This section of the act is extremely pater-
nalistic and discriminates against one segment of the Canadian Indian popula-
tion and we would recommend that this section be deleted from the Act.

With regard to section 88, we would recommend that where a band mem-
ber so wished his personal moveable property could be mortgaged. In this
way, we feel that a new source of credit will become available to Indians
living on reserves pay allowing them to provide more collateral. .

With regard to section 92 (a) (i) and (ii), we would recommend that the
council of a band be given the power to dispose of all materials listed in this
section with the exception of minerals. This power could be given to the band
councils on the understanding that the materials to be removed should be paid
for at the same rate as is paid in the surrounding off reserve districts.

With regard to section 112 (c¢), it is our considered opinion that the min-
ister should not have the power to enfranchise a band of Indians unless or
until a majority vote of the band is in favour.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Now we will let members of the
committee ask any questions, starting at page 1 of the brief, on the first rec-
ommendation.

Mr. MarTEL: Do you have any residential schools on your reserves?
Chief Cook: No, we have not.

Mr. MarTeL: That is why the children have to travel back and forth and
want to get these meals.

- The Joint CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Now, taking the next recommenda-
tion, on clothing.

Senator MacDownaLp: This states here that the clothing is not merely fdr
warrpt.h b‘ut for. self-respect. This suggestion makes a difference between
requiring it for warmth and requiring it for self-respect.

Chief 'Cooxz I should think that the words self-respect should not have
been pu‘t in there, because it is mostly warmth that is required. There are
some chll_dren who have to walk a mile to school during the winter months,
and that is a long way for a six-year old or seven-year old child to go poorly
clad. That is the biggest problem we have, getting warm clothes for the chil-
dren, as the people cannot afford to buy them. The reference to self—i‘espect
probably refers to high schools. Some of them are now attending high schools
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amongst white children and the parents cannot afford to dress them the same
as the other children. I guess that is what this means. At least that is what I
understand it to mean.

Mr. CapiEUu: Regarding the paragraph about houses, are there no houses
built on your reserve at the present time. Each year, are not so many houses
being built, with assistance from the government?

Chief Cook: Yes, there are houses built every year. Last year two houses
were built, that is for the able bodied, the younger generation. This refers to
old age people and says that suitable homes are needed for many aged people.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): In this program are they not giving
preference to young couples with families?

Chief Cook: They are, yes.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Do you know of any cases where a
suitable home was refused to an aged couple?

Chief Cook: No. Mr. Thompson might have more information about that
than I have. We have not got very many. We have the one old person now
who is receiving a pension. There was a home built for a widow. I cannot speak
about this but there are other reserves which have complained. I do not know
whether they were refused or not. Do you know anything about it, Mr.
Thompson? :

Chief A. E. THOMPSON (Secretary, Manitoba Indian Brotherhood, Dallas,
Manitoba): Yes.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): This is just on the question of homes
for the aged. If we want you, Mr. Thompson, to give evidence on other points,
we will have questions.

Chief THoMPsON: Honourable members of the Senate and of the House of

‘Commons on the joint committee on Indian affairs, I must give you a little of

my background to introduce more of myself. My background will date back
to 1802. I am a great, great grandson of Chief Peguis, the man who defended
the early Scots settlers during the massacre of 1816. He defended them and
looked after them and supported them, thinking that his children in the future
would be treated in the same way by the white man. He signed the Lord
Selkirk treaty in 1817. In 1820 he invited the Anglican church to come into
his settlement to teach his people the principles of the Christian faith. In 1860
he passed away and his son, Henry Prince, my great grandfather, became his
successor. In 1871 when the transfer took place—we call it the transfer, from
the Lord Selkirk treaty to the Queen Victoria treaty—his son stayed on
as chief until the death of my great grandfather in 1903. My grandfather, the
Reverend W. H. Prince, became chief, the son of Red Eagle or Henry Prince.
From there on we have worked up with the old people. We were kids
then. We grew up and now today I am the chief. I was elected just the other
day, last Monday, from a councillor to a chief. I am here to represent the In-
dians of Manitoba and I will do the best I can to explain matters and the
complaints pertaining to the Indians of Manitoba. We are trying to do it
honestly and fairly. We are not here to put up a fight but we are here to dis-
cuss matters in a manly way. Therefore, as far as homes are concerned, I feel
very sorry when I enter the old folks homes. I see how poorly these homes are.
Our people are unable to build homes for themselves. The young people do not
assist them as they are unable to do so since they are unemployed. Even so,
they have large families to support and cannot give the old people help in the
way of building new homes for them. The government should come to the
rescue and provide some homes for the old people in the province of Manitoba.
Our band funds are almost used up on homes in my reserve at Peguis.
The department does not want us to use any more of this money on building
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materials because our funds are too small. We have only $28,809.52 in capital
left. We have a revenue of $310.49 in our present band funds. As regards
schools, in our agency there are 18 day schools and one junior high school. At
Fairford day school there are 94 attending; at Fisher river school there are 92;
at Jackhead there are 51; at Lake Manitoba number 1 there are 55 pupils;
at Lake St. Martin there are 108; and at Little Saskatchewan there are 64.
There are a total of 956 pupils attending.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The committee would not like to
restrict you, but we want to proceed according to the recommendations of the
brief. We have asked you here to give your evidence just on the question of
homes. Now we will ask the committee to proceed on the other matters.

CHIEF THOMPSON: Very well.

Mr. Capieu: I would like to ask whether the Indian population is barred
from attending the provincial senior citizens’ institutions in any province? Is
the Indian population barred from attending the senior citizens’ institutions
for the aged in the province?

Chief THoMmPsoN: No, they are not, but those homes are overcrowded and
it is very hard to get the Indians into those homes.

Mr. CapiEU: But they are not barred?
Chief THOMPSON: They are overcrowded.

Mr. Capieu: In my constituency they are not overcrowded. I have seen
those institutions with additional rocom, and I was wondering if the Indlans
were refused admission to these senior citizens’ homes?

Chief Cooxk: Are you suggesting that these old folks should be put amongst
the whites?

Mr. Capieu: Not unless they are willing—when they are destitute.
Chief Cook: Those old folks would be lost among the whites.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: May I carry that on? Are you in favour of keeping them
confined on reserves?

Chief Cook: Yes, the aged. I think the government should build a home
for aged Indians as they do for the whites. As Mr. Thompson said, some of
the department officials say: why do not the young people keep them? The
young people are on relief today; how can they look after their parents when
a lot of them are themselves asking for relief?

Mr. KoRCHINSKI: It seems to me that if you are going to build these
homes for the aged on the reserves, you are going to continue to segregate
the Indian population from the white. If you are going to maintain these
homes, you will continue this indefinitely. Is that what you want?

Chief Cooxk: For the aged, yes, because we know that when a person gets
to that age he wants to stay where he or she was born and raised, and he
wants to die there.

Mr. KORCHINSKI: Let us carry it further, let us take a middle-aged Indian

who has gone out and left the reserve. When he gets older, does he go back
to the reserve?

Chief Cook: That will be up to him. The majority do not want to leave
the reserve.

Mr. Capieu: Do you not think, Chief Cook, that it would be very hard
to administer these homes on the reserves, as the population would not be
large enough? We are having trouble now to finance, operate and staff senior

citizens’ homes, and if we segregate the population it would be that much
more difficult.
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Chief Cook: I would suggest here that it does not have to be a big build-
ing with a dozen or more rooms. You could house those aged people in an
ordinary house with five or six rooms and have one person look after them.

Senator Dupuls: Mr. Chairman, may I ask the chief if the Indians are
allowed to go into the aged homes with the white people when they have no
money? Are they allowed to go into the white people’s homes for senior
citizens?

Chief Cook: Do you mean from the band or from the department? Whom
are you referring to?

Senator Dupuls: From the band.

Chief Cook: But they do not want to go. They have the privilege to go,
but they do not want to leave their grandchildren. They want to say with
them.

Mr. HENDERSON: You cannot blame them; it is only natural.
The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Any other suggestions?

Mr. KORCHINSKI: My question is on the fifth paragraph, the one dealing
with mixed farming. You state in this paragraph that you think the govern-
ment should give more assistance to buying seed grain where it is warranted
and, where they carry on mixed farming, enough breeding stock to build up
a herd. Earlier this morning you mentioned that the Indian does not care to
build up these herds; he would rather eat them because he thinks he would
get more benefit this way. How do you build up the herd?

Chief Cook: This section in the act should be taken out. I said that at
one time the Indians had cattle, but when they had to get permission to sell
them, they could not very well go all the distance for the permission to sell
them. So they started eating the cattle. If that is taken out, it would be much
better.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: My information would lead me to believe that in many
cases a lot of these cattle were sold unnecessarily. I am sure you must be
aware of cases where Indians have been known to make deals on a whole
herd for $75, or whatever they required at the moment. Because of that,
it was for the protection of the Indian and his family that this particular
section of the act was put in.

Chief Cook: I have never read that part of it.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: I have actually seen that type of thing happen.

Chief THOoMPSON: That is the permit system. I was on the council when
this permit system was done away with. We have no permit system on
our reserves and, at Fisher river as well, everything has gone smoothly. The
people know how to handle this. They do not sell their cattle every day.
They only sell the animals that are too old. They can sell the cows and steers
any time when they are three years old, and that would make a profitable
bargain. So, therefore, we were allowed to discontinue the permit system
on our reserve. This has been going on for five or six years, and everything
is going very well. On the other reserves, however, they are still using the
permit system.

Chief Cook: I cannot understand why some reserves get this benefit
and others do not, why one reserve is allowed to break this law and the
other has to abide by it.

Mr. KorRcHINSKI: Can we ask Colonel Jones to say something?

Mr. JONES: There are two bands in western Canada that have applied
for exemption from section 32, and the minister approved it in both cases.
The bands have applied to be exempted from this provision of section 32,
the Peguis and Fisher river bands.
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Miss LAMARsH: May I refer to the treaty which the chief read? He was
specific about the number of implements to be given to the band. Has that
been abrogated by the Indian Act to the point that the Indians are no longer

entitled to get them?

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I believe Colonel Jones could answer
this question.

Mr. Jones: I think the way the treaty is worded, certain implements
and cattle could be given the Indians immediately, and that would be for all
time. I do not think that you can now compare the small cost mentioned

in the treaty of 1875 and the amount of money spent by the government -

for the general welfare of the Indians. There are provisions for lending
money for cattle or, in some cases, giving the cattle outright. In other cases
the parent stock is passed along to help the Indians who really want to farm.
Our present administration is not geared to consider the terms of the original
treaty where these items were all spelled out. Does that answer your question,
Miss LaMarsh?

Miss LaAMARsH: Yes, thank you.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions on recom-
mendation No. 6?

Mr. Howarp: Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask Chief Cook if he has

any idea as to the amount of money that might be provided on a monthly or
annual basis for their duties and functions as councillors?

Chief Coox: About two years ago we presented a brief here, but ap-
parently that brief was disqualified, it was not in order. At that time we
suggested that a chief should get at least $300 paid annually. After all, a
chief has a big responsibility on the reserve. He has to look after the welfare
in general. He is a law officer, but at the present time he only gets $20. In
our treaty it says $25, but they took the $5 out. I think it would be a very

small wage for a chief to live on for the work he does. After all, the chief

has a big responsibility. In our last brief we asked for $300 a year. Twénty
dollars a year would not feed him.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: Could I ask you whether you would agree that perhaps
a chief should be paid according to the number of meetings that are held on
the reserve, or something of that nature, similar to what we have in our
municipal councils?

Chief Cook: That would be hard for some men. Some men do not have
meetings very often. I myself, for instance, have no reason to have meetings
too often because the band is small and whatever I tell them they go along
with, without having a- meeting.

Mr. Howarp: Do I understand you, chief, to say that some councillors
have been receiving $25 and it was reduced to $20?

Chief Cook: It was in the Indian treaty, but we never saw that. In
the No. 5 treaty we were promised $25, but we get $25 including our treaty
money. This $25 included the treaty money.

Mr. BaLowin: Could you tell us, chief, about how many days in each
year, from your own experience, are devoted exclusively to your work and
your duties as a chief?

Chief Cook: 365, and 366 in the leap year.

Chief THOoMPSON: What we are asking for is that a wage rate be allowed
to the Indian chief and councillors. In our band we were told to take this
money from the band if we want to increase the wages of the chief and
councillors. We have to have a meeting once in a while and we have a
great deal of work. I do not think any of you gentlemen would work for
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$20 a year. We have just as much responsibility on our reserve as any
official who does his duty. I think the wage rates to the chiefs and councillors
should be increased. )

Chief Cook: $300 is not asking too much. How many gentlemen here
would work for $300 a year; put up your hands.

Mr. Capieu: What is the population on your reserve?

Chief Cook: 180.

Mr. Capieu: Does that include everybody?

Chief Coox: Yes. _

Chief THoMPSON: My population is 1,529.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions on rec-
ommendation No. 77

Mr. MARTEL: Was the allowance for veterans increased? Does that apply
to Indian veterans as well?

Chief Cook: If that is so, I have not got my increase.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Was this written before?

Chief Cook: I cannot say anything in regard to the veterans allowances
because I get my full benefit, $120 a month, and I also get $10 for each of
my children who go to the school in Winnipeg. This makes my cheque $140.
I cannot complain about that.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are you aware of the last increase?

Chief Cook: I am not.

Mr. HENDERSON: What regiment were you with?

Chief Coox: In the fighting fifth, have you heard of them?

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Is there any question on No. 8?

Mr. HowArp: Chief Cook, in the last paragraph here it says:

We have almost in every reserve a few working for the department
of Indian affairs in offices, hospitals, schools and so on.

Are you referring to a few Indians?

Chief Cook: Yes, Mr. Thompson will answer that question. We have
not got anyone on Indian affairs in my reserve, so I will leave it to him.

Chief THomPsoN: We have a few working in the hospitals, we have some
stenographers and some teachers.

Mr. HowARrD: These are Indian people?

Chief THOMPSON: Those are all treaty Indians. When those people who
are working in the hospitals are laid off, they should be given preference and
should receive benefits from the unemployment insurance commission. This
is what we refer to here. We would like to see this reviewed and investigated
thoroughly so that each employee who is laid off gets the benefit when
unemployed.

Mr. HowaRrD: I only asked whether or not you were referring to Indians
in order to ask another follow-up question.

Chief Cook: Yes, this refers to treaty Indians..

: Mr. HowARrD: I have heard a number of suggestions, and I think it exists
in some cases, that an attitude of discrimination exists against the Indian
people, even though they were working in the Indian affairs branch. Have
you experienced this sort of thing? Do you feel that this exists?

Chief THoMPsON: There is no diserimination. As far as our Indian people

are concerned, they get along well with the white people because segregation
works well in that part. In fact, we were born and raised with white people

5
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on our reserve. Our people lived with the white people for over 150 years.
We know how to get along with the white people. There are a lot of reserves
where they do not see many white people. The difference is there. Many of
them did not get along well with the white people, but later everything was
better. <

Chief Cook: I have no complaints about the Indians not getting along
with the white people.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I think Mr. Howard was talking
about discrimination in this affair of the unemployment benefits.

Mr. Howagrp: No, Mr. Chairman, I was not talking about the possibility of
discrimination by white people, with whomever they associated; but do you
feel that an Indian working in the Indian affairs branch has equality and the
same opportunity as the non-Indians within the Indian affairs branch?

Chief Cook: I cannot answer this question because I never had contact
with any Indian who was working in the Indian affairs branch.

Chief THoMPsON: We have a few working for the Indian affairs branch.

Chief Cook: I know of other Indians working in other employment who
get along very well with the white people.

Mr. Capieu: The way this paragraph is framed here, it would appear
that Indians being employed by the department of Indian affairs are not
receiving income tax deductions, whereby they are qualified for unemploy-
ment insurance when unemployed. Is that the case?

Chief THOMPSON: I think some get an allowance.

Mr. Capieu: I am not speaking of the allowance. The question is, are they
paid proper deductions? I would like Mr. Jones to answer this. I have quite a
number of Indian people employed in the Indian affairs branch and also in
hospitals and schools, and I was under the impression that they paid deductions
for unemployment insurance the same as to any other individual, and that
they received benefits if they were unemployed.

Chief THOoMPsoON: Not on our reserve.

Mr. JonEs: With the exception of hospitals, which I cannot speak of, the
Indians, if they are employed and insurable, pay their premiums and are
eligible for unemployment insurance. There is no discrimination. An Indian
is eligible just the same as anyone else.

Mr. KorcHinskI: Could you cite cases which might explain this?

Chief THoMmPsoN: I will refer to other employment. There was a man on
our reserve who applied for benefits and he had every reason to expect benefits
when he sent in his application, but just because he went to work for a little
while, the commission turned him down.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: But he was not turned down specifically because he was
an Indian?

Chief THoMPsoN: The same as a white man. He had a good reason.

Mr. Howarp: I do not want to stop you, but there are a number of con-
versations down here at the table which make it difficult for me to hear.

: Chief THomPpsoN: I brought this case along with me so that someone will
investigate it and give that poor man his benefits.

Mr. KorcHinskI: This is one particular case which the Department of
Labour should take up, but I do not think this applies generally.

Chief Cook: No. On this matter of insurance benefits on my reserve and
on many other reserves, the man who has sufficient stamps will have no
trouble, whether he is an Indian or not.
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Miss LaMarsH: The first paragraph on page 2 is rather shocking. One
part of it refers to the doctors, denying patients admittance; and the second
part refers to people having died from the lack of treatment. I wonder if
Chief Cook has documentation on this, on what he alleges—to support this
allegation. . »

Chief Cook: Did you get a report from the chief at Norway House on this,
Mr. Thompson?

Chief THOMPSON: No.

Chief Cook: No, we have not anything at the present time. The inform-
ation was used at the conference. We took what was said there, and spoke
on it.

Senator Dupuis: How can the chief explain that paragraph?

Chief Cook: I will speak on the matter of relief. We get relief. Very well,
but the relief we get is inadequate. That is true enough. Take the question
up north where the cost of living is very high. When a man is allowed $22
a month to live on and a woman is allowed $18 a month, any gentleman
in this house could go out there and try to live on that amount and I feel he
would come back within a few months with his cheekbones sticking out
farther than mine are.

Senator Duruis: We are not talking about how much money he needs, but
we want to know if he can substantiate the facts when he says that a doctor
refused to receive an Indian at the hospital.

Chief Cook: According to this chief’s reports—I am quoting what he said
and it has been quoted in this brief.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Did you have any specific cases?

Chief Cook: No; there is no written proof on that. It is just my word. We
did not think we would have to have that here. There are doctors all right,
of course, I can say that myself. I will give an example. I heard here that the
Department of Health and Welfare was running short of funds, not long
ago, in one of these sessions. Very well, we have a doctor who is flying out
there. In fact, I got after the doctor and I spoke to him and spoke not very
kindly. It was reported to me by the chief at Beren’s river, Stan La Ross,
that he wanted to see this doctor, the doctor we have at the present time.
The doctor asked him to come down to the plane, but the chief did not go
down. The chief did not see why he had to walk down to see the doctor,
when the doctor was being paid by the government. He thought the doctor
should go to see the patient. He came along to my reserve and he was in the
plane. He said he was the doctor and I asked him what he was doing there
and why he did not go to see the patients. He said he did not have to go.
I said “You call yourself a doctor?”. He said he was not paid by me. I said
I knew that he was not paid by me, but he was paid by the Indian department
to look after the Indians. We got into it hot, and it was not long after that
he came along.

My wife wanted to see him. We have one little girl there about eleven
years old and she wanted to have a tooth out. He asked my little girl to come
down to the plane and he would pull the tooth out.

Senator Dupuis: Did you complain to the department of Indian affairs
about that? ;

Chief Cooxk: I did. That is my first complaint, just now. I am coming with
the complaint. We had another case of a man who was flown in twice. He was
taken to a Pine Falls hospital; they kept him and sent him to a private home.
That same man was not back a week when he had the very same sickness
again. The welfare teacher we have there—Mr. Jones will know who I am

referring to, I will not mention any name but Mr. Jones will know—wrote to
24851-8—2
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the doctor and sent word in. They sent word out that the plane would be back
on Saturday or Sunday. That man was still there when I left. I took that very
same man to the General hospital with two policemen. I did not want to go with
them but it just happened that way. This man is not an epileptic but I think it
was something similar. The doctor says he has something which affects his
brain, and that he needs attention. They took him to the General hospital in
Winnipeg. I happened to hear mention of it and I said I was going to the Indian
office in Winnipeg. He said he would come with me. He came along and we
went to the Indian office to see—not Mr. Leslie, but the man there before him;
Mr. Jones will know to whom I am referring—the man before Mr. Leslie. We
walked out of there. Just as we came down the stairs we met two policemen.
One asked was he Oliver Fisher and then said: You are the man we are look-
ing for. I said I happen to be his chief. He said the man would have to come
along, that this man got out of hospital, that he had beat it from the hospital.
They took him back. The doctor said to me that he had that man there and that
they could do something for him. The doctor told me that if that man got the
same thing again we were to bring him back and that they would try and fix him
up. They said they would give whatever help they could, but they never took
him back. And that same man is out there today. Perhaps some chief at Norway
House has the same complaint as I have.
Chief THOMPSON: We have the same complaints.

Mr. Capreu: The first paragraph on page 2 says that the chief of Norway
House reports that inadequate relief is given to his members and requests that
the full scale of relief be given to them. Does the witness think it would be fair
that relief should be paid equally to every family, regardless of what income
they may have? I think the statement made here is an unfair one. I have visited
a lot of reserves and I have visited some places where some help may be needed,
even a small amount. Does the witness think that every individual member
should be paid the same amount of relief?

Chief Cooxk: I have stated the relief which is given to the people, especially
in the north where the cost of living is high. A man is allowed $22 a month
relief. Now take the women,—and I know that some women are far greedier
than men, and they get only $18 a month. The ladies will excuse me. I am not
meaning to insult anybody, but I speak of this especially in the north where
there is a high cost of living. .

The Joint CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The question Mr. Cadieu put was
whether you think that all Indians should receive the same relief.

Chief Cook: An equal amount.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): No matter what other income they
have?

Chief Cook: Yes. That would raise the relief or the rations or whatever
they call it.

Mr. Capieu: On the second question, I think this is very unfair and
should be more substantiated. I had cases where I found it my duty to inves-
tigate complaints. These complaints came that women had been turned away
from the hospital by the matron, where there was not a doctor at this place,
and where someone was expecting a child and the baby was born out of
the hospital a few days later. I went into the case. I went to the matron
and inquired, and she told me that so many of the expectant Indian mothers
would like to get into hospital so far ahead of time that they did not have
available space for them. The last part of this states that men died. I think
there should be some substantiation of statements like that, so that we could
follow them up. Some specific case should be given. We would like very
much to know if this kind of thing is happening. It is unfair that these
statements should be made here without being substantiated.
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Senator INmAN: How far is the hoépital from this reservation? Is it on
the reservation? :

Chief Cook: It is away from the reservation and they have to go across
a lake.

Senator INmaN: How far?

Chief Cooxk: It is all of two miles, and you have to go by motor to get
there. It is not on the reservation at all. If it is an Indian hospital, it should
not have been built away from the reservation. They have the same at Little
Grand Rapids. As it is, one has to cross the lake. It is about two miles across
the lake. What are people to do in the spring of the year when the lake
would break up, or at freezing time? :

Mr. BALDWIN: All this is based on a report of December, 1959, a year
and four months ago. Some of these complaints relate to Norway House. I
wonder if the chief of Norway House might be invited by Chief Cook to
write to us and we can see if there are any complaints. Then, later on we
may have the officials here of the department of Indian affairs.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Perhaps we could hear Dr. Moore.

Dr. Moore: I have not heard a case such as this. I will certainly inves-
tigate it and will send a telegram this afternoon to get the information.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): It was never brought to your notice?

Dr. Moore: It was not brought to my notice. I will send a telegram this
afternoon and find out the details. This is supposed to have happened prior
to 1959.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Do you know in what area it hap-
pened, or the name of the person?

Chief Cook: No, I have no name. That was reported to us on the date
of this brief, December, 1959. It would be in October. This brief was made
out in December. Yes, that was the day we had the meeting, December 8.
It was reported to us at the meeting, when we had a meeting of all the
chiefs. We were sent back to get all particulars, and that we have done. These
are some of the complaints. We have just quoted what they said.

Miss LAMARsH: I am intrigued by the paragraph referring to uniforms.
Does every chief on every reserve get a uniform?

Chief Cook: We are passing some of the paragraphs. We will come to
that later on. The next should be pensions.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Miss LaMarsh is asking a question
about uniforms—does every chief on every reserve get a uniform, every three
years?

Chief Cook: As far as I know, yes. I know I receive mine, but I do
not know about all of them. I do not know if all of them get uniforms. I
was asked if I wanted a uniform or a business suit. This year I got a busi-
ness suit. I think some chiefs never received a uniform, according to these
reports we got in.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Do you know of any practical cases
where chiefs did not receive their uniforms?

Chief Cook: Yes, the case of Shoal river reserve. I never received my
uniform, of course.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): What is the name of that chief?

Chief Cook: They might have changed, they might have had an election

since then, they might have a different chief. If so, that chief probably is

replaced by another one. That is why we are so behind with these briefs. They

should have been presented last year during the session. I do not know what

the holdup was. The briefs were supposed to be in when we had the session.
24851-8—23%
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Mr. HENDERSON: I am pretty positive that the Indians in the Cariboo,
where I am, do not get uniforms. I was out there and saw the chief and he wore
only a sweat shirt and a pair of pants.

Chief Cook: There are many complaints about not getting uniforms.

Mr. WRATTEN: Perhaps Mr. Jones could tell us.

Mr. Jones: I would like to set the record straight on this. Uniforms are
supplied to chiefs and councillors in Canada, where it is prescribed by treaty.
That is the only place. They used to be provided with uniforms, and then at the
request of a lot of the chiefs and councillors a business suit was supplied in lieu
of uniforms—but this is only in the treaty areas.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: That is in addition to the $207?

Mr. BaLowin: The chief says in his brief that all chiefs and council should
be given a preference in R.C.M.P. courts to speak for their people. Possibly he
may not know it, but under the Criminal Code, in the case of summary convic-
tions and summary trials, anyone accused has the right to be represented not
only by counsel, but by an agent. Therefore, at any time any of their people are
in a police court on a charge, the chief has the right, under the Criminal Code,
to speak as their agent.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Do you know of any cases where this
was denied?

Chief Cook: I know a case, myself. Three years ago I had a case. My boys
were not getting a fair trial so I got up and asked if I could talk on that.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): What kind of a case was it?

Chief Cooxk: It was a drinking case. It was only a little trouble over drink.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Do you know what the charge was
against them?

Chief Cook: Drunk and disorderly. The point was that the men who
reported this case were doing the same thing themselves, but those men were
on the good side of the law, while the other fellow was getting it. I got up and
I said to the R.C.M.P. and to the police magistrate, who is a welfare teacher as
well, “Can I speak?”. He told me I could not, that it was a court case, so I sat
down. Then the band had to collect $70 the next day and I went to see a lawyer
in Winnipeg and the lawyer told me that the next time that I saw one of the
men not getting a fair frial I was to get up and speak for him, and that I could
say I was told by a lawyer to do so.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Did you report that case to the
department?

Chief Cook: What is the good of that? I report many cases to the depart-
ment and they laugh it off. I have reported many cases.

Senator Dupuls: Were you a witness in your son’s case? (

Cuier Cook: It was not my son at all.

Senator Dupuis: The accused?

CHIEF CooK: I was not a witness. I was just a spectator. But I did not
know any better then. '

Senator DupuIs: You did not know anything at all about the facts?
CHier Cook: No.
The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): You were his chief.

Cuier Cook: I was his chief, and I was refused. Since then I have taken
this up with the police marshal and I have told him out straight, “No more
of that.” That is two years ago, and we never had a court case since. Before
that court case there were often other cases.
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CHIEF THOMPSON: I know of a case which happened a month ago. The
J. P. entered the house of one of the councillors and threw him out of the
house situated on the reserve. He told him to get on the highway and go back
to where he came from. We were going to sue him, but the magistrate got
cold feet and never did anything, and called off the case. There are many
things like that.

Cuier Cook: It is set out in the old act, and that is why I am against
changes in the act from year to year. It says in the old act that there are four
or five things, to the best of my memory, for which a policeman can go on a
reserve and make an arrest. Outside of that, he has to get permission from the
chief. I do not see that in the new act. I suppose that was too much, that
we should be able to stop the police.

CHiEF THoMPSON: There are three matters—murder, rape, theft. Those are
cases where the chief in council cannot stop a policeman entering to make an
arrest.

CHier Cook: Now it seems that they can come in and make any kind of
an arrest.

Mr. HowArDp: Would Chief Cook explain what is meant by this particular
item, as I did not get the intent of it. It is paragraph 4, on page 2. It says:

When any of the band council negotiate or requisition from the
band funds for cattle, machinery, etc., we presume that the federal

welfare should assist in paying the cost at the same rate as the band
council is requesting their requisition.

CHier THOMPSON: We had many of these. We asked the department to
help us in bying livestock for our members. We wished the department to
help us on that, as we have very interested farmers on the reserve and they
would like to get ahead and do some farming—mixed farming, grain and
livestock—so we have a few of them going right ahead with it. We are getting
that assistance in our reserve, and I am asking that more help be given to us
because the men are doing well now who are on that plan of assistance they
are getting from the department.

Mr. Howagrp; Could I put it this way, to see if it is correct? If band funds
provide $100, then you ask the Indian affairs branch to provide $100 also?

CHIEF THOMPSON: Yes.

Mr. Howarp: You want 50-50 participation?

CHIEF THOMPSON: Yes.

Senator Dupuis: Are there many farmers on your reserves?
CHIEF THOMPSON: Very few.

Chief Cook: Not all reserves are suitable for agriculture.

Senator Dupuis: The majority of Indian farming is good farming?

Chief THOMPSON: Oh, yes. My statement has been verified. This is at
Fisher river, but the Peguis are bigger farmers.

Senator Dupuls: Is any white man allowed to go on the reserve?

Chief THOMPSON: Under our location system, we could rent land to a
white man on a one-third crop basis; he keeps two-thirds.

Senator Dupuis: In your reserve, how many white farmers are there?

Chief THOMPSON: I could not give you the figure but there are a few using
reserve land.

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): May I have your attention, gentle-
men? This morning we have also called the greater Winnipeg welfare council.
I do not think we will be able to hear the greater Winnipeg welfare council
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before 12 o’clock. Would it be agreeable to the committee to sit this aﬂ:.erqoon
at 3.30? We have Father Renaud to present a brief for the greater Winnipeg
welfare council. Is it agreeable to the committee?

Agreed.

We will carry on to No. 5. Five was covered by the question by Miss
LaMarsh. No. 6?

Senator MacDoNALD: Mr. Chairman, I think No. 6 reads that in some
reserves cheques are issued instead of cash. We recommend that cash be paid.
I take it that those are government cheques. Why should you have that
paragraph there, because a government cheque is negotiable anywhere. What
is the difficulty?

Chief Cook: As far as I know, I cannot answer this question because as
long as I have been living on my reserve I have never received a cheque for
treaty money payment. I have received government cheques for other em-
ployment, such as different kinds of labour and work like that. As far as the
treaty is concerned, I was never given a government cheque.

Mr. KORCHINSKI: You personally have not experienced difficulties with
these cheques?

Chief Cook: They are just as good as gold.

Chief THOMPsON: It was tried in my reserve, I forget what year, when
.cheques were issued instead of treaty money. That did not work out right
because when they looked over the census on the reserve, there were some
children born a month before the treaty payments. Those children were left
out until the following year and they were only given $5 the following year.

They did not get the $5 they should have received for the new-born children. .
Mr. KorcHINSKI: The fact that they were issued cheques, indicated that -

they had a record. Otherwise, you would have difficulty in keeping a record.

Chief THoMPSON: But the cheques left out one payment. They did not
get the $5 for that year.

Mr. KORCHINSKI: You are not answering my question.

Chief Cook: The child was born a month before the treaty payment, and
he is entitled to the treaty money that year.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: When you have a cheque issued, it is on record.

Chief Cook: I do not know when the cheque is made out until the people
are there to collect it.

Chief THoMmPsON: I will say my wife and I, we each get $5, and $5 for ;

each of our children. We were all paid that money. We get $20 for the family.
However, a child born a month before the payment, is left out and does not
get the money. The following year he only gets $5 instead of getting the $5 for
the previous year.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions on No. 8?

Mr. HENDERSON: I would like to ask about the Sioux Indians. Why does it
mention Sioux Indians?

Chief Cook: We consider Sioux Indians, who are in Canada now, as treaty
Indians. They are under the same jurisdiction as we are as treaty Indians. They
are considered by the Indian department as treaty Indians, and they should
be getting treaty money as well as we. If they cannot give them treaty money,
give them homes.

Mr. HENDERSON: Do they not get it? Does this bring in that group of
Indians who live in Portage la Prairie? They come over South or North Dakota.
I was raised in that area.
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Chief THomPSON: I think those Indians should be given preference as we
are, in receiving that treaty money.

Chief Cook: I was on that Long Plain reserve. As I was telling you, my
wife paid a visit to a friend, a very nice Indian woman. This woman was
actually ashamed to take her into her home. It was just a small house, but I
would say it was not more than sixteen by sixteen. She was ashamed to take
my wife into her house and told her so. I was up there and I know how poor
their homes are. The government should help these people. If they cannot
give them treaty money, they should give them homes. There is no timber
there, and I think those people should be helped and given homes, at least.
The government should do this for those Indians.

Mr. HENDERSON: I said a while ago that these people do not have much
timber, yet so many Hungarians are brought over, and other people are looked
after in T.B. hospitals, and so on.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: What do these people do as far as providing for them-
selves is concerned?

Chief Coox: They do a little farming.
Mr. HENDERSON: They do not do much farming; they thresh in the fall.

Chief THomPsoN: I was at Oak river, and there is no timber there of any
kind. I saw some homes with mud roofs and rain leaking in. They buy two
by sixes for the corners and they use small rails and nail them to those corners
as frames, and then they put plaster on top. The homes they have are not
very warm. They are in a rough shape.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions on No. 9?
No. 10? No. 11? No. 127

‘Mr. HowArD: Mr. Chairman, section 94, is that the section of the Indian
Act which deals with liquor and prohibits an Indian from being in possession
of liquor The following section qualifies this to say that he can be in possession
of liquor in certain circumstances. I wonder if Chief Cook could give to the
committee an understanding as to whether or not he thinks it would be better
to eliminate all the restrictive provisions in the Indian Act which deal with
liquor?

Chief Cook: Yes, I do.

Mr. HowArp: The Indian people and the non-Indian people should have
the same rights and responsibilities?

Chief Cook: Yes, for the reason that the Indians now are allowed to go
into the beer parlours and get their beer there. But they are not allowed to
take it on the reserves. Therefore, some Indians buy a case of beer and go into
the bush or take it into some private home. They get drunk there and then
they go out to get some more; whereas if he was allowed to take it homé and
drink it there, he could go to sleep and might only wake up with scratched
eyes from his wife; but that is nothing.

Mr. HowaARrD: That is one of the responsibilities I was talking about.
The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions on No. 13?

Mr. KorcHINSKI: I was going to ask whether this has been reported for
investigation to the department? We have not got any details here, so I think
we should report this type of thing, and if it has merit it will be looked into.

Chief Cook: The case was not reported to the officers.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN' (Mr. Grenier): Mr. Howard, did you have a ques-
tion on 137

Mr. Howarp: It is substantially the same as Mr. Korchinski’s.
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The JorNT CHATRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Recommendation 14. Page 3.1 believe

the chief has dealt at length with this section, and it is covered quite thoroughly.

Mr. CHARLTON: Mr. Jones gave an answer to that.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Second paragraph on page 3.

Miss LAMarsH: I would like to inquire—the individual Indian’s income
is so low and they mortgaged their personal property; how will they be able
to pay off the mortgage?

Chief Cooxk: I think this mortgage is strictly against the Indian Act. It reads

that they cannot mortgage their property. They can do that only with the

consent of the superintendent or the supervisor, or whoever is in charge. For
that reason, if they mortgage their land they will certainly not get enough
money to pay the mortgage. '

Mr. Howarp: Is Chief Cook talking about land or movable property?

Chief Cook: Land and movable property as well. If he mortgages mov-
able property, he might as well consider it lost. :

Miss LaMArsH: You are asking that he should be able to do that?

Chief Cook: A new sort of credit. It is more like a loan to be given.

Miss LaMarsH: That is not what it says.

Chief Cook: That is what it should read. Surely, if an Indian mortgages
his property, or whatever he owns, it would be a pretty hard proposition to
redeem it.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Your breif only mentions personal
movable property.

Chief Cook: That is the same thing, whatever it is, implements, furniture
and so on. )

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): You do not want to include land in
that?

Miss LAMARsH: Mr. Chairman, why are you asking in your brief that they
be given the right to mortgage movable property? They cannot pay it back,
and to mortgage it means they will lose it. Why are you asking that they be
given this right? :

Chief Cook: Chief Thompson will answer this question better than I can.
Movable property to be mortgaged is on loan—that did not include land. We
are asking that we be given a better chance.

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The question is: why are you ask-
ing that the Indians be allowed to mortgage movable property, if their income
is so low that they will not be able to pay back and will lose the movable
property that they have mortgaged?

Chief THompsoN: The reason is so as to give them a better chance to buy
more implements.

Miss LaMarsH: In order to earn more income, so thét you can pay it
back?

Chief THomPsON: Yes.

Mr. CuarLTON: I think the question is that they are asking for permission
to buy on credit, the same as anybody else.

Chief Cook: But then this year the priority is going to be for security,
according to this.

Mr. Howarp: This clears a lot of the problems:; but I was wondering,
apart from buying goods on credit, do you find that you experience any diffi-
culty with revolving loan funds? How have you fared there?

Chief THoMmpPsoN: We are referring to band loans.
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Chief Cook: We in the north have no problems. We have trapping and
fishing and we receive nets from the revolving fund on a loan basis—so we
never have trouble. I had some trouble collecting money for the nets. I asked
that the nets be given to treaty Indians. They brought the nets and the whole
responsibility was given to the white man. I said: all right, that is fine, let
him collect. I said that if they give the responsibility to the white man, that
is his business, not mine. The agent said: will you help us? I said, no, I have
nothing to do with it, let the white man collect.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions on No. 3?7

Mr. Howarp: Mr. Chairman, I just have one small question here. It does
not relate specifically to the request which is to sell these materials, like wood
and stone and gravel and the like. But there are a number of sections in the
Indian Act which give the final authority to the minister. A band can only do
certain things if the minister approves. Can I have your thoughts, in a general
way, as to whether or not you think the minister has too much power and
too much authority and the councillors have too little?

Chief Cook: That is what I said. In this Indian Act, as I said, the minister
has too much authority and there is not enough authority given to us. After
all, we are the chiefs who are put in there to look after the Indians, and it is
we who carry the biggest burden. As I said about those nets, I got the traps
on a loan basis and I was given the responsibility to collect. The first year I
got every cent back, this year I have a few hundred dollars and I am going
to have no trouble. I think the chiefs and the councillors should be given
more responsibility to run their own affairs, and not have the minister or the
superintendent tell us what to do. We could then manage much better than we
do now. I think the Indian should have more responsibility for his own affairs
rather than have the minister tell us what to do and what not to do. That is
why this act should never have been put into effect. We can always fall back
on the Indian treaty.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are you entirely against the Indian
Act?

Chief Cooxk: Yes.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions on No. 4?

Mr. CHARLTON: That has been taken care of.

Chief Cook: There are a few more things that I wish to speak about.
Employment is one of them.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Have you any other matters?

Chief Cook: Are there any other members from my constituency? I
expected to see Mr. Slogan and Mr. Stefanson here but I do not see them.

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Stefanson is in hospital.

Chief Cook: That is too bad. I was going to direct these questions to him,
however I will bring this up before the committee here.

We have been making resolutions in regard to fishing on Lake Winnipeg.
I know the province has jurisdiction over that. Maybe the members could
look into this.

The JoiINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The members of the committeé will
look into it.

Chief Cook: That is good. Another point I want to bring up is that we
had a welfare conference of both the Indians and the Metis, the half-breeds.
I can tell you a little joke about the half-breeds, but I will leave it out. If
you wish to laugh I can tell you the little joke. It is about a white man who
came to an Indian settlement. He did not feel safe among the Indians so he
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wanted to find some half-breeds. He goes to an old Indian chief like myself

and he says, very politely “Sir, could you tell me if there are any half-breeds

around?” The chief looked at him very concerned and said “No, no half
breeze”. So the white man thought for a while and said “Probably you do
not know what I mean”. The Chief said yes, he does. So the white man said
I will tell you: you see, I am a white man and I married a squaw, meaning
an Indian woman. We have a baby, now that baby is a half-breed. The Indian
said “Oh, that is funny”. “What is so funny about that” said the white man.
The Indian chief said “White man all wind, squaw full wind, you have baby,
half breeze.”

Getting back to the fishing business—that is why they changed the word
from half-breed to Metis, because two people have another interpretation.
Some of my friends have more than their share of wind. This fishing business
I was going to bring up, we had this welfare conference in Winnipeg, and
Father Renaud has some of that in his brief. Now, on Lake Winnipeg and
on other lakes in Manitoba, our only source of livelihood is fishing in the
summer. We have no other sources of livelihood, no employment, no work.
No man would like to go away from his family for five or six months at a
time. Some of us go fishing a hundred miles out. There are only three or four,
out of the reserve, who can get a job in the summer. This year the law was
passed that Lake Winnipeg be closed to spring fishing. Yet, it is open at the
north end of the lake for the big companies who fish for the white man. We,
in the south, have to sit there and look on. We have no employment, so what
are we going to do? We have to sit there and ask for relief for the rest of
the summer. If you say: work for your relief, we have done that on my
reserve this winter. We have done a good job there and our field agency said
it was very good. As I say, they are willing to work if they get it. The
government might say: we will give you a job: cut the road out. On the
east shore of Lake Winnipeg we have good timber and we could produce
logs. We would then have a chance of making an honest living, if we got
the job and we could do something for the country. In that way we
would be helping our country. But we have plenty of resources, the finest fish-
ing streams, and some of the finest beech woods could be turned into summer
resorts. Instead of that, they give us nothing to do and they do not let us fish.
What are we going to live on?

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): So you recommend to the committee
that you be allowed to fish?

Chief Cooxk: In the spring, so as to work for our livelihood. I ask some of
you gentlemen to look into this matter for us. That is our only source of liveli-
hood—fishing. In the summer we cannot trap; the only thing we have is fishing

and they do not let us do that. The law was passed before we prepared the
briefs. So our briefs were useless.

Mr. CHARLTON: I imagine Mr. Jones could explain that. It is probably a
provincial law.

Mr. Jones: What the chief says is correct, Mr. Chairman. We are constantly
in touch with the province of Manitoba and the areas and quotas that are set
aside. On the other hand, the province and their experts do view with alarm
the present fish catch and how long it is going to last. They are always very
good and very considerate about our representations on behalf of the Indians.

There is another side to this. The biologists and scientists make recom-
mendations to the government to close off a certain area. They generally have
good reasons in doing so. They have a committee on which we are represented,
and our recommendations are always given every possible weight. There are

two sides to this question. It concerns the capacity of Lake Winnipeg for com-
mercial fishing.
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Chief Cook: Mr. Jones, you say that it is looked into by some of these
scientists who are selling fish. Why do they open up the north end of Lake
Winnipeg and legalize small mesh nets? I have fished on Lake Winnipeg for
37 years and we have had the same problem every year—some years would
be lean, others would be plentiful. The fish migrate twice a year to the north
end of the lake, and in the spring of the year they come from the north and
migrate south. When the water becomes warm in the summer they go back
north. In the fall they start the same thing. Since they started cleaning up the
north end of Lake Winnipeg, however, what do we get? Nothing. It is really
those that are operating the lake by opening up the north end, that are ruining
our fishing. That is where our problem is.

Mr. Jongs: I would like to make one observation. Chief Cook will realize
that what was about to happen a year ago on Lake Winnipeg was that they
were going to close a lot of the areas. We finance trapnets completely from
federal funds. You recall that, Chief?

Chief Cooxk: Yes.

Mr. JonEs: We try to control to the greatest extent the proper size of fish
to be taken and keep to a minimum any small ones that would be taken. We
made quite an investment from the Indian affairs branch appropriations to
try out trapnets. As a result of this, they did not shut off some of the pockets
that were going to be closed in Lake Winnipeg. We will be able to go into our
arrangements with the committee fully on the Manitoba question later on and
explain what we are trying to do.

The JOoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Thank you very much. I believe that
the Manitoba Indian brotherhood has been very well represented here today
and that you certainly have put up your case very well to this committee. Thank
you very much.

Chief Cook: I would ask, Mr. Chairman, have we finished now?

The Joint CHAIRMAN (Mr7. Grenier'): As I told you, we do not wish to
restrict you in any way.

Chief Cook: In regard to these traps Mr. Jones has been talking about,
they are not a very good prospect on lake Winnipeg. I know men who work
from Beren’s River and operate these trapnets. I will quote what one man said.
During the night they set these gill nets alongside the trapnets. They took
fish out and threw them into the trapnets, and therefore got their quota of
catch through doing this.

Also, I know another man from Dauphin River who operated one of these
trapnets with three other men and they were getting $150 a month. They had
to relieve him of his job. He was not getting enough fish to pay his expenses
and pay his wages, so they had to lay him off and pull things up. These trap-
nets are hopeless and should never have been introduced into lake Winnipeg.
That was another mistake.

AFTERNOON SESSION

THURSDAY, March 23, 1961.

The Joint CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Ladies and gentlemen, we have a
quorum and the meeting can come to order. This afternoon we have before us
the welfare council of greater Winnipeg, represented by Reverend Father
Renaud. Their brief is in two parts and, if it is agreeable to members of the
committee, we can have it recorded as read and included in this day’s evidence.
Is that agreeable?

Some Hon. MEMBERS: Agreed.
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The brief reads as follows:
PArT 1

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

The Joint Committee of the Senate of the House of Commons on Indian
Affairs, Ottawa, Ontario. ~

Sirs:

The Indian and Metis Committee of the Welfare Council of Greater
Winnipeg is encouraged by the appointment of your Committee. May your
efforts bring increased opportunity and hope for the future to Indian people
of our Dominion. ="

We welcome this opportunity to submit a brief on community development
and education, and trust that it will receive a sympathetic hearing. This brief
is the product of several months study and discussion of the problems, and is
the result of experience in six provincial conferences sponsored by our Com-
mittee since 1954. We sincerely hope that action on our brief may be possible
in the near future.

First we shall summarize some of the most pressing problems of the Indian
people. Secondly we shall attempt to show how conditions might be improved
through community development and education. Our Committee has deliberately
decided to restrict its brief to these two topics. The many comments and con-
clusions arising from our six annual conferences have led us to believe that
it is in these two fields that action is most urgent.

The problems are as follows:

Economic:

. 1. Over-population of some reserves and diminishing natural resources
in these areas have created many unemployed and marginal income families
among Indians, especially in northern and eastern Manitoba.

2 Mar}y Indians have found it difficult to obtain work in industry because
they have insufficient marketable skills. Indians who are successful in entering

this field are frequently unable to persevere in the monotonous routine of in-
dustrial work.

: _3. Mechanization of agriculture, lumbering and other industries has made
it difficult for Indians to compete with whites in these fields.

Social:

'1. Illiteracy an@ insufficient formal education in addition to the language
barrier, have handicapped many adult Indians in developing efficient self-

government and in taking an effective part in the development of their own
communities.

iy .2. Because Indians are ignorant of their own affairs, rights and responsi-
bilities as Indians, they are unable to organize themselves for strong govern-
ment and effective community action. y
. Most Indians are extremely unhappy about their economic and social
situation. Although they are not unanimous in their choice of goals or of
methods to be used in their attainment, their dissatisfaction is general.

: .Things are not really going to change very much for the better until a new
spirit and new skills are acquired by the Indian people. It is true that improved
housing, relocation of bands, building of access roads, improving of educational
oppprtumties, trades training and promotion of better understanding between
Indians and non-Indians will all help to solve the problems outlined above.
We believe that, should your Committee’s findings end here, as has happened
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with past government studies, the Indian will still be deprived of the things
he needs most. These are the willingness, confidence and competence to make
his own way life, whether he elects to remain in his old environment or to
move out into a new one off the reserve. Only strong action on your part will
prevent his becoming more dependent upon a beneficient, all-powerful govern-
ment and mamfestlng that dependency, either in dull resentment, or in in-
creased pauperism.

This problem is not new, nor is it peculiar only to our Indians. It has long
been recognized by certain colonial governments who are trying to improve the
lot of their subjects in underdeveloped areas. It has also been recognized by
various United Nations rehabilitation agencies. It is the problem of how to
channel technical and material assistance to underprivileged people in such a
way that their initiative is not destroyed but developed and encouraged if it is
lacking. It is as a result of intensive study of what has been done in other
countries and also our past experience in Canadian Indian affairs, that we are
convinced that this is the heart of the matter; and what is more, we are
convinced that there is a solution. In the balance of this brief we will describe
what we believe would be an adequate solution.

The key idea in the solution (this, incidentally, was worked out in the
British Colonial Service and has since become standard practice in United Na-
tions technical aid programs) is that of effectively involving local groups at
all stages, from initial discussions, through planning, to final execution, in the
carrying out of local improvement projects. Carl Taylor, an outstanding author-
ity in the field, at present attached to the Ford Foundation, has called it
“technically aided, but locally organized self-help”.

The root of the problem lies not in giving people things but rather “giving
them confidence so that they may help themselves, and then helping them
accomplish what they try to do”. The short name for this whole approach is
“community development”’; and for the sake of convenience it will be used here.
All we ask is that it not be forgotten, that the ‘“community’”’ which is being
developed is the people, and not the place where they happen to be living!

We would like to emphasize, however, that community development is not
a panacea for all the problems facing Indians, nor would we want to suggest
that it be undertaken at the expense of other important programs currently
sponsored by the Indian Affairs Branch. Most of all, we would not want the
Branch to reduce its expenditures in the field of education. On the contrary,
we intend to show in the second half of our brief that educational services
should be greatly extended.

What is community development?

Community development is the method by which groups of people are in-
volved in helping to improve their economic and social conditions and thereby
become effective participants in programs of national development.

Community development is based on a knowledge that Indians, like all
human beings, have self-recognized needs and desires to satisfy these needs.
It is based upon a belief that if Indians seem to be apathetic and their orga-
nizations weak, it is because they have not had full opportunity to participate,
much less lead in programs designed for improvement of their own cir-
cumstances. It is based upon a conviction that Indians will want to change
if they are permitted to make decisions concerning the development of their
own communities and are helped with technical and material assistance to
carry out these projects and programs. In our opinion the failure of many
attempts by Indians to improve their conditions could have been avoided had
adequate guidance and technical assistance been provided, whilst initiative
was still left in Indian hands.
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Steps in organizing a community development program

1. The first step in community development would be an informal dis-
cussion of the band’s particular needs as seen by the people themselves. Such
discussion will be readily engaged in if the people have cause to believe that
any organized self-help effort on their part will be encouraged and assisted
by the Government or some other dependable agency.

2. The second step in community development would be systematic plan-
ning to carry out the first self-help undertaking that has been selected by
the community. It should lead to the actual task of enlisting persons who
would contribute their labour and talents, and in some cases material, to
carry out the project. It is a step towards mobilizing the band to do some-
thing for itself.

3. The third step in community development would be the almost com-
plete mobilization and harnessing of the physical, economic and social potential
of the band. Once a well organized local group starts and completes a project
which benefits the whole band others, who have remained sceptical or only
mildly interested, will often also start working.

4. The fourth step in community development would be the determination
to undertake additional community improvement projects. Once a group has
successfully accomplished one project leading to improvement of the com-
munity, it will want to develop more. Successful undertakings of this kind
should lead to some feeling of group price. This would tend to hold the
people together as a functioning community.

Administering a community development program

It would be important, in a community development program, that the
greater part of administration’s task be the organization of services and pro-
grams. It would be not so much the exercise of authority as it would be the
development of initiative and responsibility on the part of leaders of local
groups. To make this possible, the people themselves should choose which
of their projects they are willing to work together for and then they should
be aided in organizing their self-help efforts successfully. Most people will
willingly cooperate in carrying out a project which they have helped in
deciding to undertake.

The community development staff should be given status in order that they
may develop policies suited to the needs of community development. If the
Indian Affairs Branch were to provide the administration, the chief of com-
munity development should have equal rank with the heads of Divisions
such as education and economic development. He should be required to have
extensive training and have experience in the use of technical assistance
and community development methods.

The meed for community development workers

There would be need for assistance from professional community devel-
opment workers to help the people know about all the sources of assistance
available to them, and to interpret their needs and desires to others. The
community development worker can be effective as a bridge between the
group and others only if he knows who the leaders are and works with
groups through them.

Com_munity development requires intensive effort on the part of the
community development worker. It is, therefore, necessary that each worker
should be responsible for no more communities than he can handle ade-
quately. If he has two or more communities to work with, the distance be-

tween them should not be so great that he must spend a disproportionate
amount of time in travel.
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The training of community development workers

Community development workers should receive both academic and prac-
tical field experience. To employ someone with university or formal education
only, seldom works because he might not be able to reach and effectively in-
volve the people in any responsibility for program. For best results training
in social sciences should proceed along with supervised work in the field.

They should be professionally trained co-ordinators—able to use outside
resources such as technical specialists, most effectively. They should become

~ knowledgable about fishing, conservation, agriculture, the co-operative move-

ment and health and education methods. Particular emphasis in their training
should be placed on community organization and group formation. The com-
munity development workers would be in daily contact with the band. If they
did not have theoretical and practical knowledge of group formation and com-
munity organization not much could be accomplished in these vital fields.
Community development workers should be people, preferably of Indian
ancestry, who would be readily acceptible to the bands. They should have a
willingness to live in Indian areas and be able to live in isolation.

Technical specialists are required

Opportunities for consultation on agriculture, co-operatives, conserva-
tion, health habits, sanitation, nutrition, housing, adult education, recreation
and other technical fields should be available to people as sufficient numbers
see the need for something to be done. Both the Government of Canada and
the Province of Manitoba employ a number of specialists; e.g. extension workers
who could provide such counselling. With special training in group formation
and community organization they could, under the direction of the community
development workers, carry their technical knowledge to the reservations more
effectively than is possible at the present time. More technical specialists
should be employed than at present. Training grants should be provided, to
encourage more people, especially those of Indian descent, to enter this im-
portant field.

The importance of developing and utilizing local leaders

The development of local groups to accept responsibility and the develop-
ment of local leaders are the necessary components of sound local community
programs everywhere in the world. The need for local leaders is of particular
importance because members of the band know that they do not understand
the outsider’s limitations. They are either insulted by his belief that their
limitations are very marked, or they are frustrated by his assumption that
they can do more than they know is possible. They often expect the outside
leader to miraculously solve their problems for them. The chiefs and councillors
and heads of community groups on the reserve will probably be the natural
leaders of the community. They should. be. encouraged to pursue leadership
training courses to help them carry their responsibilities more effectively.

Community development at work

Community development could assist in bringing a better life to the
community by helping to develop a knowledge of technical methods such as
the processing, storing, marketing of fish and other natural resources; the
organization, management and operation of co-operatives and credit unions;
the operation and maintenance of power equipment, etc. This kind of training
and experience would enable Indians who wish to leave the community for
the city to compete successfully for jobs with other Canadians.

Community development could assist in erasing illiteracy and promoting
the use of English among the adults by providing an incentive for the learning
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of English. Experience in other countries has shown that a successful literacy

program will result in a marked up-surge of community enthusiasm and pro-

duce the desire to go on to other forms of community betterment.

Community development workers could usefully implement programs of
adult education including arrangements for short courses and discussion groups
on such subjects as community organization, rights and responsibilities of
Indians, etc. This experience could lead the person into new ways of serving
the community to which he belongs.

Most important of all, community development would help Indians over-
come their apathy and promote a desire for, and confidence in, trying to bring
about change. Indians will want to improve if they are permitted to make deci-
sions concerning the development of their own communities and are helped
with technical and material assistance to carry out these decisions.

Conclusions

We have attempted to outline what we believe are the essential require-
ments for a community development program. We have based our thinking on
the experience of other countries where community development programs are
operating with good results.

We have not recommended any one administrative pattern or method of
financing. There are alternative ways a community development program could
be administered which the Indian Affairs Branch might wish to explore.

We wish to emphasize, however, that since community development is
a method of working with people, as well as a philosophy, there will be a
special need for in-service training programs to prepare Indian Affairs Branch
staff to function effectively along these lines. Years of practice have accustomed
many Branch officials more to “doing for’” the Indians, rather than “doing
with” the Indians, the opposite of the community development method. This
need for the preparation of staff may not apply to everyone in the Branch
because there are at present a number who already possess a working knowl-
edge of community development.

Community development is based on a co-operative initiative on the part
of the community residents. Indians, however, have learned to adapt to a
paternalistic and benevolent system since contact times. It will not be easy
for them to adapt to something different and the development of their com-
munities, will certainly be of necessity, a long term project.

The provision of a community development program is not possible without
considerable cost to the government. Expert staff are required for long periods

~of time and consequently the program would be expensive . . . but balanced
against this cost would be the eventual cost to the province and to Canada as
a result of conditions remaining as they are,

Respectfully submitted.

................................................................

Reverend Ian Harvey, Reverend Father G. Laviolette, O.M.I.
Chairman, Chairman,

Sub+committee on Community Indian and Metis Committee.
Development.

Archbishop Philip F. Pocock,

President,

Welfare Council of Greater Winnipeg.
Bernard Grafton, Lloyd Lenton,
Chairman, Secretary,
Sub-committee on Education. Indian and Metis Committee.
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PART I1

¥ EDUCATION

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on Indian

Affairs, Ottawa, Ontario.
Sirs:

The Indian and Metis Committee of the Welfare Council of Greater Winni-
peg wishes to commend the Indian Affairs Branch for its forward-looking
policies in the field of education. The Honourable Ellen L. Fairclough, Minister
of Citizenship and Immigration and Superintendent General of Indian Affairs,
has recently said—*I venture to say that few school systems have accomplished
as much as the Branch has undertaken in the last ten years”. Mrs. Fairclough
has further stated that—‘“The Indian Affairs Branch also find it helpful when
outside people make fresh appraisals and suggestions for the improvement of
the Indian School program.”

In the light of the above statements, Part II of this brief has been carefully
prepared with the active co-operation and assistance of the provincial and
federal educationalists who are most familiar with Indian education in Mani-
toba. We believe that action on our suggestions will advance substantially and
stimulate the education of Indians in this province. We would urge that action
be taken forthwith.

Aim of Education

Generally speaking, in our Canadian - society, all the activities of the
school are based on or inspired by the cultural background of the community
in which it operates, and aim at preparing pupils for life in this community.
The role of schools as a means to solving problems facing the Indians is of a
slightly different nature in that schools attempt to prepare the pupils for life
in a. community other than that from which the majority of the pupils
originate. We have shown earlier in our discussion on community development,
that there is a need to greatly improve the kinds of communities in which
people of Indian descent are living. The role of the school in the program of
the Indian Affairs Branch must be seen in the light of our discussion on com-
munity development. The schools become not only a medium for transmitting
culture but to a certain degree for changing it. The schools must attempt to
bring to the Indian communities such skills and information as are required to
make it possible for the Indian people to recognize conditions in thelr own
culture which are not suitable and want to change them.

When the Indian culture has become adapted to the needs of the modern
Indian, it is likely that their school system may start playing a role which
will be more similar to the one being played by our other Canadian schools.
Until this happens, there is a need for combining in the Indian school system
the information, skills and social climate which will make change possible.

It will be easily seen that such a task will continue to provide a challenge
to all our educators. In the discussion that follows, we have attempted to
provide a framework within which those responsible for education of Indian
pupils will be able to work more effectively.

Administrative Organization within the Province

The education of Indian children in Manitoba has advanced so rapidly
in the past ten years that it is difficult for the uninitiated to grasp the extent
of this change and impossible for the present administrative machinery to
handle it efficiently.

24851-8—3
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Educational advance in Manitoba can be understood if one considers that
the numbers of children attending schools has increased dramatically. In 1951
there were 1,010 children attending residential schools, now there are 1,451.
There were 2,286 children attending day schools; now there are 2,971. In all,
there are some 5,000 children in school. Many children are remaining in school
more years than formerly. It is anticipated that in the next five years enrollment
will increase by roughly 259%. It is estimated that 35 additional classrooms
will be needed to take care of this increased enrollment either directly under
Indian Affairs or as part of the integrated program and through the provincial
school system.

Educational costs of Indian Affairs in Manitoba have risen from $711,000
in 1951 to over $3,000,000 this past year. For Canada as a whole, costs have
risen to over $25,000,000. Construction costs over the next five years are
likely to be considerable. It has been estimated that construction costs for the
whole of Canada will exceed $30,000,000 during this period. It is obvious that
education has become a very big business. A program of this extent and of
such a specialized nature, one which envisages many changes and constant
expansion, needs expert and specialized leadership. A program that will
average well over thirty million dollars expenditure per year for the next
five years is large enough to warrant the cost of specialized leadership.
Efficient, knowledgeable leadership with freedom to move quickly is very
necessary.

A statement by Mrs. Fairclough that a policy of decentralization of educa-
tional staff to all provinces within the next four years is planned, suggests
the need for the following:

1. that Indian education be set up as a separate division of Indian
Affairs under a division chief of Indian education;

2. that all educational business and financing be conducted directly
within this division;

3. that the personnel of this division be accountable to the chief of Indian

education, he in turn, should be accountable to the Director of the
Indian Affairs Branch. :

Each province should have a regional director of Indian education. It
should be his responsibility to submit an estimate of educational costs to
Division headquarters and administer the program in his province. The regional
director should have four sections under him,

1. an administration section,
2. an inspection section;

3. an attendance section and
4. an advisory board.

Graphically, the organization would appear as drawn below.

Director of Indian Affairs
|
Chief of Indian Education Division

|
Regional Directors of Indian Education
| | | |
Administration Inspection Attendance Officer Advisory Board

Administration—Provincial level

At present the regional inspector of Indian schools is asked to report on
the effectiveness of his own administration. It is obvious that the inspection and
administration of remote schools presents many difficulties and that it is expen-
sive. It is nevertheless recommended that inspection and administration be
separated for more efficient, effective and economical results.
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The administrator’s work should be similar to that of the provincial Official
Trustee in Manitoba. The administrator should have (i) an assistant, a man
who should have a knowledge of school building and equipment; (ii) a chief
accountant; (iii) two assistants to the accountant; (iv) and the necessary
secretarial and clerical help.

The administrator should be responsible for all school budgets, buildings,
equipment, supplies, hiring of teachers, transportation and everything having
to do with the efficient operation of all Indian schools within the Province.

The assistant administrator should be responsible to the administrator and
directly responsible for buildings, equipment, local meetings, the organization
of local committees and the efficient functioning of these committees.

Inspection

Indian Affairs should employ three school inspectors in Manitoba with the
present number of their teachers if they are to conform to provincial standards.
The inspector should be free to present a critical report to the provincial
director of Indian education. He should report on the school plant, equipment,
effectiveness of the teaching program and effectiveness of the local committees’
contribution to education.

The Report of the Manitoba Royal Commission on Education, 1959%, recom-
mends that—The inspector should be required to spend at least two days in
each classroom in day schools if the teacher is new to Indian work and not
less than one day per school year if the teacher is experienced.

Each month the inspector’ should forward a daily activity report to the
provincial director. The inspector should be required to spend an average of
four days per week in classroom visitation during the school term. The inspector
should assist the provincial director with the instruction program and recom-
mend the specific curriculum requirements of each school to obtain the greatest
possible educational advancement. The inspector should be expected to assist
and advise the teacher wherever possible and to familiarize the teacher with
departmental procedure and all reports required by the department. The inspec-
tors should hold inspectors conference each year immediately preceding the
opening of school.

Attendance Officer

The attendance officer should work directly under the provincial director.
He should also work closely with the local attendance officer. The attendance
officer should see that provincial standards of attendance are maintained in all
Indian schools. Teachers’ monthly attendance reports should go to the atten-
dance officer, so should copies of pupil’s transfer cards. The attendance officer
should keep records of all children in attendance at each school. He should keep
records of all Indian children attending non-Indian schools, vocational training
institutes, universities and other educational institutes. He should keep cumula-
tive record cards for each child showing the final course completed and the
name of the first employer. It should be the attendance officer’s duty to find
out why each child who stops school has done so, and to endeavor to have the
child return and remain in school until the completion of his course.

Advisory Board

The Regional Director should have an advisory board. The numbers of
this board should be recommended by the regional director to the division
chief for his approval. The advisory board should meet at least twice each year,

*Chap. 7, Section 4, Page 113.
24851-8—33
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and should consider all phases of Indian education in the light of provinci“all

and federal educational policies. The Regional Director should make a report
of their findings to the division chief.

Local Committees

The main consideration underlying all educational policy should be to give
Indian children the best possible education. The outlook should be broader
than the classroom. Every effort should be made to produce responsible
citizens within the community, people who can accept both the privileges and
responsibilities that accompany a democratic way of life. The use of local
committees to assist in school administration and school attendance has this
end in view.

The Province of Manitoba has made use of local committees for many years.
Experience has shown that local participation in management is necessary
if members of the community are to become selft-reliant citizens. They should
feel that they personally have a share in the duties, responsibilities and priv-
ileges of citizenship. With this in mind, we feel that local committees should
be elected to assist in the administration of each school. The assistant adminis-
trative officer should organize local committees and meet with them at the time
of their annual school meeting. It is imperative that this committee be given
as much responsibility as it is capable of handling successfully. The objective
of federal and provincial administrative practice should be to gradually with-
draw from local administration until the local committee is capable of function-
ing in a manner similar to a board of trustees in an organized school district.
Special projects sponsored by the committee should get every encouragement.
For example, in the purchase of a projector, the administrator might agree to
provide two dollars for every one dollar raised locally.

When new buildings are to be built, the local committee should be con-
sulted. They should provide information about possible sites. The administrator
should meet with the committee and go over the proposed plans with them.
He should make them feel that they are active partners in all such ‘projects.

The local committee of each school should consist of three persons who are
residents of the community and duly elected by all the residents. Each committee
member should hold office for a term of three years.

Committee members administering local affairs, in provincial special
schools have been assigned specific duties.

1. One committee member is to act as secretary-treasurer.

2. The second committee member is also chairman and building super-
visor.

3. The third committee member is also local attendance officer.
Rules should be established for the administration of local school affairs. These
rules should be adhered to by the committee. Local committees should meet
at least eight times a year. They should hold all their meetings in the school.
A copy of the minutes of each meeting should be forwarded to the adminis-
trator’s office.

It has been found that ecommittees will not function satisfactorily

1. if they are appointed rather than elected,
if they are not allowed to make decisions,
if they do not have real responsibilities,
if they are not free to carry out their own projects,
if they do not have the feeling that this is their school and they are
administering it within the framework of the established regulations.

O W W N

The responsibilities of local participation should not be confined to adminis-
tration. A feeling of ownership of “our school” is essential. A feeling of personal

{
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pride, of accomplishment and ownership cannot be created unless the people
contribute individually to the school’s upkeep and operation. The local com-
mittee should be encouraged to take responsibility for local financing as a
regular part of its school duties. At the same time local finance should not be
made a burden. For this reason it is suggested that many of the requirements
be in the form of work rather than money.

The local committee should raise funds for local expenses by a local school
tax. By this means the group can realize that the community as a whole will
profit from a tax imposed by the group upon themselves for their own mutual
benefit. This local school tax may be augmented by the proceeds from com-
munity organized and sponsored activities such as socials.

This same system in communities where the residents are of Indian
descent has produced the-following results in provincial schools:

1. The school becomes the direct concern of the community.

2. The people develop keen interest in education.

3. Grade levels are raised.

4. The community becomes co-operative.

5. They develop a pride in school buildings.
Attendance

It should be the responsibility of the attendance officer and his local
assistants to see that each child receives as nearly as possible a full 200 days’
schooling each and every year. To make this possible the school year would
commence on August 1st. In these circumstances the teacher could be put on
staff and commence teaching late in August. School could then be open for
200 days during the school year.

When a pupil is absent from school it should be the duty of the teacher
to make prompt inquiry of the attendance officer. The parents should be
called upon, the cause of non-attendance noted, and, if possible, removed.

Mrs. Fairclough states that—‘‘Education is the key to a promising future
for the Indians....”. “A sound educational system is the most effective con-
tribution that Canadians can make to the progress of the Indian.” We agree
whole-heartedly with these observations. On the other hand, it does not
matter how good the system, how functional the school plant, or how expert
the teacher, there will be no educational progress if the pupil is absent
much of the year. In order to make adequate educational progress, children
must attend school 200 days every year. This is not now the case in many
Indian schools in Manitoba.' A strict policy of school attendance should be
actively enforced if schools are to function properly and educational levels
are to be raised. Many objections to complete and compulsory attendance can
be anticipated. Few of these objections have proved to be valid in Metis
settlements. The people known as Metis in Manitoba are similar in looks, color,
culture, mode of life, locality, language, and in all other respects to the treaty
Indian. His Indian counterpart, especially in the north, often takes his whole
family with him each time he goes trapping or fishing. The Metis leaves his
family in the settlement while he goes alone to the trapping or fishing
grounds. He seems to make just as good a living as the Indian who takes his
family. The family in the settlement gains both from the point of view of educa-
tion and also from that of health. The implementation of this recommendation
is of the utmost importance. The need is immediate.

Curriculum

Many Indian children in Manitoba live in remote and isolated settle-
,ments where the only language wused is their native Indian tongue. There
is little or no contact with the English language. Teachers in these settlements
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usually keep f)eginners in grade one for two years. This is done to give them
a working knowledge of English. Recognition should be given to this need by
introducing a kindergarten year in these schools and by supplying a program
of studies for the teachers’ use to enable her to prepare the pupils for a
complete grade one course the following year.

The inspector should have time to assist his teachers in grading their
pupils according to provincial standards and to advise his teachers on promo-
tions. When the inspector is relieved of administrative duties, he will have
time to give this assistance to the teachers under him. Pupils are now over-
graded in many of our remote schools. Teachers should be encouraged to strive
for the highest possible standards to the prescribed program of studies, and
to make these standards their ultimate objective. Progress should be con-
tinuous and at a speed commensurate with the children’s ability.

Every effort should be made to encourage all teachers in a particular
area to set combined examinations that would be used in all schools in' that
particular area. This practice would be even more effective in well developed
areas if a non-Indian town school were included in the group. These examina-
tions should not be used as a basis for pupil promotion. They should be
used to make a comparison of standards, to stimulate pupil interest and to
make students feel that they are part of the community at large.

All Indian schools in Manitoba should follow the prescribed provmc1al
program of studies with the following provisos:

1. This program should be modified to include Indian history, language,
folklore, songs, arts and crafts.

2. Indian children should spend a greater proportion of their time on
English, Social Studies, and related subjects than the provincial
program recommends.

3. The provincial reading texts are not well suited to Indians living
in isolated communities. Indian Affairs are aware of the need for
texts with story content adapted to the life experiences of Indian
children. Indian Affairs should be commended for their efforts to
correct this situation and should be encouraged to speed up the
preparation and use of such texts.

Teachers who are new to Indian work require help in adjusting their teach-
ing to the needs of these pupils. These teachers require specific advice in order
to make the most effective use of the school day and to ensure their pupils an
even rate of progress in all subjects. Care must be taken that these children
with their limited, narrow background, are not sacrificed to pedagogical tech-
niques devised for more advanced cultures.

A physical education program within these schools, as laid down in the
provincial program of studies,* should be stressed,—i.e. 150 minutes per week.
Up to the present very little has been done to implement even a minimum
program. Organized and supervised playground activities each and every day
are also a necessary part of the school program. At present most teachers devote
little time to this activity. Playground activity does, under proper supervision,
develop a feeling of pride in achievement that can be brought into the class-
room. It develops character through learning the value of fair play.

Most teachers do not consider the social adjustment type of guidance a part
of their work, perhaps because teachers themselves are deficient in guidance
training. Properly trained teachers could fit their pupils for a more productive
life and acquaint them with the cultural life history of their own people. Per-
haps guidance, job placement and follow-up might be important enough to be
included as a branch in the administrative set-up of Indian education. Indian

* Page 43, junior high schools.
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students need more extensive training in social behaviour and customs than is
provided in the present provincial program. They must learn at school what
other children learn in their homes. Good personal habits, socially accepted pat-
terns of conduct, acceptance of responsibility, and desirability of providing for
the future are a few of the qualities that require special stress. Consideration
should be given to providing the teacher with suitable material to assist in this
very necessary task. Undoubtedly, teachers in these schools would benefit from
a methods and procedure course in social behaviour and customs.

The Teacher:

The work of a teacher in an Indian school is much broader in scope than
in any other school. It is a specialized work and requires a different approach
in several ways. Because of this, serious consideration should be given to
establishing teacher training courses that would best fit these teachers for their
schools. These courses should be given in cooperation with the Provincial
Department of Education. There should be specialized training—

1. in the teaching of English to non-English children;

2. in teaching social studies emphasizing the use of visual aids, this is
_needed particularly at the grades 5-8 level;

3. in applied anthropology and basic culture patterns of the Indian and
European in order to give the teacher a sympathetic understanding
of the Indian’s problems and an intelligent approach to their solution.

Other beneficial courses can readily be suggested by competent educational-
ists who are aware of the problems involved. The successful completion of these
courses should be given recognition on the salary scale.

It is strongly urged that teachers be required to have Provincially-accepted
teaching certificates and that special consideration be given to teachers who
have taken the specialized courses recommended above. The education branch
should plan to eliminate teachers without valid teaching certificates. Exceptions
should be made for those now on staff, and who have many years of teaching
experience. Care should be taken that teachers in all categories be paid salaries
better than those paid in Provincial schools. The specialized nature of Indian
education requires the best teacher that can be obtained. The isolation and
remoteness of Indian communities deter teachers from accepting these schools.

This can only be compensated for by added remuneration and comfortable
living quarters.

The teacher should have many responsibilities within an Indian community.
Unfortunately many teachers do not seem to realize this. If a teacher is to get
the best educational returns from his pupils he must meet the parents and gain
their confidence and cooperation. All too frequently teachers in these areas
remain aloof from the community and education suffers because the parents
lack interest. This interest can be stimulated quite easily by a teacher who
shows an interest in the community. One obvious and practical way that teachers
might contribute to community life would be to organize and administer pro-
grams of systematic education for adults. Teachers should be made to under-
stand that this is part of their work and should be given guidance and en-
couragement in carrying it out.

The teacher should work closely with the local committee and be prepared
to give them full cooperation as well as advice and guidance. Should the teacher
do this he will find an Indian community to be the most appreciative, loyal and
stimulating group that he has had the privilege of working with. The importance
of the teachers’ contribution to the successful development of responsible
committees cannot be over-estimated.



156 JOINT COMMITTEE

Teachers should attend an Inspector’s Convention each year before leaving

for their schools. They should receive instruction and guidance in all phases of
their work at this convention.

The teacher’s contract salary should be stated as an annual rate of pay for
200 days’ teaching. The teacher should receive extra pay for extra days taught
up to a maximum of 210 days at a daily rate computed by dividing the contract

salary by 200. Conversely the salary should be reduced by this same daily rate

for every day less than 200 that the school is open.

Types of Schools:

1. Day Schools: Indian Affairs have seventy day schools in Manitoba. We
believe that under normal circumstances local day schools, whether provincial
or federal, are the most satisfactory means for providing an elementary educa-
tion for Indian children. We are pleased to see that in many areas where the
population is somewhat dispersed or divided for various reasons, that day
schools are being centrally located and pupils transported. It is a recognized
fact that a better education can be provided in multiple room elementary schools
that can be provided in dispersed single room schools. Children in these remote
or isolated areas use their native language at all times except when they are in
school. Their use of English is so limited that they require individual attention
while in school. This cannot be given by a teacher who has eight grades to teach.
It can be given by a teacher who has one or at most two grades. Better results
can be obtained in graded schools in all subjects. Where possible, within present
regulations, schools, both federal and provineial, should be consolidated in one
area into one graded school. We would also strongly urge that the size of classes
be limited to twenty-five pupils. Only very special circumstance should permit
any deviation from this rule. It is urged that this recommendation be earried
out even though it may mean building roads and transporting pupils. This again
is in line with recent Indian Affairs recommendations.

2. Local High Schools: Indian Affairs have established a local junior High
School at Peguis in Manitoba. We should like to recommend this practice for
all areas. We further recommend that grade levels be extended in these schools
up to and including grade XII. Experience here has shown that local high
schools in remote areas are remarkably successful. Many children in remote
areas are not able, for various reasons, to avail themselves of the opportunities
provided for a high school education in residential schools. Experience again
has shown that most children will attend a local high school. If the local school
terminates its course at the end of grade VIII most pupils leave school at the
end of grade VIII If the local school provides grade XII education most students
will remain in school longer and attempt to complete a high school course.
Local interest in a high school education is stimulated by a local high school.
Most communities are proud of their local high school and wish to see it con-
tinue and to see their children get a high school education.

3. Residential Schools: There are at present eleven residential schools in
Ma_nitoba. The residential school of today is designed to give maximum educa-
cational opportunity to its pupils. We feel that elementatry residential schools
should be used only for special cases such as children from isolated areas where
there are too few students to warrant the establishment of even a one-classroom
school and children of transient parents. This practice deserves commendation.

4. Industrial Arts and Home Economics: B. F. Addy, Director of Technical
Education for Manitoba, says that it is not economically practical to establish
a full program in Industrial Arts and Home Economics in a high school with
less than 250 pupils. We would recommend that Indian Affairs integrate this
program, along with its related guidance program, into the new Provincial
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High School (Division) program. We would recommend that in larger graded
schools and remote areas a limited program only be attempted, this program
would not only familiarize the children with the variety of courses open for
them to specialize in at the high school and trade school level, but would also
emphasize personal development.

5. Pre-technical Schools: Tentative approval has been given by both the
provincial and federal governments for the establishment of a pre-technical
school in Manitoba. A school of this nature is urgently needed—(a) because
of the large numbers of Indian and part-Indian people coming into the indus-
trial centres who have no job-training and who have low academic standing;
(b) because local industries in rural areas can no longer support the popula-
tion. For example, industries such as trapping, fishing, seneca root gathering
and lumbering are no longer economical; rapid growth of population has
increased the labor force of reserves and rural areas until it is too large for
existing job opportunities; (c¢) because many young people of Indian ancestry
do not have the ability or the inclination to complete the academic require-
ments necessary to enable them to enter existing technical institutes. The pre-
technical school recommended is therefore a school that will enroll children
from 12 to 18 years of age as well as adults who do not have enough academic
training to enable them to enroll in existing technical institutes.

This school would give these students some academic training and at the

same time give them vocational training. A suggested list of technical courses
might be:

- BOYS
A.
Taught out of school by existing
Taught at pre-technical school local industry
(i) Carpentry (i) Diesel mechanics
(ii) Plumbing (ii) Garage mechanic
(iii) Welding (iii) Painting
(iv) Heating (iv) Decorating
(v) Electrical (v) Barbering
(vi) Draughting
(vii) Gardening
GIRLS
B.
(i) Cooking, nutrition & hostess (i) Practical nursing
(ii) Children & home nursing (ii) Beautician—grooming
(iii) Sewing, washing & laundry (iii) Photography
(iv) Clothes designing (iv) Floriculture
(v) Store Decorator
(vi) Designing—
Commercial merchandising
G

Commercial: Typing, shorthand, bookkeeping, business arithmetic, spell-
ing, business English.

The academic work for younger students might be taken in the existing
local school system. For older student only core subjects or subjects required
as pre-requisites for their trade should be attempted.

This school should provide two separate and distinct courses:

(a) A ten month course for children from 12 to 18 years of age who
have a “low” academic standing
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(b) A second series of courses to be short, intensive, to provide job-
training for adults who have a “low” academic standing and who have
to support themselves and possibly a family.

These courses should provide job-training for such occupations as:
(i) Brick layers’ helper
(ii) diesel operator
(iii) service station attendant
(iv) waitress
(v) short-order cook

Adult Education

If it is accepted that the school should be an integral part of the com-
munity, and if it is accepted that the curriculum is designed for improved
community life, it is most important that educational services not be confined
to the children of the community alone. Teachers should be encouraged to
initiate programs of education for the adults. Subjects in such programs might
vary from literacy classes to trade instruction or, in some cases, to elementary
political science courses, but they should never be limited to such. Indeed
the emphasis should always be on starting where the people are, with the
community’s particular needs as seen by the people themselves. This would
inevitably mean at the outset at least, having classes on such immediate
problems as—“How can we get more for our fur?” or “How can we get jobs?”
It is only when people face and wrestle with the implications of such questions
that they come to see the relevance and need for education. Once they have
glimpsed that, they will probably see the need for more traditional courses.

If, as in our hope, the community development program we have outlined
in Part 1 of this brief is adopted, the local school committees, along with the
teachers, should work in close co-operation with the community development
personnel at work in their areas.

The successful operation of a public school adult education program will
depend upon a number of changes in the present school program: These are:

1. Day schools, local high schools and residential schools in addition
to the above-mentioned pretechnical school should be designed to
accommodate both adult and child education programs.

2. In hiring teachers, priority should be given to those teachers having
qualifications, professional training, or experience in Adult Education.

3. Teachers should receive substantial additional remuneration for their
participation in adult education programs.

4. Teachers should be assisted by the regional administration in the
operation of their adult programs. The appointment of a full-time
professional adult educator at the regional level to work with quali-
field teachers throughout the province would be an early requirement.

5. Local committees should consider the adult program one of their
primary responsibilities.

Special Services:

Indian Affairs are to be complimented on the excellent health services
provided and the practical approach to nutrition needs of pupils. Care should
be taken to see that teachers follow through the policy of the Department and
ensure that some teachers do not allow the dispensing of biscuits, hot chocolate
and vitamin pills to take up the majority of their school time to the detriment
of education in general.
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Bursaries and Scholarships:

The Department of Indian Affairs is to be commended for the generous
number of bursaries and scholarships available to Indian children. It is recom-
mended that this policy continue and be expanded as the need arises.

Conclusion:

In the preparation of this brief we have urged certain changes of an admin-
istrative nature. We wish to make it clear at this time that in doing so we do
not wish to imply criticism of personnel presently involved in the education
of our Indian children. In most cases the Indian Affairs Branch has been
fortunate in securing personnel who are dedicated to their work and to the
total welfare of our Indian population. It is our considered opinion that the
changes recommended will make their task easier and their efforts more
effective. =

One further point, we have not in the foregoing made reference to or
recommendations for equipment, supplies or libraries. These, we feel, will
follow as a natural consequence of the recommended reorganization of the
Branch which will remove the most obvious deficiencies now existing in regard
to the education of our Indian population. ;

We believe that the implementation of the recommendations in this brief
would be a major step forward for Indian education in this province. The
implementation of these recommendations would cost Indian Affairs money in
extra salaries for additional personnel but we feel that this cost would be
balanced by savings gained through expert administration at the local level
and the rapid advance in Indian education that would result in reduced welfare
cost and increased Indian income.

Respectfully submitted.

Reverend Father G. Laviolette, O.M.I. Bernard Grafton,

Chairman, Chairman,
Indian and Metis Committee. Sub-committee on Education.
Archbishop Philip F. Pocock,
President,
Welfare Council of Greater Winnipeg.
Reverend Ian Harvey, Lloyd Lenton,
Chairman, Secretary,
Sub-committee on Community Indian and Metis Committee.
Development.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I shall now ask Father Renaud to
make a few preliminary remarks and give a brief summary of the main
points contained in the brief.

Reverend Father ANDRE RENAUD O.M.L: Mr. Chairman, may I have your
permission to remain seated?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes, of course.

Father RENAUD: Ladies and gentlemen, first of all I should like to say a
few words about the organization or group presenting the brief. Technically,
it is presented by a committee under the auspices of the greater Winnipeg
welfare council. That committee was set up seven years ago at a time when
people in Winnipeg became aware, not to say, alarmed that the influx of
people of Indian descent to Winnipeg was increasing, and that their integration
within the local community was running into all sorts of difficulties. Therefore,
it was decided to hold a conference to study the situation and see what action
could be taken to meet it. To this conference were invited all the Indians in
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the town and people of Indian descent as well as representatives from the
reserves, if any wished to attend. Also invited were the agencies and individuals
who had experience of work among Indians, either as teachers, nurses, and
so forth. In addition, all the voluntary organizations which make up the Winni-
peg welfare council and which are community minded, were invited.

This conference has been repeated every year since then and, in the
process, the participants of both backgrounds have learned a tremendous deal
about their common problems. Both have grown, so to speak, into a much
better understanding of each other and have developed a very definite spirit
of teamwork in tackling all the problems involved.

The impact of these conferences over the years has led the provincial
government to call for a study to be made of the social and economic conditions
of people of Indian descent, a study which was directed by Mr. Jean Lagasse,
which eventually led to the establishment of a provincial program of com-
munity development among the Indian and metis population. This new division
of the provincial government has reported to your community, in a submission
made in a brief presented at your eighth meeting last session.

One of the results of these conferences has been that the people of Indian
background have learned to associate in work with non-Indians, and have
developed a sense of participation in tackling their own problems with outside
help. I was fortunate enough to have been invited to participate in these
conferences from their inauguration, and have done so in various capacities.
This, I may add, is the reason why I have been asked to present this brief
which sums up the accumulated experience not only of the conferences but
of studies, visits and pilot projects, both at municipal and provincial levels.

Members of the committee will note that the first part of the brief deals
with community development. A community development is not a new term
so far as this committee is concerned. If you look back through the briefs
presented by many of the larger organizations in Canada such as churches, the
Canadian welfare council, and the Indian-Eskimo association, you will find
community development has appeared as a continuing refrain. In that connec-
tion, I should point out that there has been more or less agreement among all
organizations across the country that, because the committee in Winnipeg had
greater experience and had made a greater study of community development,
it should be left to our group to spell out community development in terms
of the Indian situation, and this is what the first section of our brief does.

: I should now like to direct the attention of members to the paragraph
in our brief in which this community development is described in relation to
the Indian situation. The first pages of the first part of the brief sum up
conditions that are well known as applying to the economic and social well
being of Indians, and perhaps I should point out that conditions in Manitoba
reserves in many communities are, perhaps, on the whole, worse than else-
where, and perhaps this is what has awakened the awareness of the provincial
government. As the chief said this morning, a good deal of the reserves are on
the rocks. Sixty-five per cent of them, until at least a year ago, were inacces-
sxblg by road. The experience, through contact, has been that Indians and
Metis have felt despondent and unwilling to see a way out. This is why it has
been learned by the Winnipeg people and the Manitoba people involved in
this whole experience, that the main thing to bring back to the Indians, as
stated on page 3, is the willingness, confidence and competence to make their
own way in life, whether they elect to remain among themselves or to move
into our group.

3 Af@er studying what was done elsewhere, it was discovered that the problem
in helping a group like the Indians and the Metis is how to channel technical
and material assistance in such a way that their initiative is not destroyed but
developed and encouraged, if it is lacking. The experience in other countries,
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beginning with colonial office work in Africa and now with the United Nations,
India, Pakistan and many others, is that this can only be done if local groups
are effectively involved at all stages, from initial discussions through planning
to final execution, in carrying out local improvement projects. In other words,
community development is not strictly aimed at economic betterment; it is
aimed at the over-all development or betterment of a community, and it aims,
in particular, at developing the community spirit which can carry on further
development or can be used for programs on a national scope. This is why, on
page 4, the committee states:

All we ask is that it not be forgotten that the ‘community’ which
is being developed is the people, and not the place where they happen
to be living!

In other words, if economic resources do not favour a big stage in the
economic development, it does imply that the community cannot develop in
tackling some problems.

Now, beginning with page 4, is a definition of ‘“‘community development”,
technically speaking, as applied to the Indian. It states that if the Indians have
not progressed further, it is because they did not have full opportunity to
participate, much less to lead, in programs designed for improvement in their
own circumstances: In other words, they were given, or provided, with many
services of a various nature, but very seldom were they brought into a thorough
planning and execution of the program.

The steps in planning community development at a local level are listed
under four paragraphs. First, establishing the particular needs as seen by the
people themselves. This is a very sound pedagogy because it starts with what
motivates people, what gets people to act, and what are their felt needs, not
the need as seen by an outsider.

The second step is systematic planning by the group to carry out a further
program as selected. In the planning are included all the available local re-
sources, human and material, to see how far the community can go on its
own. At the same time, the aim is to find out what exactly is missing for which
something must be borrowed, capital or technical help.

The third phase, of course, is the implementation of the project, which
implies complete mobilization and harnessing of the whole potential of the
group.

The last step, of course, is the willingness to undertake additional com-

- munity improvement projects.

How is this administered in terms of government? The role of -the govern-
ment, in such a scheme, is not to exercise authority but to premote initiative
and to relate the group to outside sources of information or of help. In this
respect, community development assumes, so to speak, the educational role
which any administration has, and this educational role is more important
with people like Indians and Metis because from their background they have
not developed the skills necessary to carry on their own administration. So it
is recommended that, should the policy of community development be
approved or adopted, the Indian affairs branch would number, at their top
level, a chief of community development who would have equal rank with
the heads of divisions. Of course he would need to be trained, and he would
be the one to show how the various services and resources of the branch
can be brought together to promote community development. Of course, the
key people in such a situation are the community workers, and the brief
describes quite extensively what type of people they are; what type of work
they do and what type of training they need. It recommends that, as much
as possible, in the long run these community developement workers be of
Indian ancestry, because it is easier for them to understand the ambitions
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of their people and to interpret to their people what comes from the outside.
A community development program needs also to be supported by all kinds
of technical specialists, but it is pointed out in the brief that the specialists
are already there, but too often they work individually; each one carries out
his own program and reports to his cwn headquarters whether in the university,
the provincial government or the federal government, instead of reporting
to the people for whom the services are provided. Perhaps a certain number
of specialists will need to be added in order to provide the community with
the technical advice necessary.

All along, the role of every outsider, beginning with the community
worker, is to let the group carry the ball, so to say, and take the initiative.
In practice this means that, as much as possible, committees will be set up
to study the problems, to explore the local resources, to reach out to out-
side resources, and then to carry on the execution of the plan. When this is
done, it means that the people get a chance to be involved all along, and
they get a sense that this is their work, this is their community, this is
their achievement. If you look back at history you find that the Indians all
along, like any other people in the world, have adjusted themselves to
changes, and, like any other people, they have agreed to change their general
consensus in a community. Because the changes were slow in “coming at
first and the groups were small, there was no delegated authority to bring
about a general consensus, like in our own society. We have parliament which
studies a problem and we ratify what they decide. The Indian natives did
not have this type of institution.

Now the changes have hit them so fast that the ordinary common con-
sensus that can be reached through face to face relationship is impossible.

Furthermore, over the last 100 years or more we have assumed the re-
sponsibility to guide them, so to speak, and in fact to promote the changes
ourselves, not always trying to get their consensus. In order to give them back
the experience of agreeing to change, this community devlopment approach is
suggested, so that through committee work there will be decision reached, there
will be ideas brought in and a general consensus will come about and the
changes will be made. The changes will be accepted because they will come from
within. =

There are many outcomes of such a program as illustrated elsewhere and
as illustrated in the Winnipeg welfare experiences. Not only do things
change materially, but it is the people who learn or develop a knowledge of
technical methods in economic production or consumption in community admin-
istration and so on. It is the kind of training which they need when they move
out into other communities in order to participate in our own social life. Com-
munity development also, as has been shown, has helped tremendously to
eradicate illiteracy. Once people are saddled with the true responsibility of
solving their own problems and once they feel the need to reach out for more
information they become aware that they need to read, and then a literacy cam-
paign sets in. There are all sorts of other adult education outcomes from a
program of this kind. Essentially, and this“is what is most important, com-
munity development as experienced already in Manitoba, and as experienced in
some other provinces too, at the local level, does overcome the apathy of the
Indian and promotes a desire for and confidence that they can bring about the
changes.

The brief does not recommend any specific pattern of administration, out-
side of a chief of economic development, and it does not lay out how much it
would cost either.

In practical terms on a long range, it has often been said that if the Indians
eventually did get involved into action and learned how to improve themselves,
and learned all sorts of new skills, the welfare bill which we are saddle with
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presently would decrease. The one conclusion which remains also is that the
present staff of the Indian affairs branch would have to be more or less con-
ditioned, you might say, to this type of approach, because of long-standing
traditions that are different.

Finally, it is expected that at the beginning many Indian groups will not
react favourably. They are definitely suspicious in many places and in many
areas of anything that comes from outside; and in some places it has taken
three years before they could see that this was their baby and that it was their
salvation.

So much for the first part of the brief, Mr. Chairman. Perhaps there are
some questions now.

Mr. THOMAS: Has not the Indian affairs branch now established this
director of economic development?

Father RENAUD: Yes they have a director of economic development to pro-
mote industries and various things, but this is another almost unilateral service,
you might say. It is not, as far as we can see, a community development direc-
tor. This is to develop economic resources in communities whereas, what is
recommended is community development, which is the people themselves.

Miss LAMARSH: As a new member of the committee I have noticed that
there is quite a divergence between the briefs presented by Indians and the
briefs presented by others. This brief, I might say, surely recommends itself
to me in its approach. Those presented by non-Indians appear to assume that
integration is the goal to which we should work. Oddly enough, these briefs
say we should be listening to Indians, that they should have more participation
in their own affairs from the lowest to the highest level in Indian affairs. Yet
the briefs which are presented by Indian groups are those such as the ones
presented this morning, and that were presented yesterday, which are going
back to treaty rights, to a request to the government to be more paternal, to
provide more services and in a sense make them more dependent and less
capable of integrating. Has it been your experience, Father, in this Indian and
Metis committee, that when those of Indian descent meet with whites, their
feeling is also that we should be working towards full integration? Is this a
matter of education? Is it only those Indians who are not so experienced, who
have not mixed with whites, who appear to be against integration and for pres-
ervation of the relics of 120 years ago?

Father RENAUD: I am not sure I understand exactly. Would you repeat
your last sentence?

Miss LaMarsH: I cannot do that, as I never listen to what I say. The
sense is this, that you were saying it is a good thing to have Indians nominated
on committees and to have them given more and more voice in the handling
of their own affairs. Yet where we have had briefs presented here from Indian
groups, they concentrate on their needs, they are asking for more paternalism,
more benefits, in other words for the federal government to take almost complete
charge of them. Yet your briefs and others similar seem to say that we should
be leading Indians to integrate completely, to stand on their own feet as
Canadian citizens, which means in a period of time, no matter how long it is,
less and less federal paternalism. Has it been your experience that when
Indian natives come to groups where they are mixing with whites all the time,
they agree with the concept of integration and not of protection in the same
old habits?

Father RENAUD: I have the impression that you are using integration slightly
in a different meaning at this stage. You give it a broader meaning. You give
it a sociological meaning, you might say, instead of a physical meaning. As to
the experience, let us take just the case of the Manitoba and Winnipeg welfare
council which seems to tell this story. Up until this time, in most areas the
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Indians had so little to do with the planning of the services brought to them
and so little to do with sharing costs and everything else, and to a certain
extent with the execution, that they have been led to believe that the govern-
ment was the only one who could do things and who should do things. In
Winnipeg over the years we have seen how the Indians, and the metis of
course, originally came out with the same type of request as you have been
receiving here on this committee. But because it was on a workshop basis and

there were people from Indian affairs, people from the various departments of

the provincial government, teachers and so on, there was created an atmosphere
of sharing ideas. 'They were given a different picture of the mechanics of
Indian affairs, you see. And for the first time many of them realized that this
was not so, that the local superintendent could not make it rain or shine, and
that he was under regulations and under authority and so on, and that he had
his own difficulties.

It was rather amusing last year in particular at one of the workshops to
see how, at the end of the two days, when a newcomer came in and started to
ask questions, the Indians presented the point of view of the branch.

They were aware of the difficulties of the branch in, for example, the
housing program. Of course the branch people were presenting the points of
view of the Indians. You see, there had been an exchange of points of view,
which developed better team work.

What the Indians have learned is, first of all, that Indian affairs cannot
do everything. That is for sure. And i1t Indians have to wait for Indian affairs
to come out and do it, it may take years.

On the other hand, there are certain things which the Indians can do
if they are helped with a certain amount of cash, or with certain phases of
the project which they have in mind, and if they are given access to certain
material resources.

Then, of course, the material resources, constitute a different problem
altogether. The regulations in respect of loans, for instance, and banks and
so on—this is an area which will have to be studied by this committee, I
suppose, very carefully. But in general, Indians have learned that there are
many things they can do, before they request anything. They have learned, as
far as provincial governments are concerned, that before they request any-
thing, they have to make sure that they have explored all the financial and
capital resources among themselves or in the area in which they work.

Each year they come with recommendations which they have learned of
from their reserves or communities. These recommendations or resolutions
are discussed openly in these workshops.

This year I have seen Indians from other reserves, that is, people from
other reserves. They will say: you do not have to write to the Prime Minister
gbout this. You can get this through other channels. They give that kind of
information, which they did not have before. And without that information,
there was no other one source of action or of anything except Indian affairs.
ﬁlr}d as long as this persists, the Indians will come asking for more paternalistic

mgs.

Miss LAMARsH: Does the Father feel that amongst the Indians—at least
those of his experience—it is a popular concept to be aiming at ultimate
integration, or is it a more popular concept to preserve the reserves with
all the. tribal customs as far as possible, and to work against integration? I
mean integration in its widest sense, not just physical, social and economic;

;)u(; to ;iln end where there are just Canadian citizens, not Indians and non-
naians:

Eather RENAUD': It is my impression, on the whole, that many groups do
not like the word “integration”. What they are after is definitely the preserva-
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tion of something of their own, such as a home of their own, a community of
their own to which they can retire in their old age, or go to on weekends
and so on—in short something which is their own.

And they also want to improve their standards of living. They want proper
housing, and better schools. They want more sources of income.

I would say that a large number of them did not want it. That is, they
are rather afraid that if they leave the reserve for good, they will lose their
home base, so to speak. Therefore they are fearful that integration would
mean just that.

Now, whether they understand that they can do this in their own com-
munity, and integrate the community, and still have their own homes, and
just preserve what they feel must be preserved as a group, is an important
matter. After all, they have not had much opportunity to discuss these things
openly and with others. And quite often enough, it is only a dream among
themselves. Their information is limited.

They interpret statements from all of us, when they appear in print, for
their own purpose. Mostly it is a misinterpretation. Often enough they will
say that what they want is to be Canadian. They know that they want to
get something. They are loyal to their background.

They feel that many educated Indians are fully integrated from a social
and economic point of view, but they still insist that they feel that they have
inherited something worth while preserving, which makes for happiness in
their home and personal life. These are things they want to preserve to pass
along to their children. Therefore, if they feel that the only way they can do
this is to cling to their home base, or community, or reserve, they will cling to
the reserve system.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: Going back to the original question asked by Miss
LaMarsh, in speaking to the superintendents in the reserves, I found some of
them rather hesitant about discussing this whole problem. That may be because
they felt that they had a directive from Ottawa, as they told me, to do certain
things. Yet, they personally feel that this is not the line which should be
followed.

For example, consider this drift towards the welfare state and the giving
to them of whatever they require. They feel that perhaps the Indian does
not take enough initiative into his own hands to be able to develop himself,
such as he would be able to if he were allowed to shift for himself, if I may
use that expression.

Is that your impression also, that this may hamper them from developing
in the way that you perhaps would like to see, as it is presented in your brief
here?

Father RENAUD: You mean the set up?

Mr. KorcHINSKI: The set up as it is now, the structure; there is a need,
let us say and we say that we will provide for it, if you will only see your
agent. Perhaps they just want to do the things they want. Maybe it will defeat
your intention here if we continue in this line, as we are doing now.

Father RENAuUD: Oh yes, I think that is the impression of all of us who
participated in the conference. First of all, community development was
disillusioned, and the present pattern of providing services and improvements
and so on was not in line with community development, because, even with a
recommendation in your local group, it has to be processed in so many ways
that it takes time before approval comes for it, and in the meantime, they
sort of lose interest. The final decision making has to be ratified too far away,
you see.

That is why in the brief they said that there is no doubt that if the
community development approach is approved, that a certain amount of

24851-8—4
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orientation, to say the least, is required, with probably some changes in the
structure. These would have to be made in the present set up so that the
community development will not be just another service parallel, so to speak,

but will be a focus whereby all the services at the local level will be integrated

into community life.

Mr. THoMAS: It has been my impression that what the Father has been
saying is: that the concept or the ideal towards which the Indian Affairs
Department is working at the present time is this very thing.

Father RENAUD: I am not in a position to answer that.

Mr. THoMmAS: And the brief implies that this is not so. I wonder if the
Father would care to comment? Does the Father think that the present objec-
tives of the Indian affairs branch, and the present indications of the govern-
ment, are not leading to community development? Or does he think that they
are not sufficiently stressed? '

Father RENAUD: Well, let us say that the objectives are right, that the
objectives of the branch and of the government are correct. We do not
see community development as an end, but as a means whereby to reach
these objectives. But we are not sure as yet. The practices and structures of
the branch have been, overall, along the lines of community development. -

Mr. BaLpwiN: That brings up a point I have in mind; you regard the
suggestion of this program of community development as a means to achieve
an end. Going back to Miss LaMarsh’s statement, you believe, after having
read a number of these briefs and having been present last year when a
number of organizations were here, that their complaint in effect was that
they had not achieved the various material benefits which they felt might
come with integration, such as a better standard of living, better housing
and more economic opportunities. That is what your brief this morning seemed
to cover; that there were various material things they thought they should
have. On the other hand, you seem to suggest that the flexible program  of
community development is a means by which, if applied at the grass roots
level to the Indians, they can achieve some of these things.

Father RENAUD: Yes. I am quite sure the members of this committee
were struck by the variety of requests coming from wvarious Indian groups,
and the differences of opinion. We believe that community development is
the one formula which is flexible enough to bring about the implementation
of most of the recommendations or requests from the Indians in the wvarious
areas if, of course, these requests are definitely the expression of felt needs.

Mr. THoMAS: Father Renaud mentions the director who would head
up such a branch of community development. Could he tell us what, in his
opinion, should be the qualifications of such an individual?

Father RENAUD: This is quite well described in the brief. It is on page 7.
He should be required at least to have experience in the use of technical
assistance and community development methods. There is quite a sum-
mation here. There are more and more of these people in the world. There
are some in Canada who have learned these techniques through the United
Nations or with some of the newer governments around the world which
have borrowed Canadians for technical assistance programs.

Miss LaMarsH: I will try to do this without offending anyone, but do
I understand Father Renaud to say that there is sort of an empire feeling now
in the branch, that these are all children of the empire and someone must
tell them what is good for them, and that this attitude must give way to the
sort of thing there is in the African nations now, of helping people to their
own feet. This was brought up by a question of one of my colleagues, that
there is a policy laid down by somebody within the branch, or by virtue
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of legislation, that this shall be a benevolent society whether or not it
crushes the Indian, and what is necessary is that the protectiveness be
removed. Do you agree there is this feeling?

Father RENAUD: I would not agree in the terms that there is a feeling of
that nature; that would be dishonest on my part. The government officials
I know, at least consciously, do not, and they certainly do not express such
a feeling, with the possible exception of one here and there. It might be that
it is the structure of the branch which is not geared to this type of growth.

Mr. McQUILLAN: Do you not think this type of development of which
you are thinking would come about better under provincial guidance?

Father RENAUD: I think so. After all, municipal affairs are a matter of
provincial jurisdiction. Technically speaking, I can see the promotion of the
Indian community done at municipal level. In terms of administration this
is what it would mean. Many communities in Manitoba have agreed to pay
the cost with the province providing any apparatus, you might say.

Mr. McQuILLAN: To me that seems to be one of the real problems we are
faced with in this case. These presentations are made on behalf of a certain
area or a certain group of Indians, or because of a situation prevailing in a
certain province, and it is automatically taken that that will apply all across
Canada. The Indian Act, being a federal act, of necessity applies in a general
fashion. One of the great weaknesses is that we have one group of people
governed by federal laws and the rest of the people governed by provincial
laws.

Father RENAUD: Yes. This was what the Canadian welfare council brief
mentioned yesterday.

Miss LAMARsH: This is perhaps a difficult question to answer. We seem to
have made quite a botch out of this in the last 100 years. I wonder whether
Father Renaud can say, in his estimation, that another 50 years might accom-
plish the end of the self-help. In other words, the various bands might be able
to conduct their own affairs. Do you think it would be possible in 50 years?

Father RENAUD: It would depend on the group itself. I have the impression
that some groups in Ontario, for various historic reasons which play in their
favour, already have reached a stage of self-government and are running their
own affairs. I believe they are very happy. The recommendation in the brief,
however, is to bring this development within the reach of as many groups as
possible. Certain conditions will make it impossible for smaller groups to reach
that stage. This would mean that certain provisions should be made in the
Indian Act perhaps to give them an opportunity to move elsewhere, possibly to
another group which is larger and is developing. Perhaps the provision which
restricts residence to the local band should be waived so that those individuals
who cannot readily move into our own society would be able to profit from
such a move. But, if this comes to pass, say, in fifty years, we would see the
flowering of this. -

Miss LaMArsH: The reason I have mentioned fifty years is because I am
thinking of the rest of the world, such as nations in South Africa. It has been
necessary to put a limited period on them in so far as the limitation of assistance
is concerned, at which time autonomy will be handed over to the people to
whom the nations belong. Can we, within our lifetime, look to the time when
Indian affairs will be in the hands of Indians and not as a separate part of the
commonwealth?

Father RENAUD: Speaking country-wise, I do not think that we will see it,

~ because there are so many groups that are so isolated and so far behind, and

with so little contact.
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Miss LaMarsH: They are worse off than the natives of Canada?

Father RENAUD: I have never been in Africa, so I cannot answer your
question. I know of one way in which they are worse off, and that is because
they are so few in number. In Africa they have villages, large tribes and so on;
however, when you think of groups such as the Chippeway Indians who are
isolated in the northern sections of the prairie provinces, that is a different
question. In some respects they are worse off. However, in another way, they
are happier because they still have freedom of movement and so on. They are
closer to their tradition and do not feel the impact of the rest of the country
as yet. I would say that their cultural personality is healthier than some of the
groups in the south. If I may say so, our conditions of living would be difficult
to find elsewhere, particularly when you think of our long, hard winters.

Mr. BaLpwin: I suppose there is this distinction, that the Indians have just
recently been given the right to vote, which of course does permit them to place
pressure upon elected representatives to secure the needs they think they should
have. This is quite distinct from the situation in South Africa.

Father RENAUD: Yes.

Mr. BALDWIN: Indians in Canada now have the vote, and this permits them
to place pressure upon their elected representatives.

Father RENAUD: Yes. Personally, if you would allow me this reflection, I
would say that I think, basically, the solution to the dead end at which the bulk
of our Indian problems will be solved is when the dialogue between Indians
and non-Indians will be stepped up and when the Indian and non-Indian will
communicate at all levels. The vote is one thing. As you mentioned, politicians
will go up and meet the Indians, and they will exchange views with them. The
politicians will explain what the government can do and what it cannot do.
The Indians will express their opinions.

In a community approach a lot more of this is done, as politicians from out-
side are pretty apt to listen to what they have in mind, and they would share
the experience of the non-Indian in tackling such-and-such a problem. As more
and more of this resolves itself, I think that more and more Indians will feel
that probably the barriers of their reserve have to be removed, inasmuch as
they will accept non-Indians to live among them. Once they discover that there
are more and more people willing to help them, instead of destroying them,—
white-wash them, or whatever you want to call it—and once they realize there
are more individuals, technicians and so on, who are willing to share their
community experience, they will invite them to live with them just as the
newer countries are inviting many of the technical experts who go down there,
to remain there. They offer them all sorts of facilities which they would not
get in Canada.

Mr. McQuiLLAN: Mr. Chairman, this is a somewhat different situation, as
it pertains across Canada. We have 185,000 Indians, which is about the popula-
tion it was when the white man first came to Canada. There never has been
sufficient population, and there still is not in many areas, to develop an economy
of their own. They never had an economy. I still revert to. this, that I do not
think that the Indian lot was a happy one, because if it had been, before the
white man came, the country would have been well populated.

Father RENAUD: Well, there are many factors missing which would have
been necessary to promote human growth on our continent. I am thinking of
the lack of horses and easy means of communication. Then there is also the
weather. It prevented farming even on a primitive scale.

Mr. FANE: You are talking about the time before the white man came?

Father RENAUD: Yes.
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Mr. FANE: There were many other factors which you would have to take
into consideration in comparing it with the present situation, such as the con-
tinuous battles amongst the various tribes.

Father RENAUD: It has not been established that there were that many
battles. They were too busy trying to make a living to become engaged in long-
range battles.

Mr. FaNE: Perhaps so, but those are the things you hear about.

Father RENAUD: One thing I would like to state here, in connection with
this brief and what we have been discussing, is that, notwithstanding all their
shortcomings in terms of economic development and material standards of liv-
ing, the Indian groups do have a sense of ethnicity, and no matter how poor the
comparison between their forefathers and people elsewhere, they still believe
that, sure enough, we do not have this and that, and so on, but we had some-
thing. This is what we have to respect; and this is what this brief recommends.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any more questions on
this part of the brief? If not, I would ask you to continue, Father Renaud.

Father RENAUD: The second part of the brief is an extension, you might
say, of the community development approach to education. Here again there
have been many recommendations made to this committee by various groups,
which are repeated in this brief. However, they are grouped in this community
development approach, the idea being that the people in the local community
must be equipped with skills which will hasten community growth and the
educational activities within the community must be, to a certain extent,
planned and controlled, you might say, at various stages and various phases, at
least within the reach of control of the local communities.

The most significant statement is on page two and everything that comes
after it is in explanation of it. It starts off by saying:

Generally speaking, in our Canadian society, all the activities of
the school are based on or inspired by the cultural background of the
community in which it operates, and aim at preparing pupils for life in
this community. The role of schools as a means to solving problems facing
the Indians is of a slightly different nature in that schools attempt to pre-
pare the pupils for life in a community other than that from which the
majority of the pupils originate. We have shown earlier in our discussion
on community development, that there is a need to greatly improve the
kinds of communities in which people of Indian descent are living. The
role of the school in the program of the Indian Affairs Branch must be
seen in the light of our discussion on community development. The
schools become not only a medium for transmitting culture but to a
certain degree for changing it. The schools must attempt to bring to the
Indian communities such skills and information as are required to malke
it possible for the Indian people to recognize conditions in their own
culture which are not suitable and want to change them.

This is again in terms of the local community because many of the skills are
present in certain communities and are not present in others.

Our brief continues:

When the Indian ‘culture has become adapted to the needs of the
modern Indian, it is likely that their school system may start playing
a role which will be more similar to the one being played by our other
Canadian schools. Until this happens, there is a need for combining in
the Indian school system the information, skills and social climate which
will make change possible.
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Then the brief goes on to deal with the kind of structure which would be
necessary to bring this about, and in that particular area its recommendations
are quite specific so far as the Indian affairs branch is concerned.’

It may add that it contains a very elaborate description of the administra-
tive organization within let us say, the province of Manitoba, which could be
repeated or duplicated in other provinces, in order to use more and more the
schools which are already present in various communities to serve that func-
tion for the present generation. I do not know whether it is necessary, or
whether we have time to go through this part of the brief in detail. To a certain
extent it describes an almost autonomous situation in a regional office which
would handle everything that concerns education.

The present set up in the branch is, terminologically speaking, on the staff
type of organization. At headquarters and regional level are the provincial
and regional superintendents, so that everything which pertains to education
goes through the regular line of personnel in the branch. For instance, adminis-
tration is all carried out by the local superintendents who handle administra-
tively every other service of the branch.

What we suggest is a separate setup for education so that the educational
experts will have more time to concentrate on the manipulation of, shall we
say, the curriculum, helping teachers to adjust their teaching to the local
group in order to sponsor local community development and, at the same time,
the administration will look after the integration of the school with the com-
munity. One recommendation in particular which is well taken is on page 8,
dealing with the local committees.

Now, a branch has already sponsored many committees on the reserve.
What this brief recommends is that these committees be given an active share
in the operation of the school, not only a marginal role, but an essential
role. The recommendations on these two pages about local committees are
based on experience with metis communities where this has taken place and
where the results have been very interesting, as is stated on page 11. The
school has become the direct concern of the community, instead of being a
government school. The local people have developed a keen interest in educa-
tion, they feel it is their school. The grade level has been raised, and the com-
munity as a whole has become cooperative—there has been less window break-
ing and so forth. Of course the community, as a whole, has developed a pride
in its school building—it has become their school. Further on it is mentioned
how the school becomes more the school of the community when it is built
and when provision has been made for adult education, so that the parents
feel that this is their school as much as the children’s school. This means, per-
haps larger desks so that adults can sit, and so forth.

The curriculum section repeats, perhaps in greater detail, what has been
recommended by many briefs, including the Indian-Eskimo association, and
insists on one point—that of physical education. It spells out an expanded
program of guidance and follow-up which would need to be much more ela-
borate than at present.

The brief also illustrates what has been recommended by other briefs,
name]y teacher training for this type of work. Again, the recommendations
are quite clear and specific without needing further explanation on my part.

Novy, one thing which is in the experience of Manitoba, is found on page 19
concerning local high schools. The experience with metis communities, as
with many other communities, is that the closer you can have a high school,
the more pupils attend. Of course, it implies that if you want to have a fair-sized
high school, that you make it a regional high school without trying to make
a mammoth composite high school. But the experience is, that if it is within
not too far a distance and the pupibls have access to the high school all the
way to grade 12, more of them go to it, rather than if you have to take them
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out from the community altogether to be residents in hostels or private homes.
In those cases less pupils attend the school because it means more adjustment.
Also, once you have a high school in an area, and if the reserve or the com-
munity is large enough to have a local high school, it is harder for the children
to leave the school before grade 12.

There is a trend to go all the way up, and this is what they recommend
here, that as much as possible there should be regional junior high schools
up to grade 12. Of course, this is another thing which is considered in the
community development approach—if you have a high school within access
of the majority of pupils, the adults learn a lot more from it than if the
children have to go to another city and live in homes and hostels. Mind you,
it is true that at the high school level, housing conditions have to be better.
High school grades do require a certain amount of homework and study, and
it cannot be done in a small house where the whole family is cooped up in
two rooms. Again, you can see the connection between community development
and education. But there is a definite feed-back into the local community when
the high school is close to the children and to the specialists who are present
within reach of the adults.

There is also, on page 20, a very detailed description of pre-technical
schools. This is something that the other briefs have also recommended; but
here again there is a more detailed description of what could be done—short
courses in order to teach Indians to earn a living in various skilled trades.
Again, I do not know that it is necessary to go through this.

The chapter on adult education is something that is found in another
brief, but it is spelled out here more clearly, and it recommends that in hiring
teachers, priority be given to those with experience in adult training, because
it is not enough to say: all right, we have got teachers, all they have to do is
organize classes and invite the Indians to come in and take night classes in
arithmetic or reading, and so on. It does not work that way. Adults usually
take courses for special interests and it is those interests that must be the start
of the courses or the program of adult education.

There is a recommendation for the appointment of a full-time adult edu-
cator at a regional level to work with qualified teachers throughout the
province. An adult education moderator in a province would be able to draw
on the resources of the province outside of federal agencies. Here and there
you will notice there are compliments to the branch for many of the things
it is doing, particularly in the field of scholarships. This is where Indians are
better off than Metis in Manitoba because they have access to scholarships
and so on.

Mr. THOMAS: I note that there is very little reference, if any, to integrated
schools in this brief. Would the Father care to comment on that?

Father RENAUD: Mr. Chairman, this is for two reasons. One is that in many
areas of Manitoba you just cannot have the integrated school, to start with,
as in the majority of Indian communities, whereas you can have an integrated
school with metis or people of non-Indian status.

Miss LaMarsH: Why?

Father RENAUD: Secondly, the brief is in line with community development,
and community development in terms of communities is away below our
standards. It is on the assumption that children from groups that are closer to
Indian tradition and further away from our own profit much less from the
integrated school. In fact, some surveys in the United States have shown that
they progress less than if they are in their own school because the home back-
ground is so different. The teaching that goes on in the integrated school is in
relation to whites and it is aimed at the home background of the non-Indians;
and if there is too much difference between the two home backgrounds it is the
Indian that stays on the wayside.
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In many instances it is easy to understand that the teacher who has both
groups of children, particularly if there is a great variation between the
culture levels, let us say, of the two groups, finds that she has to cater to the
top group, so to speak. The parents are close by, they are on the school board
and everything else, and the children are going on to university and so on.

In some areas, as in the Cariboo district for instance, where you have
settlers of recent establishment, the association between the two is much
closer. Then there is the program of the school, the on-going curriculum is
closer to the Indians and there the integrated school can work.

In Manitoba and many other areas, particularly if you have your program
of community development at the start, it is better to have separate schools,
particularly if you want to teach English to start with. In an integrated school, -
unless you have teachers who are specialists in teaching English to new
Canadians, you do not have the type of specialist who will bring the children
into the regular course.

Mr. THOMAS: What about the high schools? Would these comments of
yours apply with as great force to high schools as they do to elementary
schools?

Father RENAUD: Well, the comments for high schools are in terms of a
regional set up. If, in the area, there could be a mixed school to which Indians
would have access, if it is a community school, as you might call it, and if
the Indians are well prepared for it, then sure; but for so many programs it
is much better to have them in a high school or in a common high school,
because a common high school would usually have more facilities. '

Mr. THomAs: Let us say there is an Indian community large enough to
support a high school. Would you say it would be better for that community
to supply a high school of their own rather than to van their children outside
of the Indian area to surrounding high schools?

Father REnAUD: It is hard to decide. If you are going to get more Indians
to complete their high schooling, I would prefer to have the school in the
centre of the Indian agglomeration, because, after all, there are two things
involved in education: there is academics, and there is social contacts.

From my point of view academics come first. And if more Indians do reach
grade 12 through their own schools, let us say, they will feel all the stronger;
they will be more able to compete with the whites than if they take up
merely social courses through attending grades 9 or 10, and then pull out.
This varies, of course, from area to area.

. Mr. TH_OMAS: I gathered from your comments that you feel that the Indian
children might find a reason to feel less secure in an integrated school than
they would feel in their own school.

Father RENAUD: Oh yes. In many ways that has been my experience.
Mal}y of the graduates, let us say, from “Lebruk,” where we have an old
Indian high school, have told me that they would not have survived in a
mixed school, because as has been mentioned in this committee,—I think Dr.
Munro brought it out last week—many Indians who go to high school become
dxsqouraged. They tell me this: that if we had been in competition witk non
Indians, we would have become discouraged. We would feel that we are Indians,
and that we cannot make it. But when you have an Indian group, there is
always one who is not discouraged, and he comes up with first grade marks.
So_ the others cannot blame themselves, because he is an Indian and he is
doing well. But you cannot generalize with a thing like this.

Mr. BALbwIN: What Father Renaud, in effect, is saying is this: he empha-

sizes in part 1 of the brief that flexibility is the very basis of this community
development program which you have in mind. Is that not right?
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Father RENAUD: Yes.

Mr. Barpwin: And so far as the educational aspect of it is concerned,
you must base you requirement on the particular community which you
propose to develop, and give the area a chance, an opportunity.

I was very much taken in what was said, because there are, in the dis-
trict of Fort Drummond, some 5,000 people. These include a number of
white people, some of whom have lived there for 100 years. It also includes
a .number of Metis, and a number of Indians. Do you think it would be
advisable—and I take it that you would say yes from what you have said
before—for the Indians to go to school, particularly to high school in that
community, especially if they should instal an integrated high school where
they would be going to school along with children with whom they have
grown up and have known for many years. That would be an ideal situa-
tion, would you not say?

Father RENAUD: Oh yes, I would think so, because if there are 5,000
people, I imagine you could support a fairly good high school there. That
high school would reflect the area in many respects. It would include the
children of the area, and they would not be split up. That is the problem, it
seems to me. It would involve their bucking down and doing book work,
which is awfully hard for children of the wilds; and secondly, they are
strangers to life in houses which they have never been in, and so on.

Mr. BALbwinN: It would be preferable for them to complete their high
schooling there, rather than to go away to a larger center completely out of
the environment that they have been used to.

Father RENAUD: Oh yes, I am convinced that you would have more of
them going through.

Miss LAMARSH: May I ask the Father what he meant by the very flat
statement he made, when he suggested that in Manitoba it is not possible to
have schools of Indians and non-Indians, unless it is the Metis.

Father RENAUD: Yes.

Miss LAMARsH: What do you mean?

Father RENAUD: I mean that it is impossible. The groups are isolated;
they are on their own. You have, for instance, Island lake where perhaps you
have 1,500 Indians in one area. There is no road. How could you get them into
an integrated school?

Miss LAMARsSH: You told us you do have many Indians in Winnipeg.

Father ReEnauD: Yes.

Miss LAMARSH: I assume they go through the regular school program?

Father RENAUD: Yes, those who live in Winnipeg.

Mr. McQUILLAN: What proportion of the Indian population would l1ve
in a remote area of the province?

Father RENAUD: At least sixty-five per cent, if not more.

Mr. THoMAS: Following along on the question of the ability of the high
school Indian students to compete with the non-Indian students, what is the
experience in the city of Winnipeg? Are the Indian children in Winnipeg of
high school age successfully competing?

Father REnauUD: In respect of the local Indians who are in Winnipeg, too
many of them are not going to school at all. This is what brought about this
survey. The Indians were living in slums. The parents were going to jail.
Thirty-five per cent of the monies paid in social welfare by the city was
going to people of Indian background. There is a good deal of work to be
done in order to recuperate the young people who missed out on schooling.
Maybe some of them had a few years, but others had none at all.

Mr. THoMmAs: Would you say that the experience in that regard in con-
nection with the Indian population of Winnipeg is worse, better, or the
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same as the experience with the non-Indian population of Winnipeg whom
we might describe as belonging to the same economic level or group?
Father RENAUD: I do not know that I can answer that question. Let us
say that if you have poor new Canadians in certain areas it seems to be
just a transition for them. They start there in the slums, closer to the down-

town facilities where there are no transportation problems and there is enter-

tainment galore. Then they move out.

Mr. THoMAS: Would their children go to high school?

Father RENAUD: I presume they would. The family would move out into
better accommodation and they would be drawn into the standardized process
of our system; whereas the Indians remain there and the families go back
on the reserve for a while or go back in the bush as they would say. It is still
not clear exactly what goes on in that type of subliminal group. In making
its survey the province of Manitoba has had two anthropologists this summer
investigating conditions there. There is a whole volume reporting on the
patterns of living. 3

Mr. McQuirLaN: At the beginning of your submission you mentioned
that this was approved by various welfare authorities across Canada.

Father RENAUD: The community development program is. advocated by
other groups.

Mr. McQuiLLAaN: The educational problems.

$ Father RENAUD: That varies, of course, with the experience of each group
in each area,—the facilities they have had, the people they have had to play

with, and the amount of orientation they were able to give to their associates.

There are no two situations the same. For instance, from our own experience,
we have different groups working in various areas. In some areas we can see
that a certain pattern is good and yet, in another area, it does not seem to
work out because the factors are different.

Mr. McQuiLLAN: Two very prominent Indian leaders—and they are Indian
thgmselves——in British Columbia have expressed very strongly to this com-
mittee that we must have integrated schools wherever possible. In fact, one of
them said to me that he was willing to fight over it because some of the band
wanted to have this separate school, and he was very much against that.

I'think, in general—and I am speaking primarily of the coastal area—the
experience has been that the sooner you can get the Indian child into the regu-
lar pl;:ovincial integrated school, the better it is both for the child and the
parents.

_ Father RENAUD: Well, my understanding of the coastal community human
beings, which we call Indians, as we call the others across Canada, is that from
an anthropological and sociological point of view they were ahead from the
civilization point of view—civilization meaning living in a settled way of life.
They had large villages and a political structure. They had all these various
activities. They even had slaves, and their economy was fairly prosperous. They
had an ample supply of food. It is a source of admiration to students of an-
thropology that here was a group of human beings who were not farming but
hac} neverthless developed an advanced stage of civilization which is almost
unique, because of the ample supply of food. So all that needed to be doné was
to improve the fishing and marketing techniques, and so on, and to establish
the other patterns of our type of society.

They had their own villages, and as there was a school there it was easy
to have.a day school. The other communities of human beings who came had the
same kind of economy to a certain extent. I can understand why these two
chiefs would advocate what you have said.

.Mr..MCQU’ILLAN: There seems to be a misconception among a lot of non-
Indxaps in that they seem to think that any Indian east of the Rockies is a much
superior being to some of the others.
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Father RENAUD: That all depends on the individual’s point of view.

Mr. SMALL: It generally works the other way around. In the States the
northern people think they are superior to the southern people. You find that
same situation in the white population, as well.

Mr. FANE: There is something I have been wanting to ask for quite a long
while, and it is this: I should like to ask Father Renaud what his feelings would
be if the education of the Indians was left entirely to the provinces in which
they lived. and if all the churches kept out of the business of educating the
Indians. Do you think that if such were the case, they would be better off?

Father RENauD: Well, that is a loaded question, is it not?

Mr. FanNE: Well, I would like to put the question. The Indians in my dis-
trict have told me that if the churches would keep out of it entirely, it would
be much better. There are three or four different churches involved in the
reserves in my area. It appears to be the feeling of several that if all the churches
would keep out of the education business, they perhaps would be in a better
state to become integrated. f

Father RENAUD: It all depends on what you mean by education.

Mr. FANE: I mean academic education. I do not mean religious education.
Religious education is definitely in the domain of the church.

Father RENAUD: Yes, but outside of religious education, if it is to be
the development of native abilities in relation to the environment, the local
and regional environment, and if this is carried out, any agency that does a
good job is a good agency. If the process is restricted to religious education,
then there is no doubt they are missing the boat on what they were supposed
to give. Now, I would not pass a judgment on the whole country and say that
all the churches should be out.

Mr. FANE: I was just wondering if their education should not be left entirely
to the provincial education laws.

Father RENAUD: Let us agree that so far as the standards and the certifica-
tions are concerned, it is the responsibility of the province. Inasmuch as the
federal government has the responsibility to see to it that the Indians are well
educated, I think the responsibility lies with the federal government all along.
Whether it is the federal government which should provide the services is a
different thing altogether. The constitution leaves education to the provinces,
so I will not argue on that one. I see, however, that the federal government
has a responsibility to see to it that these services are turned over to the prov-
inces, that the educational needs of the Indians are met; and I do believe that
the federal government would have to maintain a kind of supervisory role in
this connection, because the Indians have signed a treaty with the federal
government.

Mr. FANE: Definitely, but the federal government does not seem to assume
the responsibility for academic education of these people. It is up to the pro-
vincial governments. i

Father RENAUD: It is not equipped to provide it and it should not duplicate
what the technicians of the province have done. It should see to it, however, that
this provincial service is applied in the best way. If, let us say, tomorrow the
whole thing was given over to the provinces, many Indian groups would suffer
because the provinces in many areas have not developed the experience to
deal with this type of education, which is a very specialized type of education.
As more and more of them concern themselves with metis, there is no reason
why they should not eventually take over.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I thank you very much, Father
Renaud.

Father REnAuD: Thank you, Mr: Chairman, and I thank every member
of this committee for their kind attention.
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The JornT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Before adjourning we shall hear

Chief Cook who was here this morning. I would like to hear him again on a

few specific points. Is that agreeable to the committee?

Chief Cook: Father Renaud is quite right in what he spoke about, but
there is one gentleman here who made a remark that we Indians are always
fighting. How can he prove it when the white man was not here to see us
fighting all the time? .

Mr. FaANE: I made that remark, but that was just from history.

Chief Cooxk: I will take it as a joke.

Mr. FANE: You are a good fighter yourself.

Chief Cook: I was a good runner too, at times.

Mr. FaANE: I was too.

Chief Cook: I would like to say a few words on education, about which
Father Renaud has spoken, education at home on reserves. I will give a few
examples of the Metis. There were three or four settlements not far from our
reserve, the furthest one about 24 miles. Some of these Metis, I guess, are just
as dark as I am and they are educated right at home. Some of those girls are

teaching school in different communities. I think if the Indians got the same

education they would do the same thing.
Mr. FANE: I know it.

Chief Cook: If they got the education right at home, that would be so, but
when they go away from home most of them do not have the same feeling. I
can give some examples of that. Where there are two Indian children going
to school in Winnipeg, the white children are running about after them calling
wo00-wo00-wo0-woo!! The sister then tells the other not to listen to them.

That is why we are against integration, especially in the cities, because the
white children do that. Of course it is the parents’ responsibility. I do not blame
the children. In the case of those children who go to school amongst white
children I have seen it myself where they have mixed with one another because
they knew each other from childhood and are right at home with one another.
That is quite right.

The Peguis is one reserve mixed in with a lot of white people and some
of them go to the same school. I know of some white children who go to the
Indian school, but in the cities I am against integrating. In fact, the child would
not stay. At the first chance the child would go away home, because it is not
accepted. That is one thing I want to make perfectly clear.

There is one other thing which Mr. Jones brought up today about trap
nets. I did not finish on that this morning. These trap nets that they introduced
mean that there are only a few men who operate these nets. I think it is three
men to one net. These nets cost from $600 to $1,000. What poor fisherman could
afford to have a net like that? And how many fish is he going to get by the time
he will operate? He needs a boat, two boats, which cost no less, with a motor,
than $1,000 a piece.

That was a very, very foolish idea, whoever brought these trap nets into
existence for trial. Now that the companies has these nets, they are the only
ones that can afford to operate them. I want to make that clear. It was a
foolish plan, whoever first introduced it. I am just talking from what I have
heard, I am repeating what I have heard. It was a foolish thing for the Indian
department to do. There were hundreds of men and the men who usually made
a livelihood on this fishing now are there just to look on, when these nets are
operated with a few men; whereas before the trap nets everyone was a fisher-
man and all made a living. Some made money, but most of them made a fair
hvmg. Since these trap nets have come in all that has gone away. I am absolutely
against trap nets being used on Lake Winnipeg.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Thank you very much Chief Cook.

Chief Cook: Thank you, ladies and gentlemen.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, April 26, 1961.
(9) i A

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on Indian
Affairs met at 9.30 a.m. this day. The Joint Chairmen, Honourable Senator
James Gladstone and Mr. Lucien Grenier, presided.

Present:
The Senate: Honourable Senators Gladstone, Inman and Stambaugh (3).

The House of Commons: Miss LaMarsh, and Messrs. Badanai, Baldwin,
Barrington, Cadieu, Charlton, Fane, Grenier, Gundlock, Henderson, Horner
(The Battlefords), Howard, Korchinski, Martel, McQuillan, Muir (Cape Breton
North and Victoria), Small, Stefanson, Thomas, and Wratten. (20)

In attendance: From the Queen Victoria Treaty Protective Association:
Mr. Solomon Bluehern, Vice-President and Mr. Albert Chatsis, interpreter.
From the Thuderchild Band: Mr. Edgerton Thunderchild. From the Qu’Appelle
File Hills Agency: Chief John Gambler, Chief Lawrence Thompson, and Chief
Victor Starr. From the Department of Citizenship and Immigration: Mr.
H. M. Jones, Director of Indian Affairs Branch, and Mr. C. I. Fairholm,
Executive Assistant to the Director. From the Department of National Health
and Welfare: Dr. P. E. Moore, Director of Indian and Northern Health Services.

The Chairman announced that a meeting of the Steering Committee would
be held at the conclusion of today’s sitting.

The Clerk read the Second Report of the Subcommittee on Agenda and
Procedure as follows:

1. Your Subcommittee recommends that representatives of the
following Indian Groups be called to appear before the Joint Committee
on Indian Affairs on April 26, 1961:

(a) QuAppelle Indian Advisory Council of Chiefs Independent (2
official delegates)

(b) Queen Victoria Treaty Protective Association (2 official delegates)

(c) Thunderchild Band (1 official delegate)

Your Subcommittee recommends that the Committee pay, on behalf
of the official delegates of the above-mentioned Indian groups, their
travel expenses, together with reasonable living expenses for the period
of time they are in Ottawa; (Such period not to exceed two days).

2. Your Subcommittee recommends that the submissions of Indian
Bands and other organizations who have not made an oral presentation
should be printed as appendices to the Committee’s proceedings.

On motion of Mr. Baldwin, seconded by Honourable Senator Inman,

Resolved—That the Second Report of the Subcommittee on Agenda and
Procedure be now concurred in.

Mr. Bluehorn and Mr. Chatsis were called, and Mr. Chatsis read the brief
of the Queen Victoria Treaty Protective Association.
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The Committee considered the recommendations in the above-mentioned

brief section by section and Mr. Bluehorn and his interpreter, Mr. Chatsis,
were both questioned and supplied additional information thereon. '

Mr. Jones also supplied information on various related matters.

Mr. Chatsis stated that his association was given very brief notice to
prepare their submission. Mr. Grenier advised that the delay was due to the
inability to locate the President of the Association, Mr. Jack who was away on
his trapping lines. X

At 11.00 a.m., the Committee adjourned until 3.30 p.m. this day.

AFTERNOON SITTING
(10)

The Committee resumed at 3.30 p.m., the Joint Chairmen, Honourable
Senator James Gladstone and Mr. Lucien Grenier, presiding.

Present:

The Senate: Honourable Senators Gladstone, Inman and MacDonald (3).

The House of Commons: Miss LaMarsh and Messrs. Badanai, Baldwin,
Cadieu, Charlton, Fane, Grenier, Gundlock, Henderson, Horner (The Battle-
fords) Martel, Small, Stefanson, and Thomas. (14)

In attendance: Same as at morning sitting.

Mr. Grenier made an explanatory statement in reply to Mr. Chatsis, who
at the morning sitting s*ated that his group was given very brief notice to
prepare their submission.

Mr. Thunderchild was called, and on his behalf, Honourable Senator Glad-
stone read the brief of the Thunderchild Band and then elaborated on various
points of the brief.

The Committee considered the resolutions in the above-mentioned brief
and Mr. Thunderchild was questioned thereon and supplied additional informa-
tion thereon.

Mr. Jones answered questions on various related matters.
Mr. Thunderchild was then permitted to retire,
Chiefs Gambler, Thompson, and Starr were called.

Agreed—That the brief of the Qu’Appelle Indian Advisory Council of
Chiefs Independent be taken as read and included in this day’s evidence.

Chief Gambler made a statement dealing with, amongst other things,
Indian Treaties, and Indian constitutional rights.

The Committee considered the above-mentioned submission page by page
and Chief Gambler was questioned thereon, assisted by Chief Thompson.

The questioning being continued, at 6.00 p.m., the Committee adjourned
until 9.30 a.m., Thursday, April 27.
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THURSDAY, April 27, 1961
(11)

The Joint Committee of the Senate and House of Commons on Indian
Affairs met at 9.30 a.m., this day. The Joint Chairmen, Honourable Senator
James Gladstone and Mr. Lucien Grenier, presided.

Present: The Senate: Honourable Senators Boucher, Gladstone, Horner,

- Inman, MacDonald, and Smith (Kamloops). (6)

The House of Commons: Miss LaMarsh and Messrs. Badanai, Cadieu, Charl-
ton, Fane, Grenier, Gundlock, Henderson, Horner (The Battlefords), Howard,
Korchinski, Martel, McQuillan, Muir (Cape Breton North and Victoria), Small,
Stefanson, Thomas, and Wratten. (18)

In attendance: From the Qu’Appelle File Hills Agency: Chief John Gambler,
Chief Lawrence Thompson and Chief Victor Starr. From the Department of
Citizenship and Immigration: Mr. H. M. Jones, Director of Indian' Affairs
Branch, and Mr. C. I. Fairholm, Executive Assistant to the Director.

The Committee resumed consideration of the brief of the Qu’Appelle In-
dian Advisory Council of Chiefs Independent with Chiefs Gambler and Thomp-
son being questioned thereon and supplying additional information.

Chief .Gambler tabled a copy of letter from Messrs. Fyffe & Fyffe, Barris-
ters, to the Honourable Mrs. Fairclough dealing with “Extension of Vote of
Indians”. (See Appendix “P1”).

The questioning being concluded, Chief Gambler thanked the Committee
for the opportunity of presenting his submission.

At 11.00 am. the Committee adjourned until 9.30 a.m. Tuesday, May 2nd.

M. SLACK,
Clerk of the Committee.
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EVIDENCE

WEDNESDAY, April 26, 1961

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.
We have a quorum. We shall start right away, because we have quite a bit of
work to do.

First I would like to announce that there will be a steering committee
meeting after we have heard the three bands which are here today.

Now I shall ask the clerk of the committee to read the second report of
the steering committee.

The CLERK OF THE ComMITTEE: It is as follows:

SECOND REPORT OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE ON AGENDA
AND PROCEDURE ’

1. Your subcommittee recommends that representatives of the fol-
lowing Indian groups be called to appear before the joint committee on
Indian affairs on April 26, 1961:

1. Qu’Appelle Indian Advisory Council of Chiefs Independent (2 official
delegates)

2. Queen Victoria Treaty Protective Association (2 official delegates)
3. Thunderchild Band (1 official delegate)

Your subcommittee recommends that the committee pay on behalf
of the official delegates of the above-mentioned Indian groups, their
travel expenses, together with reasonable living expenses for the period
of time they are in Ottawa; (such period not to exceed two days).

2. Your subcommittee recommends that the submissions of Indian
bands and other organizations who have not made an oral presentation
should be printed as appendices to the committee’s proceedings.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): May we have a motion to adopt the
report?

Mr. BAaLpwiIN: I move the adoption of the report.

Senator INMAN: I second the motion.

The CHAIRMAN: It has been moved and seconded that the report of the
subcommittee on agenda and procedure be adopted.

Motion agreed to.

We have three groups here today to be heard. They are the File Hills
Qu’Appelle Indian agency, the Queen Victoria Treaty Protective Association,
and the Thunderchild Band. We shall start with the Queen Victoria Treaty
Protective Association whose representatives are Mr. Solomon Bluehorn, vice-
president of the Queen Victoria Treaty Protective Association, and Mr., Albert
Chatsis, a treaty Indian of the Poundmaker Band, who will act as interpreter
for Mr. Bluehorn.

We shall now ask Mr. Chatsis to read the brief on behalf of Mr. Bluehorn,
I mean the brief of the Queen Victoria Treaty Protective Association.
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Mr. ALBERT CHATSIS (Treaty Indian of the Poundmaker Band) To the hon.
joint committee of the Senate and House of Commons on Indian Affairs: The
brief herein is being submitted by the Queen Victoria treaty protective asso-
ciation, which is composed of Indians of some of the tribes inhabiting reserva-
tions in the Battleford, Meadow Lake, and Shellbrook Indian agencies, Saskat-
chewan.

In order to supply the members of this honourable committee with some
background regarding our aims and reasons for the recommendations we are
presenting, we wish to point out that the aims of our organization are to try
to hold our treaty rights, as long as the rivers flow, grass grows, and the sun
shines, which were made with our tribes at Fort Carlton on August 24, 1876
and at Fort Pitt on September 7, 1876 and referred to as treaty No. 6. We
believe it is necessary for our members to be ever on the alert in order to
assure that the agreements and promises made and included in our treaties
shall at all times be abided by and protected against changes that would tend
to encroach upon our rights and the protection we have under these treaty
agreements for the welfare of our people. We would like to have this assurance
from your honourable committee. We wish to discuss with you our rights under
treaties, and the following is a list of subjects that our members believe should
be given consideration by your honourable committee:

1. Treaty rights and promises to be discussed. Liquor and voting
rights to be explained.

2. Financial assistance for Indian religious ceremonies.

3. Integration. Indian children attending white schools.

4. Need for a new boarding school for less fortunate Indian children,
to be equipped to teach manual training.

5. Reasons for removal of farming instructors from Indian reserves.

6. We are against private band council meetings. We request an expla-
nation as to why this system has been pushed upon us. We want
the old system and that our chiefs shall be elected for a lifetime
term of office.

7. We are against the Saskatchewan hospitalization cards. We want
back our treaty promises for free government medical care for
Indians.

8. We want hunting privileges as promised in our Treaties. We want
more fishing privileges, more waters to fish. More land to hunt on.

9. We feel that what little treaty promises that were made should all
be fulfilled and that no political party should expect more from us
than the large tract of land taken over from us.

We the members of the Queen Victoria treaty protective association
humbly request that your honourable committee give careful consideration
to our suggestions and recommendations and that you convey to the Queen’s
government our thanks and appreciation for this opportunity of appearing
before you. We have faith in your good intentions towards our people and
we hope our recommendations will be implemented, and we ‘assure you that
our members are proud to be Canadians and to be loyal subjects of Her Majesty
the Queen and to abide by the treaties made with our forefathers.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Has the committee any questions
to ask of Mr. Bluehorn concerning the different recommendations in the brief?
Mr. Baldwin?

; Mr_. Bapwin: I would like to ask the spokesman about a statement in
third line of the second paragraph, where he says:




they separated.

o

INDIAN AFFAIRS : 183

We wish to point out that the aims of our organization are to try
to hold our treaty rights, as long as the rivers flow, grass grows, and
sun shines. .

Would you not add to that that the aims of your organization are to
improve the conditions and lot of your people? Would that not be your motive
or desire as well?

Mr. SoromoN BLUEHORN (Vice-president of the Queen Victoria Treaty
Protective Association): (Interpretation) We are mainly trying to hold our

~ treaty rights. There were enough promises in the treaty which have not been

fulfilled yet, which could have improved our living conditions on the reserve.

Mr. BALDWIN: If, because of the changed conditions which now exist, it
is necessary—and if your people would be satisfied that certain changes are
necessary in treaty rights to improve your conditions—would you be prepared
to accept such changes?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): The government of Canada should try to
fulfil its treaty promises first, and then try to change them afterwards. Accord-
ing to the treaty books there were a lot of promises made in the treaties.

Mr. HowaARrp: The first paragraph of your brief states that your association
consists of some of the tribes in these particular agencies. Did the treaty not
embrace all the tribes? I wonder why only some of them are in your associa-
tion. Do you represent only part of the tribes?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): Our association was formed and set
aside from the federation of Saskatchewan Indians. Some of the members of
the Saskatchewan federation joined our association and some of them remained
in the federation. The ones who joined the Queen Victoria protective associa-
tion were those who did not want the liquor and voting rights. That is why

Mr. HowARrD: Mr. Chairman, I wonder could the witness tell us how many
tribes of people does his association represent—how many bands?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): This is not mentioned in our brief and
I am only supposed to work on the themes which are included in the brief. I
have a record of our membership back home showing how many reserves and
how many Indians are with us.

Mr. Howarp: But you do not have that information with you?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): No.

Mr. THomAS: What does your association have in mind in the way of
financial assistance for Indian religious ceremonies?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): This financial assistance is sought because
we Indians believe that our beliefs are just as right as the beliefs of the white
people. Therefore, we want the government to assist us financially when we
are doing our sun dances and chicken dances and so on. We feel there is a lot
of truth in these ceremonies. When God made the world he made people in two
separate islands and gave a religious belief to each island. That is what the
Indians believe and they want financial assistance to help them in holding
their ceremonies in the summertime, and even during the winter. We feel it
will help our young children to stay with us.

‘Mr. THOMAS: I have a supplementary question to that. How would the
money be used if grants were made to assist these religious ceremonies?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): When white ministers and preachers need
some money they can raise it by making collections and receiving donations.
The Indian people do not do these things. At the time when there were no
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white men’s laws we were able to get food to help us in celebrating these
ceremonies; but today, when we have a need for money, there is no way for us
to get it.

Mr. SmaLL: That was not included in the treaty rights.

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): No, but we are asking for something
from the government.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): To proceed in a more orderly fashion
I suggest that we go through the recommendations separately. Are there any
questions on recommendation number one?

Mr. GunbpLock: In your brief you suggest that certain sections of the treaty
rights are not being kept, and you even suggest that they have been deleted
in some cases. I should like to know the details of the sections that are not
being kept, the part that is missing and the part that you are seeking?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): Do any of you people have copies of the
treaty which you could read in the evenings and see the things that were
promised? 7

Mr. GunpLock: Mr. Chairman, I realize that probably we should be more
familiar with the treaties but I think we must all realize that some points in
the treaties are not effective. Sitting on this committee I have heard many
Indian representatives say themselves there are certain parts in the treaties
that should be deleted. Of course, they also say that provisions should be added
to the treaties which were not in them originally.

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): Treaty number six, in the treaty book,
says the Indians were supposed fo get $1,000 every year, probably in the spring,
and we never received this $1,000 now.

Mr. GunbLOCK: Per person?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): No, for the band.

Mr. SmALL: Just for the band?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): For each reserve.

Mr. GunpLock: I have just one more question to put, and I am not trying
to be ambiguous about this. As a matter of fact, Senator Gladstone and I are
neighbours at home and I have discussed the treaties with him. However, I
am not familiar with the area from which the witness comes and I should
like to know what are the particular things which bother his people—the par-
ticular things which have not been lived up to according to the provisions of
the treaty. I should also like to know what things the witness would no longer
see in the treaty. From other Indians I understand there are certain clauses
which they do not like.

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): At the time the treaty was made the
chiefs were given wagons and horses with which to travel around the reserves
and see how their people were progressing. Also, a house was given to each
chief, but it was not a welfare house. At any rate, that is one of the main
things we want—some method of transportation for the chiefs to enable them
to travel from place to place.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any further questions on
number one?

Mr. Howarp: Perhaps this question was answered in a reply given to
Mr. Baldwin earlier, but would your association, or the tribes covered by the
treaty, be willing to re-negotiate it with the government of Canada and see
if changes could be made in it?
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~Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): I could not deal with that here but I
should like to have a written piece of paper from you, showing that you asked
this question, so that our members back home can consider it. This is too heavy
a thing to deal with here.

Mr. BaLpwiN: To illustrate the point brought up by Mr. Howard earlier,
I have now found reference to the $1,000 in the treaty.
Mr. SmALL: That is treaty number six?
Mr. BAaLpwiN: Yes. It states:
During the next three years— -

That was, after the treaty had been signed:

—there shall be granted to the Indians included under the chiefs adhering
to the treaty at Carlton, each spring, the sum of one thousand dollars.

According to what is written here, that could only apply for those three
years. Do you now say that should be continued?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): It should be continued.

Mr. BarpwiN: That is what I have been trying to find out, but the treaty
only provides it for three years.

Mr. SmaLL: What date is that?

Mr. FanNeE: 1879.

Mr. SMALL: What page?

Mr. BaLpwiIn: Page four.

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): I guess the members of the Queen Victoria
protective association misunderstood the treaty book.

Mr. BaLpwin: May I just follow that up with one more question? Through
the department, the Indians receive certain welfare payments, whether they
like them or not, and I have no doubt that for all the Indians who were included
in this treaty these payments problably come to far more than $1,000 per year.
This illustrates the point Mr. Howard brought up and it would be a reason for
you to sit down and consider possible changes in these treaties, re-negotiate
them with the government because, apparently, you are getting more under
this particular section than the treaty says you should. I just mention this
so that you will have it in mind when you are talking it over.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier) : Recommendation number two has been
answered.

Mr. SmALL: No, it has not.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any more questions on
numbers one and two? Then, we shall proceed to number three, integration.

Mr. HowArDp: Mr. Chairman, I wonder if this paragraph means that Indian
children should not attend so-called white schools, or should attend them.

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): The thing which we really do not like
is the bussing of our children into towns and white communities.

Mr. Howarp: To use a bus?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): To use a bus to take them into towns
when already we have schools on our reserves. In another paragraph we have
made reference to wanting a boarding school.

Mr. SmALL: But that is not in the treaty?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): No, it is not in the treaty but it is some-
thing the association is seeking from the government.

Mr. FANE: Do you have a boarding school on the reserve already?
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Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): No, a day school.

Mr. FANE: Who runs the day school?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): The white people.

Mr. FANE: Who runs the day schools?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): White people.

Mr. FaANE: Are they church schools or are they schools run by the. Indlan
affairs branch? .

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): I guess they are being paid for by the
Indian affairs department.

Mr. Fane: Is there adequate accommodation for the children in those
schools? Would there be over-crowding if they were not taken to the centralized
schools by bus?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): The day schools are not overcrowded yet.
It is just the high school students. That is one of the main reasons why they
wanted this new boarding school—for the high school children.

Mr. FaneE: The high school students are being taken out by bus to a
centralized provincial white school now, are they?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): Not from our neighbouring reserves or
our reserve. There is a boarding school at Lebret. i

Mr. SmaLL: I wonder if the witness would explain No. 4 a little more.
What do you mean by “less fortunate Indian children”?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): What is meant there is there is a need of
a boarding school for the children who have no parents and children whose
parents do not have any way of taking them into the day school. Some of them
live too far from the school and have no transportation to go to the day
school.

Mr. SmaLL: How large is the reservation you are speaking about?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): Eight by seven miles.

Mr. SMALL: I do not know that it would be too much to ask them to walk
to school. When I was a boy I walked farther than that.

Mr. Gunprock: Would it be in order to ask the departmental officials what
are the actual educational facilities on that reserve and how they are bemg
provided?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr7. Grenier): I believe the department officials will
be heard later on. I think it would be improper to call them at this point
when the witness is speaking. Your point can be cleared up when the officials
are on the stand.

Are there any questions on paragraph No. 5?

Mr. FANE: I would like to ask the witness what he means by ‘“reasons for
removal of farming instructors from Indian reserves”. Have the farming instruc-

tors been removed, or do you want them removed? What are you trying to say
here?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): Farming instructors have been moved
from the reserve already. We want to know why these farm instructors were
moved when, after all, the Queen has set these instructors on the reserves to
help the Indians in farming. The building is there now, there is power and a
telephone, and they were just nicely being settled in. Now they have moved
away, and the Indian has learned nothing from them.

Mr. FaNE: There are no farming instructors. They have been taken away
from you?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): They moved into Battleford.
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Mr. Fane: They just are not living on the reserve.

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): No.

Mr. FANE: They are available at Battleford?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): Yes.

Mr. FanE: How far away is that?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): Fifty-five miles.

Mr. FANE: Mr. Chairman, may I ask Colonel Jones what is the score on
that? .

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): At the last meeting some of the
Indian witnesses who were here, after the meeting, objected to the calling of
other witnesses while they were on the stand. I do not think it is a proper way
of proceeding in any event.

Mr. FANE: Personally I do not see why it is not, because otherwise how
can we get the two sets of information tied in together, if we do not have the
answer at the same time.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): First of all, personally as a lawyer,
I do not think it is the regular ‘way to proceed when a witness is on the stand,
to call another witness. These questions can be asked when the officials take
the stand after the Indians have been heard.

Mr. FANE: I am only a realist and not a lawyer.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The last witnesses very strenuously
objected, and I think they were right.

Mr. FanE: I will go along with it.

Mr. SMALL: Let us get this clear. They said they do not like other witnesses
being heard when they are giving evidence. On the other hand, however, if
they leave and do not hear the answer then they might say we have been
unfair to them by not letting them hear what is said. It could work both ways.
They claim they are at a disadvantage because we ask questions to which they
cannot give a satisfactory answer, and likewise if we talk about it after they
have gone they could say they never had an opportunity to explain.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): If the witnesses do not object I have
no objection. Do you have any objection to an official from the department giving
some explanation to the committee right now while you are here?

M. BLUEHORN (Interrpretation): Do you mean on the past questions?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (M7. Grenier): This question in respect of the removal
of the farm instructors. Do you have any objection if we ask an official to give
an explanation to the committee while you are on the stand?

Mr. McQuiLLAN: Might I suggest that we allow the witnesses to com-
plete their briefs, and then call upon the officials of the Indian Affairs
branch while they are here? y

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): All right. Is that satisfactory?

Agreed.

Is there anything on number six?

Mr. Howarp: I assume that this refers to private band council meet-
ings, and that it refers to the elected system of band councils as opposed
to the hereditary chieftainship system?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): What we really want is this: we do
not like the chiefs and council to decide for the reserve just by themselves.
We want the members of the reserve to speak for themselves and to voice
out their own problems within the reserve, if they have any, and then to
let the chief sign for such things, as sub-holdings, and things like that.
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Mr. BALDWIN: You mean, in public meetings?

Mr. CHATSIS: Yes.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Number seven?

Mr. BaLDbwIN: Do you mean by this that you do not want to be put
in the position where you have tc pay any money to the provincial govern-
ment which would cover your right to receive hospitalization?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): We are not paying for the hospitaliza-
tion cards right now, but we may start to pay for them later. What we

wanted to use was just our treaty cards, when we went to any hospital in

Canada and not to have hospitalization cards at all. :

Mr. BALDwWIN: You are relying on a sentence in the treaty which says
that a medicine chest shall be kept at the house of each Indian agent
for the use and benefit of Indians at the direction of the agent? You say that
this gives you the right to free hospital care without having to pay any-
thing. That is the argument you make, is it not?

Mr. CHATsis: Yes, that is right. )

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any more questions
on number eight?

Mr. GunbprLock: I would like to have number eight explained a little
more fully. I do not understand it exactly. They say they want the
privileges as promised. Have certain territories they formerly used been
taken away? Just what is the point here?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): We were looking back in history to
the time when Indians were allowed to hunt any place, and we wondered
if they could be given some land like that again, and to hunt in different
places which are still wide open. We cannot sell our furs to anybody that
we choose. We feel that we should at least have the right to sell our furs

to the party to whom we would like to sell them, and just not alone to the

Saskatchewan government.

Mr. GunpLock: It is only possible for you to sell your furs to the
Saskatchewan government at the present time?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): Some of the officials here would know

who is buying the furs right now.

Mr. GunbLock: We are not to ask questions of the officials at this time,
Mr. Chairman?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): No.
Mr. GunpLock: The witness just said that they can only sell their furs

to the Saskatchewan government at the moment. I have one more question: .

are there additional hunting and fishing lands adjacent to, or near your
reserve, or handy to you, on which you would like to hunt or fish?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): We do not know of any lands right close
by the reserve where we could hunt. But there are other places which are
wide open, further north, where the Indians are asking if they could have
the right to hunt.

Mr. BaLpwiN: This is going back to the first point brought out. Do you
feel that the treaty gives you rights by which you should be entitled to go
outside the reserve to hunt, fish, and trap?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): I have not studied the treaty book suffi-
ciently to answer that question. But at that time I do not think the Indians
were worried as much as we are today, because there were very few white
settlers there, and the Indians were quite free, and were not disturbed in
wherever they wanted to fish.




INDIAN AFFAIRS 189

Mr. Barpwin: The treaty says that they are entitled to go outside the re-
serve except where the government says the land is required for other purposes,
or where the land is given to other people. That is the point. They will have
to think it over.

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): There is one question we would like to
ask: why do we have to pay for these permits to hunt and trap?

Mr. BALDWIN: Do you mean outside the reserve, or on the reserve?
Mr. CHATsIS: Outside the reserve.

. Mr. Barpwin: As I understand it, the federal government gave this land
to the provincial government, and the provincial government is making a charge
for it. You should take the matter up with the provincial government.

The JOoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions on number
nine? If not, are those all the remarks you wish to make, Mr. Bluehorn?

Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): We would like to get some explanations
to our questions which we could take back home to give to our people there.

Mr. BALbwIN: They will be receiving a copy of the transcript of the pro-
ceedings, will they not?

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Oh yes, I understand later on that
all these questions will be answered by the officials of the department, and
you will receive a transcript of the evidence.

Mr. HowarD: There are two points I want to make; I understood the
witnesses had in mind receiving answers from this committee as to opinions
about points they raised. It should be explained to them that this is something
that would complete all our hearings and could not occur today. I wonder,
therefore, if perhaps it could also be explained to the gentlemen that this com-
mittee itself cannot at this time make any specific recommendations or give
any answers to them. We must wait until all of the other people appear before
the committee and then attempt to assess all the matters that have been raised.

Mr. SmaLL: Also, Mr. Chairman, before they go back we should explain
to them about the treaty rights that have been discarded or abandoned. They
should be more specifically spelled out, which ones they have grievances against,
so we could look it up and give them an explanation. The way it is left we
have to look the book up and find out which ones may have been deprived.

Mr. CuHATsIs: We were not prepared. Most of our members were out hunt-
ing and we could not locate them any place. The brief we prepared and the
questions we had on the treaty book were all taken along with the hunters.
We only had three days’ notice to come up here and we did not have a brief,
we just wrote those points down. If we had notice six or eight weeks in ad-
vance, then we could bring here a lot more points.

Mr. THOMAS: Mr. Chairman, in connection with that point a question arises
in my mind: does this delegation from this association get the information
that they desire? They came here, I take it, to discuss their requirements,
their dissatisfactions which have been expressed to them by their band mem-
bers, and they come here expecting to have some justification for the decisions,
which the department has taken from time to time, placed before them. They
have expressed the desire that we give them some answers today. I am not
suggesting that the committee’s findings could or should be made available—
that is impossible—but, listening to the proceedings this morning, I feel they
have not got much to take back with them, and I think those answers can
only come from the departmental officials. We are not in a position here to
do so. We can ask them questions about the brief and try and draw out from
- them the information we require, but the justification for the actions taken by
the department cannot be given by us, and only the departmental officials



190 JOINT COMMITTEE Rl

can give that information. I wonder if, following this method of procedure,

we are providing these delegations with the greatest possible amount of
information, or if, as was suggested once or twice, the departmental officials
should not be called upon to state their side of these cases. For instance,
this matter of hunting and fishing permits; I do not know too much about it
in the province of Saskatchewan but I do know that in the province of
Manitoba and in some other provinces, when an Indian or any other citizen
buys a permit he gets with that permit certain privileges, he gets a hunting
permit covering a certain territory. Maybe that should be explained to these
people, and maybe that is the information they want, I do not know. But
concerning the educational facilities I feel that, possibly, if the departmental
officials could be called upon, when each of these questions come up, to make
a brief explanation, it might not only help satisfy the delegation members but
it will certainly help to clear things up for the members of this committee as
well. I am speaking here for myself.

Mr. BaLpwin: I thought it was understood that we would not interrupt
the witness, but after the witness has finished we can ask the departmental
officials about any of these matters which come up so that the answers
will be written in the transcript, and when they go home they will not only
have heard it but they will have had a chance to take back in writing the
answers that the officials gave. Was that the understanding?

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): We agreed to call upon the officials
after the evidence of the witnesses was heard.

We thank you, Mr. Bluehorn.

Mr. HowARrD: Does this give us the right to recall the witnesses?

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes. We will now call on Colonel
Jones. There was one question on No. 5, the reason for the removal of farming
instructors from the Indian reserves.

Mr. BALbwiIN: Mr. Fane had asked a question about what school facilities

there were.

Mr. H. M. JoNEs (Director, Indian Affairs Branch, Department of Citizen-
ship and Immigration): I can only answer these questions in a general way.
I was aware of your ruling and I did not come armed with a lot of statistics
pertaining to the three briefs you are hearing today, but I will answer in a
general way to the best of my ability.

I would say that, in general, the number of assistant agents are on the
increase rather than the decrease. We have four in the Battleford agency,
but we do switch them around where we think they could do a better pob.
There might have been one living on a certain reserve in the past, so that when
we constantly survey the needs we may ask him to take on an adjoining
reserve. He may then make his headquarters somewhere else. There has been a
shifting around of farming instructors in what we consider is the best interests
of the Indian. I do not know of any decrease in the number; I would say in
general there was an increase.

Mr. FANE: Colonel Jones, are they available to these people whenever
they want? Do they have to go to Battleford to get them, or is there an agent
on the reserve, an assistant agent?

Mr. Jones: Where an assistant agent would be responsible for two reserves,
it generally works out for so many days a week.

Mr. FANE: He goes there on those days or does he have to be sought out?

Mr. JonNEs: There is a regular system worked out. He would devote so
much time to one reserve and so much time to other reserves.
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Mr. BALDWIN: Would the Indian know that on certain days the instructor
would be available on the reserve?

Mr. JonEs: They would, yes.

Miss LAMARSH: Is it ever necessary for the Indians to communicate with
the instructor across 50 miles?

Mr. Jonges: There should not be too much of that.

Miss LAMARsH: During the part of the week that the agent is supposed
to be in the town to which the witnesses come, is he actually living on the
reserve and available to the people?

Mr. JoNES: He would have his residency in the town where the agency
office is or on one of the reserves.

Miss LaAMARsH: In this particular reserve the witness says that the agents
are not there and the farming instructors are not there, they are 50 miles
away in Battleford. If this farming instructor has two or three- days on this
particular reserve, does he live on the reserve at this particular time?

Mr. JoNES: He would be constantly on the reserve; he would be on the
reserve perhaps two days of the week and stay overnight, and then go on to
the other reserve. Our headquarters of the whole administration would be the
agency office which is always available for the problems of the Indians. Some-
times we feel that one good farm instructor could look after two reserves by
periodic visits and allocation of his time.

_Mr. Howarp: Col. Jones may not have the statistical information here,
but could he tell us how many reserves there are, and how many instructors
there are for the area that the gentleman is talking about?

Mr. JoNES: I cannot say offhand.

Mr. SMmALL: Could you give the information in regard to this particular
Queen Victoria case? How many farmers would be in the category that would
be taking farm instruction? *

Mr. JonEs: No, I could not give that information today.

Mr. FANE: Perhaps Mr. Cadieu could tell us some of this, because they
are right in his area.

Mr. CADIEU: This is in Mr. Horner’s area, but there is this comment on
Mr. Jones’ remarks. We have a lot of reserves. It is very close to where these
people live. It is in my constituency. Some of them do not require a farm
instructor at all. They are not farming, so the agent makes periodic calls on
them. He has his days set as to what days he is on certain reserves. In some
reserves very close to this country they do not require a farming instructor,
as they are not doing any farm operations.

Mr. WRATTEN: How many take advantage of the farm instructors?

Mr. JoNES: That is hard to say. There is a trend, now, back to cattle
raising which we think is a pretty healthy trend, particularly in the reserves
in Mr. Cadieu’s region. That upward trend towards mixed farming will prove
very helpful to the Indians. Naturally there are not as many interested in
farming as we would like.

Mr. CADIEU: I might mention—while I have not had this from very many
reserves—nevertheless I have had it, that some of the bands do not want
an instructor living on the reserves and thought they were getting to the stage
where they should have more freedom to use their own opinions. This is not
from too many of them, but nevertheless it is so; and Mr. Jones has had this
reported also, where they do not feel they should have a farm instructor
looking down their necks and telling them how everything should be done.
It may not be the case with very many reserves, but nevertheless the request

had been made.
24863-3—2
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The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Gremer) Is the comrmttee satisfied with this
explanation on farming instructors?

Miss LAMARsH: Why are these people given only three days notice?
The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I do not know.

Mr. FANE: They must have had more than that because I have had this
brief pretty close to a week.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I understand that the staff has tried
to reach those people and they were out hunting. The staff has been trying for
a month.

Mr. MARTEL: This committee has been sitting for three years.

Mr. BALbwiIN: I understood that you had all the groups surveyed and the
names of these particular groups were on this. I may be wrong, but my recol-
lection is that the names of this group were on the list of those who want to
appear before us in this year’s sittings of the committee. At the first meeting
we had the names of those groups as people who wanted to appear and give
evidence, so while they may have had only three days’ notice of the date on
which they were going to appear, they must have had information for many
months before that that they were to appear here and make a statement. Is
that not correct? .

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): That is right.

Mr. SmALL: I think this committee has been wide open for three years
and that they all have had knowledge of it. Some of them have appeared two and
three times before this committee and they know of its existence. The reason
for the rush is hard to explain. There must be some explanation for it if only
three days’ notice was given. They have had two years to gather information.

The CHAIRMAN: The clerk of the committee tells me they knew that that
they would appear, but if they were only advised three days before, it was
because their President was away hunting and could not be reached. They
knew before that they would appear before the committee. Of course we
cannot tell them weeks beforehand on what date they will be heard. They
were told three weeks.

They were trying to locate the president of the band.

Mr. Bluehorn is the vice-president, and the staff always tries to reach the
chief or the president of the organization, and when they could not reach the
president they tried to reach the vice-president. This is the reason.

Mr._ BaLpwiIN: There is a letter accompanying the brief. It is dated April
14 and is signed by the president. That indicates more than three days’ notice.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): That is correct.

Mr. SmaLL: Could Colonel Jones give some explanation of No. 2—
financial assistance for Indian religious ceremonies?

Mr. Jones: I am afraid I could not follow the witnesses when they were
asked for an explanation. It is rather new to me. In fact, I am a little puzzled
about just what it involves. The Branch does not contribute in any way to
religious ceremonies. I am afraid I missed the witnesses’ answers to some of the
questions, so I cannot help very much.

Mr. SmaLL: Would you mind explaining the liquor and voting rights?
I would like to see how it fits in with our own.

Mr. Jones: The Indians of Saskatchewan, under the provisions of the
Indian Act are entitled to all liquor privileges. That was done at the request
of the Saskatchewan government, and they now have the right to possess
liquor off reserves, as is the case where any other provinces have requested
this right from the federal authorities. Referendums are being held on various
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-7'mseﬁrves in Saskatchewan for the right to have and consume liquor on reserves.

- Each referendum for each band is decided on its own merits. Provided a

- majority of the people voting at the referendum indicate their wishes in an

affirmative way, the necessary authority is given and the band and the provin-
cial authority are notified that these bands of Indians are now entitled to have

and drink liquor on the teserves. This is similar to Ontario.

As regards voting rights, federally from now on the Indians of Sas-
katchewan and right across the country will be entitled to vote at any federal
election without any restrictions whatsoever, with no strings attached and no
reference to the treaties. They will have the same right to vote in the next

k. ; federal election as any other person with, as I said before, no strings attached.

I believe that they have the provincial vote extended to them by the prov-
ince of Saskatchewan and that would be under the same conditions as citizens
of the province.

~ Mr. BLUEHORN (Interpretation): I want to get a written statement by Mr.
Jones of what he has just said, to take home. In regard to the liquor, the Indians
felt, in Saskatchewan, that they do not want this liquor and it has been forced
on them. They would like to work on it further. They would like this in
writing.

Mr. SmaALL: That is the reason why we want these people here.

Mr. McQuILLAN: How many Indian bands in Saskatchewan voted in favour
of having liquor privileges on the reserves?

Mr. CHATsIS: It has not been voted right. These meetings in Saskatchewan
covered a lot of people. The Saskatchewan government paid transportation for
the Indian chiefs and got them to the valley centre at Fort Qu’Appelle. They
mentioned a few words about liquor and that is all. When there was mention of
a few things, as to how many wanted all the treaty rights, these people raised
their hands to that and then they were automatically in for the liquor as well.
I myself do not think that it is right that it should be that way.

Mr. McQUILLAN: Perhaps Mr. Jones will explain that it has no connection
with the federal matter of determining as to whether the Indians shall have
liquor on the reserves.

Mr. JonEs: That is quite correct. The meeting, I think, was arranged by the
provincial government. Whether Indians have rights on their own reserves in
Saskatchewan to have and consume liquor, is entirely in their own hands,
through the secret ballot. It is at the request of the Indians themselves.

Mr. SmALL: You mean that each reserve as an entity can determine that?

Mr. Jones: That is correct.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any other points the com-
mittee would like Mr. Jones to clear up?

Miss LAMARsH: May I ask one question? Is it usual in all the provinces
that where Indians wish to hunt they are required to have a licence, to take
out a permit and pay for it?

Mr. JonEs: In most provinces, yes, because the provinces have the control
and the permit covers the registered trapping area.

Miss LAMARrsH: They still have to pay for it?

Mr..-JoNEs: Yes.

Miss LAMARsH: There is no provision that the Indian affairs branch pay or
reimburses them? ,

Mr. JoNEes: In one case, that is, Alberta. This goes back many years, and I
do not think I can give you the real explanation. Rather than argue it, we are

paying it in Alberta for the Indians—that is, the registration.
24863-3—23
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Mr. CHARLTON: That is just off reserve lands?

Mr. Jongs: That is right, because the provinces control it.

Mr. McQuiLLan: That only applies to trap lines.

Mr. JonES: And trapping permits, but not hunting and fishing. They have
all their own and, as far as I know, as regards hunting and fishing for food,
crown lands are lands to which ordinarily they have the right of access.

Miss LaMarsH: What lands would the Indian have a right of access to,
excepting reserve and crown lands?

Mr. JoNES: Federal crown lands, provincial crown lands, that would be
mainly it. Sometimes they have not had the ordinary right of access to certain
crown lands. They are declared conservation areas and then of course, that
right is restricted from that area.

Miss LAMARsH: How do you ascertain whether someone is hunting or
fishing for food or for commercial purposes, since he could conceivably be
hunting or fishing for the whole band?

Mr. Jones: In regard to food, that is meat, there is not too great a problem.
In fishing there is a clear distinction between fishing for food for the family

or group and between selling it to commercial interests. We have a lot of -

_Indians engaged in commercial fishing and -we take the stand that they are
in the same category as any other fishermen. They have paid for the licences
and they live up to the same rules.

There is a clear distinction in the case of fishing. It is not too much of

a problem in the case of hunting. They share, if they get a moose, with friends
of the family. There is really no widespread sale of meat of animals.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Thank you very much Mr. Jones.
We still have two other briefs and two other witnesses to hear.

We still meet this afternoon at 3.30 p.m. Thank you very much, gentlemen.

AFTERNOON SESSION

WEDNESDAY, April 26, 1961.

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Gentlemen, we now have a quorum.
Before calling the next witness, I would like to make a statement about some-
thing that was said this morning concerning the notices given to the witnesses
to appear before the committee.

It was stated this morning by Mr. Chatsis speaking on behalf of Mr. Blue-
horn, that they only had three days notice to prepare their brief.

On October the 31st, 1960 and again on January the 9th, 1961, the secretary
of the committee wrote Mr. Charlie Jack, president of the Queen Victoria
Treaty Protective Association advising that their request for a hearing
would be submitted to the committee as soon as it was reconstituted.

On Tuesday, March 7th, the steering committee agreed that field represent-
atives of the Indian affairs branch would consult various Saskatchewan Indian
groups to select their representatives to appear before the committee with a
view to having one delegation appearing on the same day.

On March 10th, 1961 the Indian affairs branch in Ottawa wrote their
representative in Saskatoon in connection with this matter.

On April 12th, 1961 the Indian affairs field representative from Saskatoon
called the secretary of the committee advising that he was unable to contact
Mr. Charlie Jack, president, as he was on his trapping line in northwestern
Saskatchewan. However, he discussed the matter with Mr. Solomon Bluehorn,
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the vice-president, who advised that he would try to locate Mr. Jack and also
advised that either Mr. Jack or Mr. Bluehorn would appear in Ottawa on
April the 26th.

On April 14, 1961 Mr. Jack, the president, forwarded his brief with a
covering letter.

I just wanted to make this statement in order to have the record verified.
Now, I would like to call on the next witness, Mr. Thunderchild, who repre-
sents the Thunderchild Band. This witness would like to have his brief taken
as read, and printed in our record. Is that agreeable?

I understand the brief is composed of a certain number of resolutions, and
we might proceed, starting with number one, which concerns hunting, fishing,
and trapping.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Mr. Chairman, if the com-
mittee feels that I should help Mr. Thunderchild by reading his brief for him,

I am prepared to do so, if it is your request. Otherwise, the members might
read it for themselves.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Perhaps you had better read it,
Senator.

The JoINT CHATRMAN (Senator Gladstone): I will read the brief on behalf
of my friend Mr. Thunderchild.

A meeting is held this day at the Thunderchild reservation No. 115B
Wednesday April 19, 1961.

The following is a brief drawn up by the Thunderchild band to be pre-
sented to the joint committee of the Senate and the House of Commons.

Mr. Edgerton Thunderchild, official delegate, Thunderchild band.

Resolution No. 1—Hunting, fishing, trapping. Whereas Indians have been
paying for fishing and trapping licences under the provincial government.
Be it therefore resolved that the Indian be not liable to any provincial law in
this respect—to hunt, fish and trap within any lands covered by our treaties.

Resolution No. 2—Welfare housing. Whereas this reservation is not in a
position to expend capital funds. Be it therefore resolved that the welfare
department be requested to build more houses for this reservation.

Resolution No. 3—Road construction and maintenance. Whereas they are
no good market roads and high cost of same. Be it therefore resolved that the
Indian affairs be asked to enter in arrangement with provincial government
for construction of good market roads on the Thunderchild reservation.

Resolution No. 4—High school on Thunderchild reservation. Whereas we
have children going to high schools in various parts of Saskatchewan. Be it
therefore resolved the Indian affairs construct a high school on the Thunderchild
reservation.

Resolution No. 5—Assistant agent. Whereas we have no resident assistant
agent. Be it therefore resolved that an assistant agent have an office full time
on the Thunderchild reservation.

Resolution No. 6—Band funds. Whereas when budgets are drawn up and
approved for expenditures on public works on reservations. Be it therefore
resolved that these monies budgeted be held in trust at superintendent office,
Battleford.

Resolution No. 7—Extension of hospital, Turtleford. Whereas the hospital
at Turtleford is not adequate. Be it therefore resolved the Indian and northern
health be requested to extend this hospital, and more beds, and that a Indian
speaking registered nurse be on staff.
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Resolution No. 8—Band councils. Whereas band councils have no say, ori
tenders of all work, and teachers qualification to teach on reservation. Be it
therefore resolved that band council give final approval ‘of same.

Resolution No. 9—Social aid. Relief assistance. Whereas that relief assistance
are issued by assistant agent by kind, sometimes not knowing needs. Be
it therefore resolved that cheques be made direct to families, also that any
member of band 55 years old be assisted by relief.

Resolution No. 10—Indian representation. Whereas it is desirable that co-
operation on all future matters affecting Indians be exercised between federal
and provincial governments. Be it therefore resolved that ample time of
notification be given in presenting their briefs.

Resolution No. 11—Timber reserves. Whereas the Thunderchild timber re-
serve is too far from our home reserve. Be it resolved that the said timber reserve
be exchanged for one closer.

Resolution No. 12—Sawmill. Whereas employment is only seasonal we feel
that a sawmill would create employment. Be it resolved that we purchase a
sawmill for the benefit of this reservation such as in producing lumber for
the making bridge timbers, culverts, etc.

Resolution No. 13—Canvas and gill nets. Whereas in our treaties we were
promised canvas; gill nets, ammunition, and blankets. Be it therefore resolved
that these be made available to the Thunderchild reservation, as mentioned
in our said treaties.

The list of resolutions above has been presented at our meeting of the
Thunderchild band, which was very active and co-operative in every way
to the support of this brief.

Wishing for a reply as early as possible. Thank you-

(Chief) Andrew Paddy

There is an addition here which I should read.

More work for young Indian boys and girls should be provided by the
Indian affairs department. Living conditions on the reserve should be improved:
Students should be able to attend vocational training schools, and after leav-
ing these schools they should be placed where they can make use of the
education they have received in these vocational schools. Perhaps, in connection
with farming, Mr. Thunderchild could speak to you on that.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Well, it concerns the question of how to get Indians
to start farming, and all that sort of thing, as well as the trouble experienced
by Indians when they are farming. I would like to explain that in more
detail later on.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): In conversation with my friend
here last night—and I may say that I was with him until 12 o’clock—I
said that the Indian affairs department now has recognized that inasmuch as
the transition from horsepower to—

Mr. GuNDLOCK: Mechanized farming.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone):—mechanized farming has
taken place and the Indian cannot compete or make a living through using
horsepower, the old way of farming. It is their feeling that ways and means
shoulpl be found to attack this problem in order to make the reservation self-
sufficient for those who are dedicated to farming.

; Ip looking at the program set forth by the Indian affairs department—and
this is something I am adding myself—I notice that whether it be cattle,
sheep or pig-raising, they feel it would be more to the economic advantage
of Indian reservations if they were instructed and taught to enter those
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industries rather than the farming industry, which, as you all know—and
I realize it myself, being a farmer for so long and having to change from
horsepower to mechanized farming—is very costly and entails a great deal of
money. On the other hand, if they went into the stock industry it would be
more in line with their native inclinations. It is my feeling that they would
co-operate and make a success of it, thereby being self-sufficient.

Miss LAMARSH: I am not accustomed to the practice followed in our com-
mittees, especially in joint committees. Is the co-chairman now acting as a
witness? ;

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Senator Gladstone was talking
mostly on behalf of Mr. Thunderchild.

Miss LaAMARrsH: Will he be in a position to be examined?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The question should be directed
to Mr. Thunderchild. Mr. Thunderchild’s eyesight is not very good, which is
why Senator Gladstone was reading the brief.

Mr. Thunderchild is now ready to answer any questions which mem-
bers of the committee may wish to put to him.

We will start with resolution No. 1—hunting, fishing and trapping.

~ Miss LAMARsH: This is the same question we investigated this morning,
when we questioned the granting of paying for fishing, trapping and hunting
licences. I take it that on this reserve the same conditions apply, and that
for fishing, hunting and trapping on reserve lands there is no licence, and for
fishing, hunting and trapping on crown lands for food it is not necessary to
have a licence, although there is, if you go into it in a commercial way, or if
you want to fish anywhere else.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: We have a lake available for fishing. Certain people
are making a living on domestic fishing. We have a fishing co-operative,
and fish in the summertime and spring. However, there are only four
Indians in commercial fishing, and the rest cannot get in. There is a wait-
ing list. However, if the one fisherman dies, another one takes his place.
We would be pleased if we could get more Indians into commercial fish-
ing. It is part of their living.

In connection with domestic fishing, they allow us to bring only 100
pounds home per month. We live about 25 to 30 miles way from Turtle
lake; this is where we do our domestic fishing. We do not quite agree with
the 100 pound allotment, as this has to be carried 25 or 30 miles. We would
like that to be increased to help us through the winter.

Miss LaMARsH: It is for your own use, for food?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes.

Miss LAMARsH: Who sets the limit of 100 pounds, the provincial or
federal authorities?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: The provincial authorities.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): It is all for your own food?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Have you a question, Mr. Baldwin.

Mr. BALpwiN: Mr. Chairman, I would like to bring up the same point
as I did this morning, particularly with regard to the province of Saskatch-
ewan. I observe that they have suggested that they should participate
with the federal government in looking after the Indians who are now
under sole federal jurisdiction. This is a resolution which I observed the
provincial legislature passed. With that in mind, do you not think it would
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be advisable to take up with the provincial government in Saskatchewan,
the matter of allowing you to hunt, fish and trap without having to pay
licence fees?

Miss LAMARsH: Is not one of the purposes of the Indian affairs depart-
ment to intercede with other levels of government on behalf of the Indian?

Mr. BarpwinN: That may be so. However, the provincial government
has indicated it has a personal interest in it, and I was asking the witness
if they have ever, as individuals or as a band, gone or considered going to
the provincial government, who have direct jurisdiction over this?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: We have been asking for a long time now, and never
got it.

Mr. BALDWIN: You asked the provincial government?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes.

Mr. GunbpLocK: The same complaints seem to be throughout this brief.
However, it brings to my mind this question: Has the federal government
relinquished areas particularly for hunting and fishing, to the provinces?
I understand that under certain treaties there was supposed to be certain
areas available to the Indians, but that subsequently, after the treaty agree-
ments the federal government apparently has released land to provincial
jurisdiction which actually belonged to the Indians under the treaty. Is
that a fact?

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Perhaps Senator Gladstone could
explain it.

The Joint CHAIRMAN (Senator Galdstone): I would answer your ques-
tion in this way: It is a very alarming situation, and very unfortunate. I
have been studying this matter for the last thirty years and, in so far as
Ontario is concerned, they consider themselves as allies. They have certain
rights which were given to them by a grant directed by the King of Eng-
land, or, in the case of Quebec, by the King of France. They resent this.
They feel they have nothing to do with the Indian Act and should not be
governed by it. They were allies; that’s it. If you would look at a map,
you would notice that they are not in the treaty zones. That concerns a
great part of Ontario—mostly the southern part of the two transcontinental
railways, right to the St. Lawrence river, all of Quebec and three-quarters
of British Columbia. These are not included in the treaty zones, which are
giving $5 tokens, $4, or $3—whatever it is—at the time of treaty. These
areas I have mentioned never did have that kind of treaty. They con-
sidered themselves as allies.

The people of British Columbia who are not under that treaty zone
also considered themselves as allies of the Hudson’s Bay Company, or the
fur companies which, first of all, settled in those territories. So, there is
that difference but, as far as the treaties are concerned, I am very well
acquainted with everything that went on. It is all in writing. The cov-
enant was made between the representatives of the Queen and the
representatives of the Indians and, according to the wording of the treaties,
the Indians were to be cared for.

Up to the end of the 19th century there were obligations, under treaty, to
the Indians on my reserve, I am not saying anything about other reserves but
am only telling you of an incident on my reserve. The Indians there were given
two head of cattle per family and when the Indians began to feel there was
something good in cattle they began to trade in their cayuses and ponies for
cattle and, by the time I started to feel like looking around for myself, some of
the Indians had 300 or 400 head of cattle.
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Miss LaAMARsH: I do not wish to be disrespectful or anything like that, but
the witness who is here has come a considerable distance, and there are other

- witnesses still to be heard. Our time is getting very short and, though Senator

Gladstone has a great deal of experience which will be most useful to the
committee, I suggest that the witnesses who have come long distances be heard.
Then, if the co-chairman, Senator Gladstone, wishes to act as a witness we can
hear him.

Mr. Capieu: May I ask the witness to clarify one statement in his brief?
I think the reserve of Thunderchild joins Turtle Lake, at least a portion of the
lake, and therefore, the fishing is handled by the provincial government and
the Indians are allowed so many pounds of fish. The rest of the lake is used by
white people who enjoy its fishing. Because only portions of the reserve join
the lake is that why the Indians feel they are not getting enough fishing rights
on Turtle Lake?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: That is right.

Mr. BALDwWIN: The treaty lays down, provisions for the Indians to have
hunting and fishing rights not only on treaty lands but on lands surrounding
them. However, since then, we know there has been a transfer of the natural
resource in the province of Alberta to the provincial government and that might
be the cause of some of the trouble. It is a very contentious and very important
issue and one can understand why we cannot settle it here. I think we under-
stand the issue and we may have a lot of questions when we come to discuss
it later.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone:) May I say a few words on that
subject? Can we recall any of these witnesses at the time when we come to
discuss these matters? Could I deal with them now and perhaps that would
prevent our requiring to call any other witnesses. You are here now as a
committee—

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Maybe, after the witness has been
heard, we can get Colonel Jones or someone from the department to clarify
the matter.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): It is all very well to say that,
my co-chairman, but the Indians’ point of view and Colonel Jones’ point of
view may be different—miles apart.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): But my suggestion is that the wit-
nesses will stay here while Colonel Jones is called upon to give explanations.
After Colonel Jones has been heard on this point, and if the witnesses wish to
say anything, then we will hear them.

Mr. GunpLocK: In regard to the question I put previously, could I have
the witnesses’ point of view on how the Indians feel about particular lands for
hunting and fishing, being deleted from the original agreements or treaty? I
mean, by way of transfer from the federal government to the provincial
government.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: No.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Do you understand what he
says?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes.

Mr. GunpLock: Then you have the original area for hunting and fishing?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes, we have the fishing area, north 55. If you want me
to illustrate the whole trapping and fishing area I shall do so. That is why I am
here—to explain the trouble we have.
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Senator MacDoNALD: In the brief it is stated that the Indians have been
paying for fishing and trapping licences to the provincal government and it
goes on to say: 2

Be it therefore resolved that the Indian be not liable to any provincial
law in this respect.

What is the cost of the licence? :

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Well, with regard to commercial fishing, it is $5 that
we pay for licences. The council thinks we should be able to get into commercial
fishing. v
Senator MacDonNALD: But what I want to know is: what is the soak?
What do you have to pay for a licence?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: For outside, $5 to get into commercial fishing.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Is that for commercial fishing?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: It is commercial fishing, and a dollar outside.-

Senator MacDonALD: When you get a licence you pay one dollar and
then you can fish and trap?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: No, no. I shall have to expiain it to you. We have
commercial fishing and we pay $5 to get into the co-op but we do not trap
in the co-op at all. We have got a trapping block, A-55, and any Indian
who does not pay his licence for two years is kicked off.

Senator MacDoNALD: What are your total charges for a fishing licence and
a trapping licence?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I would say about $9 altogether.

Senator MacDonALD: That is the point I wanted to get.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Is there any other question on
resolution No. 1? Resolution No. 2, welfare housing. Are there any questions?

Senator MAacDoNALD: Mr. Chairman, I should like to ask Colonel Jones
what he knows about resolution No. 2?

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Senator MacDonald, this morning
we decided that we would call Colonel Jones after the witness has given his
evidence, instead of calling him while the witness is on the stand.

Mr. Capieu: How many houses have been built in the past three years
on the Thunderchild reserve? Has the building of homes been increased on
this reserve?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes, so far we have built six.
Mr. CApiEU: In the past there years?
Miss LAMARsH: How many are there altogether?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Do you mean houses on the reserve? I could not tell
you exactly; roughly about sixty I would say.

Miss LaMarsH: How do the rest of the people live?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: They live in old houses, mud houses, but we have been
putting a claim for houses for many years now. I believe I gave Mr. Cadieu
that list.

Miss LAMARsH: Are all the sixty houses built by the federal government?
Mr. THUNDERCHILD: The last six were built by the federal government.

Miss LAMARSH: Were all the other houses built from band funds? You
say you are in no position to spend capital funds, do you mean this year or
for the future?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: They spend the money on the capital.
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Mr. Gunbrock: I think that covers my question. I wanted to differentiate
between welfare housing and ordinary housing. The sixty houses built in the
last two years, does that apply to welfare housing, is that what the resolution
is about?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: We put in $5,000 last year from our band funds.

Mr. GunpLock: That would not concern welfare housing.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I do not know.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Is that all paid from band
funds? '

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Partly.

Mr. GunbLock: Band fund construction would not be considered as welfare
housing then. I am trying to separate the two.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: We only put in $5,000.

Mr. GunbpLock: If you built them yourselves or if welfare built them,
I take it welfare would come maybe from the department?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Maybe Colonel Jones could clarify
that point afterwards.

Resolution No. 3—road construction and maintenance.

Miss LaMagrsH: May I inquire whether the roads which the witness refers
to are gravel roads or dirt roads?

Mr. Capieu: They are pretty bad on this reserve.

Miss LAMARSH: Are such roads constructed by members of the band,
provincial authorities or by federal authorities? Who built the roads you have
now?

Mr. Capieu: They have not got any.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: We tried to build one road but it was worse.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): What was the reason for which
they built these roads?

Mr. Capieu: I would like to ask the witness one question. If the band had
come up with one road they would like constructed, would the department
cooperate with them?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes, because they made a gravel road.

Mr. Capieu: Possibly if the band could agree, and I would like to ask you
a question on this, could the band define also a market road from the reserve
to the town? Do they think the department would cooperate and go along with
the municipality?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I think so.

Miss LAMARsH: What form of transportation do you use on this particular
reserve?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: We use cars, trucks and horses.

Miss LAMARsH: What is the general standard of roads in the area on the
reserve?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Pretty good.

Miss LAMARsH: Are they hard-surface roads?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Gravel roads.

Miss LAMARsH: In the whole province of Saskatchewan?
Mr. GunprLock: In Ontario too.

Mr. Capieu: I would like to ask the witness a question—if we could go on
to the next point which connects with No. 3—on the point where he mentions
a high school on the Thunderchild reservation. This is one resolution that
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interests me, and I wonder if the witness could tell us if they had a passable
road whether they would not rather have a school bus road to where these
children would be integrated rather than a high school on the reservation. I
would like to hear if the witness would care to make a statement on that on
behalf of the band.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I believe it is a good idea to have a bus come into the
reserve, but I have two school children who will be going to high school next
year and we realize the bus would not come to the reserve to pick the children
up.

Mr. Capieu: You think the band would prefer integration of high school
children rather than have the high school on the reservation? That is the point
I would like to ask.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: When I left what they told me was that some families
had their boys in high schools in different places but they had some trouble
with liquor so that those boys had to come back home and leave school without
finishing. They thought it would be better to have a high school in Thunder-
child.

Miss LAMARsH: Do your children go to integrated schools, boarding schools
or the school on the reservation?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: They go to day school on the reserve.

Miss LAMARsH: And the children now go to an integrated high school?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: One went to the Battleford collegiate but they had
trouble with him because in the boarding house some people had liquor, so
the boy left school to come back to the reservation.

Miss LAMARSH: So there are no high school students going to integrated
schools?

~ The JoiNtT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Could I interject at this
point? I have a little experience of this. The trouble seems to be that, if a
student goes to a high school, unless he has capabilities or material encourage-
ment from the time he leaves the high school to project him into something
that would be useful to him, he becomes discouraged and goes back to the
reserve.

In the past, the feeling of the student was that there were no oppor-
tunities for him. His feeling was that he would not be accepted. I see a
smile coming on the face of somebody down at the end of the room. These
students thought: “We will not be accepted, so we are going back to our
reserve; we are going back there for safety’s sake; we are not accepted and
therefore we will go back.”

What is the use of building these schools and going to all the expense of
high school education of children when they do not have encouragement from
the officials who should give them every opportunity to integrate? I am saying
that straight from the shoulder.

Miss LAMARSH: What you are saying is that the curriculum is not some-
thing that the Indian student could use back on the reservation, or are you
saying that the reason they do not go on is that, while what they learn may
be of use to them, they are not able to get jobs through it off the reserve?

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): It has got to be different. I
sent my kids out and I paid for each of them.

Miss LaAMARsH: Which of those I mentioned are you complaining about?
Is it the curriculum or is it the public?

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): You do not know the situation.
You are new. I sent my kids off the reserve and I paid for them. One went to
Toronto and another to New Zealand and to different places. I thought when
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I was sending them that they would come back to my reserve and be of use
to us there. When they came back we found that nothing taught to them was
of use, and they stayed away from the reserve.

Miss LAMARSH: What you are saying is that the curriculum at the inte-
grated schools is of no use to an Indian who returns to the reserve?

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Unless you give him the oppor-
tunity to use it when he leaves school.

Miss LAMARsH: On the reserve?
The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Anywhere he goes.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: We have a few cases of 8, 9, 10 and 11 grade boys
running around on the reserve. They have not used the education at all. I
wish to find jobs for those fellows instead of letting them run around on
the reserve. I would say that some kind of work should be started so that
they could make use of the education.

Miss LAMARSH: I am trying to find out what the witness from the reserve
is complaining about. Is it the fact that the education they have received
at an integrated high school is of no use to them in earning a living on the
reserve, and therefore it is the curriculum they are complaining about;
or is the complaint to the effect that once they receive this education—the
same education as white children—they are not accepted in the community
so that they can use it? Which of the two is it?

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): The latter is the case, and
I know I speak for my friend here, because it is the same thing on all reserves.

Mr. CHARLTON: I cannot quite take that statement. We have many teachers
teaching on the Six Nations reserve now. There are too many teachers there
now for the needs of the reservation. These girls are going out and getting
jobs in white schools. They are accepted as teachers in white schools, so why
should they not be accepted in the ordinary white community?

The ‘JoiINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): May I interject there? Mr.
Charlton, why do you not send some of those to us? We would gladly accept
those teachers in western schools.

Mr. CHARLTON: They will be available to you shortly.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Why do you not make the
Indian affairs branch send them out to us?

Mr. CHARLTON: We cannot make them go any place. We let them choose
the school, and many of them want to choose a white school for a while
before they go back to the Indian reservation.

Senator MAcDoNALD: There is another point which I do not think has
been put on the record yet. What is the population of the Thunderchild
reservation?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: It is 400—a little over 400.

On resolution No. 5.

Miss LaAMARsH: Has there ever been an assistant agent on this reserve?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: We have one assistant, but he lives about 60 miles
from us, so he does not come very often. When we want to get something

done we have to look around and everything is delayed. We want to have an
assistant agent closer to us.

Miss LaAMARsH: Do you have an agent on the reserve at all?
Mr. THUNDERCHILD: He is 60 miles away.

s/ Mr. STEFANSON: The assistant agent calls at your reserve at certain
times?
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Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes. He looks after about 1,100 Indians altogether and
here in our place we have 400. :

Mr. STEFANSON: You know the days on which he comes to your reserve,
and if you have problems or difficulties you can put them to him on those
days.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: There are so many who want to see him that he

cannot spend much time.

Senator MacDoNALD: I cannot understand why you are asking for an
assistant agent. I know there are smaller reserves which have a full-time
superintendent. Why do you not demand a superintendent? You say you have
a population of about 400. Why are you not asking for a superintendent?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I can tell you I did not make up this brief. When I
go back I will try to do my best to get an answer to that.

Mr. Capieu: Prior to 1956 you had an assistant agent resident on this
reservation, and I think in 1956 he was moved to Cochin and the buildings
were closed down and sold. Why did you not protest at that time and why
did the assistant agent move off the reserve? I would have thought that a
protest would be only reasonable. That is why I am asking the question. I
think it was in 1956 this happened. Is that not right?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes.

Mr. Capieu: The question is, did the band protest at that time?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: As far as I know, the house he was living in was
condemned. That is why they sold it for $500. It was a big house.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): What are the duties of an
assistant agent? I think Mr. Jones could answer that, and my question would
be to him: does the assistant agent replace the farming instructor? That can
be answered by Mr. Jones later on.

Mr. GunpLocKk: On resolution No. 6, band funds, I do not understand what
you mean by saying they are held in trust, where the money is now.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I guess I can try to explain that now. We have band
funds and we make a bit of money in the springtime. Sometimes when we need
the money we cannot get it. Sometimes the snow is flying when we try to get
a price for fish or a price for lumber for the repair of houses. Yet the amount of
money has not improved.

Mr. GunprLock: From Ottawa, you mean?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I do not know. It may be Ottawa or it may be an
agency. I do not know, but that is what happened.

Mr. GunpLock: In other words, when you make your budget you want
the money to be available when you want to start the work?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: That is right. We want the money to be there. Some-
times we Indians make some money and we want to have this money available
when it is required.

Mr. GUNDLOCK: Where is the money ordinarily? Is it in Ottawa or does
it come from Ottawa?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: The agent told us we would have to send to Ottawa
for it.

Mr. Cap1eu: Resolution number seven asks for the extension of the hospital
at Turtleford. I have heard this request made before. Prior to this, there had
been a hospital for the Indian population in Turtleford. It was exclusively for
Indians, but I think there are quite a few bands in that area which would prefer
to have hospital services in towns closer to the reservations.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: That is right.
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Mr. Capieu: You would prefer that to having an Indian hospital in
Turtleford? :

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: That is right, yes.

Mr. GunpLock: Referring to this resolution number seven for a moment,
and in respect to teaching in Indian schools, that goes back to the question
Senator Gladstone was speaking about a moment ago, that when Indian nurses
are qualified, they certainly should be encouraged to come back to the reserva-
tion. I think that is what the Senator had in mind. Is that not right?

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Yes, that is right.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Resolution number eight band coun-
cils; are there any questions?

Mr. GunDLOCK: Is this not related to the same thing, that the band councils
have no authority with respect to the qualifications of teachers and so on; in
other words, if they want an Indian teacher to come back—but perhaps I do not
understand this properly.

Mr. SmaLL: I think he means tenders on all works, does he not?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I shall try to explain about the teachers. We have two
ladies teaching on our reserve now. The kids complain that the teachers sleep
in their chairs most of the time. We seem to draw that kind of teacher.

Mr. SmaLL: Well, you will see some of them sleeping in the house, some-
times. Perhaps we had better get some pills to keep them awake.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Resolution number nine, social aid.

: Are there any questions?

Mr. Capieu: I notice in this resolution that you recommend that any
member of a band who is 55 years of age should get relief. Do you mean that
he should get relief whether he needs it or not, at the age of 55?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I think it is meant for those who need it.

Mr. SmALL: If he gets on the council, he can recommend that he get it for
himself.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: That has been done a lot of times.

Mr. HENDERSON: The lady member of the committee has had to leave. But
before she left she asked me to inquire about the time or notice that the wit-
nesses had of the meeting, in which to prepare to come.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: We are situated pretty far north. Mr. Slack addressed
my letter to the wrong place, that is, to Lively, rather than to Turtle. There-
fore I did not receive my letter until about two days before I came up.

I have a phone in my home, and they telephoned me and told me that
I was to come up. So I knew about it for a week and a half ahead of time.

Mr. HENDERSON: The lady member requested that I ask the question.

Thq JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Resolution number ten, Indian
representation.

Mr. BALDWIN: How long have you known that you would be coming here
at some time to make representations or present a brief on this particular date?
How long had you known that you were going to come here at some time
to present a brief?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Do you mean how long before I knew I was coming
up here?

Mr. BALbwIN: Not that you were coming on this particular day, but how
long have you known you would be coming here sometime to present a brief?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I did not expect to come up here.

Mr. SmaLL: Did your band expect that someone would be coming here to
present a brief some time? When did you make the decision to come here?
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Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I knew somebody was coming.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Did you know it before Easter

or after?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I couldn’t tell you.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions on No. 10?

Mr. HENDERSON: That is the one we have been discussing.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes. Are there any questions on
resolution No. 10, Indian representation.

Mr. Capieu: I think what the witness means by this is they have a timber
reserve approximately twenty miles or more away. They brought this matter
up. When I was up there they asked me if it would be possible to trade this
for a timber reserve closer to their reservation. I spoke to the supervisor in
Saskatoon and also Mr. Jones when I came to Ottawa. They tried to negotiate a
deal with the provincial government. That is the_ idea behind this resolution.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: That is right.

Mr. Capieu: I think that negotiation is under way. Just what progress has
been made, I do not know.

Mr. HENDERSON: That is a sensible approach.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Resolution No. 12; sawmill.

Mr. CapieU: I have discussed this also with Mr. McLeod in Saskatchewan.
We went through a number of reserves up north. I am pretty sure they would
not have much trouble getting a sawmill if they had the timber to saw.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: That is right.

Senator MacDoNALD: Is there lumber around there to keep a sawmill going?

Mr. Capieu: That is just the point. When a band does not have enough
timber they may move a mill from another band to cut the logs. One mill
might handle three or four reserves.

Mr. SMALL: You could not let anybody handle a sawmill either. There is
too much of a hazard in the way of risk of injury.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Resolution No. 13, canvas and
gillnets.

Senator MacDonaLD: I know what a gillnet is. What sort of fish do you
catch with a gillnet?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: White fish, suckers and jacks.

Senator MacDonALD: Do you get them on a commercial scale? Have you
filleting plants or anything like that?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: We have a domestic licence.

Senator MacDoNALD: You do not have freezers or anything like that?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: No. They dry them and make dry meat out of the fish.

Senator MacDoNALD: In other words, do I understand that the fish you
catch is only for your own consumption?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes.

Senator MacDonALD: There is no possibility of commercial fishing and
processing?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: No.

Senator MacDonALD: Thank you.

Mr. GunpLocKk: In respect of the treaty which has been mentioned here
you say you were promised canvas, gillnets, ammunition and blankets. This

morning we heard that certain things were for a three year period. Would this
be in the same category?
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Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes; but we never got anything out of it. We never
received anything like that.
The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): But is there anything like that men-
tioned in the treaty?
Mr. BaLpwin: In the treaty it says:
It is further agreed between Her Majesty and the said Indians that the
sum of $1,500 per annum shall be yearly and every year expended by
Her Majesty in the purchase of ammunition, the twine for nets, for the
use of the said Indians, in manner following, that is to say: In the
reasonable discretion, as regards the distribution thereof among the
Indians inhabiting the several reserves, or otherwise, included herein, of
Her Majesty’s Indian Agent having the supervision of this treaty.

As I read the original treaty it suggested $1,500 to provide ammunition
and twine amongst all of the Indians covered by this particular treaty.

Mr. SmaLL: It that twine for nets?

Mr. STEFANSON: Yes.

Mr. CHARLTON: It is twine to make the nets.

Mr. GunpLocK: It does not say canvas and gillnets.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): This takes care of the resolutions

.which were mentioned in the brief. However, there were three more added

afterward.

One resolution is that the department should try to get more work for
young Iridian boys and girls on the reserve. Are there any questions in this
connection?

Although it is a very important resolution, I believe the subject at least
has been partially covered.

Mr. Capieu: I thought the department had been doing a lot of work along
that line. I have noticed the farming structure which is working out from
Meadow lake. There is a young Indian boy there. He is doing very well. Also,
I met two or three Indian girls who were teaching. I think the witness brought
to my attention the matter of vocational training. He complained to me about
so many boys and girls going to grade 9, 10 and 11, and then going no further.
I think that the department, in furthering vocational training, would certainly
do a great service to these people. When I was up in the northern part I met
an Indian girl who was going out to teach at Canoe lake. She seemed to be a
fine, capable young girl. I know the Indian boy at Meadow lake is making very
good progress with the Indian population. Throughout my travels through the
north I felt that the department was co-operating fully by placing these young
people who were prepared to go out and work amongst the Indian population.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I believe you are referring to the wrong one there.
This is when I was talking about getting more work for the boys and girls on
the reserve. They do not do anything on the reserve. I am not talking about
the ones who go to grades 9, 10 or 11; I am talking about the boys on the
reserve who do not do anything.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): You are talking about the
ones who do not go to high school.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes. They just sit around and do nothing. These boys
need help. I think something should be done for them. Perhaps a mill could be
erected, as there is a lot of timber up there. Also, they could help build welfare
houses and other things which would prove to be helpful to the Indians.

Mr. Capievu: It seems to me that when I visited your band and discussed
these things, a lot of ideas came up, such as fencing the reservation for larger

24863-3—3
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pastures, reclamation of some of this land, as well as logging. Has the band
taken this any further?

I might say that I brought your recommendations to the attention of the
supervisor. I do think they should be followed up.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: We will do that.

Mr. Capieu: I certainly agree with the witness that some assistance should
be given to those young boys and girls. I might say that at the present time
they are just existing on the reserve.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): May I just say a few words on
that subject? Being on the committee for land use in the Senate, I do see a very
great opportunity for a survey to be made on the use of Indian lands. This
would prove of great assistance to those people who stay there during their
whole lifetime and raise their families. I think that the matter should be taken
into consideration so that, if possible, those lands could be used by the people
who are living on them, this being to their own advantage rather than to
have them continually on relief.

I have been in the northern part of all the provinces and, notwithstanding
Ontario, up to a certain line where there is brush country the people are willing
to work. I have asked their chiefs what do they want for their people and
they all say: “we do not want relief; we want to clear land that could be used
for certain purposes”. Therefore, I believe the land committee which we have
in the Senate—it is a special committee—should use the facilities of the different
departments of the country to include these areas wherever they can. By doing
that, the land would be more economically useful for the Indians to settle on.
I should like to have this on record because it is a very important factor.
Indians in the northern parts, and everywhere I have gone, do not want to be
on relief. They want some work even though it may only give them a bare
livelihood.

Mr. Capieu: While there is nothing in the long list of resolutions sub-
mitted by Mr. Thunderchild, and even though the witness himself has not
brought it up, I may say that I received a very lengthy letter from him
concerning the liquor outlets on the reserve. I wonder did he overlook to
mention this point. As I say, I received quite a complaint from the witness
with regard to liquor outlets and I should like to have his opinion about
them.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: That is not included in the brief but some other
guys wanted me to raise the matter here. I have not raised it because I
want to follow the wishes which my council expressed. They do not want
me to mention it, but I should like to talk about the liquor.

Mr. Capieu: Go ahead.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): What is your point of view
on the liquor situation?

Mr. SmaLL: We shall put it this way. We shall ask you, and that will
take the burden off your shoulders. What is your opinion on the liquor set-
up on your resevation as compared with other reservations?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Liquor is no good. I would ask any of you to tell
we what is good liquor; when is liquor good to anyone, especially Indians?

Mr. SmaLL: Why do you make that statement? Indians are no differ-
ent in that respect to anyone else.

Senator MAcDoNALD: We had a brief submitted to us about ten days
ago, and the witness who presented it stated that the reservation he be-
lpnged to did not allow liquor on it. I wonder does that apply to all reserva-
tions in Canada? The point he was making is that an Indian can go out
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and buy a quart of liquor but he cannot take it home to his reserve.
Instead, he goes back into the bush, or somewhere else, and gets full on it.
Then, when he gets home—

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): He gets pinched.

Senator MacDoNALD: But the witness said that if Indians were allowed
to take liquor home with them and drink it there, their women might
scratch their faces and that would be the end of it.

Mr. SmALL: You made some statement about outlets, or someone men-
tioned outlets on the reserve. How did that come about?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: So far as liquor is concerned, I can only say it is
pretty bad for the Indians.

Mr. SmMALL: Who would have the outlets—bootleggers?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I do not know.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Did you never buy any from
a bootlegger?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: I never did.

Senator MAcDonNALD: You have no experience of moonshine?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: You have got me there.

Mr. SmALL: There was some reference to outlets on the reserve. Is it
not a fact that before Indians can bring liquor on the reserve they have to
have permission from the band?

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Is there any legal outlet
on the reserve?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: No.

Mr. SmarLL: Then, it is got on illegally and we are not responsible
for that.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): But is it not a fact that
in Saskatchewan it is open for you to drink all you want.

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes, that is right.

Mr. SMALL: How do you police this reserve? Who polices it?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Nobody.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): There is another resolution about
living conditions on the reserve. This one was added to the brief.

Senator MacDonNaLD: As I understand it, the liquor laws are under the
control of the province. It is a provincial matter. Is that correct?

Mr. SmaLL: Yes, but the federal law says they have to get permission,
by vote of a substantial majority, before they can have liquor on the
reservation. That is one of the provisions administered by the Indian
affairs department. The Indians have practically a local option on it. The
option rests with each reservation.

Mr. GunbpLocK: It might be a little different in this case. Actually,
Saskatchewan is somewhat different to the other provinces. They have
allowed Indians to go into beer parlors and purchase liquor there, but they
cannot take it back with them to their reserves.

I understand that the Saskatchewan government has asked the federal
department on Indian affairs to allow them to take it home. I do not know
whether I am right.

Mr. SmaLL: That can be done provided they take a vote on it and the local
option has a substantial majority. Mr. Jones explained this morning that that
is the rule.

24863-3—3%
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Mr. GUNDLOCK: As far as we are concerned, that is the whole point.

Mr. SmaLL: But they said they do not have any police.

Mr. GUNDLOCK: You mean then that we do not enforce it?

Mr. SmaLL: The band council has to have their own police enforcement
staff.

Mr. GunpLocK: It is really nothing to do with us, it is purely provincial.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): There is another resolution concern-
ing farming, are there any questions on it?

Mr. SMALL: How many farmers are there on your reservation?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Not many, but some of them would like to start farming.
They had been farmers before but the land has gone back.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): You mean the government should
encourage them to farm?

Mr. SmALL: You said the land went back?

Mr. THUNDERCHILD: Yes.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I believe this covers Mr. Thunder-
child’s brief, and we thank him very much.

We will now call on the Qu’Appelle File Hills agency represented by Chief
John Gambler, Chief Lawrence Thompson and Chief Victor Starr. As time is
running on, we can go on right away.

While Mr. Thunderchild was giving evidence, there were some questions
that were held up for Colonel Jones to answer. I believe we should call on
Colonel Jones to answer those questions on resolution No. 2—welfare housing.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): I think what was meant by
this was, how much of this brief refers to welfare housing supplied by govern-
ment funds and how much is out of their own band funds, that is, from Mr.
Thunderchild’s reservation.

Mr. JonEes: I could not give the figures. I do not know what these band
funds amount to. We try to meet from welfare appropriations the money
needed for housing. Some bands carry their entire housing programs them-
selves. They have large funds. Some look after housing of their bands and some
have not any funds, and in those cases the houses are put up by the Indians
themselves with aid from the Indian appropriation. Sometimes we share that
50-50, the bands sharing to the best of their ability, with an equal amount
coming from the welfare appropriation. The program is very flexible. Some

bands devote a considerable amount of their funds to housing and some very
little.

The government, through the Indian affairs branch, spends $2 million a
year on what we call welfare housing.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): I think that answers the
question. The next is on resolution No. 5. Why was it that the farm instructors
were replaced by assistant agents?

Mr. Jones: I think largely as a result of the deliberations of the former
committee. They changed a lot of the names used in Indian affairs. There used
to be an Indian agent and a farm instructor. Those have been changed to Indian
superintendent and assistant. The assistant is more responsible, now, I would
think, than the former farm instructor. We expect him to lead in the matter of
housing, roads and the good of the community. I think the former farm in-
structor devoted most of his time to agricultural activities. There are no farm
instructors on the staff at all. They are all replaced by this new category of civil
servant called an assistant.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Can they act also as farm instructors?
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Mr. JoNES: Yes. There are added duties.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Under present day conditions
do they not need farming instructors as well as Indian agents or assistants?
The Indian agent is not resident on the reserve and he is very seldom in contact
with the people whom he should serve as father, as instructor—or as an uncle.

I have mentioned the fact that where we used to call our agent father, we
now have to call him uncle, by reason of the replacement of the old act with
the present act, in 1951.

Mr. JoNES: As you so correctly say, your Indian agent has a great many
responsibilities, and he has to have the help of assistants whose main occupation
on an agricultural reserve is the promotion of agriculture, or cattle raising. In
addition, he has other duties, but they are all in the interests of furthering the
welfare of the band.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): I do not want to be impertinent,
but I would say this much: that the present superintendent on our reserve has
never visited our band herd of cattle, or any of our farming operations since
his appointment as superintendent on our reserve.

Moreover, while there is a very nice residence on the reserve for him,
nevertheless he moved into Cardston, and has dissociated himself from us in
all aspects of social life, or by way of any help he might give us as a parent
or councillor, or anything like that; and that goes for all other reserves too.

Mr. JonEs: Is it not true that the Indian superintendent or agricultural
agent that you speak of is not responsible for changing his residence from the
reserve to Cardston, because this was done long before the present incumbent?

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): It was done since the 1951
act came into effect. ;

Mr. JoNES: The present incumbent is just following the pattern in taking
up residence where the former superintendent resided. And I might say that
the present superintendent is an agricultural college graduate, and should be
in a position to guide the band and help the Indian people of the Blood band
in their farming activities.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Well, he may have the knowl-
edge, but he lacks the wisdom in how to meet people, and how to use that
knowledge.

Mr. SMALL: Are there any Indians on the reserve who have become highly
proficient?

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): No. They have deteriorated, in
that respect. We did have two very good men, but one has been called back
to Ottawa.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I think we are getting a little far
afield from the Thunderchild reserve. Moreover, we have with us witnesses
who wish to present quite a long brief.

Mr. SmALL: He was supposed to answer these questions.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes.

Mr. SmaALL: What other questions are left to be answered by Col. Jones?

Mr. GunprLock: I may not have understood this properly, but I want to
ask a question about resolution number one, for instance.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Go ahead.

Mr. GunbpLocKk: We called Mr. Jones during the witness’ statement. Accord-

~ ing to the treaties, have certain areas for hunting and fishing—not necessarily

this one—but have they been turned over to the province? Is the province in
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any case now administering land which was formerly made available to the
Indians, either by reservation, by treaty, or otherwise?

Mr. JonES: Under the transfer of the natural resources to the three prairie
provinces, yes; that responsibility was handed over by the federal government
to the provincial government.

Mr. GunpLock: Have the provinces carried out their part of it? In other
words, the federal government agreed to certain areas being allotted for the
use of the Indians. Have the provinces followed through on that?

Mr. JoNES: The rights of the Indians have fairly well been safeguarded
as regards the right to hunt and fish for food. There have been many court cases
on it and they have always ruled in favour of the Indian.

Mr. BALpwiN: Take this particular treaty, for instance. It covered 121,000
square miles—that is this treaty No. 6 under which these bands came. As we

said before, it provides that all those lands which were given by the Indians

to the government at that time would still be subject to the rights of hunting
and fishing, except where the lands had been taken for lumbering or for farming
by the white people. Everything else not taken was to be available for hunting
and fishing. When the natural resources were given by the federal government
to the provincial government was there an understanding by way of corre-
spondence or anything in respect of the turning over of the natural resources by

which the provincial government agreed to carry on the responsibility which .

the federal government had assumed under the treaty?

Mr. JoNES: Pretty well. I have been thinking it might be of interest to the
committee if, in your wisdom, you should decide to have a complete discussion
of treaties. It is a very interesting subject as you know. Once we reach the
point where you will be hearing the departmental officials you might like to
set aside a whole afternoon for this subject. Mr. Conn, our general supervisor
of wildlife, is an expert on western treaties because of our fur agreements with
Ontario, Manitoba and Saskatchewan. He is the departmental representative
on a joint committee which sits twice a year. He would be able to show the
committee to what extent the department is interested in the wildlife of
Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario through these agreements.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Does he sit on the Northwest
Territories council?

Mr. JoNES: No. I am a member of the council. Mr. Conn, however, has
gone up and conducted surveys in the Northwest Territories. I would like the
committee to hear him on this matter of wildlife and I am sure you would find
it very interesting. There have been many court cases on this subject.

Mr. BALpwiIN: I would like to reserve any further questions until then.
There is a common thread of many issues running through these representa-
tions and brief after brief has come before us in which there have been
complaints of treaties not being observed. I am sure we should go into it. I
will not pursue it now, but I will have many questions later. I will reserve
my questions until then when we can deal with it as one matter.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any other questions which
were put on the shelf for Colonel Jones?

Mr. GunpLocK: There is one more question in respect of resolution No. 5,
band funds. It was stated that when the budget was drawn up and the monies
held in trust they were hampered sometimes by having to wait too long.

Mr. SmALL: The money was taken away somewhere.

Mr. JonEs: The regular procedure is that when funds are budgeted and
pro_jects undertaken the superintendent requests an accountable advance. That
1s Immediately sent out to the agency superintendent so that he has money
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available for wages and expenditures. There is sometimes a delay at the end
of the fiscal year in getting money out. However, during the remainder of the
year, unless there is a breakdown in the machinery, the moneys do go out in
advance.

Some bands have requested, under section 68 of the act, complete control
of the revenue funds. They apply to the minister for that privilege and, if it
is granted, then once a year a cheque for all the money goes out. It goes into a
bank of the Indians’ choice, and they sign the cheques. There are more and
more bands coming into complete control of their own funds.

Mr. GunpLock: In effect, then, the answer to this would be that it is
available except for extra expenditures which are over and above your budget.
I think the complaint was that people do not want to work for them because
they have to wait too long for their money. However, it is not within the
budget, as I understand your answer.

Mr. JonEs: No. If the budget is approved, the money is always in Ottawa,
and accountable advances for various projects can be sent, and are sent to the
agent for the Indians. So, they do not have to wait and, as I say, the only time
there is a real delay is at the end of the fiscal year, when all money has to be
accounted for and returned to Ottawa; and new money sent out. However,
we have not had too many complaints recently about delays in money out
there. Of course, the answer is that a band request that they take over full
control of their revenue moneys, as so many are doing at the present time.
They have their own secretary, their own bank account; they are bonded, have
auditors, and run their own show.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Does that take care of the questions
on this item?

We have with us now Chief John Gambler, Chief Lawrence Thompson,
and Chief Victor Starr.

There are two ways in which we can proceed. We can either ask Chief
Gambler to read the brief, and, while he is doing so, members of the com-
mittee could ask any question when a point arises; or, we could put the brief
in as read, and then go through it and ask questions of Chief Gambler.

Mr. CHARLTON: I wonder if that would not be a good idea. I think the
brief should be taken as read. I have read it a couple of times, and I know
others have, as well. It would save a considerable amount of time if we printed
it as read. In that way we could proceed now with the asking of questions
on the brief.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Is that agreeable to you?

CHIEF JOHN GAMBLER: Yes.

Senator MAacDoNALD: What brief is this?

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): It is the Qu’Appelle Indian advisory
council of chiefs independent.

Is it agreeable if we proceed in this way?

Some HoN. MEMBERS: Agreed.
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THE HONOURABLE JOINT COMMITTEE OF SENATE AND

HOUSE OF COMMONS ON INDIAN AFFAIRS B

The brief herein is being submitted by the Qu’Appelle Indian advisory
council of chiefs independent, which is composed of chiefs and councillors of
six tribes of the File Hills Qu’Appelle Indian agency located in the south
central portion of the province of Saskatchewan. The tribes or reserves which
support this brief and its contents are the Muscowpetung reserve, the Okee-
neese reserve, the Carry the Kettle reserve, the Peepeekisis reserve, the Star
Blanket reserve and the Wood Mountain reserve.

In order to supply the members of this honourable committee with some
background which may prove helpful in understanding some of the reason-
ings which have influenced the suggestions and recommendations which are
herein contained, we would first like to point out that these tribes make their
primary living from agriculture; that we are most anxious that our treaties
be interpreted and administered literally, but that weighty consideration be
given to the intention and meaning intended at the time of their signing before
being translated into present-day language and meaning; that we are anxious
to perpetuate the traditions and customs of our colourful and illustrious ances-
tors; that we are anxious to preserve for our generations yet unborn the
advantages and preferences granted under the treaties; that we do not con-
sider our people inferior to the white people, but rather people enjoying a
privileged status granted by the white man under solemn contract in return
for the peaceful surrender of our land.

The treaties, as you are all aware, were negotiated in the 1870’s between
literate and learned people on the one hand and illiterate but cautious and
trusting people on the other. The treaties were also negotiated at a time and
place when generally speaking the only technological advancements known to
the Indians, the one contracting party, was the invention of gun powder and
the invention of the wheel. The Indians on the one hand had experienced the
ravages of famine and disease and also the disadvantages of being a nomadic
race. The commissioners came, therefore, in the light of these conditions, to
negotiate for the surrender of vast areas of land, which had been deemed nec-
essary for the development of this Canada, and to provide for advantage and
advancement of overcrowded areas of the motherland. The commissioners, as
you are aware, made offers to the Indian peoples who had appointed represen-
tatives to represent speak and negotiate for their masses. The government
of the time therefore, in authorizing its commissioners to negotiate with the
Indians, recognized firstly that the Indian peoples were in rightful occupation
of the land, the surrender of which would require a price to be paid; secondly,

that the Indian people had the ability to elect representatives; thirdly, that

the representatives so appointed represented the thinking of the Indian people;
and fourthly, that the representatives so appointed by the Indians were quali-
fied to know what was good for their people.

In the light, therefore, of the advantages and disadvantages of the Indian
representatives, we submit that you should, in your recommendations and legis-
lation, have regard not only to the actual treaties, but also to the discussions
which led up to and formed the basis of the treaties. The only book which we,
your suppliants, know of on this subject is “The Treaties of Canada with the
Indians of Manitoba and the North West Territories” by the honourable Alex-
ander Morris, P.C., late lieutenant governor of Manitoba, the North West
Territories and Kee-Wa-Tin.

s g
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With your indulgence therefore, we would like to draw to your attention
certain portions of the discussions which were, according to the aforesaid book,
uttered prior to the signing of the treaties. Having regard to the question of
integration of the Indian people, Lieutenant Governor Archibald, at the Stone
Fort and Manitoba Post treaties said:

But the Queen, though she may think it good for you to adopt
civilized habits, has no idea of compelling you to do so. This she leaves
to your choice and you need not live like the white man unless you
can be persuaded to do so of your own free will.

Dealing with the question of perpetuating Indian reserves, Lieutenant Governor
Archibald, prior to the same treaty, is quoted as saying:

Your Great Mother, therefore, will lay aside for you lots of land to
be used by you and your children forever. She will not allow the white
man to intrude upon these lots... there shall be no Indian who has
not a place that he can call his home.

In connection with the problem of extending to Indians the right to have
liquor, there were discussions at the negotiation of the North West Angle treaty,
the Qu’Appelle treaty, the treaties of Fort Carlton and Pit and possibly others.
At the North West Angle treaty, the discussion which took place is quoted as
follows:

Chief: As regards the firewater, I do not like it and do not wish any
house to be built to have it sold. Perhaps at times I should be unwell I
might take just a drop for medicine; and shall - anyone insist on bring-
ing it where we are I should break the treaty.

Governor: I meant to have spoken of that myself. I meant to put it
in the treaty. He speaks good about it. The Queen and her parliament
in Ottawa have already passed a law prohibiting the use of it in this
territory, and if any shall be brought in for the use of you as medicine,
it can only come in by my permission.

At the treaties of Fort Carlton and Pit, Lieutenant Governor Alexander Morris
is quoted as having said:

..... and therefore the firewater which does so much harm will
not be allowed to be sold or used in the Reserve.”

The government of the day, through her representatives, recognized the ill
effects of liquor by the wording of the North West Angle treaty and the
Qu’Appelle treaty. The first mentioned treaty having regard to this problem
reads as follows:

Her Majesty further agrees with her Indians that within the boun-
daries of Indian reserves, and till otherwise determined by the Govern-
ment of the Dominion of Canada, no intoxicating liquor shall be allowed
to be introduced or sold, and all laws now in force or hereafter to be
enacted to preserve her Indian subjects inhabiting the reserves or living
elsewhere within the North West Territories, from the evil influence of
the use of intoxicating liquor shall be strictly enforced.

The Qu’Appelle treaty has similar words, and reads as follows:
Till otherwise determined by the Government of the Dominion of
Canada, no intoxicating liquor shall be allowed to be introduced or sold;
and all laws now in force or hereafter to be enacted to preserve her
Indian subjects inhabiting the reserves or living elsewhere in the North
West Territories from the evil effects of intoxication shall be strictly
enforced.
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The supporters of this petition ask that liquor and intoxicating beverages
be prohibited from our reserves and that our peoples still be prohibited from
using such even off the reserve, inasmuch as we believe that the evil effects
of intoxication are no different today than they were in the 1870’s, and if it
were possible for you to sit at provincial magistrates’ courts within our
province, you would see today the evil influences of liquor and intoxication
upon our peoples. The situation today, when we are prohibited from having
liquor, is bad enough, but what can possibly be the situation if we are openly
permitted to have the free use of these beverages. Surely our peoples will soon
become so degraded that the illustrious past which we are pledged to preserve
will soon disappear and only become a brief entry in the history books of
tomorrow.

The Indians, and particularly the peoples involved in this submission are
most anxious that Indians should not have the right or the privilege of voting.
We believe that the question of Indian advancement, betterment, welfare and
integration should not be a matter for political discussion, inasmuch as we
believe that they are problems of too great an importance to be thrown into
the political arena. We regard all Indian matters and problems as cestui quo
trust, and the non-Indians through their elected representatives as the trustees.
It would hardly be right for the beneficiaries of the trust to have an active
voice in determining who the particular trustees are to be, nor would it be
right that we, the beneficiaries, should have an active voice in determining
the manner of management of the trust so long as the words and spirit of the
treaties are strictly adhered to. We have, we believe, the best safeguard for
this when the governor at the North West Angle Treaty said:

The ear of the Queen’s Government will always be open to hear
the complaint of her Indian people, and she will deal with her servants
that do not do their duty in a proper manner.

We do not think it right that we should decide who or what political philosophy
is to represent “The ear of the Queen’s Government.” We do, therefore, ask
that the right to vote not be given to the Indian people in mass, but only to
those who wish to disassociate themselves from the treaties and the advantages
thereby given.

The Indians have, as you may all know, become concerned with regard to
what their position is when sickness strikes their people, either individually
1c;r in mass. Lieutenant Governor Morris at the treaties of Fort Carlton and

it said:
The Medicine Chest shall be kept at the house of each Indian agent
in case of sickness among you.

'Ihe words “medicine chest” have, as you may know, received from judicial

interpretation in the judgment of the Exchequer Court of Canada in the petition

of George Dreaver et al v His Majesty The King, dated April 10, 1935. The
honourable Mr. Justice Angers at page 19 of the judgment said:

As I have previously pointed out, the Treaty stipulates that a

Medicine Chest shall be kept at the house of each Indian Agent for the

use and benefit of Indians at the direction of the Agent. This is my

opinion means that the Indians were to be provided with all medicine,

drugs or medical care which they might need, entirely free of charge.

The proof does not elicit what the medicines, drugs or medical supplies,

mentioned in the statement inserted in paragraph 4 of the petition,

were nor does it show the reason why they were charged. Do they con-

stitute all the medicines, drugs and medical supplies furnished to

the Indians of the Mistawasis Band by the Department of Indian Affairs
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or do they only represent a part of what was supplied to them, there
is nothing in the evidence to indicate it. Be that as it may, I do not think
that the Department had, under the treaty, the privilege of deciding
what medicines, drugs and medical supplies were to be furnished to
the Indians gratuitously and which were to be charged to the funds of
the band. The treaty makes no distinction; it merely states that a
medicine chest shall be kept at the house of the Indian Agent for the
use and benefit of the Indians. The clause might unquestionably be
more explicit, but, as I have said, I take it to mean that all medicines,
drugs or medical supplies which might be required by the Indians of
the Mistawasis Band were to be supplied to them free of charge.

We would agree with this interpretation if the words were included in
a treaty signed today, but at the time medicines, pills, ointments and medical
supplies were the only health sustaining and sickness curatives known in the
territories. We also point out that the honorable Mr. Justice Angers mentions:

The clause might unquestionably be more explicit and we believe
that the words of 1876, given their then intended meaning, would today
read to include all medical and hospitalization services, as well as all
necessary drugs and medical supplies. Generally we believe that the
governments in the past and the present have been rendering this type
of interpretation to these words and necessity, but there have been
restrictions placed thereon through the administration of Indian health
services—an administration not established by statute and so void of
public interpretation and House of Commons safeguards that it is open
for momentary and immediate change. We feel, therefore, that this
great problem should be clearly set forth in a public statute so that there
is no possibility of misunderstanding, and in any event would be open
for proper judicial interpretation.

Taxation in its present day form is another matter which has created for
the Indians the situation which we feel was never intended. We believe that
the government of the day intended that we should be able to live our lives
upon our reserves free from any form of taxation, be it imposed by a Dominion
or a provincial government. Certainly there was nothing stated in our treaties
which would imply that we might be liable to taxation while within our
reserves, and also it would be inconceivable that the trustee could create
burdens upon the beneficiaries so as to diminish the subject matter of the
trust. As we have said, we are farmers, and under the existing Indian Act
it is conceivable that provincial governments could attempt to tax the fuel
which we must purchase in order to cultivate and work our farm lands. We
have already experienced a situation where a provincial government has
attempted to fine and imprison our people and confiscate our people’s property
because they used the only tax free gas obtainable in automobiles driven
upon our reserves. This government has in effect said you must use a certain
type of gasoline in your automobiles whether they be used on or off your
reserves, and we refuse to allow you to purchase this type of gas unless you
pay the tax levied thereon. We regard this as a violation of our treaties, and
one of the matters to be remedied. We are aware that although the treaties
with Canadian Indians contained mostly similar provisions, that there are
some differences. We are however not unmindful of the negotiations at the
Qu’Appelle treaty where, when an attempt was made to get more advantageous
terms, Lieutenant Governor Morris said:

“We can give you nothing more than we gave them. (The Indians
at the North West Angle)”
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We feel, therefore, that the government of Canada intended to give the
Indians of Canada the same provisions for their security and welfare, subject
however to variations in land size where relatively speaking changes were
made so that the Indians would be self-supporting. The various promises which
were made in the treaties were not intended to be for only a period of time
as measured in years, or something that one of the contracting parties could
alleviate the other from, because in the words of the Qu’Appelle Treaty we
find:

Therefore the promises we have to make to you are not for today
only but for tomorrow, not only for you but for your children born and
unborn, and the promises we make will be carried out as long as the
sun shines above and the water flows in the ocean.

We would, therefore, ask that this Committee keep these utterances in
mind when dealing with matters pertaining to Indians, because it is with this
background that we would now like to make specific recommendations with
respect to changes in the Indian Act.

Before getting into the details of the Indian Act, there are in Canada
two types of Indians. Firstly there is the Indian who treated with the govern-
ment of Canada by means of solemn contract and pursuant to which they
were granted special privileges. There are on the other hand Indians who
came into Canada after the treaties, and who had nothing to give to the
government by way of lands and hence should be regarded as a people
immigrating into this country. The type of people which bears some
resemblance to the former classification and yet is neither is of course the
half-breed or metis. Inasmuch as we represent Indians who treated with the
government of Canada, we humbly submit and suggest that there be two
Indian Acts, the one dealing with the treaty Indian because of the special
privileges and the other dealing with the non-treaty and possibly the metis.
As a result, we will confine our remarks to suggest amendments of an
Indian Act to deal only with the treaty Indian.

Section 1. This act may be cited as the Indian Act respecting Indians and
their treaties. (It is the feeling of the undersigned that there should be a
separate Indian Act for treaty Indians, and if necessary a second Indian Act
in order to deal with matters pertaining to non-treaty Indians.)

Section 2. That clause 1(c) be deleted and the following substituted there-
for:
“Council of the Band” means a Council chosen according to the
custom of the Band, or, where there is no Council, the Chief of the
Band chosen according to the custom of the Band.

(At the time of the signing of the treaties the Government of the day was
prepared to recognize our customs as a means by which representatives would
be chosen in order to speak for and sign the agreements by which our lands
were surrendered, and your petitioners feel that the minister in charge of
the administration of Indian affairs should have no right to decide what
system of election is advisable for the good government of any band.)

That subsection 1(d) be amended to substitute in place of the Depart-
ment of Citizenship and Immigration, the Department of the Secretary of
State of Canada. (The Indian peoples in the 1870’s dealt with the fore-
runner of the suggested department of Government, and in view of the
recognition given the Indian nations at that time, it is our feeling that this
recognition should be accorded even today, and that henceforth the Depart-
ment of the Secretary of State for Canada should be the department in
charge of Indian Affairs.)
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That section 2, clause (1) subclause (f) be amended, deleting therefrom
the words “and any interest in the land”. (It is requested that the reference
to land be deleted, inasmuch as it carries the implication that Indian Lands
may be owned by individuals as an individual, rather than by treaty in-
heritance.)

That section 2, subsection 1(1) be amended to read “minister’” means the
Secretary of State for Canada.”

Section 3. That section 3, subsection (1) be amended to substitute in
place of the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration, the Secretary of State
for Canada. That section 3, subsection (2) be amended to restrict the delega-
tion of authority to the man not in any case below the head man in charge
of the regional office, and that the necessary change from Deputy  Minister of
Citizenship and Immigration read Deputy Secretary of State for Canada.

Section 4. That subsection 3 be amended to remove from the control of the
department all limitation over the extent of education of Indians. (The treaties
provided for education, and it would not be in compliance therewith that the
governor-in-council should be in a position to limit this education. It is also
suggested that the references to sections 42 to 52 be altered so as to restore
the whole of section 4(3) to the principle as established under the Indian Act
of 1951.) :

Sections 5, 6, 7. That sections 5, 6 and 7 be amended to remove therefrom
all reference to the general list. (We are of the opinion that duplication of lists
is unnecessary, and that all that is required is the bands list if Treaty Indians
only are being dealt with.)

Sections 9 to 12. That sections 9 to 12 inclusive be amended by deleting
all reference to general lists.

Sections 13 to 17. That sections 13 to 17 be amended by deleting all refer-
ence to general lists, and in the case of section 13 that the same read:

A Member of a Band may be admitted into membership of another
Band with the consent of the Council of the latter Band.

Section 18. That section 18(1) be amended by deleting the words after the
word “surrender” in the fourth line, and substituting therefor the following:

The Band in Council shall determine whether any purpose for which
lands in a Reserve are to be used or are used is for the use and benefit
of the Band.

Section 19. That section 19 be amended to insert after the word “may”
which appears in the first line, the words:

“with consent of the Band in Council.”

(The present wording of this section implies, we believe, a power in the
minister which was not intended, and gives no recognition to the rights and
powers of a band or its council or its chief, and would provide descension in the
hands of overzealous persons acting under delegated authority.)

Sections 20 to 29. That sections 20 to 29 be amended to repeal the wide
discretionary powers granted the minister and the council of a band, and to
replace these provisions enabling the granting of possession or certificates
thereof, and the other powers given under these sections to the minister with
consent of the band in council. (It is our hope to be able to maintain for the
benefit of our present and future generations ownership of land in common
so as to be able to teach our people the spirit of true co-operation as existed
in this country before the advent of the white man.)
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Section 37. That section 37 be amended by deleting the words ‘“except
where this act otherwise provides”. (It is our feeling that there should be no
further absolute surrenders, but that surrenders, if granted, should be upon
such terms so as to preserve unto the Indian tribe the accruing benefits from the
land so surrendered, and so as to be in a position in the future of returning the
lands to the full use of the Indian.

Section 47. That section 47 (1) be amended to provide for appeals from all
of the discretionary authority and jurisdiction granted to the minister under
this act, and that the appeal be to the court of the province which would have
had jurisdiction if the deceased were not an Indian, and that the rules regarding
the practice and procedure shall be made by such provincial courts. That
notice of the exercise by the minister of testamentary jurisdiction shall be posted
in an accessible conspicuous place in the agency having supervision over the
affairs of the band of which the deceased was a member. (At the present time
the minister has power under section 45 to accept and approve wills of an
Indian, with the result that is impossible for heirs to challenge the validity of
such will, even in the event that the will was obtained by fraud, duress or
undue influence.)

Section 53. That Section 53 (1) be deleted and the following substitued
therefor:
The Minister or a person appointed by him for the purpose, may
manage or lease lands surrendered in accordance with this Act and the
terms of surrender.

That section 53 (2) be deleted. That section 53 (3) be amended by deleting the
words starting in the third line, namely ‘“except with the approval of the
governor-in-council.”

Section 54. That section 54 be deleted.

Section 57. That section 57 be amended to insert after the word “may”
in the first line thereof the words “with the consent of the council of the band.”

Section 60. That the entire section 60 be deleted. (This section at the
present time implies and in fact grants to the governor-in-council a power
which was never intended by the treaties, inasmuch as the treaties set lands
aside for the use and occupation of the Indians.)

Section 61. That section 61 (2) be amended by adding after the last word
thereof the words “but in any event not less than five percent per annum.”

Section 64. That section 64 (a) be deleted. (It is our feeling that there
should be no unconditional surrenders of land or conditional surrenders which
would be of a nature so as to enable an outright sale of Indian land. In the
event that this type of surrender was prohibited or made impossible, there
can be no suspicion of persons having bought a surrender, and also the In-
dian peoples will not be tempted to accept money in lieu of their contractual
heritage.)

Section 68. That section 68 (1) be amended by deleting the word ‘“revoke”
in the last line thereof.

Section 72. That section 72 (1d) be amended by deleting the word
“taxation” therefrom.

Sections 73, 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79. That sections 73, 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, and
79 be deleted, and the Indians returned to the system existing before the two-
year elective system.
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Section 80. That section 80 be amended by adding thereto the subpara-
graph (s):
(s) The control and management over lands in the Reserve occupied
by that Band.

Section 86. That section 86 (1) be amended by adding thereto the sub-
paragraph (c):
(c) Personal property which may be purchased by an Indian ordinarily
resident upon a Reserve, or personal property which may be pur-
chased by a Band.

and that the section be further amended by adding in the tenth line after the
word “possession” the word “purchase”, and in the eleventh line after the
figure (b) the figure (c).

Section 108. That section 108(1) be amended by inserting after the word
“applied” in the second line thereof, the word ‘“voluntarily’”’. By amending
subsection 2 of section 108 to delete the word “may” in the second line thereof,
and substitute therefor the word ‘shall”, and make similar provision for
the word “may” in the fourth line thereof. Your suppliants, with the knowl-
edge that your committee represents “The ear of the Queen’s government
humbly request that due consideration be given to the implementation of
the foregoing suggestions and recommendations.

Dated at Fort Qu’Appelle, in the province of Saskatchewan, this
of March, A.D. 1960.

day

M uRcOWNetURe S Resarge i i i e s el Chief
B R S G e S T U S S i A I N S Chief
s e e R T Y R e e SN U SO S R Chief
e T e T e N S S I T E R Chief

R R T R e e B S e Rl B R Chief

The Joint CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Chief Gambler now will make a
brief statement, and then we will proceed to question him.

Chief JouN GAMBLER (Qu’Appelle Indian Advisory Council of Chiefs Inde-
pendent): Hon. gentlemen, it is my pleasure to stand before you this after-
noon with my colleagues, who happen to be chiefs of different reserves in
Saskatchewan, namely the Qu’Appelle agency.

I consider it a great opportunity, as well as a privilege, to stand before
you and endeavour to make a good job of our representation. However, I am
afraid that in view of my lack of education I will not be able to put it
across to you as it should be done. But I am afraid that, with our lack
gf education, we shall not be able to put it across to you as it should be

one.

I hope our brief will speak for itself but there is one point I should like
to stress, and that is we consider it a great privilege to present ourselves
before a government which made treaties with us. I am speaking now of
treaty No. 4 made in 1874 with the Indians at Fort Qu’Appelle. Under the
terms of this treaty we take it that we are talking to you as nation to nation.
We do not come before you as politicians. We do not know anything about
politics but we do come to you as statesmen. In taking up that position, we are
only taking the same position as did our forefathers. However, at that time our
forefathers were illiterate and, on the other hand, the Queen’s commissioners
were learned men speaking for the Queen. The Indians were given to understand
that for as long as the sun shines, waters flow in the ocean and grass grows,
this treaty would remain as good as the day it was made.
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For that reason I say it is a great privilege for us to stand before you and
I am sure the Canadian government feels it has a certain duty, which is a
sacred trust that it must honour, as do we.

I am sure the Indians have done their level best to honour the agreements
which they made. However, we are living in a period of change and we know
we have to go along with changes in this day and age.

Now, it is my pleasure to read to you the preamble to the brief but, before
I do that, I should like to put the record straight by saying we have a bigger
organization in the province of Saskatchewan in which we have not taken
membership, and we have certain reasons for that.

The reasons are due to the fact that we felt that there was an encroachment
by the provincial government to bring on legislation that was going to break
the treaty. It just happened to be my fortune to be a member of the Indian
committee when the first conference was called in 1958. I represented the
Qu’Appelle agency during the study and review of the proposals for extending
the vote on liquor to the Indian. I am talking about the provincial government
proposals. We discovered that it was bringing in something that would break
the treaty—we thought that anyway. It happened that we got the Hawthorne
report. I know that quite a few of you might be familiar with the Hawthorne
report. We have a copy of it here, and if it is the pleasure of the committee
I will read it, Mr. Chairman.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): If this is agreeable to the committee.

Chief GAMBLER: Now, gentlemen, this is a survey that was taken in 1954
by Dr. Hawthorne and his 20-man team. During the process of the study and
review of the government proposals, that is when we happened to be fortunate
enough to get this article . . .

Mr. SMALL: You mean the provincial government?
Chief GAMBLER: Yes.
A revolutionary “Indian bill of rights’—

By the way, this survey was taken in British Columbia—

A revolutionary “Indian bill of rights” plan which would make
drastic changes in the way Canada now treats her Indians has been
prepared by a university of British Columbia research team for the
federal government.

Now, I believe it was during the regime of the federal government when
this was projected.

It rejects many of the methods the federal government now uses to
administer the Indians, criticizing them as “a myth of paternalism
50 years out of date”. The 1,000-page report took two years to prepare
by a 20-man research team under anthropologist Dr. Harry Hawthorne.
It was commissioned by the Indian affairs branch and paid for by the
federal government, but so far has not been released in Ottawa.
Dr. Hawthorne said Friday in an interview that at the time it was
commissioned the report was intended to serve as a pilot plan for the
future of Indians across Canada. He said, however, he cannot say whether
this is still the government’s intention.

If this final pilot plan is an acceptable policy for all Indians across Canada,
we find that it is not going to serve the people of Canada right across the
dominion. Our geographical position, our way of making a living, differs in
each province and territory, and if an Indian act is made, or any recommenda-
tion or legislation is made, then the one Indian Act that will be made will not
help the Indians living in the different areas. I think that is the way we see it,
and I believe that is what will happen.

T R N
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The research work begun in 1954 was confined to British Columbia’s
30,000 Indians. Recommendations include:

The present “enfranchisement” system should be abandoned as
failure;

All Indians should get the federal vote and qualify for provincial
votes in the same way as whites;

Now here comes the touchy article:
Indians should pay no federal taxes, but pay provincial taxes no
matter where they live;

That is quite true under the treaties. Indians are exempt from taxation, and
I believe that while I was on the committee there was a letter sent from the
government, the committee of the provincial government, asking this govern-
ment to take a similar survey in Saskatchewan. So that is another reason why,
after studying the letter that was sent in for this commission to be appointed,
we were very much alarmed.

Agency councils of Indians should gradually take over administra-
tion of Indian affairs.

That is not so bad. We quite agree that an Indian is capable of holding the
position as an Indian agent. That would serve the Indians a lot better than at
the present time. When I say ‘“‘a lot better” I am not criticizing the present
officials we have. We have some good men and we have others different to being

~good men.

Indian band councils should gradually take over local authorities,
with the right to levy taxes, and get the provincial subsidies the same
as whites;

Under treaties we are exempt from taxation I believe that in the last call
for Indians to make representations, Mr. Glenn had a nine-point reference, and
the first reference was to Indians and their treaties and the question was as to
whether Indians should be made to pay taxes. Now, with our economic condi-
tions as they are, it is very difficult for us to make a living as it is, without
having to pay taxes.

They should gradually be amalgamated with local authorities of the
neighbouring white villages;

This item should be given a lot of thought. The present provincial govern-
ment today, I believe, according to what we have heard, passed a resolution in
the provincial house asking the federal government to transfer the jurisdiction
of Indian administration to the province of Saskatchewan. It was also stated in
the federation’s brief, I believe, that Indians should pay taxes. No, I might be
corrected on that. If the reserves were incorporated, it says. I believe that in
one of their resolutions they want Indian lands to be incorporated. In what?
Is it into the municipality? If that happens, will we be required to pay taxes?
That is a thing of which we are very much afraid.

Paternalism should be abolished. Indians should have the same
drinking rights as whites and there should be special policing of the
reserves.

Since we have had the privilege of drinking we have had no protection
from the mounted police. According to news reports, needless to say there is
an evil effect, and this has brought a lot of misery to our Indian reservations
without proper police protection.

Anybody, white or Indian, should be allowed to live on reserves.
24863-3—4
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That is another big item which should be deeply considered. According
to the treaty, the reserves were set aside especially for Indians. If they are
used by whites, eventually we will have to live with white people, and if our
reserves are not capable of maintaining the Indians, as far as their economic
situation is concerned, I do not see where it is going to better the condition
of Indians living on reserves with white men living side by side.

Reserves will stay indefinitely, but severe modification, aimed at
encouraging more Indians to leave them.

In what way? That is the question to be answered.
Now, gentlemen, I wish to present to you the preamble to our brief:

Whereas:

The Qu’Appelle advisory council independent be recognized as the
guiding body, and whereas being duly appointed by band vote and
elected to represent said band of Indians, that therefore by this delega-
tion of authority shall be recognized as duly representative of said bands
and that the advisory council of chiefs independent act on behalf of
their respective bands, i

Today, gentlemen, we are acting only for our respective band. But
wherever we may lend assistance to the committee and assistance to the
Indian people as far as their economic and social status is concerned, we will
be only too happy to do so for them.

to advise the federal government; the necessary precedence by treaty
to arrive at a proper knowledge and understanding of those bands so
represented, for the retention of treaty rights and obligation thereof as
contained in the Qu’Appelle Indian treaty of 1874.

And whereas:
This advisory council is organized to promote leadership at the com-
munity level in promoting progress and general welfare of the Indians
concerned.

We also have the constitutional rights from the Atlantic charter. These
give us the following freedoms:
1. Freedom of peaceful assembly.
2. Freedom of speech and of free expression.
3. Freedom of conscience and religious worship.
4. Equalities of opportunities to all.
5. Protection of minorities.

No. 1. Gives the right to assemble or to gather in one place, such
as calling a meeting of Indians for the purpose of peaceful discussion
of their problems or anything pertaining to the Indian administration
of their treaties.

No. 2. Gives us the right to freely express our disapproval, if the
supervision or administration is necessarily severe, also to protest if
any part of our treaty is violated. {

No. 3. Gives us the right to our religious behefs, also the right to
protest if any one is prosecuted for exercising or performing a ritual
according to his religion and protects all from being forced to accept
a religion he did not want.

No. 4. Give us the right in pursuit of happiness, some opportunities
other races enjoy. To raise our families at home, schools in our reserves
according to our treaty, proper education and thorough training for our
children, not to be harassed by fear.
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No. 5. Our constitution protects minorities. This applies to the
native population more than any other race, one to the vast majority
of the Indians being totally illiterate and being in a greater minority
than any other race, it is the duty of the government to protect them
from exploitation, suppression and oppression.

Now, before I go on with the brief we have some extracts from our treaty
which also form the basis of our brief.

In the treaty book at page 285 you will find these words: -

In the first place that the provisions of these treaties must be car-
ried out with the utmost good faith and the nicest exactness.

Then on page 72:

The ear of the Queen’s government will always be open to hear
the complaints of her Indian people, and she will deal with her ser-
vants that do not do their duty in a proper manner.

I will reiterate the privilege that we have in presenting our problems to
the government that had made treaty with us. We assert that it was the
Conservative government that made the treaty under the leadership of John
A. Macdonald.

Then on page 296 of the treaty there is this quotation:
Let us have a wise and paternal government faithfully carrying
out the provisions of our treaties and doing its utmost to help and
elevate the Indian population.

Then on page 28:

But the Queen, though she may think good for you to adopt civil-
ized habits, she has no idea of compelling you to do so; this she leaves
to your choice and you need not live like the white man unless you can
be persuaded to do so of your own free will.

There is the question of the vote which has been extended to the Indian
people, giving the privilege of the use of liquor along with the vote. The use
of liquor is causing a lot of trouble amongst the Indians. It may so happen
that through the influence of liquor when an election comes around we may
be imbued so much with liquor that we would not know how to vote and
would not be using the right to vote intelligently. That gave us a free choice
to live like the white man but that we do not have to live like the white man.
We hear a lot about racial discrimination. Are the people prepared to accept
the Indian? That is a matter of choice which has to be made by people living
with us wherever we may be. Without proper education and without its being
put to its best use we might do something that would be distasteful to our
neighbour. With the proper education and understanding of these things we
may be able to be an asset to the community in which we live.

Again, from page 285 of the treaty book we quote the following:
An abiding confidence in the governments of the Queen, or the
great mother as they style her. This must not, at all hazards, be shaken.
It can be easily and fully maintained.

Then on page 125:
Each band must have a chief and four headmen.

On page 120:

Qu’Appelle treaty No. 4 also accepts same terms as treaty No. 3
or north-west angle treaty. Chief Mane-do-pe-nais was chief speaker
for No. 3. Chief Loud Voice for No. 4.

24863-3—43
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Then, a conversation took place and, at page 286 of the treaty book, this was
said:
The payment of an annual salary of $25 to each chief, and of $15
to each councillor or headman of a chief, thus making them in a sense
officers of the Crown.

Now, if each item is considered and thought over: they hold a lot of
meaning.
Then, at page 69—and this is the chief speaking:

If you should get into trouble with the nations, I do not wish to
walk out and expose my young men to aid you in any of your wars.

Then, the Queen speaks, through her governor:
The English never call Indians out of their country to fight their
battles. You are living here, and the Queen expects you to live at peace
with the white man and your red brothers and with other nations.

At page 333: .

Further, Her Majesty agrees to maintain a school on the reserve

allotted to each band, as soon as they settle on said reserve and are
prepared for a teacher.

At page 292:
The treaties provide for the establishment of schools on the reserves,
for the instruction of the Indian children. This is a very important
feature and is deserving of being pressed with the utmost energy.

Page 96:
And, the promises we make will be carried out as long as the sun
shines above and the water flows in the ocean.

We will go on now with the brief. Before I start reading this brief, I
would like to submit that this is purely an Indian idea. It is not like the
federation of Saskatchewan brief. You might have heard the presentations.
I believe Mr. Watanese is an Indian by colour; however, he holds the status
of a white man. Mr. Sturdy also spoke. The president of that association said
that their brief was in the making for a number of years, beginning in 1958.
It was then that we decided that we would not take membership in the federa-
tion of Saskatchewan Indians.

It is now my pleasure, gentlemen, to present to you our brief.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Chief Gambler, had we not agreed
that we would go through the brief without reading it, and members of the
committee could ask you questions, starting with page 1? I might say that
each member of the committee has-a copy of your brief.

Are there any questions?

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): There is only one question I
would like to ask, if I may do so. You are independent of any organization
in Saskatchewan?

Chief GAMBLER: Yes.

Mr. BApANAI: Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask a question. How many
people are involved in these six reserves?

Chief GAMBLER: Perhaps I should say, Mr. Chairman, about 5,000 or 6,000.

Chief Starr: I have 300 in mine.

Chief GaMBLER: I have close to 200 but I would point out, Mr. Chair-
man, that there are eight reserves which took membership with us in our
organization.

-
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Senator MacDoNALD: What do you say is the total population on the
reserve? z
; Chief GAMBLER: We are just figuring that out. On one count here we
have about 600, but there are just three of us from our reserve and eight
reserves took membership 'in our organization, that is, the Qu’Appelle
agency.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): There are about 6,000 in all?

Chief GAMBLER: It is hardly that. I would cut that down to 3,000 or
2,000.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Do members wish to ask any
more questions on page one?

Mr. GunbpLocK: Mr. Chairman, I have one question with regard to educa-
tion which is dealt with in page three of the brief. You have mentioned
that under the terms in the treaty a school and a teacher would be pro-
vided. Is that not the case within your organization?

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I did not quite catch that. Would
you speak a little louder?

Mr. GunbLocKk: In quoting the treaty agreements it is stated that the
Queen said there would be a school teacher provided in each reserve. Is -
that not now the case?

Chief GAMBLER: No, it is the case right now. I believe the federal
government is seeing to this.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Then that part of the treaty is
respected?

Chief GAMBLER: Yes, that is right, Mr. Chairman.

The Joint CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Now, on page five, there is the
liquor question.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): That is on page four.
The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): It is on pages four and five.

Mr. Gunprock: I have just a short question. Does the liquor problem
concern this group in the same way as the former brief? In other words, is
it a provincial problem? Is there anything we can do as a federal body?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Do you feel the federal govern-

ment could do something so far as the application of the liquor law is con-
cerned in your province?

Chief GAMBLER: Well, it was an obligation of the dominion government
to protect the Indians and to uphold the treaties that were given to them.
The federal government were to be the guardians of the treaties. Accord-
ing to the treaty about which we are concerned, it says that at some future
date the government would decide to give liquor rights to the Indians and
the question we put to the government today is: what made them decide
to give the Indians the liquor?

Mr. GunpLock: In effect then is it their thinking that the liquor law
jurisdiction is under the provincial law, or do they feel that the federal
government has gone beyond the treaty agreements?

Chief GAMBLER: I think so, Mr. Chairman.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): In other words, you feel that under
the treaty the federal government was supposed to protect Indian reserves
from liquor? That is the way you feel about it?
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The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): May I say a word on that?
I support Colonel Jones on his suggestion that there should be a special com-
mittee dealing with all treaties, because different treaties did not specific
refer to total prohibition on this matter. They are all different on the aspect
of liquor. Soon after my appointment to this very important position I am
holding, I visited several reserves and I went to one reserve which was called
the Poorman reserve. They were very reluctant there to say anything to me.
I told them I wanted to listen to them, and I had nothing much to say to them
except to introduce myself, but they were very shy. Finally I walked down and
I sat by an old fellow who looked a lot older than me. I asked him how old he
was when treaty No. 6 was signed. He said he was nine or ten. I asked him
what the Queen said in regard to their rights to liquor, and he said: I was a
young fellow but my parents told me the Queen says she will not allow us to
drink any liquor until we Indians quit killing one another, and after we quit
killing one another she will let us have it. The old Indian said to me: I am
95 years old and I am still waiting for the Queen to give me permission
to drink. That is his story. I thought it would be an interesting thing to tell
this committee. '

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The next matter on page 5: the
voting right.

Mr. GunpLock: I want to ask, Mr Chairman, whether the witness thinks
the voting privileges and liquor rights are almost the same thing. To me they
are separate things altogether. I would like to have that established. Do you
feel that voting privileges and any liquor regulations coincide? By that I mean
if the voting privilege is extended, do you think automatically liquor privileges
are extended? That is not my interpretation.

Chief GAMBLER: No, we know those questions come in two categories.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): You had made a statement, I believe,
when you were giving your evidence, that the right of vote was given to the
Indians along with the right to have liquor. This is not what you believe?

Chief GAMBLER: We do not believe that, but still, at the same time, the
question was defeated when it was brought up at the conference, at the first
meeting, and when this had a one-year study and review of their proposal
it was flatly turned down by our group. I believe we have forwarded a letter
to the minister and we gave our reasons. By the way, I have the copy of that
letter with me.

Mr. CHARLTON: I wonder if Chief Gambler could correct me on that, but I
may have got a wrong impression from something he said a few moments
ago in his brief outline at the start. I had more or less the impression he was
saying that now that the liquor is given by the province—not on the reservation
but by the province—that it was difficult for them to maintain any law and
order regarding liquor laws on the reservation. Would he clarify that point
for me?

Chief GaMBLER: I said, Mr. Chairman, since this privilege of the use of
liquor was given to the Indians, there was no law and order on the reservation.

Mr. CHARLTON: Is it not a fact, Chief Gambler, that of course the provin-
cial authorities have the policing of the liquor laws? Is there any intimation
to you or your people that the R.C.M.P., who are supposed to be carrying out
the law of the province in Saskatchewan, has been in any way told or given
to believe that they are not supposed to go on the reservation and arrest
anybody for having liquor on the reservation?

Chief GAMBLER: Not on my reservation.
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Chief THOMPSON: In our reserves we have a lot of trouble with this liquor
problem. We have a detachment about 21 miles away. When there is trouble
and I go out and phone the police, they never come until after one or two
days have passed. After all the trouble is over, the police come along. That
is something to which we are objecting.

Mr. CHARLTON: What you are saying is that you cannot get any policing on
your reservation, having regard to the liquor laws, is that it?

Chief THomMPsoN: That is right.

The JornT CHAIRMAN: (Senator Gladstone): Is the province of Saskatchewan
under the provincial police or under the R.C.M.P.?

Chief THoMPSON: Under the Royal Canadian Mounted Police.

Mr. GunpLocK: I am not too clear about that. My impression is that there
is no connection whatever between the voting privilege and the liquor laws.
As far as I am concerned, I would like to have that clearly understood.
Actually, there is no connection whatever between voting and certain liquor
law privileges.

Senator MacDonALD: That is my impression, also.

Mr. GunpLock: Furthermore, the liquor law being under the jurisdiction
of the province, do you feel that your treaties have been misused, that is, that
the federal government is supposed to protect you from the liquor law but
now has turned it over to the province under the B.N.A. Act, and your treaties
have not been lived up to?

Chief GAMBLER: I would say yes. It is the responsibility of the dominion
government to protect the Indians. We might see if it is agreed by my col-
leagues here in regard to this right to drink. As we understand it—and I
want to be corrected by them—it is just a matter of privilege which is given to
the Indians. We do not intend to stand in the way of any individual in his
use of that privilege. If he uses it properly and provided he knows how to
handle his liquor it is one thing; it is entirely his own business if he happens
to run foul of the law. That is the way it was before we had it and I believe
that is stressed in the brief.

Mr. Gunprock: It is in no way connected with the voting privilege.
Chief GamBLER: I would say no; it is a separate class.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): Before you had the privilege
of the province allowing you to drink, what was the situation in regard to
the control of Indians drinking? Is it worse now or was it just as bad before
you had access to liquor?

Chief GAMBLER: I would say it is worse now. Before they were given
the right to drink they had whatever they could sneak across. I think that
matter is mentioned in the brief. I think the brief will take care of that.

Mr. CHARLTON: There still seems to be some misunderstanding here. It
seems that the witness thinks that in some way or other we are responsible for
the liquor laws. Now, this is purely a provincial matter. It is left within the
purview of the band to decide whether they want liquor on the reservation or
not. The chance to vote is given to you by the federal authority; but the
liquor laws are provincial laws governed by the provincial police. They are
governed by the R.C.M.P., I understand, in Saskatchewan. It is up to them to
maintain law and order in so far as liquor is concerned.
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It has nothing to do with the federal government whatsoever, as I under-
stand it. Now, it is up to the provincial government to police liquor laws on
the reservation. That is, when they have allowed you to have liquor off the
reservation, and you want it on your reservation. If you have voted for liquor
you have to take the consequences as far as liquor on the reservation is con-
cerned, but if you have not voted for liquor on your reservation, then you have
to go to the police and say: “We want to have this thing policed on the reserva-
tion”. That is as I see it.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I believe we shall now call it six
o’clock. These witnesses will return tomorrow morning at 9.30 o’clock to this
same room.
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The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Gentlemen, we have a quorum and
the meeting will come to order. First, I should like to announce that after this
meeting we will hold a meeting of the steering committee which was suposed
to have been held yesterday. When we adjourned last night after 6.00 p.m. we
had Chief Gambler giving evidence, and the last question put to him was
about liquor. Have members of the committee, any questions to ask him on that
subject this morning?

Senator MacDonALD: May I say that this group here were just discussing
that subject, before you mentioned it?

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any further questions to
be put to Chief Gambler on the matter of liquor?

Senator MacDoNALD: I wonder has Chief Gambler developed any new
ideas on the subject since we rose yesterday evening?

Chief JoHN GAMBLER (Qu’Appelle Indian Advisory Counsel of Chiefs
Independent): As a matter of courtesy; I rise to wish you all a good morning.
Now, may I sit down to answer the questions?

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Certainly.

Chief GaMBLER: Yesterday evening questions were put to me about liquor
and voting rights and I believe I tried to show that these fell into two separate
categories. Also, we were questioned as to whether the responsibility rested
with the provincial government or the federal government. We go along with
the idea that the extension of liquor rights to the Indians becomes the re-
sponsibility of the provincial government. I believe that is the best way I could
answer the question.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Voting rights are the next matter
mentioned in the brief on page 5. Have members of the committee any questions
they would like to ask Chief Gambler, Chief Thompson or Chief Starr?

Mr. McQuiLLAN: Do you feel that this should not apply to all Indians?
Chief GAMBLER: Mr. Chairman, I did not quite get the question.

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Would you repeat your question,
Mr. McQuillan?

Mr. McQuILLAN: Do you feel voting rights should not be extended to any
Indians across Canada?

Chief GaAMBLER: We can only speak for our own group. We have con-
sidered this question very deeply and, in fact, we have submitted a letter to
the Minister of Indian Affairs, and also to the provincial government, opposing
the extension of the vote to the group we represent.

Mr. BApaNAr: May I ask, on what grounds do you object to the franchise?

Chief GAMBLER: We object on the grounds that the vote will eventually
lead to or end up with fully fledged citizenship and, if the Indian is not ready
to accept the franchise and assimilate the Canadian way of life, and if he is not
well versed in politics, then the vote will not be an asset to the community in
which he lives, or an asset to himself.

Miss LAMARsH: Is it the witness’s belief that by taking the right to vote
the Indian will lose special privileges under the treaties? Is that the real reason
why you do not want the vote?

231
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Chief GAMBLER: I do not understand.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The lady has asked if the reason
you do not want the vote is that you feel you will lose some of your rights
under the treaties?

Chief GAMBLER: Yes, Mr. Chairman. As I said, we feel it will eventually
end up with fully fledged citizenship. I believe that all immigrants coming
into the country have to take an oath of allegiance and, if we accept voting
rights then I do not think there will be any difference so far as legislation is
concerned. If the Indian becomes a fully fledged citizen then, naturally, he
loses his status as an Indian. That, I may say, was not mentioned in the treaties
that were made with the crown.

Mr. FANE: I would like to ask the witness if he does not think that full-
fledged citizenship in his own native country is a good thing? Why do you oppose
it? I have several other questions to follow.

Chief GAMBLER: We do not argue with the question. As I said earlier,
if the Indian is properly educated so far as politics is concerned, he will be able
to use his own intelligence, and it will be put in its proper perspective.

Mr. FANE: I have found the Indian people very intelligent; I have quite a
number of them in my own constituency who have the vote, in view of the
fact that they have seen active service in the defence of this country. The way
these Indians reason it out is that the more they are exposed to citizenship, the
sooner they will be able to take their proper place in their own country and
have some say in the running of it. It is also their feeling that if they keep this
segregated from the affairs of their country they never will be able to take
their proper place in it. I know a great many of my people out west feel that
way about it. How do you feel about it, Chief?

Chief GAMBLER: Mr. Chairman, I will say that we have no quarrel with
the vote as far as the veterans of the last two wars are concerned. They were
given the right to vote, and used it. An order was given to that effect. However,
again I will say that education is the $64 question, in so far as using the
vote to advantage is concerned.

Mr. FaNE: Is the education that is being made available on the reserve
not offered with a view to educating the people so that they will be in a position
to take their proper place in the affairs of their own country?

Chief GamBLER: I will say yes to that, Mr. Chairman. I believe we are
proceeding in that direction. It is my hope that eventually the Indian will be
given sufficient education to enable him to take his place in the Canadian way
of life.

Mr. FaNE: Once more I would like to say that it is my feeling that the
more obstacles that are put in the way of attaining this goal, the more delay
there is and the further away the Indian people as a whole are getting from
being able to take their proper place in the affairs of their own country.

Chief GamBLER: Mr. Chairman, I will answer the question this way. We
are not against the vote for those who are educated. We leave that to the
choice of the individual. However, we do not want the vote to be applied to the
Indian by mass groups. We feel that the matter of decision is an individual one
in nature, and I believe it should be left with the individual.

Mr. FANE: Thank you very much. I will leave it at that.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The next matter is set forth at page 6.
It concerns medical care for the Indians.

Are there any questions which members of the committee would like to ask
Chief Gambler on this subject?
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Mr. Bapanal: Have you any complaints in connection with the medicine
chest? Are they not kept now in the Indian agent’s office or premises?

Chief GAMBLER: As far as we know, Mr. Chairman, they have dispensed
with that service of keeping medicines at the agency. We just happen to be
fortunate enough to have our own Indian hospital right next door, you might
say, and I believe it was for that purpose the medicine chest was dispensed
with. They used the cupboards in the office of the agency for first aid. This
was made use of until the doctors arrived.

Mr. FANE: Of course, at the time this treaty was made they did not have
facilities for keeping the health of their people up to standard, the way they do
now. The medicine chest is an historic way of saying ‘“medical facilities”. Is
it not a fact that in every reserve there is a health nurse available at all
times from the department of Indian affairs? I know there is a nurse from the
department of Indian affairs on the reserve in my constituency.

Chief GAMBLER: Mr. Chairman, I would like to say that it is my belief that
the hospital services staff are doing their best to accommodate the needs of
the Indians as far as medical attention is concerned, and I cannot say too much
for them. However, every now and then we do lock horns—if I might use that
statement. We do disagree on certain things. But I feel we are getting good
service. >

Mr. FANE: If the expression “medicine chest” is translated or used a little
too literally, it would not be very much use in times like these.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I believe if you read the brief you
will see that they refer to an interpretation given by the Exchequer Court of
Canada in one case. The term “medicine chest” was interpreted to be under-
stood as all medical care.

In other words, you are satisfied?

Chief GAMBLER: At the present time, yes; but I would add that we can
always hope for improvements.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Would you point out to the committee
some of the improvements you would like to have.

Chief GAMBLER: According to the economic position of the Indians at the
present time they are not always able to convey their sick to the hospital.
As a matter of fact on my own reserve we happen to be more lucky than many
of the reserves in our area. We are able to budget a certain amount of money
annually for the transportation of our sick to the hospital. Again it is just
our good luck that we do not live too far away from the hospital. There are
other cases however where they have not been able to provide this for them-
selves, and I think that if this was taken into consideration ways and means
could be found to improve the facilities to enable the Indians to get the service
they actually need.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any further questions on
this subject?

The next subject is taxation on page 8.

Senator HORNER: Mr. Chairman, I would like to revert to the matter of
the hospital. I believe some of the chief’s people could enlighten the doctors
of Canada and. give them some very useful information about creating fever.
They speak of conveying the sick to the hospital. At the Qu’Appelle hospital
they sometimes take in children having a fever of 104 or 105 and the next
morning the fever is all gone. The doctors there cannot figure it out. The
children do not have any disease at all; they have been given something,
apparently, to raise the fever so that they would be classified as sick. Some-
times the doctors find that the parents have gone to the stampede in Regina
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and the hospital is acting as a baby sitter for the children until they return.
It would be valuable information for us to have, if they would let us know the
“-secret.

Chief THompsoN: I did not quite catch the question.

Senator HORNER: I am referring to this matter of children being taken
to the hospital with a high fever and then in the morning they are fine and
have nothing wrong with them whatever. A son of mine was down at the
hospital there and the doctors said they could not understand it, but that
evidently it was something the children had been given to raise their fever
so that they would be admitted to the hospital. In many cases they found that
the parents were not there the following morning to receive the children.
There was nothing wrong with the children at all, except that they had this
fever. There are certain diseases which doctors have to treat when sometimes
it is necessary to raise a fever.

Chief THomPsON: I think the Indian people love our children just as
much as any other people. I do not think we would want to give our children
anything to make them sick.

Senator HORNER: Apparently it does not hurt them at all but it does raise
their fever.

Chief THOMPSON: We have a lot of troubles of our own, and this is the
first time I heard a remark of this kind. We have no ambulances and no money
to hire cars, and we have about fifty miles to go from my reserve fo the
hospital.

Senator HORNER: The amazing thing is that apparently it does not injure
them. However, they do have this very high fever when they are brought in.

Chief THoMPsON: I do not think we are educated enough to learn anything
of that sort.

Senator HORNER: I believe they do have certain knowledge, and have had
for many years, about certain herbs about which perhaps we do not know
anything.

Chief THOoMPSON: I have been an Indian all my life and I know nothing
about the herbs.

Senator HORNER: There is the story of the man who was dying of pneu-
monia. An Indian woman went out into the woods and gathered up a bunch of
roots. She took the little black spot out of the roots and put it with some
water in a pail and said, lie down, cover up and drink this and you will get
big heat and will be all right. It worked and he was all right.

Chief THoMPSON: This is something new I have learned from a white man
anyway.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Senator Gladstone): I do not think that an Indian
who treats another person with herbs does it in order to have a person get a
fever so that he can go to the hospital. They do it to create a sweat. Sometimes
Indians have a sweat bath and the perspiration takes the fever away. This
matter of an Indian creating a fever so that he would have an excuse to go
to the hospital is something new to me.

Senator HORNER: That is the information I have. I am only sorry that
there is not a doctor from the hospital here. The information I have is that
is practised there to a considerable extent.

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The next subject is taxation, on
page 8.

Miss LaMarsH: Is the provincial gasoline tax the only type of taxation
about which the chief complains?



INDIAN AFFAIRS 235

Chief GAMBLER: Mr. Chairman, I am sorry I will have to ask that the

.question be repeated, as I am a little hard of hearing.

Miss LaAMARrsH: Is the provincial gasoline tax the only type of taxation
of which you complain?

Chief GaMBLER: If I understand the question correctly, I believe the brief
will speak for us on that matter. We feel that since we have entered into a
treaty with the crown we are exempt from direct taxation.

Senator MacDoNALD: In my province I understand that the farmers are
exempt a certain amount on the gasoline for the farm. This is provincial
affair. I believe you are from Saskatchewan?

Chief GAMBLER: Yes.

Senator MacDonALD: Is there an exemption on your farm gasoline?

Chief GaAmBLER: Not that I know of.

Senator HORNER: The gasoline used on the farm is somewhat cheaper.

Chief THoMmPsoN: Farm fuel is cheaper than other gas.

Miss LaAMagrsH: What is the tax-free gas to which the brief refers, if it
is not fuel to be used on the farm?

Senator HORNER: There is the purple gas you buy for use on the farm
and for which you pay less than other gas.

Chief GAMBLER: Certain provinces do not levy a tax on farm fuel.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: There is the purple gas used for farm tractors and equip-
ment, and then there is the different grade of gas such as the red gas on
which there is a tax. Is it your request that the gas you use in your cars should
be tax-free?

Chief GAMBLER: Yes; it would be a great advantage to the Indian people
if we would get that.

Mr. KORCHINSKI: Are you exempt from the education and hospitaliza-
tion tax?

Chief GAMBLER: At the present time we are not paying it individually,
but I believe the federation of Saskatchewan Indians is prepared to accept
that tax at some future date. I should say again that we are not members
of the federation of Saskatchewan Indians.

Miss LAMARSH: What if any direct taxes are now paid by your band?

Chief GAMBLER: We pay the tax on gasoline for our automobiles I
presume. We do not know the regulation regarding this tax. In any event we
pay the same amount per gallon as any other person.

The JoinTt CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any other direct taxes
which you pay?

Chief THoMPSON: Not right at the present. There is a clipping we have
here which says that it is more or less compulsory for the northern Indians
to pay the hospitalization tax. We feel that in time that will eventually come to
the southern region.

Mr. CHARLTON: Would it not be fair to say that the Indian people pay
all taxes except income tax on monies earned on the reservation and a land
tax on the reservation?

Miss LaMarsH: I asked about direct taxation. I take it they pay no
direct taxes, but do pay the indirect taxes which every Canadian pays.

Mr. HowaRrp: I believe Mr. Charlton has stated it correctly. As I under-
stand it an Indian pays every tax which I or anyone else pays except on
income received from the use of reserve lands or a land tax on the reserve,
unless the band council institutes such a tax itself. They pay income tax on
money which they earn outside of the reserve, just the same as anybody else.
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They are only exempted in so far as the use of reserve land is concerned, sub-
ject, of course, to the band council imposing a land tax for band purposes.
Is that not correct?

Chief GAmMBLER: Yes, that is correct.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: They are exempt from the hospitalization tax, I mean
the sales tax.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are you exempt from that tax at
the present time? :

Chief GAMBLER: Yes.

Mr. KorcHINSKI: That is the very point. They do get that exemption.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Now I believe we go to page ten,
the recommendations of the band, in so far as amendments to the Indian Act
are concerned. Let us start on page ten with the amendments suggested to
the Indian Act by the File Hills Qu’Appelle Indian band, and let us proceed
according to sections. Are there any questions on section one?

Senator MacDoNALD: I wonder if it would not be better if each section
were read out, just to make it a little clearer.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes, we can read them out.

Senator MacDonNALD: I make the suggestion because some of the members
of the committee do not have copies of the brief.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I understand that a copy of the
brief was sent to each member of the committee.

The first section reads as follows:

Section 1. This act may be cited as the Indian Act respecting
Indians and their treaties. (It is the feeling of the undersigned -that
there should be a separate Indian Act for treaty Indians, and if nec-
essary a second Indian Act in order to deal with matters pertaining
to non-treaty Indians):

The next item is section 2, and it reads as follows:

Section 2. That clause 1(c) be deleted and the following substi-
tuted therefor: “Council of the Band” means a council chosen according
to the custom of the band, or, where there is no council, the chief of
the band chosen according to the custom of the band.

Mr. Howarp: Might I inquire generally as to whether these suggested
changes are proposals in so far as treaty Indians are concerned? Is this your
thought: that they would be proposals in so far as treaty Indians are con-
cerned, or would they apply also to what you consider as non-treaty Indians?

Chief GAMBLER: We are speaking for ourselves and our own group. We
find that a change in the elective system is something which does not meet
with the approval of our people in general, because they do not understand
what the difference is between the two systems of government, that is, elected
for the people, due to the fact that a lot of the band people do not understand
the rules and regulations regarding it; that is, the new system of elections
of council on a reserve.

Mr. Howagrp: I wonder what your thought would be in so far as the band
would desire to have the elective system?

Chief GaMBLER: I believe in my own case, we had quite a row about that
section, with the department. I do not believe we were given a fair hearing,
or that they considered my protest on the matter, disputing the new elective
system. However, the transcript of that argument on this point, I believe, is
recorded in the Indian office, and if members of the committee wish to have a
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copy of it, I believe they would be able to get it. So it would explain in itself,
as to why we opposed it.

Senator HORNER: You are speaking of what particular section now?

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The manner of electing chiefs. When
was the protest made?

Chief GAMBLER: I believe it was made in the year 1954. And I might say,
to enlarge on that a little bit more, that it may be a point that could be con-
sidered quite deeply by the committee now.

Let us take it this way by way of illustration: that we, the present chiefs,
sitting before you, will hold office for a term of two years.

But after all our hard work in trying to do something that will best serve
our people, and alleviate many of the troubles to the best of our ability—all
our hard work may be rendered null and void after the next election depend-
ing on what council is elected.

Miss LAMARsH: Some of us have the same trouble, Chief Gambler.

Chief GAMBLER: So that is what we feel about it. However, it is the choice
of the people by bands, and if they so want it, then it is up to them.

Senator HORNER: You do not mean to say that they would upset all you
have done instead of carrying on? Surely the band would not stand for that.
If you have accomplished good work, then the newly elected chief surely
would not be allowed to disrupt or discontinue your program, would he?

Chief GAMBLER: Well, I have always hoped that that is the way the people
would see it. But to illustrate my case, let me say I have only lost one election.
I have been fortunate enough to get back. But a lot happened during the time
I was absent from office or did not hold that position.

We had a lot of money. I had always reserved this money for the purpose
of keeping it as a fund, knowing that it represented land which was sold. We
had accumulated this fund from that source, so that in the event that my
people should become over-populated and could not get any more land, we
would be able to use this money by converting it back into buying some more
land for our Indian people. That was my purpose.

But during the time of my absence from office, during those years, a lot
of our capital funds, were spent, to the extent that the fund was depleted to a
great degree. So we would have to be reimbursed in the capital account for
the monies that have gone out of it.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any more questions on ,
section two; if not, let us go to section three at the bottom of page 11.

Mr. HowaARrD: I have one or two sub-items under section two that I would
like to deal with. The suggestion is that we substitute the Department of the
Secretary of State for the Department of Citizenship and Immigration. What
would be your thoughts if there were to be a separate department of Indian
affairs with a separate minister of Indian affairs?

Chief GAMBLER: I do not quite understand your question, but I shall try
to answer it this way: I believe that if the responsibility rested with this
department that we have mentioned, that we wish to be the department

' responsible to the Indians, that is, the Department of the Secretary of State

for Canada, that this department would take care of and abide by the contract
which was made with the Indians, and that we would get protection from
having our lands disintegrated by legislation, whether it be federal or provin-
cial. I believe thereby the true meaning of the treaty would be carried out and
fulfilled.

Mr. SMmALL: It has been suggested by several deputations here that they
would like to have a minister for Indian affairs removed from any other
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department, so that he could give his whole attention to it. Is that what you are
getting at? 3 7
Of course the Secretary of State for the whole Dominion of Canada has to
look after the whole dominion. But the suggestion has been made that there
be a separate minister with nothing else to look after except Indian affairs.
Is that what you are getting at?
Chief GAMBLER: Not exactly, Mr. Chairman.
The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Not according to the brief.
Chief GAMBLER: No, I did not mean that.
The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Section three of the brief reads as
follows:
Section 3. That section 3, subsection (1) be amended to substitute
in place of the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration the Secretary of
State for Canada. That section 3, subsection (2) be amended to restrict
the delegation of authority to the man not in any case below the head
man in charge of the regional office, and that the necessary change from
deputy minister of Citizenship and Immigration read deputy secretary
of state for Canada.

Chief GAmBLER: I wonder how that question should be answered. We
say that we would like to be under the Department of the Secretary of State
for Canada. We are treaty Indians, and we would like to have our treaties
observed according to their letter and spirit. But I am not saying that the
other departments may not do as good a job in retaining for us the use of our
land, or in preventing our land from exploitation or anything of that sort.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Do you feel you would be more
protected under the Secretary of State of Canada?

Chief GAMBLER: Yes, we do, Mr. Chairman.

Senator MAacDoNALD: Though I may be a little bit stupid, personally I
cannot see where it would make any difference. As I understand it, Indian
affairs is a separate organization which comes under the jurisdiction of the
Minister of Citizenship and Immigration. The department of Indian affairs has
been issued a directive stating it is responsible to that minister, and I cannot
see how you would gain one iota by transferring it to the Secretary of State.
I might go arm in arm with you if you demanded a full-time minister of
Indian affairs.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): That is not what you have told us,
Chief Gambler. You feel you would be more protected under the Secretary of
State?

Chief GAMBLER: Yes.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I think that takes care of sections 2
and 3 and we shall now go on to section 4, on page 12 of the brief. It states:

That subsection 3 be amended to remove from the control of the
department all limitation over the extent of education of Indians. (The
treaties provided for education, and it would not be in compliance there-
with that the governor in council should be in a position to limit this
education.)

Are there any questions on this?

Mr. McQUILLAN: To what limitations does the brief refer?

Chief GAMBLER: We are recommending that the government remove all
limitations governing the extension of education to Indians from the control
of the department. As we see it, there is a clause in the Indian Act dealing
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f mth the problem of different religions. For instance, if I am a Protestant and
~ a school outside my faith is doing a better job in educating Indians, I am not

~ permitted to enter my children in that school. This has also worked the other
- way with people who embrace other faiths. So far as the treaty is concerned,

it is adequate enough to give us all the education our young people can absorb.

. When we read the clause the other day we said we were promised schools,

staffed with teachers. It was stated we would be taught the cunning of the
- white man and all his education, but we would not have to live like the white
~ man unless we could be persuaded to do so. It is a matter of choice, resting
with the individual.

Mr. FANE: Do I understand the witness to say he would prefer to have edu-

1 cation handled by religious groups rather than by the provincial authorities?

15 Chief GAMBLER: Mr. Chairman, we are not suggesting any particular de-
~ partment or any particular board to handle our education. We are only too

k % willing to accept anything that will further the education of our Indian people.

Senator HORNER: Would you prefer these schools to be entirely non-
religious, with religion being taught in them after hours, and on Saturdays
and Sundays? I am talking about a public school for all the children.

Chief GAMBLER: I would say yes, Mr. Chairman, definitely.

Senator HOrRNER: That is my idea too.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The next portion of the brief deals
with sections 5, 6 and 7, sections 9 to 12 and sections 13 to 17. The purpose
of the suggested amendments is to remove all reference to general lists. Will
you tell the committee what exactly this means?

Chief GAMBLER: Here again I take my point from the Hawthorn report.
If that report is to be used as a pilot plan for the Indian people in administering
the policy as recommended by Dr. Hawthorn, I believe it will eventually
designate the rights of a white man living on our reserve, living side by side
with us. With the small reserve we have we cannot afford to harbour anybody
outside our own band, except Indians.

In the department we have two general lists and the way I understand it
is that an Indian could live indefinitely on our reserve, provided he is a treaty
Indian. He is welcome to live with us for a period of time and we do not mind
that. However, if that regulation is carried it may give a white man the
privilege to come and live in our reserve and we cannot accept this willingly.
I wonder if that answers the question.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): So that is the reason you do not want
general lists included in these sections?

Chief GAMBLER: We are referring to the non-Indian.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): If there are no further questions, we
shall move on to section 18. The brief reads:

That section 18(1) be amended by deleting the words after the word
“surrender” in the fourth line, and substituting therefor the following.
“The band in council shall determine whether any purpose for
which lands in a reserve are to be used or are used is for the use and
benefit of the band.”

Do members wish to have explanations from Chief Gambler on this?

Senator HorRNER: The amendment which you are seeking looks reasonable.
It merely means your band council will have the right to judge on any dealings
or alterations made in your reserve. Is that not what it means?
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Chief GAMBLER: What we are asking for is an opportunity for the band to
decide any matter of business relating to lands, or any other business that is
more important than attending to our local domestic business.

Senator HORNER: And it would include the rental of lands, and so on, to
outsiders? :

Chief GAMBLER: The rentals of land are not too alarming if the lands are
only rented out for a short period of time. However, we have a new regulation
and under it the band council, in consultation with a superintendent, can pass
any matter of business without consulting the members of the band, and we
object to this. In all matters relating to land we hold that the council should
be consulted before a decision is passed.

Mr. HENDERSON: That sounds sensible.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): And section 19 deals with the same
thing. You want it amended by inserting after the word “may” in the first
line, the words “with consent of the band in council”.

We shall now go on to the next portion of the brief which deals with
sections 20 to 29 and reads:

That sections 20 to 29 be amended to repeal the wide discretionary
powers granted the minister and the council of a band, and to replace
these provisions enabling the granting of possession or certificates thereof,
and the other powers given under these sections to the minister with
consent of the band in council.

Mr. CHARLTON: Does this mean the council does not want certificates issued
to individual owners? You want all the land to be owned by the band as a
whole, and none by individual owners?

Chief GAMBLER: Yes, Mr. Chairman, we would prefer to have it that way.

Senator HORNER: Do you feel that is the wish of the majority of your band
council? It seems to me that if a progressive young fellow builds up a place, digs
a good well and gets ahead, he would like to have title to his own land. It
would give him a sense of permanency of ownership but, if what you suggest
is done, a progressive young fellow having worked hard and built up a place
will simply find out later he has been working for others rather than for himself.
I doubt if you are taking a wise course in wanting to prohibit individual
ownership, and on second thoughts I think you would realize that.

Mr. HENDERSON: I do not think there is a farm big enough to have two
women run it, let alone men.

Chief GAMBLER: On that question, our minds go back again to the treaty.
Our reserves are small enough as they are. When the treaty was drawn up
it was stated by the commissioner that not alone was it for the people who
made it that day but also for generations yet unborn. That is the reason we
say our land should be considered to be owned in common. We do not want to
stand in the way of a progressive man but he must give consideration to fellow
Indians living with him on a reserve. I think the best we can do at the present
time is make a decent living. If we can continue to do that we would be
assisting ourselves to a great extent in this day and age. Due to a lot of
unemployment and due to lack of education for professional jobs for the
Indians, they cannot get out and compete outside at present. The matter of
education eventually will take care of itself and in all these matters it will
be up to the next generation if they decide to get their ownership of land.
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Mr. FANE: I would find myself prone to support the chief in that statement,
because I think the private ownership of the land on the reserve would lead very
soon to outsiders coming in, and to the depletion of the reserve. That is some-
thing we do not want, I feel that somebody would get tltle to a bit of land and
right away somebody, knowing that was a well developed bit of land, would
come in from outside and say: “I will give you a good price for it”, and that
would defeat the idea of having these reservations.

Senator HorNER: That would be impossible. It would be impossible for
an outsider to buy land on a reserve and establish ownership.

Mr. FaNE: If it were privately owned by a man?

Senator HoRNER: Even then, he would have to sell it to an Indian from
the reserve, or to an Indian, at any rate.

Mr. FANE: One would have to be very sure of that, as there are ways
around almost everything.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): All we want to get this morning
is what the witnesses on the stand wish to say.

Chief GAMBLER: I might clarify that situation there, with your permis-
sion. According to the Indian Act there are two rules and regulations regard-
ing this question. There is the common ownership of land and there is the
ownership by certificate of possession. Now, as the gentleman was saying
here, in the event that this person got title to this land, he would probably
dispense with that part of the reserve. It would be bought by some mort-
gage company or real estate company, whichever it may be.

Senator HorRNER: That is impossible, according to the Indian Act. It can-
not be taken away from the reserve.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Before going any further I would
like to tell the members of the committee again, that after this meeting we
will have a steering committee meeting. I would like to ask Senator Inman,
who is on that committee, to stay. We will not go any further than 11.30 a.m.
as we cannot have the reporters for later than that. The brief continues:

That section 37 be amended by deleting the words “except
where this act otherwise provides”. It is our feeling that there should
be no further absolute surrenders, but that surrenders, if granted,
should be upon such terms so as to preserve unto the Indian tribe
the accruing benefits from the land so surrendered, and so as to be
in a position in the future of returning the lands to the full use
of the Indian.

Would you tell the committee the purpose of this amendment which
you are suggesting, Chief Gambler?

Chief GaMBLER: We are just afraid that if we give an outright sur-
render we will not be able to recover our lands under any deal that is
being made. Once it is signed and sealed with the great seal of Canada, I
believe we will have a lot of difficulty in breaking the contract or the
promise in that deal, whatever it may be.

The Joint CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The next article here speaks for
itself:

That Section 47 (1) be amended to provide for appeals from all
of the discretionary authority and jurisdiction granted to the minister

24863-3—53



242 3 JOINT COMMITTEE

under this act, and that the appeal be to the court of the province
which would have had jurisdiction if the deceased were not an
Indian, and that the rules regarding the practice and procedure
shall be made by such provincial courts. That notice of the exercise
by the minister of testamentary jurisdiction shall be posted in an ac-
cessible conspicuous place in the Agency having supervision over
the affairs of the band of which the deceased was a member.

Is there any question from the committee on this? The next recommenda-
tion is that section 53 (1) be deleted and the following substituted there-
for:
The minister or a person appointed by him for the purpose, may
manage or lease lands surrendered in accordance with this act and the
terms of surrender.

Is there any question on that?

Senator MAcDoNALD: I wonder if we could have a little explanation of that.
What lands are referred to here?

Chief GamBLER: Indian lands, Mr. Chairman.

Senator MacDoONALD: And any reservation?

Chief GAMBLER: Yes.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The brief says:

That section 53 (2) be deleted. That section 53 (3) be amended

by deleting the words starting in the third line, namely “except with
the approval of the governor in council.”

Is there any explanation the committee would like to have on this? The brief
continues:

Section 54. That Section 54 be deleted.

Section 57. That Section 57 be amended to insert after the word
“may” in the first line thereof the words “with the consent of the
council of the band.”

Section 60. That the entire section 60 be deleted. (This section at
the present time implies and in fact grants to the governor in council
a power which was never intended by the treaties, inasmuch as the
treaties set lands aside for the use and occupation of the Indians.)

Section 61. That Section 61 (2) be amended by adding after the last
word thereof the words “but in any event not less than five per cent per
annum”)

Section 64. That Section 64(a) be deleted. It is our feeling that
there should be no unconditional surrenders of land or conditional
surrenders which would be of a nature so as to enable an outright sale
of Indian land. In the event that this type of surrender was prohibited
or made impossible, there can be no suspicion of persons having bought
a surrender, and also the Indian peoples will not be tempted to accept
money in lieu of their contractual heritage.

Section 68. That Section 68 (1) be amended by deleting the word
“revoke” in the last line thereof.

Section 72. That Section 72 (1d) be amended by deleting the word
“taxation” therefrom.

Sections 73, 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79. That Sections 73, 74, 75, 76, 77,
78 and 79 be deleted and the Indians returned to the system ex1stmg
before the two-year elective system.
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- Mr. Fane: We have already discussed this matter.
-~ The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes, we have discussed this.

The brief continues:
Section 80. That section 80 be amended by adding thereto the sub-
paragraph (s): .
(s) “The control and management  over lands in the reserve
occupied by the band.”

Section 86. That Section 86 (1) be amended by adding thereto the
subparagraph (c): '
(c) “Personal property which may be purchased by an Indian
ordinarily resident upon a reserve, or personal property which may
be purchased by a band.”

and that the Section be further amended by adding in the tenth line
after the word “possession” the word “purchase”, and in the eleventh line
after the figure (b) the figure (c).

We have also discussed this matter of taxation at the beginning of the
sitting this morning.

The brief continues:

Section 108. That section 108(1) be amended by inserting after
the word ‘“applied” in the second line thereof, the word “voluntarily”.
By amending subsection 2 of section 108 to delete the word “may” in
the second line thereof, and substitute therefor the word “shall”, and
make similar provision for the word “may” in the fourth line thereof.

Mr. FANE: We have discussed something very close to that, too.
The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Is there any other statement you

would like to make, Chief Gambler, or any other matters we have omitted to
consider in your brief?

Chief GAMBLER: Mr. Chairman, I consider it a great honour that you have
given me the privilege to add these words now-to our brief. I have one article
that we wish to file on record, with your permission, dealing with liquor and
the vote. This is contained in a copy of a letter which we sent to the minister
of the provincial government.

I understand that we have concluded our submission now. In closing, I
want to say on behalf of my assistants here, and on behalf of all my colleagues,
that we feel that there has been extended to us a great honour, a great
privilege and a great opportunity in being able to speak here on behalf of the
reserve that we represent.

Mr. Chairman, we want to thank the government and all members of the
-House of Commons for the hearing that we have received, for the accommoda-
tion that we have received, and for their kindness.

I also wish to thank the members of this committee here present and your-
self, Mr. Chairman, for the kind attention you have accorded us, and for your
patience.

We leave you, ladies and gentlemen, with our very best wishes and will
conclude with our last paragraph: Your suppliants, with the knowledge that
your committee represents “The ear of the Queen’s Government”, humbly
request that due consideration be given to the implementation of the foregoing
suggestions and recommendations.

Mr. Chairman, thank you again.
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The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Chief Gambler, Chief Thompson and
Chief Starr, in the name of the members of the committee I wish to thank you
for all your suggestions. I wish to say that you had a very well prepared brief,
and that you have also made a very good presentatlon here before the
committee. )

Chief Gambler has asked to have a copy of a letter 1nc1uded in the record.
Is that agreed?-

Agreed. (See appendix)
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APPENDIX “P1”

Copy of letter from Fyffe & Fyffe, Barristers, etc., Regina, Saskatchewan
February 22, 1960.

The Honourable Mrs. Fairclough
Minister of Citizenship and Immigration
Ottawa, Canada.

Re: Extension of Vote of Indians
Dear Madam:

We beg to advise that we have been consulted by the Chiefs and Coun-
cillors of six tribes of the File Hills Qu’Appelle Agency, who have formed
themselves into a body called Qu’Appelle Indian Advisory Council of Chiefs
Independent, for the purpose of discussing and making representations on
behalf of their people in connection with mutual problems. They would like
to draw your attention that not all Indians are in favour of receiving the right
to vote, and in particular would like to say that the group which they represent
is opposed to receiving this privilege. This body has noted with some interest
the attitudes taken by numerous people and bodies anxious that Indian people
should achieve equal status with non-Indians. In this regard it would appear
that the persons and organizations are looking at the entire Indian situation,
and assuming that all Indians have the same problems. It would also appear
that these people and bodies assume that they are superior to the Indians,
and should try to do somthing about it.

The Chiefs and Councillors of the Qu’Appelle Indian Advisory Council of
Chiefs Independent would like to draw to your attention, and through you to
the attention of the Government, that they regard this situation in an entirely
different light. This body is firstly interested in assuring that the words and
spirit of the Treaties is lived up to by the persons involved, and that the Queen
through the Federal Government will assure that she will intervene to safe-
guard the cbservance of the Treaties by all subservient governments.

As a second point of interest, these people are proud of their ancestry
and way of life, and are anxious that it be maintained. These people do
not regard themselves as lesser than the white man for all that the white
man may appear to have. The fact is that these people regard themselves
as a privileged class among the British subjects, in that they have privileges not
possessed by others in Canada, such as the freedom from taxation (which
freedom appears to be slowly but surely being whittled away); the right to
receive without cost education for their youth; the guarantee that their lands
will pass into their generations yet unborn regardless of or in spite of any lack
of foresight which may be possessed; and the right to receive medical care
without cost.

As mentioned these people regard these privileges highly, and feel that
because of them the Indian is not below the white man but rather above him.
This view is in part taken because it has and will forever cost the white man
money to maintain these concessions, granted you will recall in return for
the surrender by the Indians of their land to the use of the white man. This
view is also taken because the Indian has seen what has happened to by far
the majority of their people when they have surrendered these privileges to
become integrated into the life and ways of the white people. You may have
wondered what all of this has to do with the extension of the vote to Indians.
We will clarify this in a moment, but would first like to point out that these
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Indians feel that their inherent rights have been slowly but surely whittled
away, and that this extension will in the future result in a further reduction
of these rights.

The tribes which are represented in the Qu’Appelle Indian Advisory Council
of Chiefs Independent are:
The Muscowpetung Reserve
Okeeneese - Reserve
Carry the Kettle Reserve
Peepeekisis Reserve
Star Blanket Reserve
Wood Mountain Reserve

These people regard the undertaking of the North West Angle Treaty of
1874 when the commissioners representing the Queen through the government
said “The ear of the Queen’s government will always be open to hear the
complaints of her Indian People, and will deal with her servants that do not
do their duty in a proper manner.” At this time there was certainly no inten-
tion that the Indians should have a right to decide who the Queen’s government
is going to be, and it is felt by these people today that there should be no change
in this recognized situation. In the ordinary view of politics the voter would
take his problems to his member of Parliament. These Indians recognize the
non-political and non-partisan promise as contained in the commissioners’
undertaking, and desire to maintain this privilege.

The further feeling of these people is that they are not sufficiently edu-
cated in the cunning of the white can to be able to safeguard their futures
in the political arena. J

The representatives of the tribes as mentioned above are strongly of the
opinion that the sovereignty of individual tribes should be preserved, and that
people belonging to a particular reserve should not be allowed to accept the
vote until and unless a majority vote of the tribe has been taken in favour of
accepting the vote, leaving however with the Chiefs and Councillors the right to
decide when a vote on the right to take the vote shall be taken if at all. You
may have some misgivings about the matter of sovereignty of tribes, but I
would remind you that when the Treaties were signed, they were signed by
separate Chiefs contracting on behalf of their individual tribes. The Govern-
ment, therefore, cannot deny that they did not have the authority so to do.

Lastly, but by no means a less important problem, is the position of the
Indians with regard to Section 86 and 108 of the present Indian Act if the
vote is extended. Unless these Sections are amended the long-established
rights of the Indians stand in jeopardy under the guise of friendship, under-
standing and the intention to improve the status of the Indians.

Yours respectfully,
FYFFE & FYFFE
JDF/ew Per.
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BARREN LANDS BAND—MANITOBA
Brochet, Man.
December 15th, 1959

Mr. E. W. Innes, Committee Clerk,
Comm. and Private Legislation Branch,
House Of Commons,

Ottawa, Canada.

Dear Sir:

I regret having been unable to answer your letter before to-day. Thanks
for letting me know about legislation coming up.

The BARREN LANDS BAND we feel is very little known in Ottawa, and
the Agency in The Pas seems to have very little time to try and help us get
organized. :

Most of our members are living from trapping and fishing. Caribou meat
has been always our main food. The Fur we kill is practically taken away for
nothing, right now, half price of what is paid outside by same Hudson’s Bay
Cy. No organized fisheries is leaving us with very little income during sum-
mer. The great help we used to get in the Fall in ammunition has been cut
almost entirely.

We need a Survey of our Reserve limits, and we wish to advise you that
the corner cut off from the reserve by construction Of Dept of Transport Radio
Station, has been overlooked and should be replaced by a strip added on the
East side for more construction.

We feel that Liquor Law instead of being widened should be restricted.

We never had our Chief in Ottawa to explain the needs of his Band, nor
in Winnipeg. So if delegations are called in Ottawa during the Session we
wish to be authorized and asked to be there. As Chief I would like to be going
with an interpreter, with expenses paid. No Band funds has been an obstacle
for us in promoting propaganda for our Band.

We have asked for a little hospital here almost every year but no result.
R.C.ML.P. resident also was asked for and no result.

We hope that Education projects will be kept up. The Guy School of The
Pas cannot accept all our children, being too small needs accommodation for
more children.

Finally we wish that your Department from Ottawa investigate our needs,
and help us organize our life for less hardship and better use of the country.

Truly yours Chief Louis Deneganaze No: 162
Barren Lands Band
Brochet, Man.
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ATTAWASPIKAT BAND—ONTARIO
Attawapiskat, Ontario.

Via Moosonee, Ont.
August 12, 1959.

We are sending you a few of our problems and we cannot make all the
points as well as we would wish to make them unless me and one other member
of our band are invited to meet the Committee in Ottawa, with all our expenses
paid. But we people here are very poor in money. Here are some of our points
and I do my best to explain clearly so that you’ll be able to understand them.

i &

The Indians of our Band are unable to maintain themselves out of
their own earnings during the summer months because the prices
for fur-bearing animals, trapped during the winter months are
so low.

. Nothing has been done by the Indian Affairs Branch to provide for

our Indians supplementary income through alternative sources of
employment during the summer months.

. As a result, all Indian families are desperately dependent on the

Family allowances during the summer and half of them have to go
on Relief in order to keep body and soul together.

. A particularly distressing aspect of this situation is that some of our

Indians can’t do heavy work, for health reasons, even during the
winter, and although they are totally dependent on Relief, do not
always get it.

. Another distressing aspect is the situation of our Old People who

cannot care for their homes or themselves and stand in need of
other persons to do these things for them. Me and my Council would
like to see an Old People’s Home provided for the aged, so that they
can be centrally cared for, instead of being spread about the reserve
in separate homes supplied by the Indian Affairs Branch.

Me and my council fail to see the justice of an arrangement whereby
there are deductions made from the cheques of Old Age Pensioners
who have to go for medical care in hospitals. When the pensioner
has to pay for the service and medical attention in hospital, the
plight of the spouse left behind to maintain the home can be very
serious indeed.

. We are very sorry to talk like this. When we talk to the servants

here we mean the ones who sent by the government to work for the
Indians. Like when we tell them what we and our people need and
how money should be used but they don’t listen to us. As a payment
when the government took the Indians and their countries and when
He first elect an Indian chief He says ‘“The Chief should be trust
and should be listen to what He says (if He’s right) just like if I
was sitting there”. We never find this yet, since we took this job, and
we never get paid. But still we keep on doing our work. It is very
hard for us when our people come to us and ask the help of the
government when they need it. But we can’t do anything about it
because there’s no money etc., here in our reserve. We would like
very much to have some money here and should be put in Company
so that they can keep it for us. It should be used only when there’s
in need. (Example) like if a man is working and have an accident
terribly while he’s working. Here should be given what he needs
and the family.
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We would be very pleased if you answer to us and we probably be wrong
and please tell us if you don’t agree with us in our letter in some places.

Thanks with all our hearts. And we send you our sincere greetings.
Yours very truly,

The Chiefs

1st Xavier Tookate
2nd Joseph Oaktail

3rd Joseph Sheshaish
4th Xavier Paul Martin

APPENDIX “P4"

Catholic Indian League of Canada
Matters Concerning Indians of Alberta

BRIEF TO BE PRESENTED TO THE JOINT COMMITTEE OF THE
SENATE AND THE HOUSE OF COMMONS

By Mr. Maurice MacDougal and Mr. Tommy Cardinal, President
and Vice President of the Catholic Indian League

Representing the Catholic Indians of Alberta

Who voiced their opinions at an annual meeting in Hobbema,
grouping chiefs, councillors and delegates from Saddle Lake,
Beaver Lake, Legoff, Peigan, Blackfoot, Blood, Sarcee, Winter-
burn, Cold Lake, Good Fish Lake, Onion Lake, Bob Tail, Louis
Bull, Ermineskin and Samson Reservations.

Introductory Remarks.

It is indeed a happy occasion for us to be here among you today, represent—
ing, as we are, the Catholic Indian League of Alberta before this Joint Com-
mittee of the Senate and the House of Commons whose purpose is to study
and review the provisions of our Indian Act. It is a happy occasion for us,
I say, both because of the great importance of the subject matter to be
reviewgd, and also because we feel that more and more of our fellow citizens,
especially among the governing body, are willing to regard us as equals, and
are starting to consider our views also, along with their own, our desires
and ambitions as a people, in matters that concern us. We feel there is a grow-
ing tendency to scrap the old patronizing attitude of ‘“knowing what is good
for the Indians better than the Indians themselves”, and to accept us more
readily with opinions of our own.

We recall, for example, Mr. Frank Howard, M.P. for Skeena, B.C., speaking
to a Royal Commission on Indian Affairs, and actual member of this Parlia-
mentary Committee:

There has to be a conscious desire to accept native Indian people
as equals and that we will undertake to abandon our paternalistic
attitude.

We should undertake an attempt to appreciate and understand and
experience the same feelings that Indian people have. We should try to
understand their background, their culture, their hopes, their desires
and aspirations. In turn, we hope that they will appreciate ours. (Indian
Record. September 1958.)

:
:
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We remember Senator Gladstone’s plea for a new deal in relations between
us and you, during his maiden speech in the upper house:

As the original inhabitants they want not the patronage or tolerance
of their fellows, but rather their understanding and help so that they
may materially improve their lot and status in the months and years
to come, and so that ‘equality of opportunity’ and ‘equal status’ will mean
something in the future.

We remember how Mr. Gundlock, M.P. for Lethbrldge another member
of this Parliamentary Committee, offered to be the spokesman for the Indians
of his constituency, when the Bloods presented their resolutions in a Brief we
will mention later. We recall words and actions of so many others, including Mr.
Pickersgill, former Minister of Citizenship and Immigration, and Hon. Mr.
Diefenbaker, our present Prime Minister. We are thankful for all this personal
interest.

And even though we cannot share all the points of the policy of the Indian
Department, even though we strongly disagree with some of the views put forth
by some of our would-be spokesmen, including our own Indian Senator’s
opinions some of which are in direct opposition with those of so many Indians
of our province and of his own reservation, we certainly stand behind you all,
however, when you say that our future lies in a general betterment of our
Indian communities, through a balanced program which strives to bring progress
to all fields, educational, economical and social.

We know, however,—and we feel that you know also,—that this program
can only be achieved inasmuch as our own people will regain their initiative
and self-confidence in the shaping of our destiny on an equal ground with any
other citizen or any other community in this Canada of ours. It is on the force
of that conviction that we, the Catholic Indians of Alberta, also wish to make
our voice heard in matters that touch us so intimately.

A. EDUCATIONAL, IN GENERAL

In matters of education, especially,—so closely related to the delicate
problem of integration,—have the various bands across the province been
most persistent in their requests that we should present their resolutions to
the Department of Indian Affairs and to this Joint Committee. So many griev-
ances have come up at each of our annual meetings, in this regard, that they
can but stem from our not seeing eye to eye with the policy of the Department
in this matter, a policy which would promote assimilation of our youth into
the common white element almost at any cost.

The principle of integration may be a good one,—we will discuss it later,
under section B,—but its application in practice must respect basic human
rights and principles, the ignorance of which can only bring grief and dissatis-
faction to all concerned.

In a country founded on Christian and democratic principles such as ours,
—the basic right of a parent upon his child,—the right to send him to the
school of his choice,—the right to teach him the truths in which he himself
believes,—and the right to be himself, all stemming from basic rights of the
individual, should require no further explanation. They should be almost self-
evident to a Canadian; and yet, how often have those rights been denied us!

As Catholics, furthermore, we maintain our right to give our children a
complete education, one which takes into account both their body and their
soul, one that prepares them for both a better life and a better after-life. For
that purpose, we maintain that a short period of religious instruction after
school hours can never be a substitute for a complete education in a Catholic
school, not because of more numerous religious classes, as some are wont to
think-——they don’t have them!—but because of a different general atmosphere
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throughout the day. We therefore uphold our right to schools of our own
whenever we so desire them, and feel that the Federal government has an
inescapable responsibility of granting them, under the Constitution and sub-
sequent Treaties, even to the High School and professional levels.—And that
furthermore when these be granted, that it not be done grudgingly, even
though it may go against the party-line or the admitted policy of the Depart-
ment, by favoring with greater facilities and better personnel those pupils
who cater to government policy, to the detriment of those others who wish
to uphold their rights in this matter.

B. ALL THAT TALK ABOUT INTEGRATION

The policy of the Educational Division of the Indian Affairs these recent
years has been very clearly to emphasize education of Indian children in asso-
ciation with non-Indians wherever possible. We do not question the policy
itself, but we do question its mode of application in many cases.

(1) The problem:

From many parts of the province once again, as in our last years’ meet-
ings, came further complaints and grievances with regards the fore-mentioned
policy:—cases where non-Indian teachers were hardly prepared or willing to
understand and help the Indian student;—examples where students were sent
elsewhere against theirs or the express will of their parents;—problems aris-
ing between Indian and non-Indian children themselves because of a too great
difference, on the social and economical level; and, overrulling all these per-
sonality clashes, closing its eyes to all objections, be they from the parents
or the students themselves, the iron hand of local administrators and officials,
trying blindly to apply the Departments’ policies, no matter who might be
hurt in the process.

On the Long Lake reserve, busses bring the children to Bonnyville. The
existing Day school will soon be deserted ... forcibly. —From the Beaver Lake
and Saddle Lake districts, the situation for the Day schools is much the same,
while busses bring others to St. Paul, leaving the balance for the Residential
School of Blue Quills. All the high school students from these districts must go
to St. Paul; but even this has proved far from satisfactory. —The children from
Winterburn have been “successfully integrated”—so the party newspaper
reporters claim—and several of those from the Blood reserve go to the Cardston
public school. These are a few of the localities where the Departmental policy
is put to the test. This would seem to indicate that the said policy is quite
possible.

Yet from every one of the above localities have come grievance upon griev-
ance, request upon request. But no! they are not heard. Everyone else thinks
he knows all the answers, but refuses to listen to the Indians themselves. And so,
the newspapers go on relating half-truths about the success of the experiments;
the whole truth would be too bitter. (I refer, for example, to articles published
lately about the situation in Cardston, in Jasper-Place, in St. Paul, ete.) Self-
appointed friends of the Indians go about expressing their views,—their own
views, of course, not ours. And even our Indian Senator, Mr. Gladstone, sup-
posedly speaking in our name... but on matters of education, at least, our
gatherings certainly brought out the fact that Indians of Alberta in general are
very much at odds with his oft-repeated and much publicized assertions.

We resent those sweeping statements which claim that our children in
Residential schools are 2 to 3 years behind students in public schools, when we
know full well—with school records on hand—that in our better equipped ones,
they succeed just as well, better in fact than most Indian pupils actually attend-
ing mixed schools. We furthermore do not agree with those who would promote
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non-denominational schools on the reserves; all the Catholics of North America
who established the separate school system in the United States and Canada
should understand and agree with us on this point. We certainly resent also
the many decisions from higher up that concern our pattern of life so closely
and yet refuse to take into consideration our views in these matters, be they of
education, of hospitalization, of the right to vote, of the transfer of our homes
and lands, or any other. In short, we request a voice in matters that concern us.

(2) How we feel integration should proceed.

We know as well as anyone, or better, that we and our children must blend
into the white man’s way of life as it is today, if we wish to contribute our
share to Canada’s wealth of culture. We know our Indian communities must
slowly fit into the pattern of all the communities around them. We agree whole-
heartedly with the Department when it says that their plan of education is
meant to develop a core of leadership for Indian communities.

But to attain that goal, we also know that we don’t have to forsake our
Indian heritage. In fact, we would be the poorer if we did. We want our
children to be proud of us and of our communities; we want them to think of
home as a place where they can bring their many non-Indian friends, and find
that these also are proud to associate with them. We want them and us to live
in a family environment which is on a par with any other around us. And we
know the Indian Affairs Department wants that too.

But are you really helping the cause if my boy or girl wants to quit during
the school year because of the ‘“‘cold-shoulder” treatment or the open hostility
he has encountered in the non-Indian school at the hands of an ill-advised
teacher, of some other student, or of this student’s parents? Are you really
promoting integration if my boy or girl refuses to go to High School, or through
spite achieves much poorer grades than his non-Indian class-mates, just because
he has no other alternative but to attend a so-called cooperative school? And
are you really helping me build up my community when your only aim seems
to have my children educated away from their home, to have them assimiliated,
or—the word says it—to have them dissapear into the white man’s world? Every
time it happens, every time one of our more intelligent and better trained youths
is assimilated or integrated in that way, someone of you may applaud it as
another successful integration, but I am the poorer for it—and my own com-
munity will have lost another potential leader or trained personnel.

As I have said, however, if the individual boy or girl so desires it, if he
wishes to study or establish himself in a non-Indian community, all is well, and
so much the better for it. His own ambitions will see him through and help
him make good. He will still be an asset to our community, because he will
succeed where he goes; his example will still exert a good influence back
home. And the Department of Indian Affairs can only be commended on all
the help it is ready to give him.

But what if he doesn’t want things that way? What if his parents don’t?
What if he still wants to learn, and still wants to go on, but his way... in
an environment that is more familiar to him, with friends that he knows, and
closer to the place he still calls home? It should be his choice, not yours! It
is the parent’s right to decide. Integration must neither be forced nor hurried.
It must move slowly, no faster than the changing outlook and aspirations of
each individual. It must be desired by both Indians and non-Indians con-
cerned. This would seem to demand that the better endowed Indian become
leader for the less favored, as it is for everyone else. There must be no cutting
off of potential Indian leaders from the others of their tribe who need their
encouragement and competence to become self-supporting. :

In other words, not all the best Indians should be taken off the reservation
and fitted into the white man’s economy without consideration for our own.
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Rather, the movement should be the other way. Our reservations need Indian
leaders, professional people first of all, but then also people who can make
a success of earning a living there. We don’t want our reservations to become
only a refuge for second-class citizens, “a refuge for those who have failed
to assimilate”, as a local group of ‘“Friends of the Indians” said recently, think-
ing to have judged us fairly. We want our reserves to take their place and
hold their own among all other communities around them. We want to be
proud of our homes and our communities as you are of yours. In short, we
want to be accepted as Canadian citizens on a par with anyone else.

Allow me to summarize: As can be gathered from the above, we strongly
feel that the gradual integration of our school children, to be successful, would
have to follow at least the following natural and set standards: )

(a) that it be desired by the individuals concerned, both Indian and
non-Indian.

(b) that non-Indian teachers be prepared and willing to understand and
help the Indian children.

(c¢) that the rights of parents be respected at all times.

(d) that the socio-economical status of these individual Indians be equal
or very close to the level of the surrounding non-Indians.

Resolution 1:

Whereas the provisions of Article 117 of the Indian Act in its present
wording pay due respect to the basic rights of the individual, the rights
of a parent over his children, and the four freedoms of our democracy,
including freedom of worship,

Be it resolved:
that its provisions be left unaltered by the present Joint Committee.

May we add that requests were made and resolutions were drawn
up to censure respect of these God-given rights at every one of our
annual meetings since 1957, but that still the voice of the Indian is not
heard.

: May we add furthermore that these requests and grievances are not
limited only to the Catholic portion of our population, but are shared
by other groups as well, as the following quotations serve to illustrate:

Quotations: :
(1) From several resolutions presented to Mr. Gundlock, M.P. for

Lethbridge, on April 24, 1958, by a delegation of Blood Indians composed
of representatives from the Band council, from the Indian Association of
Alberta local, and from the Treaty No. 17 Protective Association local, we
read the following:

—Whereas the current announced policy of the Federal Govern-
ment is the assimilation of our more intelligent and better trained
youth with white people and in competition with them, through
secondary education in academic and technical curricula, in sur-
roundings where our youth becomes ignorant of the needs of their

own social group; y
—and whereas this policy deprives the Indians of future leader-

ship and trained personnel and insures the perpetuing of a group
of second class citizens under continual tutelage of wardship;

—and whereas Treaty No. 7 reads: “Her Majesty agrees to pay
the salary of such teachers to instruct the children of said Ind;ans
as to her Government of Canada may seem advisable, when said Indians
are settled on their reserves and shall desire teachers”;

—And whereas the tribes of Treaty No. 7 have now settled on
their reserves and have progressed with grade schools to the point
they now desire teachers at High School levels;
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Be it resolved to petition the Crown to establish a regular High School
on the Blood Reserve with the same academic and technical curricula avail-
able to white people, so that our young people may receive training in the
arts and trades within the framework of their own social group for eventual
service to that group.”

We, of the Catholic Indian League, cannot but make this resolution our
own, and subscribe to it wholeheartedly in presenting it to you.

(2) Brief presented to the Cameron Royal Commission on Education
by a delegation from the Indian Association of Alberta, comprising Mr.
David Crowchild, corresponding secretary from the Sarcee Reserve, Mr.
Howard Beebe, southern organiser and actual president, and Mr. John Laurie,
treasurer. Speaking for members all over the province, some of their views
were the following:

—They question the policy of forced integration into white
schools (i.e. when this arrangement is organized by the Federal
Government with no other option to be approved) even though the
parents or the students do not want it.

—They point out the necessity of reviewing the curriculum and
to reassess reading material and the course of social studies both
for Indian and non-Indian students alike to give the children a true
and exact knowledge of the Indians of the past and present time, and
so to avoid unnecessary prejudice and friction.

—They suggest pre-school training in English.

—They find that all too often an Indian student attending a city
school away from the reserve is attracted much more to the city life
and streets than to his studies, thus hampering the process of integration
rather than promoting it; they felt very strongly that if the students could
be kept away from the city until passing grade 12, they could then cope
with life in it much more sensibly than at a younger age.

—They suggested that four composite residential schools be
established in the province, two Catholic and two Protestant ones.
This would enable students, they felt, to concentrate much more on
their studies.

Once again, we, of the Catholic Indian League, see the wisdom of these
remarks, and cannot but add our voice to theirs in asking this Joint Com-
mittee of the Senate and House of Commons to bend an ear to the requests
of the people.

(3) Many people have spoken against the ‘“paternalizing” attitude of
the Government towards us for so long. Many have noted its depressing
effect upon our youth, and our would-be leaders. But it still goes on! We
read in the Regina Leader Post and in the Indian Record recently, these
words of a noted American educational specialist, Vernon Beggs, that ‘“this
adjustment (integration) must be based on sound psychological principles,
respecting the integrity of personality, and working through the people them-
selves to help them achieve their own particular destiny.”

He went on to say that, certainly, no new personality and no new culture
is built on the deliberate wrecking of another. Adjustment to another culture
can be achieved only as the members of the minority group retain their self
respect, their pride in achievement, and their recognition o fthose elements in
their culture which have enduring worth. (Indian Record, Sept. 1958.)

We only wish that more people in the Indian Affairs would understand
words such as these, and abide by them in practice.

In view of the above considerations, and in order to achieve the goal as
mentioned, we therefore strongly agreed to request, as a body, the following
resolutions:

24863-3—6
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C. HIGH SCHOOL

Resolution 2:

Whereas the number of Indian students who reach High School
level is increasing rapidly, and the problem of High School education
for Indians must be met in the way most apt to benefit both the Indians
themselves and society as a whole.

—and whereas the current policy of the Federal Government, when
enforced without consideration of individuals and local settings, de-
prives the Indians of future leadership and trained personnel, and en-
sures the perpetuating of a group of second class citizens under con-
tinual wardship.

—and whereas, knowing our children and knowing our people, we
have found that for many of them all-Indian schools bring better
general results, and that furthermore local High Schools tend to become
centers of community life or a source of culture and enlightenment for
the surrounding community, as the Residential schools have already
proved, '

We now resolve that, should they so desire it, Indian students would
receive their education, especially at the High School level, in all-Indian
High Schools on the Reservations;

and that, therefore, proper accommodation be prepared for them,
at least at the four natural centers of Ermineskin for the Hobbema-
Edmonton agencies, Crowfoot for the Blackfoot-Sarcee agencies, St.
Mary’s for the Cardston-Brocket agencies, and Blue Quills for the
St. Paul-Saddle Lake agencies, with the full range of courses included
in the Alberta curriculum for High Schools: academic, technical, voca-
tional, with options in commercial subjects as well, so that our young
people may receive training in the arts and trades within the frame-
work of their own social group for eventual service to that group.

D. VOCATIONAL TRAINING

Resolution 3:

For reasons obviously inferred from the above, we would like to
see more attention brought to the furthering of trades among our people,
especially for those students who have not the ability or the desire to
complete their academic studies, as also for adults who wish to better
their position in life. Most of the Provincial Departments of Education
offer sufficient facilities in this field, but, unfortunately, the prerequisites
for admission to these courses are such that a goodly number of our
people would still not make the grade. One group has already shown a
daring effort: the Winnipeg School Board and Department of Indian
Affairs are actually making it possible for Indians, it seems, to enter
the Manitoba vocational training school without the required educational
background. !

We therefore resolve that technical, vocational, and pre—vocatlopal
training centers be developed in all our residential schools, Whlch
training might be a recognized prerequisite also for the higher voca?mnal
courses offered by each Province, and, if necessary, to organize a
centralized Trades School which would cater to the less fortunate group,

especially of the north.

May we add, furthermore, that even though these all-Indian High Schools

and vocational centers requetsed seem only to be tolerated and grudgingly so,
in the current policy of the Department, we hope they may nonetheless not
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be lorded over but granted all the necessary facilities, both in school material
and personnel, to fulfill their full duties and prove their worth with no
unnecessary duress against them.

E. HIGH SCHOOL AND OTHER SECONDARY EDUCATION FAILURES

At present, it seems the overt policy of the Department with regards
Indian students attending either High School or one of the more advanced
courses of studies, that, should one fail the course or otherwise interrupt his
studies, he foregoes any further chance of receiving the educational assistance
which is provided for by the Department.

We contend, however that in many cases the causes of such conduct or
results were beyond the direct control of the student. And even if they were,
in other cases, it would only have been human. How many students in white
communities also, at one time or another in the course of their studies, have
wanted to give everything up, and certainly would have, had it not been for
the backing and encouragement of parents and friends who helped them try
again, or got them into some new line of studies. Why then should the Indian
student, just because he receives little or no backing from his family and his
own environment be doomed to just one chance, if some circumstance of life
brought him to make a mistake.

Resolution 4:

—Whereas students who have failed their courses or otherwise
interrupted their studies are usually not granted further assistance
under the present plan,

Be it now resolved that, if said student, showing definite signs of
aptitude, should reconsider and wish to try again, especially in cases
reviewed and recommended by local school authorities, we ask that
he or she be given another chance under the Department’s assistance
plan for education.

F. EDUCATION OFFICIALS

In matters of education, above, we maintained that parents have the God-
given right and the duty to bring up their children according to the principles
of life in which they themselves believe; for us, then, according to the prin-
ciples of a Catholic education. On this point, the Indian Act is a just law, and
acknowledges our right to schools and teachers of our own. We now wish to
bring up the matter, however, of school inspectors. To these is entrusted the
supervision of teachers, of subject matter and method. To those, both students
and teachers look for guidance, encouragement and assistance. Yet none of
these, at present, share the beliefs of the majority of teachers and students
which they direct,—the majority being Catholics—none of these is qualified to
fully understand the underlying principles of a Catholic education. Misunder-
standings and lack of cooperation can easily result.

Resolution 5.

We therefore request the Department to consider the appointment
of an inspector of the Catholic faith for the Catholic Indian Schools
of the province.

Resolution 6.

For very much the same reasons, we strongly feel that a represen-
tative of the Cathelic faith should be given authority with regards
Catholic schools at the Federal level in the Department of Indian Affairs
at Ottawa.

24863-3—63
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Resolution 7.

Whereas the positions of social workers are in somewhat the same
position as the above, their work necessarily bringing them into the
intimacy of our lives,

—And whereas we feel the existing organisation of social workers is
quite inadequate, due to limited personnel,

Be it resolved that the field of social work be studied at the
Reservation level, and that more workers be appointed,
and be. it resolved also, that some of these workers be of the Catholic
faith, were the majority of the population warrants it, in order to pay
due respect to Catholic principles of family life which almost always
come into the focus.

G. DAY SCHOOLS

Resolution 8.

Whereas experience with Day Schools present the serious problem
of parents often being forced to leave their farms and homes to live in
temporary and inadequate dwellings closer to the school for the length
of the school year to enable their children to attend school, thus result-
ing in:

—serious neglect of farms and farm buildings;

—Iloitering, loafing and a generally poor social atmosphere;

—reduction of family income;

—expenditure of band funds to provide cabins and dwellings;

Be it now resolved:

—that Day schools built on the Reserves be constructed adjacent
to or in conjunction with Residential Schools, where existing facilities
could be used for both Residential and Day School students;

—That well established bus lines provide adequate transportation
for the children; 3

—that noon meals be provided to all children at the school.

Resolution 9.

—Whereas existing Day Schools in most parts of the province do not
at present enjoy the advantages of Industrial Arts facilities, of pre-voca-
tional or technical courses;

—and whereas these schools have little or no economical and social
influence on the surrounding adult groups;

Be it resolved:

—that industrial arts teachers from the local Residential Schools
be appointed to give weekly instruction in these schools,

and that adult education programs for these centers (around the
Residential Schools) be enlarged upon to bring their advantages to
people of outlying districts where only Day Schools exist.

H. TEACHERS AND TEACHER TRAINING

In speaking of our children’s educational needs and difficulties, we cannot

leave aside the matter of teaching personnel. We are pleased to note how
the quality of our teachers in the larger schools has grown so rapidly in these
last years, that we can often boast of a staff as qualified as anywhere in the
province. In more remote areas, however, in the northern parts of our province
especially and in too many day schools, such is unfortunately not the case.
Either because of isolation or too poor a salary schedule, these districts find
it very difficult to obtain good teachers and to keep them even for the entire
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school year. There’s where we feel the need of people who have dedicated their
lives to the care and education of the poor and humble. We would suggest
therefore that more of these Day Schools be entrusted to the care of a religious
order of teaching sisters, whenever possible.

Besides this, however, we meet with another problem which is no unknown
even in the larger schools: lack of understanding and sympathy between the
teacher and the pupils, a feeling which stems mostly from the teachér’s not
accepting the fact of cultural differences in her pupils, a situation which has
caused hard feelings and bitterness wherever it has came up. Our children
are the same as those of everyone else: a friendly, interested teacher has a
magic all her own to instill in students the ambition to succeed, but where
there is no genuine sympathy, there can be little or no educational progress.

Resolution 10:

For these reasos, we add our voices to those of the Indian Associa-
tion of Alberta to request that teachers be given special training before
teaching in Indian schools, particularly about the habits, feelings and
ways of the Indians, as also an elementary notion of the cultural changes
that face them;

that, furthermore, salaries and living accommodations should be

~ good enough to attract the better qualified teachers.

I. ADULT EDUCATION

The general opinion of our members, hailing from all parts of the prov-
ince, in this matter of adult education, was that the present efforts were far
from satisfactory. Farm instructors were often hardly instructors at all. Short
courses in the applied arts and other vocational courses were well attended
but then didn’t seem to follow through. The adult classes implemented in
several of the Residential schools were profitable, but reached only the few.
And even these classes were usually hampered by too limited shop and home
economics facilities. We had no new suggestions to offer, however, but were
agreed to ask only that the present policy of the Department, in this important
matter, be expanded considerably.

Resolution 11:

We therefore request that technical and vocational training centers
already established in several of the Residential schools for the use of
the students be developed all the more to accommodate also adult
classes:

—that in schools where such training is not yet available, it may be
established, even in conjunction with the Day schools, when no other
one is close enough to the local inhabitants;

—and that some plan be evolved whereby the classes might reach
the many, instead of the few, a plan which could possibly make use of the
principles of group dynamics—study groups and group discussion on
the family level—organized jointly by the local school authorities, the
Indian Department and the Extension services of the University of
Alberta.

J. INDIANS IN CITIES

Every year, more and more Indian youths turn to the cities for purposes
of education, job openings or social facilities. Their stay is of greater or lesser
duration according to the aim they pursue. Almost invariably, however, their
social contacts lead them to less reputable parts of cities, and statistics show
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that the greatest percentage find themselves in trouble with law within the
first forty-eight hours after their arrival. From then on, they too often fall
into a class of “border-line” citizens, thus causing a definitely new social
problem.

It has been suggested by seme Department officials and Associations to
establish hostels of a non-denominational nature. We contend that such estab-
lishments are not acceptable to our Catholic parents and opposed to our whole
Catholic philosophy of life.

Resolution 12:

We therefore wish to stress very strongly that we are opposed to the
establishment of non-denominational hostels in cities.

—If residences are established in cities to accommodate Indians, we
stress strongly that they should be completely separate for Catholics
and Protestants.

K. LOCAL PROBLEMS IN MATTERS OF EDUCATION

Many of the local problems brought to our attention are not the immediate
concern of this Joint Committee, but of the Department of Indian Affairs
itself. Some of them we have already mentioned as examples under some of
the preceding topics, especially in topic B, during the discussion on integration.
A few of them I would like to mention here, however, first of all in order
to be faithful to the people who asked me to represent them here and speak
to you about their problems, but also, in second place, to illustrate what we
mean when all too often the public voice of the Indian is not heard, while the
Department pursues its policy regardless. Almost all of the previous resolu-
tions could have served to illustrate the same point on a larger scale; the
following are only a few more examples:

(1) Beaver Lake: Topped with many grievances and drawbacks,
petition after petition has been drawn up, through the Indian Associa-
tion, through this League, and directly to the Indian Affairs, for the
last few years, begging for a fresh appraisal of their situation. We now
wish to present a resolution, prepared with them, which was co-signed
by their whole band council:

Resolution:

Whereas would-be students from the northern parts of this
reserve find it difficult to attend school in the present situation;

—and whereas a revolving, staff of student supervisors brought
its usual draw-backs in delay, lack of confidence between student
and teacher, and possibly several school failures, in the present
school set-up;

—We find that there is a need for a Day school to be built on
the Beaver Lake reserve close to the parish church, or have the
present one moved to this more appropriate site, to accommodate
students of the northern section of the reserve,

—and ask that qualified teachers be hired for the complete
school term.

(2) High School accommodation for northern sectors.

In the present situation, following Departmental policy, bus routes
are established bringing students from the Kehewin or Long Lake
Reserve to Bonnyville, and those of Saddle Lake to St. Paul, the bulk
of the remainder being taken care of at the Day Schools on each reserve,
or the Blue Quills Residential school. For all cases, however, high
school students must attend the town school.
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From all appearances, because these public schools are also of
Catholic denomination, this set-up should be satisfactory for us, the
Department says. Yet, the same old problem exists, for many of the
same reasons mentioned above, while discussing integrated schools:
after a few years’ experience with the program, our people just don’t
want their children in such a school, for the present at least; and, in
many cases the students themselves refuse to return, especially for
High School.

Therefore at the risk of sounding banal, we insist once again on the fact
that our people want all-Indian High Schools—there are enough students to
warrant it—and the northern groups petition for one of their own, because
the existing ones are too far away.

Because of these ever-present problems, frictions arising from different
socio-economical standards, dissatisfaction with the results obtained in the
public high schools and with the attitudes bred into our children attending
these, loss of intimate contact with our children bringing with it loss of
discipline. . . s

We ask one again that the present school of Blue Quills be granted high
school standing, so there would be no further obligation of attending classes
in St. Paul, where general results have proved far from satisfactory.

(3) Saddle Lake:

For much the same reasons, adding to them problems of health and family
background, we ask that a combined Residential and Day School be built on
the Saddle Lake reserve for the students of the said reserve.

(4) Legoff:

A section of Reserve land has been obtained for the location of a Resi-
dential school. 104 children attend Day School and 62 are in residence at the
Blue Quills School. With an increase of some 18 students next year, our
reserve will reach a total of 185 students. Health and food are other important
reasons to back our request. Our trapping rights have been lost to the Depart-
ment of National Defense which result in very limited means of making a
living.

Be it therefore resolved that a Residential or combined residential and
day-school be built on the Legoff Indian Reserve.

(5) Peigan Reserve:

—Whereas the Indians of the Peigan Reservation earn their livelihood
mostly through farming and ranging, which can be done only if the Indians
live on their land and farms,

—and whereas the project of grouping Indian families in the village has
accentuated and will increasingly accentuate their poverty, destroy the
remaining self-respect and initiative, since such a project offers no oppor-
tunity of employment nor the enjoyment of public utilities (such as water,
sewage, electricity, etc...)

—and whereas the Chief, councillors and band as a whole have expressed
their disapproval of the moving of families to Brocket and of the proposed
building of classrooms for day pupils in the village,

—and whereas a petition was signed by the Chief, Councillors, and
parents to request from the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration that the
classrooms be built adjacent to the existing Residential School,

—and whereas Vocational Training is most important for our students
and adults, and can be provided best through the existing facilities at the
Residential school,
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Be it resolved:
that classrooms be built adjacent to the Sacred Heart Residential
School to accommodate day pupils.
and that steps be taken to further vocational trammg at the Resi-
dential School for both students and adults.

This was the resolution as it stood at the time of our meetings. Since then,

we have learned that classrooms will not be built near the existing Residential

School, because of water shortage and fire hazard. A new classroom block will
be built, as a Day School, at a new location.

But this reserve, will still need desperately a Residential School. Indian
School Inspectors, in the past two years, have fully realized and stated this
need. There are on the reserve some 52 needy families, most of these on relief.
Add to these, the usual number of families who for other good reasons desire
to place their children in residence, and we would easily have 60 to 70 families
to accommodate in a Residential School.

Resolution: .

Whereas the existing facilities have repeatedly been deemed un-
satisfactory,

—We now request that a new residential establishment be built at
the same site as the proposed classroom block, to be operated by the
management of the present Sacred Heart Residential School.

Conclusion:

With this, may I close now, hoping that we of the Catholic Indian League
of Alberta may have been of some assistance in enlightening your delibera-
tions, hoping too that all the members of this Joint Committee will see this
as the expression of the people, of the Indian people, whose destinies you have
been called upon to shape. May you hear their voice.

I thank you.
Mrs. L. Potts, Secretary,
Catholic Indian League of Canada.

APPENDIX “P5"
Submission by Chief Mathias Joe, Squamish Indian Band, British Columbia.

Lower Capilano, North Vancouver, B.C.,
October 7th, 1959.

Noel Dorion, Chairman,

Joint Committee of the Senate,

House of Commons on Indian Affairs.
Sir;

This is my complaint to the amalagamation of the Squamish Tribe
which has been going on so many years. As there was an agreement which
was made by the Indians of Squamish Tribe, about 24 different reserves
got together as so called amalagamation. To help one another of their troubles
of there lands. There agreement was drawn up so carefully which it took
us 5 years to get this different reserves together. To so what was right
to save lot of trouble of our land. But it never stand on this agreement,
after the old timers, the old chiefs, that made the agreement together in
power. Ans as I said the old chiefs, all passed away of death. Their has

I S
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been a new councilers which has been elected by nomination, when each
originally counciler passed away, they were chiefs. Which hold inherited
rights, as I said the new councilers they are not inherited right. By a word
of a letter from Duncan Scott, the late Suncan Scott. Which reads the In-
dian agent would be the chairman to hold the chair, for time being.

This Indian agent represents the Indian Department, hé has more to
say about resolution. He makes the word himself, not according what parlia-
mentry rules would say. That’s why we have no power to lead the way
it should be done the rightenous. When there is an election of a new counciler
it’s done by the clinks. And is headed by the Indian agent of Indian Affairs.
The Indian agent sets his own way of selecting of committees of differ-
ent items. The chairman of such committee is appointed by the Indian agent,
land and building committee. That’s why we have trouble into that case.

We never adapted the new Indian act that we would elect our chief
and councilers. We still hold the way we make the amalagamation, that
we would have each counciler for each reserve. Now we have 16 differ-
ent councilers, I believe there names would be in Ottawa. My first trouble
with these councilers was my house; which got burnt in March 10, 1927.
It was reported by the consent of chairman, Mr. Perry. Nothing was done
they never gave me a house or anything that was lost, which belongs to
my family. Lately, they gave my wife, one of the wartime houses, you all
know this wartime housing was built for war warkers. I think the govern-
ment condemed these houses. This house it’s only good for man and his
wife.

Secondly is the trouble where my home was, my land clearing 33 fruit
trees, it’s pretty good about 10 acres of land I use to keep horses and milk-
ing cows and other material. The councilers and chairman they destroyed
my fruit trees, apples, cheeries, plums, pears and big enough garden for
berry bushes between big trees. They destroyed all those things, which
belong to me and the family. It was fenced right around and more fenced
beyond where we use to cut hay on such as prairie land. Because my father
and mother they keep 100 heads of beef cattle and more. And all the money
that they got for this beef cattle they use it to there good name as Roman
Catholic. Not only church, they helped to build schools for the tribe and
used there money to clear land where they make village today.

Mr. Taylor was Indian agent, he make a resolution, which he worded
out out himself. And he got the Indian councilers to make a motion to kick
me off my land. I cannot tell you exactly how big this land that I claim
my own. My people before my father become a chief in 1895, my grand-
father Chief Lowe confirm-ed this land that in a meeting with his members
of the Capilano family. Given this land to my father and mother. My father
became a chief he build up a nice Indian village known as Capilano vil-
lage. We had a church build in Capilano village. Now that resolution of
kicking me out of my land, the late Andy Paull made a investigation in
Ottawa some years ago, he discovered the resolution Indian agent Taylor
made. Andy Paull’s brother, counciler Danny Paull himself got never signed
his name on that paper. Andy Paull, himself go the paper from Ottawa,
some of the head man, of the Indian Affairs let him have the paper. Another
counciler, Lorne Nahanee who was on the meeting personally. He refused to
put his name on the paper, it’s also in there. Louie Muranda says I don’t
know nothing about it. When that resolution was passed in our meeting,
myself Chief Mathias Joe, I wasn’t their, Majority of this councilers or,
the yes man of the Indian agent.

Next trouble would be the forshore rights it’s a big question which I have
a letter from the Minister of Indian Affairs dated, Ottawa, May 28, 1959,
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sighed by the Minister Ellen Fairclough. It's a very big length of letter,
which it would speak for itself. It holds about 4 big question, foreshore
rights, Capilano cut-off. She promised she would look into ans another
question in the 67 acres parcel of lease. There is big trouble into that case.
That combines the whole thing in this Ellen Fairclough letter.

My lawyer, Mr. Rhodes his pretty well familiar into my trouble, I'm
willing to appear to answer every question that is written of myself. I'm
not given nobody trouble because Chief Capilano, my great, great grand-
father, Chief Joe Capilano, my father and I'm the son of this four big chiefs,
that owns this 400 acres and more. I want this thing to be settled in the best way
of the power of our government of Canada of Canada and the laws of Her
Majesty Queen Elizabeth 2. That’s why I want this land to be settled in the
good way, because it’s availuable land today. I want this land to be holding
by the originally Capilano family. Today of my Capilano family we are
about 100 or more in Capilano family. Hope to ask you in your good will
power to the committee of the House of Parliament, the Senators and the
member parliament of Canada. I am praying to you, law and to GOD to do
whats right. AMEN.

Chief Mathias Joe.

APPENDIX “P6”

Submission of Ashinola Indians
Lower Similkameen Band, British Columbia

To our Brief, the Joint Senate-House of Commons Committee on Indian
Affairs.

HISTORY OF THE CHIEFS OF ASHINOLA

In 1809 while Ceewhilican Ashinola was chief of the Ashiola Indian Re-
serve, soldiers came onto his land and made camp. This is the time when the
first soldiers came into the Okanagan country, and were situated on patrol
where Penticton is now.

While there, two Indians killed two soldiers and took their horses, which
caused the soldiers to free and the Similkameen Valley and make a camp.

Ceewhilican Ashinola while hunting for his horses happened upon the
campsight, and immediately the soldiers took his as another hostile and shot
him several times. Bleeding at the face Ceewhilican Ashinola took the paper
from his pocket, which the authorities had given him and which indicated his
position as a chief, and wiped his face therewith.

Eventually Ceewhilican Ashinola died, and the soldiers upon finding these
papers realized that they had killed a chief and that the chief was not a hostile.
Thus they buried him and moved on.

Some time later an Indian scout returned to Ashinola and told of the
uneventful death of the chief. Thus John Ashinola and several other Indians
became bent on revenge for his fathers death.

Fearing this, Mr. Haynes, an authority of the government, sent for John
Ashinola. John Ashinola was brought to Mr. Haynes at Osoyoos and was held
there for one month.

Everyday Mr. Haynes would talk with John, telling him that the death
of his father was a grave misdeed, but avenging that wrong would not bring
back his father from death. Mr. Haynes told John Ashinola that instead he
should better take up his fathers reins and be the chief of Ashinola.

e e e
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Thus John Ashinola in the year of 1830, and at the age of 20 years became
the chief of Ashinola, and remained chief until his death in 1918.

After the death of John Ashinola, the Indians of Ashinola Indian Reserve
met and decided they wanted Pierre John Ashinola, who was John Ashinola’s
son, to be their chief, and made a paper to this effect, which was to be sent
to Ottawa, it being customary to insure the chief of his chieftanship in those
days. This paper was then given to Francois Tomoykin to be mailed, but he
failed to mail this paper.

Thus Pierre John Ashinola’s Papers never reached Ottawa.

This was first found out by the Ashinola Indians upon the death of the
chief of Similkameen Indian Reserve, chief Joseph Louis, and they also found
out that they had been joined with the Similkameen Reserve somehow, and
the Similkameens selected a new chief.

Thus dissention arose between the Similkameen Indians and the Ashinola
Indians. The newly selected chief wanted to talk for and about Ashinola claim-
ing Ashinola no longer had a chief of their own and that Ashinola’s Reserve
and Similkameen Reserve were one land.

But with the information above we the Ashinola Indians know, that the new
chief is in the wrong, and that Pierre John Ashinola was selected as Chief of
Ashinola in the year 1918.

The following signatures were affixed to an original paper to certify the
truth of this history of the Ashinola Indian Reserve;

I Billy Kruger know the above information to be the truth and sign same
for the Betterment of Ashinola.

I Michel Jack, age 94 years, do fully indorse the above as a fact and in that
spirit do afix my mark thereon.

The troubles of the Ashinola Indians are as follows:

1. The grazing land of the Ashinola Indians runs from the Similkameen
river to the top of the mountain on the west side of the reservation,
a distance of about three miles or more and to about a 4,000 foot
height on the mountain. Here is where their cattle graze. Two-
thirds of the reserve here is timber mountain and broken rocks,
while only one-third of this is good grazing for their cattle.

I as chief, Pierre John, have 75 or more cattle in all and my sister
Mrs. Harry Robinson has about 150 high class beef cattle, white face,
and we keep the regulations, and care for our cattle well, so we can
sell them on the white market. The Indian agent knows of our stock.
Another one of our people, who is elected chief by Lower Similka-
meen band has his cattle with ours and has about 100 or more, this
member is Foe Dennis and has no right to put his cattle with ours.
Our living is made by raising cattle and it takes a lot of work on a
high level so as to realize the most money on the Market.

2. Another complaint is that some 50,000 feet of timber has been cut
down and left to lay, thus causing a hazardous condition to our
cows and heifers, as it is a hole in the mountain where the creek
runs, and where our cattle go to drink. The permission for to log this
timber was given by a person who is known to us Indians of Ash-
inola, and we want an order given to have this timber removed at
once. There is also a possibility that a fire could start in this timber
and destroy considerable of our some 300 cattle which graze in this
area. Who will pay for this loss should it happen? There is no fire
Warden on the Indian Reserve.

The Indian Agent has given a permit to some body to log off the
lower part of the reserve on the east side towards the river.



266 JOINT COMMITTEE

3. Then there is the cutting of Christmas trees. Large trees are being
cut down and just the tops cut off and used, the balance of the trees
being left lying there. This has been going on for three years. The
last outing was all wasted because they were not sold. The cutters
were told not to, yet they went ahead and cut. On this land we have
gates to keep our stock in so they would not stray from this said ;
land. ‘

4. Another complaint is that on another part of our Indian Reserve,
Numbers 12 and 12A, there is a white man that lives near, and who
is using part of our reserve for his stock. It is quite a large piece of
range that this man is using for pasture. The Indian affairs in Ottawa
should know this if there was a report sent in from the Indian Agent
in our district. We need these ranges for our own cattle, and we
could pasture some 100 beef cattle or more. :

Thus we are making a report to The Parliament of Canada and the govern-
ment, to the Committee of the House, the Chairman Mr. Gladstone, and his
members of this committee.

We feel as members of Ashinola Indian Reserve No. (9-1013, 10, 10A, 11,
12, 12A) of our land which we owned before the white man came, and this ‘
land that was set aside by your government of Canada, and a promise of Queen
Victoria under the British North American Act, it was found by the com-
missioners in the early days, that is why we are located here at the agency.

In the year 1923 Chief Loui was made chief and some of our people weren't
present. It was not until 1933 (a period) of 10 years that we found out that we
were amalgamated with the Lower Similkameen. It was in the year 1950 we of i
the Ashinola started to work on this problem. In all this time we have Chief
Pierre John who did not sign or agree to be amalgamated with the lower
Similkameen and we want to be left as individuals on our reserve and be
independent from the amalgamation.

SIGNED BY: Chief John
Chief on Ashinola
Sister—Mrs. Harry Robinson
Nephew—Lawrence Pierre Tomaykin
Selina Dianna Tomaykin

APPENDIX “P7”

Resolutions of the Western Archaeological Council

GLENBOW FOUNDATION
A Charitable Foundation

Phone: AMherst 9-6941

626—13th Ave. S.W.,
Calgary, Alberta
December 5, 1960.

Honourable Senator James Gladstone,
Parliament Buildings,
Otttawa, Ontario.

Dear Senator:

At a recent meeting of the Western Canadian Archeological Council, the
delegates unanimously approved a resolution urging the Joint Committee of
the House and Senate to provide legislation protecting archeological sites on
Indian Reserves. This resolution is Section 4, on page 3 of the attached copy of
resolutions.
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The need for such legislation is particularly apparent in British Columbia,
where reserves were established on locations of long and intensive prehistoric
occupation. But the need is equally great for reserves in other Provinces, if
the archeological heritage is to be preserved.

We hope that, in the public interest, you will give some consideration to
the regulation of archeological excavations on Indian Reserves.

Sincerely yours,

WESTERN CANADIAN ARCHEOLOGICAL COUNCIL,

RGF.cm Richard G. Forbis, Secretary.

THE WESTERN CANADIAN ARCHAEOLOGICAL COUNCIL

being an assembly of representatives of those institutions which have the
most direct interest in archaeology in Western Canada, assembled in Calgary
September 7-10, 1960 on the invitation of the Glenbow Foundation for the pur-
pose of discussing “The Present State of Archaeology in Western Canada”

hereby constitutes itself as an organization to be known by the above name,
and appoints Dr. Richard G. Forbis as its secretary.

and passes the following resolutions: —

1. Regarding federal legislation

RESOLVED that the Council petition the Government of Canada to assume
fully its responsibility for the protection of our national archaeological heritage,
by passing legislation which will give effect to the principles and norms formu-
lated in the Recommendation on International Principles applicable to Archaeo-
logical Excavations, adopted by the General Conference of UNESCO on Decem-
ber 5, 1956.

Without affecting the generality of the above, the Council specifically
directs the Governments’s notice to the following sections of the Recommenda-
tion: —

‘“Each member state should ensure the protection of its archaeological
heritage” (section 4), should “make archaeological explorations and excava-
tions” (5a), should “define the.legal status of the archaeological sub-soil”
(5e). The national archaeological service ‘‘should be a central State
administration. . . . provided by law with the necessary means for carrying
out any emergency measures that may be required”. Steps should be taken
to ensure ‘“the regular provision of funds” e.g. “(ii) to carry out a pro-
gramme of work proportionate to the archaeological resources of the
country, including scientific publications”.

Furthermore, the Council points out that federal legislation is necessary to
protect archaeological remains on lands (a) under direct federal jurisdiction,
(b) on Indian Reserves, and (c¢) on areas threatened with destruction by power
projects or other developments being accomphshed all or partly under federal
jurisdiction.

2. Regarding Provincial Legislation:

RESOLVED that the Council endorses British Columbia’s Archaeological
and Historic Sites Protection Act, 1960 as a model of legislation for the regula-
tion and protection of archaeological and historic sites, and commends it to
the attention of all provincial legislatures and the Government of Canada,
urging the earliest possible enactment of similar legislation.

that copies of the above Act be sent to the appropriate provmmal and
federal authorities for their information and guidance, and

that this Council emphasizes the fact that the proper administration of
such law requires an adequate, professional archaeological staff.



- 268 JOINT COMMITTEE

3. Regarding training of arch‘aeologists.

RESOLVED that the Council urge the Universities in Western Canada and
those others concerned with the prehistory of this area to offer as soon as
possible full programmes in Archaeology, in order to relieve the present serious
shortage of trained archaeologists and to provide personnel for the rapidly-
developing programmes of prehistoric and historic archaeology in this area.

4. Recommending a change in the Indian Act.

RESOLVED that the Council recommend to the parliamentary committee
which is meeting to consider changes in the Indian Act that an addition be
made to that Act for the purpose of protecting and regulating the excavation
of archaeological sites on Indian Reserves.

5. Commendation and thanks to the Glenbow Foundation.

RESOLVED that the Council expresses its unanimous conviction that, in
sponsoring this conference, the Glenbow Foundation has made an extremely
valuable and significant contribution to the development of Canadian archae-
ology. The Council offers its sincere thanks to the Foundation for its hospitality,
and especially to Dr. Richard Forbis for the capable manner in which he
performed the functions of host.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

TuESDAY, May 2, 1961
(12)

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on Indian
Affairs met at 9.30 a.m. this day. The Joint Chairmen, Honourable Senator
James Gladstone and Mr. Lucien Grenier, presided.

Present:

The Senate: Honourable Senators Gladstone, MacDonald, and Smith
(Kamloops). (3)

The House of Commons: Messrs. Badanai, Baldwin, Cadieu, Charlton, Fane,
Grenier, Henderson, Horner (The Battlefords), Howard, Martel, Ormiston,
Small, Stefanson, Thomas, and Wratten. (15)

In attendance: From the Indian Affairs Branch: Mr. H. M. Jones, Director;
Mr. C. I. Fairholm, Executive Assistant to the Director, Mr. Jules D’Astous,
Chief, Agencies Division; and Mr. W. J. Brennan, Assistant Chief, Agencies
Division.

Mr. Grenier referred to several recommendations of the Steering Com-

mittee dealing with the brief and letter from the Oka Indians (Montour), and
also the tentative schedule of committee sittings.

Agreed,—That the brief of the Oka Indians (Montour) be printed as an
appendix to this day’s evidence. (See Appendix “Q1”).

Agreed,—That the tentative schedule of sittings be Tuesdays—9.30 a.m.
and 2.30 p.m.; Wednesdays—2.30 p.m.; and Thursdays—9.30 a.m. and 2.30
p.m.

Mr. Grenier read the order of divisional presentations to be heard from
the Indian Affairs Branch which will then be followed by the Indian Health
Services Division.

Mr. Howard raised the matter of the Committee dealing with the B.C.
land question, and Mr. Grenier advised that this subject would be dealt with
at a subsequent meeting.

Mr. Jones read a brief dealing with general observations on Indian Affairs
administration, copies of which were distributed to the members of the com-
mittee together with an organization chart of the Indian Affairs Branch.

Mr. Jones was questioned on the above-mentioned brief and supplied
additional information thereon.

Agreed—That the brief of the Communist Party be retained with the
records of the Committee.

The questioning of Mr. Jones being continued, the Committee adjourned
at 11.00 a.m. until 2.30 p.m. this day.

269
24865-8—1%



270 ‘JOINT COMMITTEE

AFTERNOON SITTING
(13)

The Committee resumed at 2.30 p.m., the Joint Chairmen, Honourable'
Senator James Gladstone and Mr. Lucien Grenier, presiding.

Present:

The Senate: Honourable Senators Gladstone, MacDonald and Smith
(Kamloops). (3)

The House of Commons: Messrs. Barrington, Cadieu, Charlton, Fane,
Grenier, Martel, Muir (Cape Breton North and Victoria), Ormiston, Small, and-
Wratten. (10)

In attendance: Same as at morning sitting.

The Committee resumed the consideration of the brief presented by
Mr. Jones; he was further questioned thereon and then permitted to retire.

Mr. D’Astous, Chief of Agencies Division, was called and he read a brief
dealing with “Problems in Field Operations”.

The questioning of Mr. D’Astous being deferred until the next sitting, the
Committee adjourned at 4 p.m. until 2.30 p.m., Wednesday, May 3.

WEDNESDAY, May 3, 1961.
(14)

The Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on Indian
Affairs met at 2.30 p.m. this day. The Joint Chairman, Mr. Lucien Grenier,
presided.

Present:

The Senate: Honourable Senators Horner, Inman, MacDonald.—(3).

The House of Commons: Messrs. Badanai, Barrington, Charlton, Fane,
Grenier, Howard, Korchinski, Ledue, McQuillan, Ormiston, Small, Stefanson,
Wratten.—(13).

In attendance: From the Indian Affairs Branch: Mr. H. M. Jones, Director;
Mr. Jules D’Astous, Chief, Agencies Division; Mr. W. J. Brennan, Assistant
Chief, Agencies Division; and Mr. C. I. Fairholm, Executive Assistant o the
Director.

The Committee considered the brief presented at yesterday’s sitting by
Mr. D’Astous page by page; he was questioned thereon and also submitted
additional information.

The questioning of Mr. D’Astous being completed, at 4.00 p.m. the Com-
mittee adjourned until 9.30 a.m. Wednesday, May 4th.

M. Slack
Clerk of the Committee.
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EVIDENCE

Tuespay, May 2, 1961.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Gentlemen, we have a quorum and
we will start right now. At the steering committee meeting last Thursday
it was decided to refer the following matters under discussion to the main
committee:

(1) A letter and brief from the Oka group headed as you know by
Chief Montour. They say that their lawyer, Mr. Colas, who spoke
on their behalf did not present their brief as he wanted. The
steering committee recommends that their brief be printed as an
appendix.
Is that agreed?
Agreed.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): They have already been heard, as
you know, through their lawyer.

Mr. Howarp: With respect I must apologize for not having been at the
steering committee. Apparently they could not get in touch with me, and I
did not know where it was. I did not realize it until this morning. I was
talking with Chief Montour who, apparently, had written this particular letter
to which you refer. It would seem to me that perhaps because they are close
to us and only 50 to 60 miles away it might be wise not just to print their
particular brief, but to allow them to come here before the committee again.

If they feel that unfortunately their representative, Mr. Colas, did not
deal with the particular points they wanted him to deal with, they might
appear again.

As Chief Montour personally explained to me, they did not see the brief
he had prepared until the morning they were here, and did not have an oppor-
tunity of agreeing or disagreeing with him over it. In this particular case,
without any expense to the crown or the committee in regard to travelling
and so on, we might afford them an opportunity of appearing again. It would
be one more additional meeting. We did this in the case of the native brother-
hood of British Columbia in which case they appeared a second time at no
expense to the crown.

Mr. BaLpwin: I sympathize with the point of view expressed by Mr.
Howard, but I think there was a distinction in the case of the native brother-
hood. They made a point that something had arisen since they came first,
something which was new and which had not been dealt with, and that was
the reason why they asked to be allowed to appear a second time before
the committee. It was because of the new point which had arisen. I was here
for part of the time when the brief was presented by Mr. Colas on behalf
of the Oka band. They were here then and they had an opportunity after he
presented the brief and before the proceedings closed to indicate to the secre-
tary or to the chairman that they were dissatisfied and wanted to pursue it.
I feel this, that many of the briefs have been presented by representatives,
other than by the band or members of the band—by someone they have
engaged to present them—and if they all take the position that they are dis-
satisfied with the method of presentation or with the contents, they could
use this as a precedent to say they wanted to come back and bring up matters
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which were not discussed with the committee before, or suggest that the
method of the presentation was unsatisfactory. Therefore, while we should
certainly receive the brief and consider it closely, I think hearing them
again would create a precedent which might have unfortunate repercussions.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): As I remember that particular case,
we took a precaution in asking if Mr. Colas was really representing the Oka
‘band. I remember that very well. T remember that we also asked Chief
Montour if he was representing the band. I think there were three or four
of them here. We asked them if they were representing it, or if they were
elected chiefs of the band. They told us: “No,” and they told us there were
.only six or seven ‘with the elected chief and they were representing the great
‘majority of their band. I have had a look at this and I think it refers to about
the same matters as were contained in the first brief presented.

"Mr. CHARLTON: Subsequently it was pointed out that 72 had voted at the
last election for a council there. That represents almost 300 in that band, whose
representatives .are voting for the band council.

Mr. Howarp: I do not want to get into a discussion as to who represents
.whom, or how many people-are represented, but I do not think it is a fact that
the native brotherhood of British Columbia asked to appear a second time
because of something new which had arisen since the first time they were here.
That is not factual. When Dr. Kelly and Mr. Robert Clifton, the then president
of the Native Brotherhood appeared before this committee at the first session,
when we had the first meeting, they dealt specifically with matters that were
raised a second time during this session. It was not a new matter that had
arisen, but a thing which was in existence and was a problem for some time.
Therefore, I do not think we can use this difference or say that this is not new
and say that when the Native Brotherhood was here it was a new matter. It
was not a new matter but something which had arise long before.

Mr. BALDWIN: My recollection may be faulty, and I may be thinking of
another organization, but my recollection is that it was a question of the health
benefits, and they said that something had come to their attention since the
presentation of the last brief which made it necessary to present this new evi-
dence. I think we were considering what principle should be applied because
a number of representations had been made from other groups who wanted to
present second briefs. We decided that if it were established that something
new had arisen, we would let them appear. I am sure that is what was in my
mind when I said that as far as the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia
were concerned I would be in favour of their appearing.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): That is the reason they gave when
they wrote the committee to ask for a second hearing.

Mr. Howarp: If you check the minutes of that original meeting at which
the Native Brotherhood appeared, at which Mr. Kelly and Mr. Clifton were
present, they dealt with health services, and Mr. Jones was called in and there
was some disagreement as to whether a 12 month or 18 month period of absence
from the reserve applied, and whether they were covered or not. This was
dealt with. To me it was not something new, and to them it was not something
new. However, I do not want to pursue that particular point. I merely want to
mention that point in the interests of the Oka people. We should appreciate,
perhaps, how reluctant they might be to disagree publicly with the person
representing them .at.that particular time, and perhaps it is something that
should be considered. That is why I raised it.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I believe there is. I do not have the
letter in front of me. But that is the reason they gave when they asked the
committee for a second hearing.



INDIAN AFFAIRS 273

Mr. CHARLTON: There is a letter on file from them.

‘The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes. That is the reason they gave.

Mr. STEFANSON: On page 22 of the proceedings the joint chairman, Mr.
Grenier, asked:

Would you tell the committee, then if you represent the elected
council of the Oka Indians?

Mr. Colas replied as follows:

Mr. CoLAs: I represent both, because I have been told by Chief
Montour, as well as Mr. Gabriel and others that they would like me
to speak for both of them.

Is that correct, Chief Montour?

Chief JAMES MONTOUR: Yes.

It is very evident here that he represented all the factors.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Besides that there is a matter of
precedent. At the last committee meeting we decided that we had finished
with the hearing of outside organizations. I believe if we gave them permission
to be here again, some other group might ask to be heard again also.

This morning we are ready to start with the departmental officials and
to carry on with them until we get to the act itself. We wanted to refer it to
the committee, so it is now up to the committee to decide.

I believe it refers to the matters that are contained in the first brief,
and I believe that if it were printed as an appendix, all the members of the
committee could refer to it.

Mr. MARTEL: Might we ask them whether they want to present their
brief in person, or to have it printed as an appendix?

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): We have.

Mr. MARTEL: They have already been here.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (M7. Grenier): Is it agreed that their brief be printed
as an appendix?

Agreed.

(See appendix Q1)

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Your steering committee recommends
the following schedule of sittings: Tuesday at 9:30 a.m. and 2:30 p.m.; Wed-
nesday at 2:30 p.m.; and Thursday, 9:30 a.m. and 2:30 p.m.

Mr. BADANAI: Would that not conflict with other committees?

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The Senate does not sit on Mondays
and Fridays. So we have to carry on these three days I have mentioned.

We cannot sit in the morning on Wednesday because of the caucus, so-we
are only left with Tuesdays and Thursdays.

Mr. BADANAI; Has any consideration been given to Col. Jone’s suggestion
made at the last meeting to the effect that a meeting be set aside in order to
‘have some senior official of the department explain to us about treaties?

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes.

Mr. BapanNAl: Thank you very much.
| The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Is it agreeable to the committee to

hold sittings on those days?

Mr. HowaRrD: I am in an unfortunate position of being sort of dissident
to the steering committee, because at earlier meetings I was not able to be
present. But we have met on Wednesday mornings before. I would prefer that
we should meet in the morning rather than in the afternoon when there is a
conflict with sittings in the house. I'say this for personal reasons, because there
is a conflict of time and of interest in these things, and I am sure that other
hon. members will find the same thing.
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It is unfortunate that we cannot meet on Mondays and Fridays, but if we
could meet five mornings a week at 9:30 each morning, we would put in the
same amount of time and still not be in conflict with meetmgs of the House of
Commons.

The JOINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes, but the Senate does not sit on
Mondays and Fridays, and we have to have some representatives from them.

Mr. HOWARD: Perhaps we might arrange for the Senate to be more
assiduous and meet on Mondays and Fridays as well.

Mr. BALDWIN: That is a little beyond the scope of this committee, I am
afraid.

Mr. CHARLTON: The Senate does not sit on Mondays and Fridays, even
though there are Senators here in the house.

Mr. HowARD: And that would help the “T to T” boys as well.

Mr. THoMmAS: What about Wednesday morning? As far as I am concerned
that is just as good as Wednesday afternoon.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Caucus meetings are being held
at 9:00 o’clock on Wednesday morning.

Is it agreed as to these hours of sitting?

Agreed.

Mr. Howarp: Subject to my disagreement, of course.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I shall now give you a list of the
order of the departmental representations. First we shall hear from the direc-
tor general on general observations. Next, we shall hear from the chief of
the agencies division. Following that, we shall hear from the senior adminis-
trative officer, of the administration division. Following that we shall hear
from the chief of the welfare division; then from the chief of the economics
development division; then from the chief of the reserves and trusts division;
then from the chief of the education division, if required; then from the chief
of the engineering and construction division, if required; and finally from the
special assistant on the subject of enfranchisement.

Next, referring to the matter which was mentioned a few moments ago,
we shall have an official come to give some explanation to the committee on
those three days, and after that we shall have the Department of National
Health and Welfare when we shall hear first from the Hon. Waldo Monteith,
and then from Dr. P. E. Moore, the director of Indian and northern health
services.

This morning we shall now call on Col. Jones.

Mr. Howarp: I recall that at one of the steering committee meetings last
year, when the Hon. Mr. Dorion was chairman—this was before your time—
the matter was raised about the so-called British Columbia land question,
and the dispute about the agencies in British Columbia as they applied to
the land there because of a treaty being in existence. Col. Jones undertook at
that time to prepare an historical review of this particular question. I wonder
if this might not be a subject matter which would be dealt with as well?

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): I wonder if Col. Jones intends to
deal with it this morning.

Mr. H. M. JoNEs (Director of Indian Aﬁ’atrs Branch): No, Mr. Chairman,
I am not prepared to deal with it. It is too technical a subject for me to deal
with offhand. But we would be glad to have an official do so on a designated
day.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes. This could be added to the list.

Mr. BaLbwiN: I am sorry that I missed the last steering committee meet-
ing, but there is a question which Mr. Howard brought up on a point raised
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in connection with the Oka Indians. I am referring to matters for which some
legal assistance might be of help to us.

It was a point which many of the tribes have taken up, that is, the section
in the treaty which says that there should be a medicine chest available at
each agency; and also there is the question of what are the hunting and fishing
privileges which now go to Indians in those provinces where the natural
resources were alienated.

I wonder if at some time possibly legal council for the department might
come to explain to us in the light of the representations that have been made,
just what the situation is with regard to these issues? They are all legal, and
I think the one you brought up went to the Privy Council. They are all fairly
interesting, and they all form a part of the representations made by the various
groups.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): If any member of the committee has
any special matter on which he would like to have legal advice or further
explanation, he could always bring it to the attention of the committee when
we would try to arrange some hearings on it.

I shall now call on Mr. Jones, director of the Indians Affairs branch.

Mr. JoNES: When I spoke to you in June 1959, you had before you a review
of activities which we had prepared indicating some of the major activities in
recent years. I think you will have been struck by three main things that are’
very apparent from an examination of the information provided. First, the tre-’
mendous growth that has taken place in the Indian population; secondly, the
greatly increased expenditures that have been made on their behalf and
thirdly, the changing pattern of organization and staff required to provide
necessary services.

The impact of a sharply rising Indian population is having a decided
effect on every aspect of our administration whether it be education, housing,
resource development or public assistance. One of the striking things is the
number of Indians who are in the younger age group whose future still lies
before them and for whom there is opportunity for advancement.

Coupled with this population expansion there has been an increasing
demand for services of all kinds and this is reflected in the increased expendi-
tures which have gone from $10 million in 1948 to nearly $50 million now. The
population increase alone does not account for the total increase. Part of it is
a result of inflation. However, much of it represents better facilities and
services which simply were not available to the Indians before.

A larger population and a broadened and more extensive program of
assistance has meant a larger staff to do the job. It was also found necessary
to decentralize operations to meet regional differences and problems and to
bring in specialized personnel to cope with the growing range and complexity
of activities. The greatest increase has been in teaching staff as a concerted
effort was made to bring educational opportunities within the range of all
Indian children in Canada.

Until quite recently Indians were excluded from many general welfare
programs provided for all other Canadians. Indians, however, did participate
in family allowances which were introduced in 1945. In September of 1948
the department introduced a special program of allowances on behalf of
aged and blind Indians because the old age pensions legislation of that era
specifically excluded persons of Indian status. This program was maintained
until 1952 when the Old Age Security, Old Age Assistance and Blind Persons
Allowances Acts came into force, which made no distinction in so far as
Indians were concerned. Since then Indians have been increasingly recognized
as having the same rights as citizens of the provinces and of Canada and now
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share fully in such programs as old age security, old age assistance, blind and
disabled persons’ allowances, hospital insurance, unemployment insurance and,
in some provinces, in provincial programs of supplementary allowances and of
mothers’ allowances.

That they should share seems quite common place now in our thinking,
but let me say this: the inclusion of Indians in these social welfare programs
represented a major change in thinking and treatment at both the provincial
and national levels. The Indians were finally being recognized as not being
something apart but as our first citizens who should be treated with equality
and entitled to all the benefits accepted and enjoyed by Canadians of other
racial origin. Thus, bringing the Indians into the fold represents one of the
major achievements of all those who have laboured, both Indian and non-
Indian, for equality of treatment. I believe the progress that was made may
not have been so rapid had it not been for the public examination of Indian
affairs which the previous joint committee undertook in the years 1946 to 1948.

While the extension of welfare services was a major factor from 1948 to
about 1955, there was another important field which was given emphasis and
that is education. Here the administration was faced with a real problem.
There was simply no school accommodation for literally thousands of children
and the number of school age was increasing each year. Our main task,
therefore, was to find a seat for every child and teachers to teach them. This
represented a tremendous challenge. Architects and engineers were at a
premium. There was a growing national shortage of teachers and schools most
often had to be built in the remote and isolated areas of Canada with attendant
transportation problems and difficulties in recruiting staff. We have come a
long way in the last 12 years. Where there were 23,000 going to school in 1948,
there are now over 43,000. Of this number, what is most significant is that
over 10,000 are going to non-Indian schools. This too, I think, has come about
largely as a result of the report of the joint committee on Indian affairs in
1948 which recommended the desirability of having Indian children educated,
wherever possible, with non-Indian children. While much has been done,
there is no room for complacency. We still have to build a good many schools
and obtain accommodation in non-Indian schools to overcome the remaining
backlog and meet the demands of the large pre-school-age group. However,
it seems to me that this is our easiest task. The big challenge will be to see
to it that every Indian child who is capable goes on to secondary and higher
education. The educational level of the Indian people must be raised if they
are to take advantage of the many opportunities available to them. This is not
a problem peculiar to Indian youth but it is none the less basic and urgent.
Children must start school earlier in life and stay longer.

While looking to the interest of those who can profit by academic courses
we must not forget that other group, at present so large, who have left
school or will likely do so before attaining even a grade 9 level of education.
Without any saleable skills, and ill-prepared to take further training, they
face an unpromising future. There has been much talk recently about the
large number of non-Indians in the 16 to 20 year age group who have no
skills and find it extremely difficult to get satisfactory employment. How
much more difficult it is for the young Indian girl or boy in this category.

There is no easy solution and we can offer no panacea for it. However,
there are some constructive steps that we are taking and will continue to
pursue with vigour. First and foremost, we must encourage the children
to go on to school as long as they can by enlisting the support of parents,
band councils and community organizations. We simply must get more children
to attain a minimum standard of education which will permit them to enter
provincial vocational and technical schools so that they can get the kind of
training they need to obtain and hold jobs. Secondly, we must expand, as
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rapidly as possible, the upgrading courses which we have been trying out
on an experimental basis in the last year or so and which have proven
to be so successful. This is designed for those who have already left school
so that they can take advantage of further training to fit them for employment.
Thirdly, we must continue on and extend short courses in such things as
farm mechanics, welding, carpentry, prospecting, guiding and other train-
ing which may help to improve the skills of the Indian people.

Closely related to this field is the impetus now being given to economic
development. It seems to me this is one area where much might be done
in the immediate years that lie ahead. It was for this reason that two years
ago steps were taken to establish a division of the branch which would
be concerned primarily with the development of both the human-and natural
resources of the reserves. We recognized that some of the reserves were just
not adequate to support the existing population, much less what seemed
to be a rapidly rising population on almost every reserve. In addition, there
was growing evidence of population pressure on existing game, fur and fish
resources which would make it even more difficult for some Indian groups
to gain even a minimum livelihood from their traditional pursuits. Many
of them seemed to be turning further afield in search of work. The trend
was to some of the larger urban centres. Many of them were ill-prepared to make
the adjustment without a helping hand. It was to meet this need of the off
reserve movement of Indians that our placement program was started in a
modest way in 1957. Our main aim then, as it still is, was to get Indians
into permanent employment by careful selection of applicants and liaison
with employer groups.

In order that we might proceed on the soundest basis we have embarked
on local labour force surveys so that we might be able to find out just what
skills the Indians do have and where they are located so that these can be
drawn upon whenever there is a demand for labour. You will be hearing more
about this when the chief of the economic development division is before
you.

In addition to labour force surveys we are increasingly aware of the
need for obtaining an up-to-date inventory of reserve resources. We recognize
that there is not only need to obtain data on the agricultural potential of
reserves but also find out what the timber resources are on the reserves.
We have already started to obtain an inventory of the forest resources on
reserves in British Columbia. Under the supervision of a forestry consultant,
surveys were commenced in 1958 and the work was continued in 1959-60.
Surveys of this kind are necessary in order to prepare proper management
plans, and it is expected that more will be done along this line in the next
few years when economic development aspects will be given added emphasis.
In all this we will endeavour to use to the fullest extent possible the serv-
ices of federal and provincial agencies.

There is, of course, a limit to what government by itself can do. All our
efforts and even the best conceived plans will fail if the Indians are not drawn
into programs in some way. I think we must recognize that it is not enough
to do something for Indians; we must be prepared to work with them. Unless
the Indians themselves come to understand the need for better education,
better housing, better sanitation and indeed a better community and want of
their own accord to obtain these things because they feel they should have
them, rather than because it is something that the non-Indian believes is good
for them, very little progress will be achieved. Therefore, some of the most
fruitful areas in which progress can be made will be in those where the
Indians can undertake a greater measure of responsibility and control in the

‘conduct of their affairs.
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I think members of the committee will have been impressed by the high
caliber of many of the Indian spokesmen who have appeared here and by the
fact that there appears to be an almost overwhelming desire, nay even
demand, for a greater voice in running their own affairs. That there is such
a demand is a good thing for I think it reflects a very healthy attitude on the
part of Indian leaders and also indicates growing confidence and ability to
assume control of local administration.

Much has been done in recent years; the councils are learning to manage
band business. It was only a few years ago that there was only a handful of
band councils submitting annual budgets; now there are something like 200.
A start has been made on transferring control over the expenditure of revenue
moneys and while only a few have taken advantage of the provisions of
section 68 of the act to do this, nevertheless the future trend is clear. More
and more bands will be assuming control over their revenue moneys and paying
their own bills by cheques drawn on local banks.

It seems to me that as this trend continues the main function of our
agency staff should become largely advisory. In some cases this point is
already being reached in some areas. The time may not be too far distant
when we will be able to consider first of all a halt to any further staff expan-
sion at the local agency office and later a gradual withdrawal of staff so as
to let the Indians operate their reserves increasingly by themselves.

Now that the threat of compulsory enfranchisement has been removed
through the recent amendment to section 112 of the Indian Act, there should
be no fear on the part of the Indians to take over a greater measure of respon-
sibility. However, it seems to me there should be some incentive given to the
Indian bands to take on increased authority. Certainly at present there is
some reluctance on the part of many bands to take on respensibilities which
are now being performed by agency personnel because of the time involved
by members of the council and the lack of remuneration for their services. I
would hope that the committee would give some consideration to the ways
and means by which the transfer of responsibility might be provided for and
encouraged. As I envisage this it would possibly involve at the beginning
the provision of a band council secretary and later other band officials to
carry out specific administrative duties relating to the community.

I should like to turn now to another matter on which I should like to
present a few thoughts and that is the extension of provincial services to
Indians. I think the Committee will recall that in a number of briefs and
also from oral presentations and questioning of witnesses, the view was taken
that Indians should receive the same treatment and benefits as other residents
of the province in which they live. In other words the time is coming when
Indians must be looked upon as full-fledged citizens of their own province.

There has been I think increasing recognition of the fact that Indians must
be looked upon as full participating members of the larger provincial com-
munity. The vote has been extended to them in many provinces; they are
entitled to receive social welfare benefits in which costs are shared by the
federal and provincial authorities. There are an increasing number of Indians
going to non-Indian schools. These are but a few examples of a trend which
is bound to continue. This is all to the good.

The extension of provincial services to Indians raises problems which are
largely financial. The federal government has assumed most of the financial
responsibility for providing services to Indians, whereas in the case of other
citizens they look to the province and local municipality for them.

I think the extension of provincial services and jurisdiction must eventu-
ally come. I do not believe that Indians can be treated as a people apart
indefinitely. There must come a time when they are accepted fully into the
larger community. This most likely will be a gradual process but we must
do all that we can to expedite the process in sound and orderly stages.
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The process must be developed by stages and there is one field in par-
ticular where I believe it might come first. I would suggest that this is in
the field of welfare.

This seems to be an area of responsibility where the provmces, if they
were willing to do so, might well be able to take over the responsibility for
the complete administration of welfare services to the Indian population of
their province on the same basis as to other citizens of the province. This
would have to be done, of course, on a basis that would adequately protect the
position of the Indian people. The views and any recommendations that the
committee might wish to make on this important subject would be most
helpful.

These are a few of the general remarks I wanted to make before you
started to go into the detailed examination of branch administration. At a
later stage when the Indian Act is being reviewed I should like the opportunity
of presenting some suggestions regarding possible amendments.

I thought that perhaps we might start by dealing first with field organ-
ization and the work of the agencies division, to be followed by the adminis-
tration, welfare, economic development and reserves and trusts divisions.
There may be some further questioning regarding education which was reviewed
in June of 1959. This could be fitted in and also at the same time the work of
our engineering and construction division could be outlined as it is closely
related to the construction phase of the educational program.

‘Before we have the chief of the agencies division present his remarks
it might be useful to members of the committee to have a brief outline of
the organization of the branch. The basic structure of the branch is set out
in the organization chart, a copy of which is being made available to you.

In brief, the main functions of each headquarters division are as follows:

The agencies division is in charge of general field administration through
regional offices and local Indian agencies and maintains liaison with Indian
and northern health services, Department of National Health and Welfare.

The administration division is responsible for normal administrative
services, branch estimates, Indian band council elections, council procedure
and by-laws, and general law enforcement on reserves.

The welfare division is concerned with all matters pertaining to the
welfare of Indians, including housing, relief assistance, child care and care
for the aged and helpless, rehabilitation, social work, leadership train-
ing and the fostering of homemaker’s clubs and other welfare organizations
of Indians.

The economic development division is concerned with all phases of Indian
employment, the management of fur, fish and wild life resources, and the
promotion of agricultural, handicraft and other activities. It administers a
revolving loan fund, Veterans Land Act grants on reserves, and other forms
of financial assistance to Indians.

The reserves and trusts division manages Indian lands, resources and
band moneys, maintains a band membership register, and administers Indian
estates.

The education division is in charge of the educational program for Indians,
which involves staffing and operating a nation wide system of schools, negotiat-
ing agreements with local school boards for joint education of Indian children,
and carrying out practical arts, adult education and guidance programs.

The engineering and construction division provides technical advice to
headquarters and field staff with respect to construction specifications, design,
site data and related matters on major engineering and construction projects.

Matters relating to the enfranchisement of Indians are dealt with by the
special assistant.
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The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any questions to Mr. Jones
on these general subjects?

Mr. BapanNar: I think Mr. Jones should be complimented on his very fine
and comprehensive report. It is an excellent report and one of the best I have
seen on Indian affairs. I would like to ask Mr. Jones which of the provinces are
sharing in the welfare benefit for the Indians, and what provinces are not.

Mr. JonEs: The province of Quebec provides mothers’ allowances to Indian
mothers entirely, and the province of Ontario partially. They are paid from
provincial funds. The federal government at the present time is paying for all
normal welfare services in the provinces.

Mr. Bapanar: Then you mention the revolving loan fund administered by
the department. How does that operate? In my own reserve in the city of Fort
William for example, I know some of the Indians have complained of not being
able to obtain loans from the revolving plan. How do they go about it? Do they
qualify for a loan?

Mr. JonNEs: There is $1 million provided for the revolving loan fund and it
is a question of the band or an individual applying through the local office. The
money can be made available up to $10,000 for an individual, a band or a group.

Mr. BapANAI: The maximum?

Mr. JoNEs: The loan is generally for economic purposes, not for luxuries
such as radio or television sets. It is mainly for agriculture, commercial fishing,
anything that will improve economic conditions.

Mr. Bapanal: That loan is made to a band, not an individual?

Mr. JonEs: It is made to an individual, a group or a band. The group is
three or more Indians.

Senator MacDonaALD: Even if it is economical for an individual, he could
not get a loan to purchase a truck or anything like that?

Mr. JonEs: Yes he could.

Mr. Howarp: I have one question to ask regarding bands administering
their own affairs. As Mr. Jones has indicated, this is one approach or one channel
that they can direct activities into which will bring them more into contact
with other communities and towards integration and so on. As I understand it
there are only two bands now who have the authority to administer their own
band funds.

Mr. JoNES: Oh, I think there are more than that. There are a considerable
number in Ontario who have partial authority. They bring them under the
scope of the Ontario Public Welfare Assistance Act where they handle their
own relief entirely and they get 80 per cent subsidy—50 per cent from the
federal government and 30 per cent from the province. They operate entirely
their own relief problems with their own Indian welfare officer.

Mr. Howarp: Is there any explanation or guidance or educational approach
as it were through the Indian agencies to acquaint native bands with the pos-
sibility that they may be able to administer their own funds?

Mr. JoNEs: Yes, that has been drawn to their attention quite often. I think
the speed with which it has been accepted is largely governed by section 112
of the Indian Act. There was a feeling amongst a lot of the Indians that the
more successful they would be, the more they would be penalized. Section 112
has never been used by any government, but now, after its complete removal,
I think you will see a big spurt forward by Indian bands to take advantage of
the provisions whereby they can run their own affairs.

Mr. Howarp: I wonder could you explain the capital account and the

revenue account section of the band funds, how the money gets into each
account, how the expenditures are made from each account, and so on.
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Mr. JonEs: There are two accounts for each band which has a fund. One
is the capital account and one is the revenue account. The capital account
is created by the sale of assets. Generally it is the sale of lands. That must
go into the capital account. It is restricted by the Indian Act as to how the
capital account can be spent. Then there is a revenue account set up into
which the federal government pays the band 5 per cent per annum on the
capital account. As I mentioned in my remarks, we encourage the Indian
band councils to budget like an ordinary municipality, as to how much they
anticipate the revenue will be, how much they want to spend on relief, how
much they want to spend on roads, on band salaries and so on. More and more
bands are realizing the importance of taking a good close look at their

financial position. These budgets are sent up and approved and then they are
spent.

Mr. HowARrD: Do I understand that the income to the revenue account is
exclusively from the 5 per cent on capital?

Mr. JoNES: Oh, no, rentals, probably, would be the other big item; but °
distinct from the sale of capital assets and anything that bands or land§ can
earn generally through leasing.

Mr. ORMISTON: As a new member of the committee I hesitate to ask this
question lest it might not be in order. I appreciate that Mr. Jones has given a
comprehensive report and has dealt with many aspects of ndian life. There
is one which seems to have been omitted, that is, the liquor control question.
I wonder if that was done intentionally, or if he did not want to mention it.

Mr. JonEs: Not at all. After the Indian agencies division, our liquor admin-
istrative officer who is in charge of law enforcement and liquor control
will be available to deal with any questions or to make some comments on
that point. I would be glad to answer in general anything on liquor control.

Mr. OrmisToN: If it is going to be discussed later, I will leave it until
that time.

Mr. BALpwiIN: I would like to ask Mr. Jones one general question based on
this brief. In page 2 he refers to the sharp rise in population. I imagine that this
sharp rise in population occurs over the last ten years. I admit that would be
attributable to the fact that the Indians have had available to them the bene-
fits of the Indian health services, more and more benefits, more and more
health and welfare benefits available to a larger percentage of Indians. That
is one reason for the increase in population?

Mr. JonNes: That is correct, Mr. Baldwin.

Mr. BALpwiIN: Coupled with that, have you a percentage as to the Indians
who are receiving welfare benefits in the over-all Indian population?

Mr. JoNES: Do you mean on relief?

Mr. BALDwIN: Yes.

Mr. JoNEs: We will be able to provide that information. Of course it varies

from time to time. The minister tabled a reply in the house. I can have it
and we will provide that when dealing with welfare.

Mr. BAaLpwin: Very well, when this comes up. I was interested in finding
out what percentage, say last year and earlier years, was actually in receipt
of welfare payments.

Mr. JoNES: We have all that information.

Mr. BaLpwin: Without any information I think it would be safe to say there
is a much more substantial percentage than in the non-Indians.

Mr. JoNES: More Indians on relief than non-Indians?

Mr. BALpwiIN: Receiving welfare payments—just in percentage?

Mr. JoNEs: Percentagewise, I would say, yes.
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Mr. SmALL: In discussing part of the revenue, Mr. Jones made reference
that some of it came from the sale of lands, that the problem is coming up
now that the reserves are not large enough for some of the bands occupying
them. How does this tie in with selling lands? My conception was that while
the Indians were on reserves the land remained part of the crown land and
if they did give up their territory they had to do it by surrender, or by treaty
rights.

Mr. JoNESs: That is correct.

Mr. SmaLL: How does it come about that they can sell lands?

Mr. JonEs: I was giving the background on how the capital funds were
created. Many years ago there was a lot of Indian.lands sold but the rules
governing the sale of land are the same now. There must be a surrender by
the majority of the members of the band. It is very rigidly overseen, to comply
with the provisions of the Indian Act. There is not very much land sold any
more. There is more leasing.

Mr. SmaLL: Even so, the land was supposed to be for the use of Indians.
If they are renting, are they renting it to Indians or to non-Indians?

Mr. Jones: The majority of the renting is to non-Indians.

Mr. SmALL: Is not that defeating the purpose of the reserve lands, if the
Indians are not able to make an existence at present?

Mr. JoNES: Not exactly, Mr. Small, because there have been several
schemes. Some of the Indians out west have had reserves and it was felt that
if they could interest more non-Indians to come on and break up the land
by taking off three or four crops and hire the Indians in the doing of it, there
would be an educational factor and this money would come into the band
funds. That would make available some money and the Indians could see
value in operating this land by seeing it broken up, and then they would
farm themselves.

Mr. SmALL: The reason I ask this question is that one of the delegations
which was here recently asked for an extension of the reserves for timberlands
and places where they could get land close by, as what they had was not
sufficient. Do they use this money from the sale of lands to buy extra lands
to make up for the lands they have sold?

Mr. JonEs: The capital funds of a band can be used to purchase additional
land.

Mr. SMALL: There is another question. It has reference to the final de-
velopment at St. Regis on the St. Lawrence seaway. The Caughnawaga Indians
had a reserve, some of which the government expropriated to make a con-
version there. They took a large section away and if there was any portion
of land they did not use it was to be returned to them. The St. Lawrence
seaway used it and it was not turned back to the Indians. That was taken
from them and in some cases they did not receive what they considered a
sufficient return for the land which was taken. Certain land was held by the
crown and was not returned to the Indians and they were not given other
lands to take its place. :

Mr. JonNEs: Approximately 10 per cent of the Caughnawaga reserve was
taken over by the seaway. Speaking from memory, I can say there was one
small parcel of land which was going to be turned back to the Caughnawaga
band by the seaway if they found out they did not need it, but the majority
of the 1100 or 1200 acres was all taken in by the seaway.

Mr. SMALL: Were they given any other land in compensation for the land
that was taken away?

Mr. JonEs: No.
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Mr. CHARLTON: It would be interesting if Mr. Jones could deal with the
way in which the band makes use of the capital funds. He mentioned one way,
to purchase more land; but there are other things on which they can spend
capital funds? }

Mr. JoNES: May I read section 64 of the Indian Act—on the management
of Indian moneys. It says:

With the consent of the council of a band, the minister may authorize

and direct the expenditure of capital moneys of the band

(a) to distribute per capita to the members of the band an amount not
exceeding fifty per cent of the capital moneys of the band derived
from the sale of surrendered lands,

That can form part of the surrender agreement. The section continues:

(b) to construct and maintain roads, bridges, ditches and water courses
on the reserves or on surrendered lands,

(¢) to construct and maintain outer boundary fences on reserves,

(d) to purchase land for use by the band as a reserve or as an addition
to a reserve, ,

(e) to purchase for the band the interest of a member of the band in
lands on a reserve,

(f) to purchase livestock and farm implements, farm equipment, or
machinery for the band,

Mr. HowaRrp: On the land question I would like to ask Mr. Jones this.
This may vary from province to province, I do not know. If a band becomes
enfranchised as an entire development, I presume they are then no longer
covered by the Indian Act. What happens to the land, the reserve land, in those
circumstances?

Mr. JoNES: The most recent band enfranchised was the Michel band, a
small band northwest of Edmonton. They proposed a plan, a committee was
set up by the government under the section of the act and all the members
of the band were given certain amounts of land and certain moneys. The band
set up a mineral company to protect all their oil and future mineral rights and
they were all given patents to the land. They were given cheques for the
money. They are shareholders in the mineral company and citizens of the
province, and they are no longer under the Indian Act.

Mr. HowaARrp: Each individual becomes a landholder, or each head of a
family, for argument’s sake, became holder and had title to part of the reserve?

Mr. JonES: That is right, it was a federal land patent.

Mr. HowARD: Is it something the same in British Columbia?

Mr. HENDERSON: This is very important in British Columbia where I am.

Mr. JonEs: The procedure is the same—if the province does not become
sticky over its reversionary interest in the title to the land to the province.

Mr. Howarp: I have been told that in the case of the Metlakatla where
land was concerned some years ago just outside Prince Rupert, one of the
difficulties was that the province would not relinquish this reversionary right.

Mr. JoNES: That is right. In Michel we cleared that with the province of
Alberta and we placed no obstacle in the way of complete possession or land
title to the owners of the land.

Mr. THoMAS: That is one of the questions I was about to raise. I was
going to put it this way. Does Mr. Jones notice any getting away from the
trend towards communal ownership by the band?

Mr. JoNES: No, Mr. Thomas, not any general trend. They seem to be holding
just as firmly as before.

Mr. THoMAS: The system of band ownership rather than individual owner-
ship?

24865-8—2
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Mr. Jones: I did not get the trend of the question. I think there is a bit
of sympathy towards individual land ownership rather than band ownership.
You have heard from the western delegates, they like to have their land in
a communal way and the individual ownership is regarded differently than
it is down east.

Mr. THomAS: Would you say that there seems to be a failure on the part
of the Indians—for the bands to lose control of their property?

Mr. JonNEs: Yes, that is correct, particularly out west.

Mr. THoMAS: My observation of evidence that came before the committee
is that a part of this fear centres around the question of land taxes. If they -
change their method of land ownership, this question of municipal tax comes
into the calculation and up until the present time they are reluctant to become
involved with land tax.

Mr. Jones: That is correct.

Mr. THomAs: I would like a little more clarification on this matter of
provincial services that is mentioned on page 6 of your brief. You mention
mothers’ allowances as one instance—this is extended by some provinces
partially to Indians—and you mentioned the province of Ontario. Do I under-
stand from that that the province does not extend the full application of
mothers’ allowances?

Mr. JonEs: That is right. Speaking from memory I think the distinction
in Ontario is marriage, that the Ontario welfare people draw the line at mar-
riage, whereas in Quebec a mother is a mother.

Mr. THomAS: How about the other provinces?

Mr. JoNES: Nothing at all. There is no mothers’ allowance payable to
Indians.

Mr. SMALL: Has the province of Ontario discarded that legitimacy clause,
that no one is reported now as illegitimate?

Mr. Jones: I did not quite hear that.

Mr. SmALL: You said that the marriage allowance is given only on the
basis of marriage?

Mr. JongEs: That is my understanding, that the mother must be married.

Mr. SmaLL: I understand that in the province of Ontario now there is no
one classified as illegitimate.

Mr. JonEs: I am not so sure of that.

Mr. SmaLL: It used to be stamped on the papers and I think that was the
cause, but they have removed that and there is no reference now to it at all.

Mr. THomAs: Further on the line of provincial services, can you think of
any other instances other than marriage allowances, where full provincial
services are not extended?

Mr. JonEs: When we speak of services we mean the services on the
reserve to the children, and under the unmarried parents act, things they
are getting on the reserves. It is the same welfare service in that respect as if
they lived off the reserve. Some provinces are hesitant about having any of
their social workers go on Indian reserves. I would prefer not to set up parallel
or duplicate welfare services when the province already have them. It is their
responsibility.

Mr. THoMAS: Does that withholding of services apply in the province of
Ontario to other than the Mothers’ Allowance Act?

Mr. JonEs: We have an arrangement with the province of Ontario through
the various children’s aid societies where, through a financial arrangement»with
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the federal government, the children’s aid society takes over on Indian reserves.
That is what we are aiming at; that those services be made available to the
Indians.

Mr. WRATTEN: Are you paying the full cost now?
Mr. JoNEs: Yes.

Mr. THOMAS: In connection with the educational policy, I understand
that a year or two ago the branch laid down a policy that no Indian child
should be deprived of an education because of inability to pay, that is, that the
branch makes that the policy that if a child is willing and able to go on to school,
the branch will carry out the financial requirements for that child to get
education.

Mr. JonNEs: That is correct. That is still operative.

Mr. WRATTEN: I think the big problem in regard to children’s aid and
welfare work done on reserves is the right type of people to go there and
visit with the Indians. They seem to resent very much a white person going
down to tell them how to look after children and raise a family and things
like that. It is unfortunate that there are not Indian people trained in social
welfare who could be hired to do the work on reserves. The whole social
program would go ahead very much faster if there were the right type of
person to go out and do the work—people of their own race.

Mr. JoNES: I would agree with that, Mr. Wratten. We had our eyes on
'two Indian social workers who made excellent marks. They both went through
for their masters in social work. We offered both of them jobs and both said:
“No, we would sooner get experience in non-Indian communities”. Fortunately
we were able to get this one chap back, and he is now our senior social
worker in the province of Saskatchewan, Carl Latham, who was before this
committee at one time. We are trying to encourage more and more Indian
young people to take up social work in order to work on the reserves.

Mr. BALDWIN: Speaking in a larger sense, I am much taken by what Mr.
Jones says in his brief about the attempt to have the Indian people accepted
in the larger way into the community as-a whole. You refer to that in pages
six and seven of your brief. That brings me back to the point Mr. Thomas
raised. In your experience that can be achieved effectively so long as this
land owning system is there. Before you answer, I have in mind the evidence
given last year and the year before by some of the better briefs brought in by
those Indians who said they could not get the benefit of the Farm Loans
Improvement Act or credit corporation loans, or many such things, because of
the fact that they had not individual title to land and they are not looked
upon as land owners, and all these things are withheld from them. In your
opinion would it be wise to try to work towards the end where this acceptance
of the Indian would occur and there would be this ownership of land on a
private basis?

Mr. JoNES: There is no doubt about it, Mr. Baldwin, that this land owner-
ship problem is a big stumbling block in the way of the Indians obtaining
all the services that are available to other people, and which are not available
to them. There is this exemption from taxation and from the seizure of Indian
property. We have had discussions with the secretary of the Canadian bankers’
association and it has always come back to the fact that you cannot move on
an Indian reserve to seize his property.

Mr. BALDWIN: So long as they are deprived of these ancillary benefits
which go with land owning people elsewhere, they are not in any full sense
members of the general community.

Mr. JoNEs: That is correct. Amongst some of the younger Indians we could
notice a feeling that there should be some way whereby an individual could
24865-8—23%
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relinquish that protection under the Indian Act if he wanted to go out and
‘borrow money, that he could voluntarily waive that immunity.

Mr. BAaLpwiIN: Have you had any experience in connection with Indians
who have left the reserve and gone on to land which they have acquired and
who have become entitled to all these benefits. Would you say you have been
able to follow any of these cases? Do you know what has happened in such
circumstances? :

Mr. JonNEs: I am afraid that outside of our newly appointed placement
service, we have not too many records that follow Indians off reserves. They
just become ordinary citizens and we do not know too much about Indians who
are not on reserves.

Mr. OrMmisTonN: With reference to the topic of education, I wonder if Mr.
Jones could tell us whether or not the curriculum used in Indian schools is
the same as that used in any other local academic institutions. Just what
supervision does the department of education exercise over Indian schools?

Mr. JonNEs: In general our Indian schools follow the provincial curriculum.
Our Indian schools are all inspected by the inspectors from the provincial de-
partment of education.

Mr. SmaALL: Coming back to the question about the province of Ontario,
and illegitimate children, and better to qualify the statement made earlier,
what did happen was that they were given a birth certificate. Now, when one
asks for a birth certificate, there is no reference to the parents; they used to
stamp on it “illegitimate” if the child was not born in wedlock. All that has
been removed, and there is no stigma attached now to the individual born
out of wedlock and no means of referring to it, in order to give the individual
a chance in future life. I think you will find that that is in existence at the
present time. They do not put that stamp on, and therefore, while it is recorded
in law that the person was illegitimate, there is no reference to it on the
certificate. There is now no singling out of the Indian, to pass that stigma
on him or her.

Mr. THoMAS: I would like the privilege to make one comment in connection
with land ownership based on what Mr. Baldwin and others have said. After
listening to the evidence given before this committee from a great many sources,
I feel that no matter how it is done we must find some means of helping the
Indians within the framework of the present methods of land ownership. I
think it would be a great mistake even to suggest—far from any effort to try
to put pressure on the Indians—that they should give up this band ownership
of land, if you can call it that, in favour of individual ownership. Any effort
to do so would immediately arouse suspicion on the part of the Indians. If we
are to find some means of getting to as many of them as possible, all the
benefits which accrue to private land holders under our system of economy
and integrate that private ownership with the band ownership of land in some
way, probably it can be done. However, I do not think any pressure should
be put on the Indians to get away from this band ownership—not at this time—
nor should it even be suggested for the future. There must be some way around
the problem. If an Indian wants to build a house on Indian land, some way
should be found to provide him with the capital so that he could proceed to
pay for that house without having to disturb the band’s rights to hold the
property on which he builds that house within the band ownership. The Indians
are getting along, they are living now throughout our country under that
method, they are finding ways and means of doing it, probably at the present
time through the government providing the finance for housing and it goes in

the form of a grant. If Indians are working in industry and have an income, -

I think some way should be found to allow them to build a house on Indian
property without having to disturb the band ownership method of owmng
the land.

T —
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Mr. CHARLTON: I think Mr. Jones could explain' how many bands are left
in Ontario who do not have the right to a certificate of possessmn on their own
reservations. That is, a completely band-owned land.

Mr. JonEs: There are quite a few out west.

Mr. CHARLTON: Oh yes, the certificated Indians, but how many in Ontario?
How many are owned in band ownership and have no: location tickets?

Mr. JonES: Not many. I could find that out.

Mr. CHARLTON: I think Mr. Thomas may have misunderstood because he
said that in his locality people cannot own the land. True, they do not have
a deed, but they have the certificate of possession and, in fact, do own that
parcel of land.

Mr. THoMAS: The point I am trying to raise is that in the eyes of the law,
a certificate of location or an Indian certificate of ownership cannot in any
way provide security, legal security on the land on which the house is built.
Mr. JonEes: That is correct.

Mr. THoMAS: That is the problem we are up against. What I am suggesting
is that we should try to find some way of providing these people with credit
which is in no way tied to the land.

Mr. HENDERSON: That is pretty hard.

Mr. MARTEL: In regard to the mothers’ allowances paid by the province of
Quebec, would you mind telling the committee if this has been paid for a good
many years, or since when do they have that right?

Mr. JonEs: I would say in the last ten years.

Mr. MARTEL: On this question of education of Indian children, in regard
to those who come from small bands or groups of Indians scattered around
in the north country where there are no roads or railways, how are they
looked after? There is not enough in number for a school to be built in an
isolated area. I am thinking of the groups of the Hudson Bay area on the
Quebec side of the East Main, Rupert House and farther inland at Nemaska,
Waswanipi, and Mistassini. I assume there are many similar areas in the west
country where there are many small groups of Indians who are isolated. I
understand they are looked after by being sent to schools.

Mr. JonEs: A lot of the children in the isolated areas you speak of, Mr.
Martel, are educated at residential schools.

Mr. MARTEL: Outside?

Mr. JonEs: That is right. If it is not possible to locate a day school due to
certain circumstances where Indians are isolated, they are educated in resi-
dential schools at Fort George, at Moose Factory and the eastern part of Quebec,
Amos, Point Blue and the Anglican one at La Tuque which takes care of the
Mistassini and the Waswanipi.

Mr. MARTEL: At Amos they do not take the children from the west?
Mr. JonEs: They will go to La Tuque.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Gentlemen, we have received a letter
and brief from the communist party of Canada.

Mr. BaLpwin: That was the one we discussed at the steering committee
once before?

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Yes.

Mr. BaLpwiN: Did we not decide about that, with a recommendation? My
impression is that we should have the brief retained as part of the record, but
not necessarily printed as part of the proceedings. It is a brief from a political
party. We have not had any briefs from any other political parties, and I do
not know that we should establish a precedent for that now. I have read the
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brief and it repeats what others have suggested. I think it should be just
retained 6n record that we have received it, and it will be there for the con-
sideration of the members as they see fit.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Is that agreed?

Agreed.

Gentlemen, we will adjourn now until 2.30 this afternoon.

AFTERNOON SESSION

TuEsDAY, May 2, 1961

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Mr. Joint Chairman and gentlemen:
we shall carry on with Mr. Jones. But before doing so I would like to suggest
that the committee proceed in a more orderly manner. This morning quite a
few points in the brief were discussed and covered. However, I would suggest
that we start now at page one and carry on until the end of the brief, so that
every subject will be looked after.

Are there any questions on page one of the brief?

Mr. OrMmisTON: I notice on page one that Colonel Jones naturally points out
the fact that there are more Indians, and that larger staffs are needed. Are
we having any difficulty getting trained personnel to staff these agencies? Do
you feel that part of your problem arises from the fact that we have not as
many trained and proper technical personnel as we could use to the best
advantage?

Mr. JoNES: We have been assisted a great deal in the last few years by
the civil service commission and the treasury board’s appreciation of the neces-
sity of paying decent salaries, if we want to get a good calibre of Indian super-
intendents in the field. And as salary ranges have been raised, we have noticed
that they are attracting better people.

A few years ago the financial inducement to go into the Indian service was
very limited. But we keep making repeated representations to the civil service
commission and the treasury board to raise the salary rates, and as we do,
we find that it is an indication of attracting a better type of staff. Our staff are
not 100 per cent the way we would like them, but they are moving in that
direction.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): You mentioned the tremendous growth
in the Indian population. Could you give the committee an idea of that growth
in the last ten years?

Mr. JonEs: Yes, it is three per cent cumulative each year. In 1939 it was
118,378. In 1949 it was 136,407, or an increase of 18,029, and percentagewise,
15:23.

In 1959 the population rose to 179,126, an increase over 1949 of 42,719, with
an increase percentagewise of 31.31.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any other questions the
committee would like to ask on page one?

Mr. OrMiIsTON: In regard to the teaching staff, do you have difficulty in
staffing your schools?

Mr. JoNESs: Oh yes, we do. Here again it is the old story of getting a suffi-
cient salary scale to induce them. But I think we compare very favourably
with the progress of schools of municipalities and provinces. We have never
been able to recruit fully the number of certificated teachers that we provide
for, and at the end of each summer there are also 25 to 30 vacancies. We tried
recruiting abroad but with a limited amount of success, so we have discon-
tinued it.
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* For instance, last October, I think it was, we received approval from the
treasury board for another salary revision for teachers. That helped, but
unfortunately it was about two months too late, because our recruiting is
done in the summer. But it did help.

Mr. ORMISTON: Do you have much of a turn-over with teachers?

Mr. JoNES: Not a big percentage, no.

Mr. ORMISTON: I mean in comparison with local schools?

Mr. JonEs: Not especially. We are trying to provide in the isolated areas
good accommodation for the teachers, with plumbing and all the amenities. We
find that that is a big inducement, as well as the recommendation salarywise
in relation to their certifications. :

Mr. BARRINGTON: Is there any program in your department to encourage
Indians to go on to the teaching profession?

Mr. JoNES: Oh yes. We try to counsel them through the counselling
service. We try to have more and more Indian boys and girls go into the
teaching profession, because we have jobs for them. When they leave normal
school, or have the required certification, we have jobs for them.

Mr. BARRINGTON: What is the attitude of the Indian people towards this
idea? Do they accept it?

Mr. JONES: They accept it in the east more than they do in the west. The
Six Nations stand out in that respect. I think we have all but one of the 40
teachers that are in the Indian schools. Quite a few Indian boys and girls,
however, teach in non-Indian schools, but we try to encourage more and more
of them. The branch has funds to help them through normal school and
teachers college and to become properly certificated teachers, because we have
jobs waiting for them.

Mr. CHARLTON: Have you any idea how many Indian girls and boys are
going to normal school and will graduate this year, assuming, of course, they
pass their examinations? I understand there is quite a bit of surplus from the
Six Nations which should be available for other reserves.

Mr. JoNES: Oh yes.

Mr. CHARLTON: If they wish to go to other reserves.

Mr. JoNES: We have 13, according to this schedule, in teacher training now.

Mr. CHARLTON: Right across Canada?

Mr. JoNES: Yes.

Mr. CHARLTON: I understood there was pretty near that many in the Six
Nations.

Mr. BARRINGTON: Do you mean 13 only across Canada.
Mr. JoNEs: 13 are taking the teacher training course now.
Mr. SMaLL: Is that enough to take care of your turnover?

Mr. JoNES: No. Our turnover would be larger than that. We have 1,350
teachers.

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Sen. Gladstone): These 13 teachers—are they being
trained specifically with the idea of teaching in Indian schools?

Mr. JoNES: I beg your pardon, but I missed the first part of your question.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Sen. Gladstone): With respect to the 13 students

that you mentioned, are they ones that you know are being trained to go to
teach in Indian schools?

Mr. JoNES: We hope that they will, but it is purely optional on their part.
Some of them take the stand that they feel they would be better off in the
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early years of their teaching, by teaching in white schools, and then to come
back and teach in Indian schools. But we try to start them off teaching in
Indian schools. Nevertheless, it is optional.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are there any other questlons on
this subject of education?

Mr. WRATTEN: Do these teachers get any extra tax exemptlon?

Mr. JoNEs: The Indian is exempt from income tax in respect to moneys
earned on the reserve,

Mr. WRATTEN: Suppose a boy or girl went and taught on a reserve, would
he get a reduction in income tax?

Mr. JoNES: Yes.

Mr. WRATTEN: That should be quite an incentive for them to teach on
the reserves.

Mr.. JonEs: Yes, it is.

Mr. CHARLTON: What about those moving from one reservation to another,
such as from the Six Nations? Suppose they go to another reserve to teach,
would they still be tax exempt?

Mr. JonEes: Yes, that is correct.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): The next subject matter is at the
bottom of page one and it concerns general welfare. Are there any questions
on this part of the brief, which continues on page two as well?

Mr. OrMmisTON: My question is not quite relevant to the material here,

but I would ask Col. Jones if he feels that the allowance or benefits or assist-

ance should be paid strictly in cash.
Mr. JonEs: We are moving in that direction. My own feeling is yes, where-
ever it is practicable, all benefits should be in cash.

Mr. OrMISTON: There are extenuating circumstances which we might
discuss later. However, there are times when it is better to pay in commodities
than in cash. Would you not agree?

Mr. JonEs: Yes, I agree.

Mr. CHARLTON: That would be difficult to accomplish. Family allowance
cheques, old age security, and old age pension cheques would have to be paid
in cash.

Mr. OrmisToN: I was not particularly referring to that.

Mr. JonEgs: I think that is what you meant; by cheque rather than cash.

Mr. OrMiISTON: Yes; but I was not really referring to the allowances
to which the parliamentary secretary referred. I was deviating a bit.

Mr. JONES: We are moving towards getting away from payment in kind
to all allowances being paid by cheque and letting the individuals handle
them themselves. That is what you had in mind?

Mr. ORMISTON: Yes.

Mr. SmaLL: At the bottom of page 2 you say that architects and engineers
are at a premium. I suppose you would include in that nurses and so on, and
getting the supply from among the Indians themselves. Is anything being done
in that direction?

Mr. JonEs: We are not having too many Indians go through as architects
and engineers. I think we have only one who is a graduate; I think he is in
the Maritimes. There has not been too much of a leaning towards those
professions.

Mr. WRATTEN: I do not think he was thinking particularly of Indians here.
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- Mr. SmALL: No; but there is a shortage, and I thought they might be a
source. There must be a certain percentage who have aptitude for architectural
and engineering work.

Mr. JonES: Yes. I think in the future we probably will have more as the
boys have high school training and go on to university.

Mr. SmALL: It does not say anything about nurses. It mentions the short-
age of teachers in schools. The same thing would apply to nurses.

Mr. JoNEs: Yes.

Mr. SmaLL: I think you have had pretty good success there.

Mr. JoNES: We have had better success not only with nurses but with
nursing aides. There is a job waiting for every Indian girl who wants to go
through for nursing.

Mr. OrRMISTON: We see from these figures that there is continuing integra-
tion so far as education of Indians is concerned with other citizens. Is it not
part of our program to try to assimilate the Indians into our social life?

Mr. JONES: Wherever there is a desire on the part of a school board and
the Indians to have a joint arrangement whereby the Indian and the white
children go to school under the same roof, we enter into that joint arrange-
ment and instead of building a school on the reserve we let the school board
build it and we pay our per capita cost.

Mr. OrRMISTON: It has to be a mutual arrangement between both parties.

Mr. JoNES: Yes. It has to be a happy marriage or we do not have any
part in it, because it would only end up in grief on both sides.

Mr. Capievu: I think there has been more success in recent years.

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Are you speaking of assimilation or
integration?

Mr. JonNEs: The Indian affairs branch used to use the word assimilation,
but recently we have been using the word integration. It seems to fit more
in with the feeling that the future of the Indians is to become ordinary citizens
of the country but still retain their culture and background and those parts
of their history and environment which they wish to retain. One afternoon
in Geneva I heard some experts argue the whole afternoon on the difference
between assimilation and integration. They had me all confused. Presently
in Canada I think the Indians are much more happy with the word integration
than with the word assimilation.

Mr. MuirR (Cape Breton North and Victoria): Colonel Jones, one of the
teachers whom you met on the Indian reserve in my constituency has been
accepted as a teacher in the white school. That is a very fine thing.

Mr. JonEs: That is excellent.

Mr. SmALL: Has anything been done in the way of increasing the in-
formation for the purpose of helping build up their culture. There are very
little records. Has anything been done in that regard? This is something which
came out in the discussions. They did not want to lose this, and they thought
it would be a very valuable asset to retain the Indian culture.

Mr. JonNEs: There has been quite a lot done in this way by the national
museum and the provincial museums. Not too much has been undertaken by
the Indian affairs branch. All our endeavours have been in the line of folk
schools, leadership courses and things of that nature.

Mr. SmaLL: Is enough money appropriated for the cultural aspect of
education and the compilation of the history of the Canadian Indian?

- Mr. JoNEs: Mr. Small, I think it is just a question of responsibility; but

whether or not that is really a responsibility of the Indian affairs branch or
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the archives branch or the museums, I do not know. They do a lot of work on
this. We have prepared two booklets on the Indians of British Columbia, and
the prairie Indians, and are working now on the Indians of Ontario. This is
factual background information we are publishing and making available to
the public. This has been our main effort so far. We are publishing a couple
of articles which appeared in the Hudson Bay Beaver; one of them is en-
titled ‘“Learning for Earning”.

Mr. SMmALL: Is there nothing of the type of work which the Smithsonian
institute in the United States is doing.

Mr. JoNES: Not financed by our branch.

Mr. OrmisToN: There is no assistance in the encouragement of individuals
to prepare information on the various tribes?

Mr. JoNEs: That is right.

Mr. SmALL: Of course you cannot do any research work in that sphere un-
less you have funds. I think it would be more acceptable to have it done under
your department, because you would have the means of gathering some of
the information. Is there sufficient appropriation per year to take care of doing
it adequately?

Mr. JoNEs: There would have to be an added responsibility in the branch
with funds provided separately.

Mr. SmaLL: I will keep that in mind.

The JoinT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): On page 3 of the brief you say that
the educational level of the Indian people must be raised if they are to take
advantage of the many opportunities available to them. Would you tell the
committee if the Indians now are taking advantage of all the opportunities
available to them.

Mr. JonNEs: In increasing numbers, yes; but you cannot catch up with the
people who through lack of school facilities were not able to obtain schooling
until the age of eight, nine or ten years. In addition, they would leave when
. they were sixteen after having only three or four grade level. That ties in
with our construction program—making more facilities available. We now
are getting more and more Indian children into the schools at age six, which
is the proper age, and they will be much better prepared to go on to high
school and university than the ones who went before them.

Mr. SMALL: Is your problem not becoming more easy to accomplish be-
cause for a long while you had the opposition of the older Indians who did
not want any work because it was interfering with maintaining their Indian
culture. That has kind of broken down now and I believe you are making
better headway.

Mr. JonNES: Yes. We are pretty well getting full co-operation from the
Indian parents now.

Mr. SmaLL: They want their children educated?

Mr. JoNES: We are very happy about that.

Mr. OrRMISTON: Do you have some sort of educational program going on
so far as the councils and parents are concerned in respect of the entry of
the children into schools?

Mr. JonESs: Yes, we have.

Mr. BATTEN: I wonder if these young children in the sixteen to twenty
year age group know that you have these trade schools available now to which
they can go at night time and learn a trade and educate themselves to be
able to go out and better themselves? For instance, there is the one at Brant-
ford. They have several different trades there which the young people are
learning. In fact the older ones who are out of work attend in order to better
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themselves. I wonder if the people on the reserves know they are eligible
to attend?

Mr. JoNES: More and more we are emphasizing this on the reserves through
our educational special lists and counsellors. We are telling them that there
is opportunity for them to obtain technical and professional training. Quite a
number of them are taking advantage of this. The big difficulty is with those
who are past training. That is where we are up against it.

Mr. BARRINGTON: Are you building these vocational training schools on
the reserves or outside?

Mr. JoNES: Preferably outside. We teach some of the courses on the re-
serve, but in respect of the regular trade schools we take advantage of the
courses operating off the reserve. They are recognized and are much more
competent to turn out good technicians than we are.

The JoiNnT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Some of the briefs which have been
presented here by the Indian organizations have suggested that the band
council should have more to say in respect of the hiring of the staff in the
schools. Is that a general demand from the Indians?

Mr. JoNES: No; I cannot say it is. We are quite keen on what we call
educational committees which are formed in the various reserves to help with
educational matters. These are sort of small school boards. The hiring of the
teachers, however, is a responsibility of our branch, and is a matter of
searching out the qualifications. It is a man-sized job in itself. But we will
always welcome a recommendation and advice of any interested party which
would help us get the type of teacher we need.

The JoiNT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Right now the band council has
nothing to say?

Mr. JoNEs: Nothing officially; no.

The JoINT CHAIRMAN (Mr. Grenier): Would it help in any way if they
had something to say, even if it were not the final word?

Mr. JonEs: I think anything that the band council can do and is in-
terested in would be helpful.

Mr. OrmistoN: Do you have any parent-teachers associations on the
reserves?

Mr. JoNEs: Yes. They are formed in increasing numbers right across the
country.

Mr. MUIrR (Cape Breton North and Victoria): Do you have physical edu-
cation teachers on the reserves?

Mr. JonEs: I just cannot answer that completely. If you would like
to hold that question until Mr. Davey returns. He would have the answer.
There are some, but to what extent I cannot say.

Mr. SmaLL: There is one point here which has been discussed. I do not
know whether or not there is any advantage in elaborating on it. One of
the problems is the question of the existing game, fur and fish reserves and the
difficulty for some Indian groups to gain a livelihood from this. What have
you in mind in order to overcome that?

Mr. JonEs: With this new economic development division, we are pro-
posing to do some studies of all the reserves in respect of the capabilities
and the potentiality of the neighbourhood. This will be in line with our
placement program. If we can teach the young men something besides trap-
ping, hunting, and fishing they will benefit. It may not be on the reserves; it
may be miles away. Some of the reserves are not capable of supporting
much of a population.
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Mr. SMALL: Do many of them show an aptitude for going into landscape
gardening or such things? <

Mr. JoneEs: Not to my knowledge.

Mr. SmaLL: I would think they might fit into that picture. There seems
to be good gain in this.

Mr. JonEs: I have not noticed any marked trend in that vocation.

Mr. WRATTEN: As the country grows and we have more population, the
Indian people would find it to their advantage to acquaint themselves with
the ways other people learn trades in order to advance themselves and live
with the population which is coming in.

Mr. JonNeEs: That is right.

Mr. WRATTEN: It is more to their advantage to learn a skill or trade
than to keep on hunting and trapping. They would have a better standard
of living. ‘

Mr. JoNEs: Some reserves in the future will not hold the population; they
are not large enough.

Mr. WRATTEN: It is the same with the Six Nations.

Mr. Jones: It is to their advantage to learn the skills which will
give them a good remuneration off the reserve. The ones who are doing it
are doing very well. .

Mr. SMALL: You cannot do much with the older persons now.

Mr. Jones: That is right.

Mr. SMALL: The problem is to get the younger ones to come up.

Mr. JonEs: That is correct.

Mr. SmaLL: That is what we must concentrate on.

Mr. JoNEs: Yes.

Mr. Capieu: It seems to me that in the northern part of Saskatchewan
we are lagging far behind in farm instruction. Many reserves are not pro-
ducing anything in comparison to the land around them. They are not pro-
ducing enough crops or livestock. The Indians are living in very poor con-
ditions and are lacking in educational facilities. I note that in respect of the
timber resources on the reserves there is a new move under way. Have any
steps been taken to survey the timber resources on the reserves in Sas-
katchewan. We have quite a lot of timber.

Mr. JoNES: We have already made reference to this, but we are hoping
the new federal department of forestry will undertake a complete survey of
forest resources throughout Canada. They have undertaken to do so and a
start will be made this year. When that is done we shall have a complete
inventory of forest resources within Canada.

Mr. Capieu: What about the development of fur farming? Is nothing
being done to encourage the Indian population to go into fur farming? Have
any steps been taken towards the development of fur farming?

Mr. JoNES: I am happy to say that, the other day, I approved the first
revolving fund loan to enable an Indian to start a mink ranch but, from our
knowledge of the fur industry, it is not an easy thing. A lot of hard work
and knowledge has to go into a successful, domestic fur ranch. I am glad to see
this first one started, and we will support and help Indians in fur ranching.

Mr. CHARLTON: It was mentioned during evidence previously that efforts
were being made to restock the beaver population and let them live in their
natural habitat on Indian reserves, where the Indians would have the sole
rights for trapping them. That has been done?
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Mr. Jones: That is going on constantly.

" Mr. SMALL: Is there a good living in it? If prices are low, then the Indians
cannot eke out an existence.

Mr. Jones: You are right, Mr. Small. With reference to the group you
mentioned a few minutes ago, there is a future for the young ones if we can
educate them properly, but it is the middle age group who are more dependent.
It is they and the old people who like to hunt and fish. I do not think we
should disturb their thinking but the picture would be entirely changed if
fur prices went up to what they were in 1946 and 1947. If that happened,
there would not be a problem. If the bottom dropped out of the fur market
the returns would be very slim.

Mr. WRATTEN: I think the core of your hopes are contained in the paragraph
on page five where you say:

There is, of course, a limit to what government by itself can do. All
our efforts and even the best conceived plans will fail if the Indians
are not drawn into programs in some way.

That one paragraph sums up the whole situation pretty well, does it not?

Mr. JonEs: Yes.

Mr. CHARLTON: Do I understand from the information given at the bottom
of page five that there are only two bands which have taken the responsibility
granted to them under section 68?

Mr. Jones: I think Mr. Howard said there were two. There are five at
the present time who have full authority at their own request, under section
68, and one is going through at the moment. There are 26 others, the ones I
mentioned this morning, with authority under the Ontario welfare assistance
act. They have just applied for that authority only.

Mr. SmaLL: Is the Six Nations reserve included in that?

Mr. JoNEs: The Six Nations are included in the larger group of 26. They
have not yet asked for the full control of their funds.

Mr. SmMALL: How would you make a division between the band councils
that are elected and the bands that are under the hereditary chief system?
How many of each are included in the group of 26 and in the group of 57

Mr. JonNEs: I think the 26 are all under the elective system.

Mr. SmaLL: And what about the 5 others?

Mr. JonEs: They are all under the elective system.

Mr. SmaALL: In other words, you are making more progress from the elec-
tive councils than you are from the hereditary chief system?

Mr. JoNES: Yes, that is a fair statement.

Mr. CHARLTON: With regard to the information contained on page 6 of the
brief, how many bands have asked for voluntary enfranchisement of the whole
band during the last year or so?

Mr. JoNES: There have only been two in the last few years, and one which
applied was turned down. That was in British Columbia. I men